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KEY FIGURES

EMPLOYEES'

2022

128,044

2021

130,251

REVENUE
in € BN

02

PATIENTS DIALYSIS CENTERS

2022

344,687

2021 2021

345,425 417

NET INCOME 2 DIVIDEND PER SHARE?®
in € BN in€

2021

17.62

2021 2021

0.97 1.35

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Fresenius Medical Care is the world'’s leading provider of products and
services for individuals with kidney diseases, of whom around 3.9 million
worldwide depend on dialysis treatment. Thanks to our decades of
experience in dialysis, our innovative research, and our value-based
care approach, we help our patients enjoy the very best quality of life.

SELECTED KEY FIGURES

2022 2021 Change
Revenue in € BN 19.40 17.62 2% cc
Net income?in € BN 0.67 097 (37%) cc
Net income? excl. special items3in € BN 0.91 1.02 (17%) cc
Operating income in € BN 1.51 1.85 (25%) cc
Operating income excl. special items?in € BN 1.82 192 (13%) cc
Basic earnings per share in € 2.30 3.31 (37%) cc
Basic earnings per share excl. special items?in € 31 3.48 (17%) cc
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities in € BN 217 2.49 (13%)
Free cash flow#in € BN 1.48 1.66 (11%)
Capital expenditures, net in € BN (0.69) (0.83) (17%)
Acquisitions and investments
excl. investments in debt securities in € BN (0.06) (0.43) (86%)
Operating income margin excl. special items?in% 9.4 10.9
Return on invested capital (ROIC)® in% 33 49
Net leverage ratio® 34 33
Equity ratio (equity/total assets)” in% 43.2 407

cc = at constant currency

' Headcount.

2 Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.

3 2022: costs related to the FME25 program, Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, Humacyte Investment Remeasurement,
Hyperinflation in Turkiye and Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine; 2021: costs related to the FME25 program.

4 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions, investments, and dividends.

5 See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Overview of the Group", section “Performance management
system" starting on PAGE 23.

¢ See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Economic Report”, section “Results of operations,
financial position, and net assets - Financial position - Financing strategy” starting on PAGE 48.

7 As of December 31 of the respective year.

8 2022: Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2023.
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At Fresenius Medical Care, we focus on serving our patients

and are committed to our company vision of “Creating a future
worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every day.” This vision
also shapes how we deal with the topic of sustainability.

For us, managing sustainability successfully means creating
lasting economic, ecological, and social value. In our Corporate

Magazine, you can find out how we have applied this principle

in 2022 to shape a sustainable tomorrow.

It features a personal foreword by CEO Helen Giza as well

as articles about our dedicated nurses, our efforts in the

Ukrainian war zone and our corporate citizenship activities,
a touching patient portrait, and an extensive report on
diversity, equity and inclusion.

ajeassapessags
rAammagamaaya

READ MORE IN OUR CORPORATE MAGAZINE:
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/magazine


http://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/magazine
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LETTER TO OUR
SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

It is a pleasure and an honor to address you as CEO of Fresenius Medical Care for
the first time. It fills me with tremendous pride to work with the entire Fresenius
Medical Care team to create a future worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every day.

The year 2022 has shown us in a dramatic way that peace and economic stability
cannot be taken for granted. The war in Ukraine has brought unimaginable suffering
to the people in the war zone and fundamentally challenged the pre-existing security
framework. The general economic landscape, marred by inflation, remains challenging
and has led to higher prices for logistics, raw materials, and energy in the past fiscal
year, which also impacted our business.

2022 Performance

COVID-19 has continued to have an impact on us. These circumstances have been
further exacerbated by the difficult labor market situation with regard to care workers,
particularly in the U.S. This has led to staff shortages, high turnover rates and a
significant increase in costs. We have already taken steps to improve the situation and
expect to feel the effects of these measures in 2023. For 2022, we were able to
partially offset these costs thanks to financial support from the U.S. government.

Nevertheless, the highly challenging environment required us to adjust our forecast
for the fiscal year in 2022. Our revenue grew by two percent at constant currency.
However, we saw a decline in our operating income of 13 percent, with net income
also down by 17 percent, both at constant currency and before special items, mainly
due to higher staff costs, inflation, and supply chain challenges. —

)

06

HELEN GIZA
Chief Executive Officer and
Chair of the Management Board

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CA

2022
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In view of the results achieved in the reporting year and in line with the decline in net
income, we will be proposing a reduced dividend of 1.12 euros per share to the Annual
General Meeting, in line with our dividend policy.

Business model remains intact

Although these challenges have put a strain on our business, I would like to emphasize
that we expect them to be temporary in nature. The fundamentals of our core dialysis
business have not changed: The world’s population continues to age, and common
diseases such as high blood pressure and diabetes, which in turn can lead to chronic
kidney damage, are still on the rise.

In 2022, we treated 344,687 patients in 4,116 dialysis centers around the world. Every
0.6 seconds, we provided life-saving care to a dialysis patient somewhere in the world,
and about half of all people who regularly receive dialysis are treated with our products.

Looking to the future, renal care will remain at the heart of our strategy. Our patients
will continue to be at the center of everything we do. Providing them with high-quality
products and services is our core objective.

We will continue to leverage our expertise in the fields of products, services, and
pharma at an even greater extent in order to provide people with value-based care.
The spectrum ranges from chronic kidney disease to kidney failure as well as to various
treatment options.

Fresenius Medical Care has grown the E E

number of its end-stage renal disease
About half of
all people
who reqularly receive
dialysis are treated
with our products.

and chronic kidney disease patients
receiving care in value-based arrange-
ments from about 20,000 in 2021 to
around 90,000 in 2022. The Company
had around 6 billion US-dollar of
medical cost under management in
2022 and expects that number to
continue to increase to 11 billion

US-dollar by the end of 2025. D D
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The expansion of home dialysis is another key strategic initiative that goes hand-in-hand
with value-based care and the goal of improving health outcomes while simultaneously
reducing health care costs.

New operating model implemented

As part of our FME25 transformation program, we reoriented our business from a
regional to a segmented set up, effective January 1, 2023. The new, simplified operating
model has been implemented with two global segments: Care Delivery (services)

and Care Enablement (products).

This operating model allows us to focus and provides increased transparency of these
two businesses. We firmly believe that this is the best possible foundation to return to
sustainable, profitable growth and thus for the future success of Fresenius Medical Care.

We have made tremendous progress in the past year with our transformation program.
We exceeded our target of 40 to 70 million euros in cost savings in 2022 and achieved
sustainable savings of 131 million euros.

My thanks go to the entire team

Our employees around the world have demonstrated great resilience in difficult times
over the past three years and have made significant contributions to moving the
transformation forward. Their impressive commitment and engaging team spirit are
key to continuing Fresenius Medical Care’s success story. I would like to take this
opportunity to thank the fantastic team at Fresenius Medical Care.

T would especially like to express my gratitude to our team in Ukraine. Despite the
extreme conditions, they are doing their best every day to treat people in our dialysis
clinics and provide patients all over the country with our products. Their dedication
and courage under these unimaginable conditions are admirable and a sign of true
greatness.
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Global Sustainability Program successfully completed

Our Global Sustainability Program was also successfully completed by the end of 2022,
establishing worldwide sustainability standards and processes for our business. The
new global sustainability targets we have set for coming years confirm our ongoing
commitment to creating lasting value and improving our economic as well as ecological
and social performance. This includes our goal of being climate-neutral in our
operations by 2040.

Unlocking value as the leading kidney care company

Looking ahead, our priorities are clear: we want to unlock our full potential by
focusing on our core business and improving our margin to return to sustainable
profitable growth.

We plan to simplify our governance structure and intend to change our legal form
from the current KGaA structure (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien, KGaA) into a
German stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft, AG) and establish a German two-tier
board system with a co-determined Supervisory Board and a Management Board.
In an extraordinary general meeting to be held in the third quarter, you as our share-
holders will get to vote on the proposed change of legal form. If you agree, the entire
process is expected to be completed by the end of 2023.

We plan to expand our FME25 transformation program and raise our savings target
from 500 to 650 million euros by 2025. We intend to invest up to 650 million euros
over the same period.

In addition, we will further drive operational efficiencies. In Care Delivery, for example,
we plan to further consolidate our network of clinics in the U.S. In Care Enablement,
we will focus on pricing initiatives, productivity measures and a review of our global
manufacturing footprint.

At the same time, we will adjust our portfolio to improve profitability. In Care Delivery,
this means exiting unsustainable markets and divestitures of non-core businesses.

In Care Enablement, we will rationalize our Research & Development programs and
evaluate the divestment of non-core products in the portfolio. This will enable focused
capital allocation to areas with higher profitable growth in our core business.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

For 2023, we forecast revenue growth at a low to mid-single-digit percentage range.
We also assume that our operating income will remain flat or decline by up to a high
single-digit percentage rate. These forecasts are based on constant currency excluding
special items. Even though there will be more headwinds than tailwinds in 2023,

we expect to return to net income growth in 2024. By 2025, we target to achieve an
improved operating income margin of 10 to 14 percent.

Together with my colleagues on the Management Board, I am convinced that this
company is taking the right steps to shape a successful future. Thank you for joining
us on this journey. I count on your support as we enter the next stages of our trans-
formation.

Sincerely,

HELEN GIZA
Chief Executive Officer and Chair of the Management Board
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Helen Giza Franklin W. Maddux, MD Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsap William Valle

CEO and Chair Global Medical Office Care Enablement Care Delivery

(since December 2022) (since January 2020) (since January 2022) (since January 2022)
Chief Financial Officer CEO for EMEA CEO for North America
(since November 2019) (from September 2018 until (from February 2017 until

December 2021) December 2021)
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CAPITAL MARKETS
AND SHARES

Fresenius Medical Care’s business development
and share price performance in 2022 were impacted
to a significant extent by the highly uncertain
macroeconomic environment with dramatic wage
and general inflation, as well as the sustained

high costs of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

PRICE DEVELOPMENT
OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
SHARES

COVID-19-related excess mortality among patients of Fresenius
Medical Care was particularly evident in the first quarter of the
reporting year. This led to increased demand for isolation wards
and additional shifts for staff working in patient care. While
excess mortality declined over the course of the year, infection
levels remained high. The accumulation of excess mortality
resulted in clinic capacity being increasingly underutilized,
leading to a decline in profitability.

Shortly after the Company published its outlook and underly-
ing assumptions for 2022, Russia launched its war on Ukraine,
which affected the operation of dialysis centers and patient
care in the region. Although the price of Fresenius Medical Care
shares rose to above €62 at the beginning of the year, it fell
significantly in response to the various negative factors as the
year progressed, and was unable to regain its high for the year
of €63.56, which was recorded on April 21.

A decision by the U.S. Supreme Court in June 2022 according
to which an insurer may exclude payments for dialysis treat-

10

ment from its scope of coverage also led to considerable
reticence among investors. Given the accompanying regulatory
uncertainty, the share price further declined.

The deterioration in the macroeconomic environment had a
growing impact on Fresenius Medical Care's business develop-
ment as the year continued. Cost and wage inflation put further
pressure on the Company's operating profitability. The general
staff shortage in the health care sector required add-on
payments for incentives and bonuses for new and existing
employees, as well as substantial additional costs for tempo-
rary staff. Dialysis clinics in North America in particular were so
hard hit by personnel-related bottlenecks that some had to
limit the number of new patients they took on.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

In addition to the sharp rise in staff costs, Fresenius Medical
Care was confronted with higher logistics costs and commodity
and energy prices, which had an additional adverse effect on
the results of operations. As a consequence, the Company
downwardly revised its earnings outlook and the underlying
assumptions in July and October 2022.

Fresenius Medical Care's share price performance was impacted
by the large number of negative factors as well as rising interest
rates, and fell to a low of €26.26 on October 28. The implementa-
tion of the Company's strategic goals, such as the further expan-
sion of value-based care management in connection with the
InterWell Health transaction and the growing proportion of
patients choosing to receive their dialysis treatment at home,

c11  SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE, ABSOLUTE, JANUARY 1, 2022 - DECEMBER 31, 2022
IN €

@

year high

year low

e

== Fresenius Medical Care share
Source: Bloomberg data
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c12 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 2022 - DECEMBER 31, 2022 (DECEMBER 31

, 2021 =100), IN%

== fresenius Medical Care shares (€)
Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations

Fresenius Medical Care-ADRs (US$)

Dow Jones Industrial Average

DAX

STOXX Europe 600 Health Care
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was not reflected positively in the share price. Fresenius Medical
Care shares closed the year at €30.57. Further information on
the share price and index performance can be found in CHARTS 1.1
TO 1.3 AND TABLE 1.8 STARTING ON PAGE 10.

Since 1996 - the year of the Company's IPO - the share price
has risen by more than 36%, representing an appreciation of
around 2% per annum. With reinvested dividends, this corre-
sponds to an appreciation of around 4% per annum. Fresenius
Medical Care's market capitalization amounted to around
€9 BN at the end of the year under review.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
AMERICAN DEPOSITARY
RECEIPTS (ADRS)

Fresenius Medical Care shares are listed on the New York Stock
Exchange in the form of American Depositary Receipts (ADRs).
The price movement of ADRs is tied to that of Fresenius Medical
Care shares, taking into account the development of the euro/
U.S. dollar exchange rate. Two ADRs correspond to one share.
Based on the number of ADRs and shares traded, ADRs
accounted for over half of the of the entire trading volume for
2022. This represents an increase of 17 percentage points com-
pared to 2021. The volume of ADRs in circulation or withdrawn
was almost twice as high in 2022. Interest among U.S. investors
continued to increase.

DIVIDEND

In accordance with the dividend policy, the distribution of divi-
dends is based on the Company's earnings performance. At the
virtual Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2023, Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG as the General Partner and the
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c1.3 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE IN A 25-YEAR COMPARISON
WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED, INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 1997 - DECEMBER 31, 2022 (DECEMBER 31, 1996 = 100), IN %

== fresenius Medical Care shares (€) Fresenius Medical Care-ADRs (USS) Dow Jones Industrial Average DAX STOXX Europe 600 Health Care
Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations

c1.4 DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIVIDEND
IN €

' Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2023.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Supervisory Board will propose a dividend to shareholders of
€112 per share. This would equate to a reduction of 17%
compared with the previous year. The dividend has recorded an
annual growth of around 9% since 1997 (SEE CHART 1.4).

With 293.4 M dividend-bearing shares (as at December 31,
2022), the total dividend payout would amount to €328.6 M,
while the payout ratio in relation to net income for 2022 would
come to around 49% (2021: around 41%). Based on the
proposed dividend and the closing share price for 2022, the
dividend yield on the shares would be 3.7% (2021: 2.4%).
Fresenius Medical Care remains committed to its ambitious
goal of creating shareholder return.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

In our analysis of the shareholder structure as at December 31,
2022, around 95% of the approximately 293 M outstanding
Fresenius Medical Care shares were matched with their owners
(SEE TABLE 1.5 ON PAGE 13). Accordingly, the largest shareholder,
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, continues to hold around 94.4 M
shares, corresponding to an equity holding of 32%. In addition,
14 institutional investors were identified, each with at least 1%
of the capital stock.

According to the most recent analysis, 592 institutional inves-
tors own Fresenius Medical Care shares. The largest 20 institu-
tional investors account for approximately 60.5% of the identi-
fied free float, i.e., identified shares excluding shares held by
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA (previous year: 57%). As at Decem-
ber 31, 2022, 56% of the institutional free float was held by
investors from the U.S. The U.K. accounted for 7.9%. The Com-
pany was able to identify 4.5% of the institutional free float in
Germany, 3.6% in France and a further 3.8% in Canada as
shown in TABLE 1.6 ON PAGE 13.
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T1.5 NUMBER OF IDENTIFIED SHARES AS PER
SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE ANALYSIS
FIGURES ROUNDED IN M

Number in %
of shares in % of free float
Number of shares outstanding
as at December 31, 2022 293.41 100 -
Identified shares 279.38 95 93
Unidentified shares 14.03 5 7
Shares in free float 199.03 68 -
T1.6 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF
INSTITUTIONAL FREE FLOAT
FIGURES ROUNDED IN M
Dec. 2022 Dec. 2021
Number Number
of shares in % of shares in %
United States 18.0 66 1039 58
United Kingdom 15.6 9 23.6 13
Germany 9.0 5 1.9 7
Canada 7.4 4 8.6 5
France 7.2 4 73 4
Rest of Europe 14.3 8 17.0 9
Rest of World 7 4 7.4 4
REGIONALLY
ATTRIBUTABLE
SHARES 179.2 100 179.9 100
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VOTING RIGHTS NOTIFICATIONS

Based on the notifications received, a total of six investors
(besides Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA) each held more than 3% of
the voting rights in Fresenius Medical Care at the end of 2022.

All voting rights notifications in accordance with sections 33,
38, and 39 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) are
published on our website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/
en/investors/shares/shareholder-structure.

SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENT

Institutional investors are increasingly basing their investment
decisions on whether companies act in a sustainable manner.
They consult sustainability ratings and rankings to help them
assess how companies perform in this area. Fresenius Medical
Care continued to improve its performance in this respect by
successfully implementing sustainability initiatives in the year
under review.

In the sustainability rating published by the renowned rating pro-
vider MSCI, Fresenius Medical Care was awarded “A", the third-
best score, corresponding to an improvement of one rating class
in 2022. The Company has participated in the rating conducted by
the non-profit organization CDP since 2008. In 2022, it was again
classified in the second-highest category for "Water". This makes
Fresenius Medical Care one of the leading health care companies
in this area. Furthermore, Fresenius Medical Care was added to
the Dow Jones Sustainability World Index (DJSI World) in 2022.
The Company was also included in the DJSI Europe for the 13th
time, and in the FTSE4Good Index Series for the first time.

More information on Fresenius Medical Care's sustainability
activities can be found in the Non-Financial Group Report start-
ing on PAGE 82.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

ANALYSTS' ASSESSMENTS
OF OUR SHARES

Financial analysts continue to show great interest in Fresenius
Medical Care. In 2022, 23 sell-side analysts actively reported on
the Company and on Fresenius Medical Care shares. At the
end of the year, four of them issued a buy recommendation,
16 issued a hold recommendation, and three issued a sell
recommendation. Two brokers resumed coverage of Fresenius
Medical Care in 2022, while two ended their coverage.

RATING AND FINANCING

In September 2022, Fresenius Medical Care issued bonds with a
total volume of €750 M and a term of five years. The Company
also issued promissory note loans with a total volume of €225 M
in February 2022. In both cases, the proceeds were used for
general business purposes.

Fresenius Medical Care's financing activities in fiscal year 2022
have allowed it to reinforce its strong market reach in a chal-
lenging capital market environment and optimize the financing
mix and maturity profile of its liabilities, thereby further
strengthening its sound financial position.

Fresenius Medical Care is rated investment grade by the three
leading rating agencies Standard & Poor's, Moody's, and Fitch.
On November 15, 2022, Fitch confirmed Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA's credit rating of BBB- and changed its outlook
to negative.

An overview can be found in TABLE 5.63 ON PAGE 249,
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
ACTIVITIES

Fresenius Medical Care's investor relations activities focus on
ensuring continuous and transparent information for all capi-
tal market participants. The Company’s strategy, operational
and financial business development and sustainability activi-
ties are key elements of its capital market communications.
Target groups include shareholders, analysts, and other capital
market participants, as well as employees, journalists, and the
general public.

In fiscal year 2022, the Investor Relations team held around
1,000 investor meetings to discuss the Company's develop-
ment. All in all, the Investor Relations team reported on the
course of the Company's business at 34 conferences and 14
roadshows. In addition, to provide capital market participants
with an insight into medium- and long-term value drivers
beyond the current business performance, the Investor Rela-
tions team organized a virtual event with members of the
Management Board and the management team on the latest
trends in the area of home dialysis. The Company also show-
cased its innovative capability at an investor event on the topic
of “Artificial intelligence in the health care market".

In 2022, the Company continued its in-depth dialog in the area
of corporate governance. A hybrid roadshow provided specific
content for investors and is a key element of Fresenius Medical
Care's capital market communications and investor relations
activities. Most recently, Dr. Dieter Schenk, Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA,
and Dr. Dorothea Wenzel, member of the Supervisory Board
and Lead Independent Director, answered questions on corpo-
rate control, the Global Sustainability Program, the remunera-
tion structure and compliance together with experts from vari-
ous departments at a multi-day roadshow in November 2022.

14
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T1.7 KEY SHARE DATA

Share type

No par value bearer share

Stock exchanges

Germany

Frankfurt Stock Exchange /Prime Standard

U.S. (ADR)

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

Securities identification numbers and ticker symbols

Deutsche Borse FME

NYSE (ADR) FMS

WKN 578 580

ISIN DEO005785802
CUSIP number (NYSE) 358029106

Reuters

FMEG.DE (Xetra) or FMS.N (NYSE)

Bloomberg

FME GY (Xetra) or FMS US (NYSE)

For holders of debt, the Investor Relations team held a dedi-
cated roadshow in conjunction with the Treasury department
with a focus on ratings, financing, and the priorities adopted
with regard to the use of funds.

Further information on Fresenius Medical Care's investor rela-
tions activities can be found on our website at www.fresenius-
medicalcare.com/en/investors.
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T1.8 KEY FIGURES FOR FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE SHARES

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
NUMBER OF SHARES' inM 293.4 293.0 292.88 304.44 306.88
Share prices (Xetra trading)
High for the year in€ 63.56 70.96 79.00 76.32 93.00
Low for the year in€ 26.26 52.78 56.00 55.58 56.64
Year-end in€ 30.57 5714 68.20 65.96 56.64
Share prices (ADR NYSE)
High for the year in$ 34.84 43.32 46.55 4275 57.51
Low for the year in$ 12.81 29.82 29.21 3110 31.30
Year-end in$ 16.34 32.46 41.56 36.83 32.39
Market capitalization?
Year-end inEM 8,970 16,742 19,974 20,081 17,382
Index weighting
DAX in % 0.5 07 1.5 1.3 1.4
Dividend
Dividend per share? in€ 112 1.35 1.34 1.20 117
Dividend yield* in % 3.66 2.36 196 1.82 21
Total dividend payout inEM 329 396 392 358 359
Earnings per share (EPS)
Number of shares® inM 293.25 292.94 294.06 302.69 306.54
Earnings per share (EPS) in€ 2.30 3.31 3.96 396 6.47

' Shares outstanding on December 31 of the respective year.
2 Based on shares outstanding.

3 Based on the proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 16, 2023.

4 With reference to the respective year-end.
5 Weighted average number of shares outstanding.
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GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS
GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The following discussion of the Group Management Report of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as “we", “our”, “FMC AG & Co. KGaA",
“Fresenius Medical Care", "the Group" or “the Company") was
prepared in accordance with sections 315 to 315d of the Ger-
man Commercial Code and German Accounting Standards No.
20, and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements in this report. Some of the statements,
including those concerning future revenue, costs and capital
expenditures, possible changes in our industry as well as the
competitive and financial conditions include forward-looking
statements. We made these forward-looking statements based
on the expectations and beliefs of the Management Board of
the Company's General Partner (Management Board) pertain-
ing to future events that may affect us, but which we cannot
assure that such events will occur or that the results will be as
anticipated. Because these statements involve opportunities,
risks and uncertainties, the actual results may differ materially
(positive as well as negative) from the results which the for-
ward-looking statements express or imply. The statements
cover the content of and are subject to the uncertainties
described in the discussions in this report in the chapters “Out-
look" and "Risks and opportunities report” as well as in NOTE 2
AND 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The non-financial group declaration is not part of the Group
Management Report. It is part of a separate chapter of the
Annual Report and will be disclosed as separate Non-Financial
Group Report together with the Group Management Report.

Rounding adjustments applied to individual numbers and per-
centages shown in this and other reports may result in these
figures differing immaterially from their absolute values. Some
figures (including percentages) in this report have been
rounded in accordance with commercial rounding conventions.
In some instances, such rounded figures and percentages may
not add up to 100% or to the totals or subtotals contained in
this report. Furthermore, totals and subtotals in tables may dif-
fer slightly from unrounded figures contained in this report due
to rounding in accordance with commercial rounding conven-
tions. A dash (-) indicates that no data were reported for a spe-
cific line item in the relevant financial year or period, while a
zero (0) is used when the pertinent figure, after rounding,
amounts to zero.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022
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OVERVIEW
OF THE GROUP

We provide high-quality health care solutions
for patients with renal diseases. Our innovative
products and therapies set high standards in
dialysis treatment.

BUSINESS MODEL
Operations and company structure

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We provide dialysis and related services for individuals with
renal diseases as well as other health care services. We also
develop, manufacture and distribute a wide variety of health
care products, which we sell to customers in around 150 coun-
tries as well as using them in our own health care service oper-
ations. Our dialysis business is therefore vertically integrated.

We continue to generate most of our revenue with dialysis
products and dialysis care services. In our 4,116 proprietary
dialysis centers in around 50 countries worldwide, we provide
care for over 344,000 dialysis patients. We manage the world's
largest network of dialysis centers in terms of the number of
people treated to accommodate an ever-rising number of
patients. In addition, we operate 42 production sites in around
20 countries. The most important plants for dialyzer produc-
tion are in St. Wendel (Germany), Ogden, Utah (U.S.), Changshu
(China), L'Arbresle (France), and Buzen (Japan). Dialysis
machines are manufactured in Schweinfurt (Germany), in
Concord, California (U.S.), and in Changshu (China).
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Fresenius Medical Care has a decentralized structure and is
divided into the regions North America, Europe, Middle East
and Africa (EMEA), Asia-Pacific and Latin America. Our operat-
ing segments correspond to this regional breakdown (the term
“North America Segment" refers to our North America operat-
ing segment, the term “EMEA Segment” refers to the Europe,
Middle East and Africa operating segment, the term “Asia-
Pacific Segment” refers to our Asia-Pacific operating segment,
and the term “Latin America Segment"” refers to our Latin
America operating segment).

As announced on November 2, 2021, we have entered the next
phase of our program focusing on the transformation of our
global operating model to strengthen profitability and enable
execution on our strategy (FME25 Program). Since January 1,
2023, Fresenius Medical Care has been managing its business
in the two global operating segments Care Enablement and
Care Delivery, adopting a more centralized approach. In Care
Enablement, the Company consolidates the previously decen-
tralized health care products business. Within Care Delivery we
combine our global health care services business. Our Global
Medical Office continues to leverage the vertically integrated
approach to optimize clinical outcomes for our patients. Gen-
eral and administrative functions are also globalized using a
three pillars model of business partnering, centers of excel-
lence and global shared services.

Fresenius Medical Care's company headquarters is in Bad
Homburg v.d. H6he, Germany. The headquarters in North
America, our most important region in terms of revenue, is in
Waltham, Massachusetts (U.S.).

CHART 2.1 ON PAGE 19 provides an overview of our most import-
ant production sites and headquarters.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Our products and services

Fresenius Medical Care provides dialysis and related services
for individuals with renal diseases as well as other health care
services. We also develop, manufacture and distribute a wide
variety of health care products. Our health care products and
health care services for the fiscal year 2022 are shown in
CHART 2.2 ON PAGE 20.

Approximately 3.9 M (2021: 3.8 M) patients worldwide regularly
underwent dialysis treatment at the end of 2022. Dialysis is a
life-saving blood cleansing procedure that substitutes the func-
tion of the kidney in case of kidney failure. Healthy kidneys
clean the blood of waste products, reqgulate water levels, and
produce important hormones. If the kidneys are irreparably
damaged and are therefore no longer able to function ade-
quately over a longer period of time, this is known as chronic
kidney failure or end-stage renal disease (ESRD). Many dis-
eases can lead to chronic kidney failure, particularly diabetes,
chronic nephritis or high blood pressure. There are currently
two treatment options for ESRD: kidney transplant and dialysis.

Our health care products

The health care products we offer in around 150 countries
around the world focus on the following therapies:

> Hemodialysis (HD) - HD is by far the most common type of
therapy for chronic kidney failure. Fresenius Medical Care pro-
vides a wide range of HD products in dialysis centers as well
as for use at home. They include machines, dialyzers, blood-
line systems, HD solutions and concentrates, water treatment
systems, as well as data processing and analysis systems.

> Peritoneal dialysis (PD) - In PD the peritoneum is used as a nat-
ural filter. We offer systems and solutions for continuous ambu-
latory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peritoneal
dialysis (APD) in dialysis centers as well as for use at home.
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cz21 MAJOR LOCATIONS

o1
02
o8
06

07

North America

@® WALTHAM, U.S.
Regional headquarters
North America

01 OGDEN, U.S.
Dialyzers, PD solutions

02 CONCORD, U.S.
Dialysis machines

03 OREGON, U.S.
Concentrates

04 MONTREAL, CA
Concentrates

05 IRVING, U.S.
Concentrates

06 ERIKA DE REYNOSA, MX
Bloodlines

07 GUADALAJARA, MX
Dialysis solutions

08 TIJUANA, MX
Cycler, concentrates

04 .
03  WALTHAM
u.S.
05
09
10 .
RIO DE JANEIRO
BR
1n
Latin America

@ RIO DE JANEIRO, BR
Regional headquarters
Latin America

09 BOGOTA, CO
Dialysis solutions

10 JAGUARIUNA, BR
Dialysis solutions

11 PILAR, AR
Concentrates

BAD HOMBURG
DE

Europe

@® BAD HOMBURG, DE
Company headquarters and
regional headquarters Europe,
Middle East and Africa

12 SCHWEINFURT, DE
Dialysis machines

13 ST. WENDEL, DE
Dialyzers, PD solutions

14 L'ARBRESLE, FR
Dialyzers, concentrates

15 PALAZZO PIGNANO, IT
Bloodlines

16 KREMS, AT
Adsorbers

17 VRSAC, RS
Dialyzers, bloodlines

18 ANTALYA, TR
Concentrates

20
21

HONG KONG
CN

22

Asia-Pacific

20

21

22

23

24

HONG KONG, CN

Regional headquarters

Asia-Pacific

INUKALI, JP 24
Fibers

BUZEN, JP

Dialyzers, PD bags

CHANGSHU, CN

Dialysis machines, dialyzers, PD bags
ENSTEK, MY

Concentrates, PD bags

SMITHFIELD, AU
Concentrates

SCORESBY, AU
Dialysis chairs, packs
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OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

HEALTH CARE SERVICES

~

~

~

End-Stage Renal Disease-
related treatments

End-Stage Renal Disease-
related laboratory testing
services

Acute dialysis services

OTHER HEALTH CARE
SERVICES

~

v o>

~

~

Value and risk-based
care programs

Pharmacy services

Vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty

services as well as ambulatory

surgery center services

Physician nephrology and
cardiology services

Ambulant treatment services

HEALTH CARE PRODUCTS

~

~

~

~

~

~

~

~

Hemodialysis machines and
peritoneal dialysis cyclers

Dialyzers
Peritoneal dialysis solutions

Hemodialysis concentrates,
solutions and granulates

Bloodlines
Renal pharmaceuticals
Systems for water treatment

Other equipment and
medical devices

OTHER HEALTH CARE
PRODUCTS

>

>

Acute cardiopulmonary
products

Apheresis products
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» Acute dialysis - In case of a sudden loss of renal function, con-
tinuous renal replacement therapy is used in intensive care
units. Fresenius Medical Care also provides products for this.

We also offer other health care products including acute
cardiopulmonary products and products for apheresis therapy,
which involves the removal of excess blood fats or pathogenic
antibodies.

Our health care services

Dialysis patients receive life-saving dialysis treatment and
other associated services such as laboratory tests in our 4,116
(2021: 4,171) dialysis centers worldwide. Dialysis treatment at
our clinics is usually performed three times a week over a
period of several hours by trained medical staff. We also pro-
vide advice on medical support and training for home dialysis
patients in our dialysis centers.

In 2022, we treated most of our patients (60%) (2021: 60%) in
the North America Segment, followed by 19% (2021: 19%) in
the EMEA Segment, 11% (2021: 11%) in the Latin America Seg-
ment and 10% (2021: 10%) in the Asia-Pacific Segment.

Fresenius Medical Care is able to operate its own dialysis clinics
in countries where the health care system allows private-sector
companies to provide medical services and an appropriate
reimbursement system is in place.

In addition to our dialysis treatments, we also provide other
health care services which include value and risk-based care
programs, pharmacy services, vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty services as well as ambulatory surgery
center services, physician nephrology and cardiology services
and ambulant treatment services.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Our value and risk-based care programs allow for partnerships
with payors and the government to reduce the overall cost of
care while helping people with kidney disease. We support the
entire spectrum of renal care, from chronic kidney disease
(CKD) to ESRD, including kidney transplantation, supportive
care, and all modalities of dialysis. With our industry expertise,
we leverage artificial intelligence, analytics, technological capa-
bilities, and platforms to support early interventions.

Major markets and competitive position

According to our estimates, the number of dialysis patients
worldwide reached around 3.9 M in 2022 (2021: 3.8 M) - a 3%
growth rate. Fresenius Medical Care is the global leader in dial-
ysis care, providing treatment to about 9% of all dialysis
patients (2021: 9%). In the same period, 344,687 people were
treated in Fresenius Medical Care's network of dialysis centers
(2021: 345,425). More information on the number of patients
can be found in CHART 2.3 ON PAGE 21.

Fresenius Medical Care is also the global market leader for dial-
ysis products. Products made by Fresenius Medical Care for use
in our own dialysis centers or for sale to third-party customers
accounted for a market share of 35% in 2022 (2021: 36%). In
the case of hemodialysis products, we had a 41% share of the
global market (2021: 42%), making us the world leader in this
field as well.

Dialyzers for hemodialysis are the largest product group in the
dialysis market with a worldwide sales volume of around 390 M
units in 2022 (2021: 377 M). Approximately 161 M (around 41%)
of these were made by Fresenius Medical Care (2021: 158 M or
around 42%), giving us by far the biggest market share. Hemo-
dialysis machines constitute another key component of our
product business. Here, too, we are the market leader. Of the
estimated 90,000 machines installed in 2022 (2021: 94,000),



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

General information Outlook

Overview of the Group Risks and Opportunities Report

Economic Report Corporate Governance fundamentals

Subsequent events

21

c2.3 PATIENTS TREATED
North America Segment
EMEA Segment
Asia-Pacific Segment

2022 [ 2%

2021 [ 2%
Latin America Segment
Worldwide

70 %
70 %

92 %

92 %

98 %
98 %

89 %
89 %

91 %

91 %

== fresenius Medical Care Other providers
Source: Company data and estimates

approximately 42,000, or around 47% (2021: 48,000 or around
51%), were produced by Fresenius Medical Care.

Furthermore, we hold a strong position in the market for peri-
toneal dialysis products: Around 15% (2021: around 15%) of all
peritoneal dialysis patients use products made by Fresenius
Medical Care.

The overall market for dialysis care services in the U.S. is con-
solidated. Across all market segments, we treat around 38% of
all dialysis patients here (2021: 37%). In the U.S., home dialysis
is becoming increasingly important. In 2022, about 15% (2021:

15%) of our U.S. dialysis treatments were performed at home.
Outside the U.S., the dialysis services business is much more
fragmented. With over 1,450 dialysis centers (2021: 1,490)
and approximately 139,000 patients (2021: 139,000) in around
50 countries (2021: 50), Fresenius Medical Care operates by far
the largest network of clinics.

Global Manufacturing and Supply
Our production, distribution, and supply of renal and multi-

organ therapy products is managed through a global network
of manufacturing sites and distribution centers. In about 150

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

countries, patients and customers depend on the manufactur-
ing and delivery of a full range of products used in renal treat-
ments as well as heart and lung therapies.

As part of our FME25 Program, the integration of manufactur-
ing and supply into our future segment Care Enablement was
started during 2022. The objective of our production strategy
is to manufacture high-quality products in the right place at the
right time on the best possible terms. We are able to implement
this strategy thanks to a network of large production sites,
where we make products for sale worldwide, as well as smaller
production sites that primarily supply products regionally.

At the end of 2022, 16,916 people (total headcount) were
employed in manufacturing and supply (2021: 16,952).

CORPORATE STRATEGY
AND OBJECTIVES

“Creating a future worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every
day.” This vision guides us in our efforts to give our patients
around the world a better life by offering them high-quality
products and outstanding health care.

At the same time, we expect to face a multitude of challenges
in the coming years: an aging population, a rise in chronic dis-
eases, fragmented care, staff shortages, cost pressure, digitali-
zation and the COVID-19 pandemic, all of which require new
approaches and solutions in health care.

Our products and health care services are at the core of our
strategy. To implement it successfully, we will concentrate on
three key areas: the renal care continuum, critical care solu-
tions, and complementary assets.
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OUR FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE STRATEGY
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Renal care continuum

To meet the challenges of the future, we are leveraging our
core strategic competencies: developing innovative products,
operating outpatient facilities, standardizing medical proce-
dures and coordinating patients effectively.

With the implementation of our corporate strategy (SEE
CHART 2.4), we intend to take a further step to bring us closer
to our goal of providing health care for chronically and critically
ill patients across the renal care continuum. We aim to use our
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innovative, high-quality products and services to offer sustain-
able solutions at a reliable cost.

The renal care continuum encompasses the following aspects:

> New renal care models:
We intend to use digital technologies such as artificial intelli-
gence and big data analytics to develop new care models for
patients with kidney failure, such as personalized dialysis and
holistic home treatment.

> Value and risk-based care models:
These models allow us to offer care that is not only better, but
also affordable in the long term. Our aim is to establish
sustainable partnerships with payors around the world to
drive forward the transition from fee-for-service payment to
pay-for-performance models.

> Chronic kidney disease and transplantation:

We want to provide patients with holistic care along their
entire treatment path. To this end, we have broadened our
value and risk-based care programs to include the treatment
of chronic kidney disease with a view to slowing disease pro-
gression, enabling a smoother start to dialysis and preventing
unnecessary hospital stays. We also intend to incorporate kid-
ney transplants into value-based care models in the future.

Future innovations:

Through Fresenius Medical Care Ventures we invest in start-
ups and early-stage companies in the health care sector with
the goal of gaining access to new and disruptive technologies
and treatment concepts for our core business and comple-
mentary assets.

v
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Critical care solutions

The number of patients requiring continuous renal replace-
ment therapy to treat acute kidney failure is set to rise in the
next decade to around 1.5 million per year. In addition to acute
dialysis, the Company is also active in other areas of extra-
corporeal critical care therapy, such as the treatment of acute
heart, lung and multi-organ failure.

Complementary assets

We will supplement and strengthen our existing network where
feasible through additional partnerships, investments and
acquisitions. This will help us to create medical value added
while saving costs, enabling us to build an even more solid
foundation for our future growth to 2025 and beyond. For fur-
ther information on the InterWell Health business combination,
which supports our business activities, see section "“Overall
business development - Highlights" in the chapter “Economic
Report” and NOTE 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Integrating sustainability

For us, sustainability is about being successful in the long term
and creating lasting value - economically, ecologically and
socially. Our commitment to sustainability is incorporated in
our vision and our mission. It is also reflected in our strategy.
With our Global Sustainability Program, we have integrated the
issue even more closely into our business activities from 2020
to 2022. In this context, we have introduced sustainability as a
non-financial performance target for management compensa-
tion. Based on the results of the Global Sustainability Program,
in 2022, we developed a new set of global sustainability targets
for the coming years. The Supervisory Board also decided on
new sustainability goals for Management Board compensation
in 2023. They are linked to progress of the Company's sustain-



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

General information Outlook

Overview of the Group Risks and Opportunities Report

Economic Report Corporate Governance fundamentals

Subsequent events

ability targets in the areas of patient satisfaction, employee
satisfaction, and sustainable products and services.

For further information, see the separate Non-Financial Group
Report and the Compensation Report within the chapter
"“Corporate Governance” of the Annual Report.

Globalizing our operating model

In 2021, Fresenius Medical Care launched its FME25 Program.
Starting in 2022, the Company has been significantly stream-
lining its operating model to create two global segments - Care
Delivery and Care Enablement (which were implemented on
January 1, 2023). By doing so, the Company is structuring its
operating model along its key value drivers. The new operating
model continues Fresenius Medical Care's strategy to globalize
and simplify its structure in the course of implementing its
growth strategy. The objective is to better capture identified
growth opportunities, leverage expertise to accelerate value
creation, enhance capital allocation, further exploit the advan-
tages of the Company'’s vertical integration, increase transpar-
ency both internally and externally, reduce the administrative
burden in terms of cost and speed, and promote a culture of
agility, innovation and accountability.

The new global operating model went live on January 1, 2023.
With the new model, we will not only simplify our organization
and significantly reduce overhead costs but rigorously optimize
our portfolio in both operating segments. While we have made
progress with the implementation of the operating model and
the savings planned under the FME25 Program, we are working
on measures that further support margin improvement.

For further information, see the section “Business Model" in
the chapter "Overview of the Group", the section “FME25" in
the chapter “Outlook” and NOTE 27 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

The Management Board oversees our Company by setting stra-
tegic and operational targets and measuring various financial
key performance indicators used for internal management
determined in euro based upon IFRS and other measures, as
described below.

The key performance indicators used for internal management
are identical in the individual operating segments.

Each operating segment is evaluated based on target figures
that reflect the revenue and expenses they control. The effects
of certain transactions and income taxes are not included as we
believe these items to be outside the operating segments’ con-
trol. Financing is a corporate function, which the operating seg-
ments do not control. Therefore, we do not include interest
expense relating to financing as an operating segment mea-
surement. Similarly, we do not allocate certain costs which
relate primarily to certain headquarters' overhead charges,
including accounting and finance, certain legal and IT costs,
global research and development, global manufacturing, quality
and supply chain management and costs attributable to the
Global Medical Office because we believe that these costs are
also not within the control of the individual operating segments.

The following key performance indicators and certain other
financial information as well as discussions and analyses set
out in this report include measures that are not defined by IFRS
(Non-IFRS Measure). We believe this information, along with
comparable IFRS financial measurements, is useful to our
investors as it provides a basis for assessing our performance,
payment obligations related to performance-based compensa-
tion, our compliance with covenants and enhanced transpar-
ency as well as comparability of our results. Likewise, in this
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context, presenting our results excluding special items ensures
comparability of the figures presented with the Company's
financial targets which have been defined excluding special
items. The primary key performance indicators are used in the
internal management of the Company, including the prepara-
tion of the outlook, at Constant Currency excluding special
items. In addition, we report secondary financial performance
indicators to give the reader of this report a full picture of our
results of operations, financial position and net assets. Non-
IFRS financial measures should not be viewed or interpreted as
a substitute for financial information presented in accordance
with IFRS.

Performance indicators at Constant
Exchange Rates or Constant Currency
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Our presentation of some financial measures used in this report
such as changes in revenue, operating income and net income
attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA (or net
income) includes the impact of translating local currencies to
our reporting currency for financial reporting purposes. We
calculate and present these financial measures using both
IFRS and at constant exchange rates in our publications to
show changes in these metrics and other items without giving
effect to period-to-period currency fluctuations. Under IFRS,
amounts received in local (non-euro) currency are translated
into euro at the average exchange rate for the period pre-
sented. Once we translate the local currency for the constant
currency, we then calculate the change, as a percentage, of
the current period calculated using the prior period exchange
rates versus the prior period. This resulting percentage is a
Non-IFRS Measure referring to a change as a percentage at
constant currency. These currency-adjusted financial mea-
sures are identifiable by the designated terms “Constant
Exchange Rates" or “Constant Currency”.
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The primary key performance indicators, with the exception of
ROIC (defined below), are presented at Constant Currency
excluding special items (defined below) for management pur-
poses. ROIC and each of these indicators presented at Constant
Currency are considered non-IFRS measures. For the purposes
of management compensation, these metrics are also bench-
marked at the underlying exchange rates used in the calcula-
tion of our incentive compensation targets.

We believe that the measures at Constant Currency are useful
to investors, lenders and other creditors because such informa-
tion enables them to gauge the impact of currency fluctuations
on our revenue, operating income, net income attributable to
shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA and other items from
period to period. In addition, under our long-term incentive
plans, we measure the attainment of certain pre-determined
financial targets for revenue growth and net income growth in
Constant Currency. However, we limit our use of Constant
Currency period-over-period changes to a measure for the
impact of currency fluctuations on the translation of local
currency into euro. We do not evaluate our results and perfor-
mance without considering both:

1. period-over-period changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA and other items prepared in accordance with IFRS and

2. Constant Currency changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA and other items.

We caution the readers of this report not to consider these
measures in isolation, but to review them in conjunction with
changes in revenue, operating income, net income attributable
to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA and other items pre-
pared in accordance with IFRS. We present the growth rate
derived from non-IFRS measures next to the growth rate
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derived from IFRS measures such as revenue, operating
income, net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG &
Co. KGaA and other items. As the reconciliation is inherent in
the disclosure included within section “Results of operations,
financial position and net assets” below in the chapter “Eco-
nomic Report”, we believe that a separate reconciliation would
not provide any additional benefit.

Performance indicators excluding special items

The primary key performance indicators are used in the man-
agement of the Company, including the preparation of the out-
look, at Constant Currency excluding special items. Therefore,
management believes that there are special items which should
also be excluded from primary key performance indicators at
Constant Currency in external reporting to enhance trans-
parency and comparability (Special Items). Special Items are
unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable or not fore-
seeable in size or impact at the time of giving guidance. In the
presentation of the expected development of our business in
our outlook, Special Items are therefore excluded. Presenting
our results excluding Special Items ensures comparability of
the figures presented with the Company's financial targets
which have been defined excluding Special Items.

In 2021, we identified the costs related to the FME25 Program
and in 2022, we identified the costs related to the FME25 Pro-
gram, the Hyperinflation in Turkiye, the Humacyte Investment
Remeasurement and the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health in
the North America Segment as well as the Impacts Related to
the War in Ukraine (defined below) as Special Items which, when
excluded from the results disclosed, may provide a reader with
further useful information in assessing our performance against
the financial targets. These results at Constant Currency exclud-
ing Special Items are presented as part of the comparison of the
actual business results with the outlook and in our outlook,
together with reconciliations of the performance indicators for

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

our Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS to the performance indicators at Constant Currency
excluding Special Items. These results at Constant Currency
excluding Special Items should only be viewed as a supplement
to our results disclosed in accordance with IFRS.

For further information see section “Overall business develop-
ment - Comparison of actual business results with the outlook”
in the chapter "Economic Report” and section “Key perfor-
mance indicators development of Fresenius Medical Care in
2023" in the chapter “Outlook".

Financial performance indicators
Primary key performance indicators
Revenue and revenue growth

We use revenue and revenue growth as key performance indi-
cators, as we believe that the key to continue growing our rev-
enue is to attract new patients and increase the number of
treatments performed each year. The number of treatments
performed each year is therefore an indicator of both the abso-
lute amount of revenue as well as continued revenue growth.
For further information regarding revenue recognition and
measurement, refer to NOTE 1K of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue and revenue growth are used at Constant Exchange
Rates excluding Special Items for management purposes.

Operating income
Operating income is the most appropriate measure for evaluat-

ing the profitability of the operating segments and therefore is
also a key performance indicator.
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Operating income is used at Constant Exchange Rates exclud-
ing Special Items for management purposes.

Net income and net income growth

As net income represents the profitability of our business after
all costs including operating costs, interest income and expense,
taxes and the impacts of noncontrolling interests in our subsid-
iaries, this metric shows our profit for the period after taking
into account all aspects of our business. On a consolidated
level, we also use percentage growth in net income (net income
attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA).

Net income and net income growth are used at Constant Exchange
Rates excluding Special Items for management purposes.

Return on invested capital (ROIC) (Non-IFRS Measure)

ROIC is the ratio of operating income after tax (net operating
profit after tax or NOPAT) of the last 12 months to the average
invested capital of the last five quarter closing dates, including
adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the
year with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold, consistent
with the respective adjustments made in the determination of
adjusted EBITDA below (see "“Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS
Measure)"). ROIC expresses how efficiently we allocate the cap-
ital under our control or how well we employ our capital with
regard to investment projects.

TABLES 2.6 TO 2.1 STARTING ON PAGE 26 show the reconciliation
of average invested capital to total assets, which we believe to
be the most directly comparable IFRS financial measure, and
how ROIC is calculated.
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TABLE 2.5 provides an overview of our primary key performance
indicators:

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

T2.5 PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
Results 2022 Results 2021

As reported At Constant Currency As reported
(in accordance with IFRS, excl. Special Items, (in accordance with IFRS,
except for ROIC) except for ROIC? except for ROIC)
Revenue 19,398 17,985 17,619
Revenue growth in % 10 2 )
Operating income 1,512 1,673 1,852
Net income’ 673 842 969
Net income growth in %' (€1)] ar) arn)
ROIC in % 3.3 39 49

' Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.

2 Performance indicators used for management purposes, for further information on Constant Currency and Special Items, see above in this section.

The results at Constant Currency excluding Special Items
should only be viewed as a supplement to our results disclosed
in accordance with IFRS and are used for management pur-
poses. Presenting our results at Constant Currency excluding
Special Items also ensures comparability of the figures pre-
sented with the Company's financial targets which have been
defined excluding Special Items.

For a reconciliation of the results prepared in accordance with
IFRS to the results at Constant Currency excluding Special
Iltems see section “Overall business development - Comparison
of actual business results with the outlook” in the chapter
"Economic Report".

Secondary financial performance indicators
Operating income margin

Operating income margin represents the ratio of operating
income to revenue. We believe operating income margin shows
the profitability of each of our operating segments and our
company on a consolidated basis.

Basic earnings per share growth

Percentage growth in basic earnings per share at Constant
Currency (Non-IFRS Measure) is a key performance indicator to
evaluate our profitability. This indicator helps to manage our
overall performance. Basic earnings per share is calculated
by dividing net income attributable to shareholders by the
weighted-average number of outstanding shares over the
course of the year.
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T2.6 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC T2.7 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC
(NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED) IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, 2022 2022 20223 20223 20223 20213
2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2021
Total assets = = 576 539 528
Total assets 35,754 38,406 36,070 34,724 34,367 - -
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents = = (55) (52) (51)
Plus: Cumulative goodwill —
amortization and impairment loss 645 699 665 641 612 Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties = = 9) (8) (8)
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,274) amna) (1,025) 1,173) (1,482) . .
Minus: Provisions and
Minus: Loans to related parties 1) 3) Q) (4) @15) other current liabilities’ - - 4) (4) @3)
Minus: Deferred tax assets (313) (328) (310) (299) (315) Invested capital = = 508 475 466
Minus: Accounts payable Adjustment to average invested
to unrelated parties (813) (828) (837) (790) (736) capital as of December 31, 2022 290
Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties (118) (81) (102) (70) (121) Adjustment to operating income? (25)
Minus: Provisions and Adjustment to income tax expense3 8
other current liabilities' (3,008) (3,488) (3.222) (3188) (3,319)
Adjustment to NOPAT ar)
Minus: Income tax liabilities arn (242) (207) (194) a74)

' Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
Invested capital 30,701 33,021 31,031 29,647 28,817 and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.

3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

Average invested capital as of

December 31, 2022 30,643
Operating income 1,512
Income tax expense? (487)
NOPAT 1,025

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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T2.8 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

(NON-IFRS MEASURE)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T2.9 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

(NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2022 2022 20223 20223 20223 20213 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020
Total assets 35,754 38,406 36,646 35,263 34,895 Total assets 34,367 33,831 32,987 33,159 31,689
Plus: Cumulative goodwill Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization and impairment loss 645 699 665 641 612 amortization and impairment loss 612 604 602 598 583
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents 1,274) amna) (1,080) (1,225) (1,533) Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,482) (1,562) (1,408) 1,073) (1,082)
Minus: Loans to related parties Q) 3) Q)] (4) (15) Minus: Loans to related parties @15) 4) (6) Q)] Q)]
Minus: Deferred tax assets (313) (328) (310) (299) (315) Minus: Deferred tax assets (315) (374) (359) (333) (350
Minus: Accounts payable Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties (813) (828) (846) (798) (744) to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732)
Minus: Accounts payable Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties m8) (810 (102) (70) 121 to related parties @21 (94) (102) (105) (95)
Minus: Provisions and other current Minus: Provisions and
liabilities' (3,008) (3,488) (3,226) (3192) (3,322) other current liabilities’ (3,319) (3,516) (3,528) (3,436) (3.180)
Minus: Income tax liabilities arn (242) (207) (194) 174) Minus: Income tax liabilities 74) (224) (218) (232) a97)
Invested capital 30,701 33,021 31,539 30,122 29,283 Invested capital 28,817 27,955 27,283 27,942 26,634
Average invested capital as of Average invested capital as of
December 31, 2022 30,933 December 31, 2021 27,725
Operating income? 1,487 Operating income 1,852
Income tax expense?3 (479) Income tax expense? (490)
NOPAT 1,008 NOPAT 1,362

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

ROIC in % 3.3 and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.

3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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T210 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T211 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE)

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203 2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203
Total assets - 115 186 189 291 Total assets 34,367 33,946 33,173 33,348 31,980
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents - - - - 3) Plus: Cumulative goodwill
- . amortization and impairment loss 612 604 602 598 583
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' - - - - (6) Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,482) (1,562) (1,408) (1,073) (1,085)
Invested capital - 115 186 189 282 Minus: Loans to related parties @15) 4) (6) 1) 1)
Adjustment to average invested Minus: Deferred tax assets (315) (374) (359) (333) (351)
capital as of December 31, 2021 154 X
Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732)
. - 3
Adjustment to operating income 12 Minus: Accounts payable
Adjustment to income tax expense3 (3) to related parties (121) (94) (102) (105) (95)
Adjustment to NOPAT 9 Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' (3,319) (3,516) (3,528) (3,436) (3186)
" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions. Minus: Income tax liabilities a74) (224) (218) (232) 197)
3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
Invested capital 28,817 28,070 27,469 28,131 26,916
Average invested capital as of
December 31, 2021 27,879
Operating income? 1,864
Income tax expense?3 (493)
NOPAT 1,371
ROIC in % 4.9

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.

3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made during the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
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Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities in % of revenue

Our consolidated statement of cash flows indicates how we
generated and used cash and cash equivalents. In conjunction
with our other primary financial statements, it provides infor-
mation that helps us evaluate changes to our net assets and
our financial structure (including liquidity and solvency). Net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities is applied to
assess whether a business can internally generate the cash
required to make the necessary replacement and expansion of
investments. This indicator is impacted by the profitability of
our business and the development of working capital, mainly
receivables. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
in percent of revenue shows the percentage of our revenue
that is available in terms of financial resources. This measure is
an indicator of our operating financial strength.

Free cash flow in % of revenue
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Free cash flow (which we define as net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities after capital expenditures, before acqui-
sitions and investments) refers to the cash flow we have at our
disposal, including cash flows that may be restricted for other
uses. This indicator shows the percentage of revenue available
for acquisitions and investments, dividends to shareholders,
reducing debt financing or for repurchasing shares.

For a reconciliation of cash flow performance indicators for
2022 and 2021 which reconciles free cash flow and free cash
flow in percent of revenue to Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities and Net cash provided by (used in) operat-
ing activities in percent of revenue, see section “Results of
operations, financial position and net assets - Financial posi-
tion - Sources of Liquidity"” in the chapter “Economic Report".
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Capital expenditures, acquisitions
and investments

We manage our investments using a detailed coordination and
evaluation process. The Management Board sets our complete
investment budget as well as the investment targets. Before real-
izing specific investment projects or acquisitions, our internal
Acquisition & Investment Committee examines the individual
projects and measures considering the expected return on invest-
ment and potential yield. Investment projects are evaluated using
common methods such as net present value, internal interest rate
methods and payback periods. We utilize this evaluation method-
ology to ensure that we only make and implement investments
and acquisitions that increase shareholder value. Capital expen-
ditures for property, plant and equipment and capitalized devel-
opment costs is an indicator used for internal management.
It influences the capital invested for replacement and expansion.

Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS Measure)

The net leverage ratio is a performance indicator used for cap-
ital management. To determine the net leverage ratio, debt and
lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents (net debt) is
compared to adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization), adjusted for:

> the effects of acquisitions and divestitures made during the
year with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold as
defined in our Syndicated Credit Facility (SEE NOTE 14 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements),
> non-cash charges,
> impairment loss, and
> Special Items, including:
> costs related to our FME25 Program,
> the impact from applying hyperinflationary accounting
under IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary
Economies (IAS 29), in Turkiye (Hyperinflation in Turkiye),
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» the impact from the remeasurement of our investment in
Humacyte, Inc. (Humacyte Investment Remeasurement),
» the net gain related to the InterWell Health business com-
bination, including the remeasurement gain of our invest-
ment, prior to the transaction, in InterWell Health LLC,
the impairment of certain long-lived assets belonging to
Acumen Physician Solutions, LLC which was transferred
to InterWell Health as part of the transaction and certain
transaction-related costs (Net Gain Related to InterWell
Health) (for further information regarding the InterWell
Health business combination, see “Overall business devel-
opment - Highlights" in chapter “Economic report” and
NOTE 3 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments), and
bad debt expense in Russia and Ukraine and the impair-
ment of a production plant and associated machines
resulting from economic sanctions imposed on Russia,
which negatively impacted our supply chain to the coun-
try, as a result of the Ukraine War (Impacts Related to the
War in Ukraine). Although to date the Ukraine War has had
minimal impact on our impairment testing of goodwill in
the EMEA Segment, as we continue to treat patients and
provide health care products to our clinics in those coun-
tries, receive reimbursements and generate cash flows, it
has had an impact on the valuation of certain assets and
receivables as a result of the ongoing hostilities.

The ratio is an indicator of the length of time the Company
needs to service the net debt out of its own resources. We
believe that the net leverage ratio provides alternative infor-
mation that management believes to be useful in assessing our
ability to meet our payment obligations in addition to consider-
ing the absolute amount of our debt. We have a strong market
position in a growing, global and mainly non-cyclical market.
Furthermore, most of our customers have a high credit rating
as the dialysis industry is characterized by stable and sustained
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cash flows. We believe this enables us to work with a reason-
able proportion of debt.

For our self-set target range and a reconciliation of the net
leverage ratio as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, see section
“Results of operations, financial position and net assets -
Financial position - Financing strategy” in the chapter
"Economic Report".

Changes to the internal
management system

In 2023, the internal management system will be updated due
to the way in which the Management Board will manage
and represent the Company, in line with the FME25 Program,
in the future.

Based on these changes, net income, net income growth and
ROIC will no longer be used as primary key performance
indicators for internal management from January 1, 2023. Net
income, net income growth and ROIC will continue to be
included as secondary financial performance indicators.

Primary key performance indicators for internal management
from 2023 onwards are as follows:

» revenue,
> revenue growth, and
> operating income.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Developing innovative products and continuously improving
our therapies are intrinsic elements of our strategy. Our world-
wide research and development (R&D) activities, which will be
managed in the new Care Enablement segment (CE) starting in
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2023 (in 2022 by Global Research and Development division
(GRD)), allow us to develop products and therapies efficiently
and to systematically promote the exchange of knowledge and
technology between regions.

Global research and development strateqy

Health care systems face major financial challenges. We there-
fore aim to direct our research and development activities
toward developing innovative products and therapies that not
only meet high quality standards and improve clinical out-
comes, but are also affordable. As an operator of proprietary
dialysis clinics and a provider of products for treating patients
at home, we believe that these aims are entirely compatible. In
addition, we are in a strong position to provide life-saving
therapies and treatments to patients suffering from acute
kidney failure due to COVID-19.

Our research and development strategy contributes to our cor-
porate strategy, which aims to provide health care for chron-
ically and critically ill patients across the renal care continuum,
in critical settings and by acquiring and developing complemen-
tary assets. Furthermore, our research and development strat-
eqgy is globally orientated, enabling us to respond even better
to the worldwide rise in demand for high-quality yet cost-effi-
cient treatment and therapy methods. In doing so, we also take
regional market conditions into account and offer a differenti-
ated product range across all three key areas of our corporate
strategy (see section “Corporate strategy and objectives”).

In the future, we intend to deliver innovative, competitive prod-
ucts even more efficiently. As part of our organizational realign-
ment, we have therefore started to consolidate our previously
decentralized health care products business, including research
and development, in the Care Enablement segment beginning
on January 1, 2023. The products business will be organized
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along the three treatment modalities that we serve: In-center,
Home and Critical Care.

Alongside our research and development activities, we collabo-
rate with external partners with the aim of expanding our com-
prehensive innovation and technology network. These partners
include numerous academic institutions, such as research insti-
tutes at prestigious universities in the U.S. Another partner is
the Renal Research Institute in New York. This subsidiary of
Fresenius Medical Care North America is a renowned institution
in the field of clinical research into all aspects of chronic kidney
failure. Together, we are working on fundamental issues relating
to renal therapies. In addition, Fresenius Medical Care Ventures
collaborates with start-ups and early-stage companies with the
objective of promoting an open culture of innovation and
enabling access to the latest technologies.

Innovations in 2022

Our aim is to continuously improve our patients' quality of life
and the outcomes of their treatment as well as to ensure our
growth in the medium to long term. To this end, we are working
on new products that are close to market launch, and have an
extensive portfolio of innovation projects. These focus on tech-
nologies in our core business as well as related areas of strate-
gic interest.

Home dialysis

For many people with chronic kidney failure, peritoneal dialysis
is the preferred treatment modality and the gentlest option
during the first years of renal replacement therapy. Our aim for
this form of treatment is to make the therapy systems more
accessible, more intelligent, and more connected.

One example of this is the digital therapy platform Kinexus that
will support every APD cycler in our portfolio in the future,
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which gives physicians and nursing staff constant online access
to treatment data and enables them to program individual pre-
scriptions remotely. This further improves treatment outcomes
and boosts the productivity of on-duty nursing staff. The
Kinexus platform is already available with the Liberty® Select
cycler, a peritoneal dialysis machine already in use in the U.S.
market, which received FDA clearance in November 2022 for
remote therapy programming. This digital innovation is intended
to reduce the number of hospitalizations, cases of technical fail-
ure and discontinuations of treatment. It also extends the aver-
age amount of time spent in peritoneal dialysis, which is gener-
ally beneficial for patients. Ultimately, Kinexus will serve as
enabling technology for future innovations.

SILENCIA, a new APD cycler utilizing an extremely simple,
ultra-quiet and highly reliable gravity-based mechanism for
fluid control, allows high quality automated peritoneal dialysis
to be carried out at very low costs. Positive results in terms of
stability and functionality of the system have already been
attained for treatments in South America. Roll-out in Asia, the
Middle East and North Africa is already planned.

With the NxStage VersiHD touchscreen cycler and the NxStage
System One, we continue to lead the global market in home
hemodialysis products. We launched additional innovations for
this application area with the latest release of the Nx2me
Connected Health platform incorporating in-app videoconfer-
ence with virtual sessions, and the NxSTEPS HHD digital train-
ing platform.

In fiscal year 2022, we launched the “China CAPD" app (CAPD =
continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis) in the Chinese mar-
ket. The app is designed to help peritoneal dialysis patients
enter therapy data and vital signs, order consumables and
track order progress and delivery themselves. The China CAPD
app enables medical professionals to gain an improved over-
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view of therapy outcomes, document home visits and provide
targeted training content for their patients.

In-center dialysis

Our research and development activities within in-center dialy-
sis reflect Fresenius Medical Care's corporate strategy. We are
focused on developing products that are sustainable and meet
the requirements of an increasingly digitalized world with a
growing population of patients suffering from chronic kidney
failure. To enable these patients to use the range of treatments
they need, we rely on a differentiated product range.

As part of these strategic considerations, we are also investing
in providing dialysis systems suitable for the Chinese market in
order to meet the local requirements and benefit from
increased growth potential. The 4008A hemodialysis system is
a dialysis machine developed specifically for use in growth
markets and is manufactured at our Chinese plant in Changshu.
For these markets in particular, the digitalization of data
exchange is of great importance. For this reason we continued
to work intensively on developing digitally connected 4008A
dialysis machines and making them available in 2022. This
work was particularly focused on data exchange via quick
response (QR) codes and tablet computers as well as connec-
tion to cloud-based applications.

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved
the 2008-series hemodialysis machines with silicon tubing
which includes platinum catalysts. The platinum catalyst tubing
eliminates detectable non-dioxin-like (NDL) polychlorinated
biphenyl acids (PCBAs) in machines in this series and thus
addresses the concerns raised by the FDA in May 2022.

Other focal points in the development of software for use
within in-center dialysis were the connection of patients, physi-
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cians and nursing staff, the individualization of patient treat-
ment and the automation of processes in clinics.

Along with digitalization of our range of services, another top
priority of our work in 2022 was to make our products and the
associated therapy processes more sustainable overall and gen-
tler for patients. Our FX CorAL dialyzer, which has been used
successfully in a growing number of markets worldwide since
2021, is aimed at achieving a further reduction in the side
effects of dialysis treatment and thus improving therapy for our
patients. In developing the FX CorAL, the focus was on enhanc-
ing performance while improving patient compatibility, both
important factors in patient-centered dialysis. The FX CorAL
dialyzer is based on the innovative Helixone® hydro membrane,
which forms a hydrolayer on the inner membrane surface.

Critical care

Continuous kidney replacement therapy (CKRT), in which the
blood is purified by means of special solutions and filters, is a
proven and effective treatment option for patients with acute
kidney damage. The natural functions of the kidney are imitated
and continuous monitoring of body fluid balance is enabled.

Along with a wide range of therapies for effective treatment of
acute kidney failure, multiFiltratePRO, a highly innovative plat-
form for CKRT, provides the function of therapeutic plasma
exchange, the combination with sorbents to combat specific
pathogens and the use of blood-gas exchangers for extracor-
poreal carbon dioxide removal to prevent acute lung failure.
The launch of multiFiltratePRO software version 6 in July 2022,
enables CKRT in infants and babies. Consequently, top-quality
critical-care therapy with multiFiltratePRO is available to a new
target group with major treatment potential. The therapy sys-
tem has become more widespread during 2022 and is now
available for global use in 28 languages.
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Another leading CKRT platform, the NxStage System One, is
available in the U.S. Its “speed swap" function, launched in
2022, enables filter replacement during therapy without chang-
ing the treatment set. This new option makes the therapy
system more attractive for day-to-day use by the clinic staff.

The icor technology has been enhanced for our extracorporeal
membrane oxygenation (ECMO) systems, in particular for
Xenios, and has been granted limited market approval. icor is a
pulsatile ECMO therapy, in which blood flow is not constant, but
triggered via electrocardiogram, based on the imitated heart-
beat of the patient. This procedure is designed to ease the pres-
sure on the left ventricle and enable treatment that is much
gentler on the human body.

Digitalization in health care

Digitalization of processes in health care is mainly focused on
connecting patients, physicians and nursing staff and improv-
ing nursing documentation at the point of care. The aim is to
achieve better treatment results and significant reductions in
treatment costs for our patients as well as an improvement in
our own cost base.

Connected patient care will make it possible to coordinate
treatments individually and detect warning signs as well as
causes of kidney disease at an early stage. To this end, using
the world's largest database for clinical data in the field of
advanced kidney disease, we are developing modules based on
artificial intelligence and machine learning in order to assist
physicians and nursing staff with their duties.

Additionally, Frenova Renal Research, our clinical research arm,
has started signing up patients in the U.S. who are willing to
provide their genetic data for scientific purposes so that
researchers can better understand kidney disease and develop
innovative therapies.
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Since 2021, patients have been benefiting from a virtual reality
(VR) tool, stay+safe MyTraining VR, to support their patient train-
ing in preparation for continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis
(CAPD). With stay+safe MyTraining VR, patients can perform vir-
tual dialysis treatment to learn about key aspects of the dialysis
process. This innovative training approach earned stayesafe
MyTraining VR a nomination for the final round of the 2022 VR
Award in the "VR Healthcare of the Year" category. The VR train-
ing tool is already available in Germany, France and the Nether-
lands, with other countries around the world set to follow in 2023.

Research in the field of regenerative medicine

We have further expanded our collaboration with the U.S. phar-
maceutical company Humacyte, Inc. (Humacyte), a developer
and manufacturer of universally implantable biotechnologically
produced human tissue. The Humacyte Human Acellular Vessel
(HAV) is a regenerative vascular system used for various vascu-
lar applications, including vascular trauma repair, arteriove-
nous access for hemodialysis, and peripheral arterial disease.
Our investment in Humacyte is currently centered on the most
advanced clinical program, with market launch having occurred
in under two years.

Having received approval for “humanitarian purposes"” from
the Ukrainian authorities, Humacyte has successfully started to
deliver its universally implantable HAVs for vascular repair and
vascular grafts to a growing number of Ukrainian hospitals.
Humacyte's technology provides an urgently required process
of treating traumatic blood vessel injuries in a war zone, thus
saving lives.

Research and development resources
In fiscal year 2022, Fresenius Medical Care spent a total of

around €229 M on research and development (2021: €221 M),
corresponding to around 6% (2021: 6%) of our health care
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product revenue. At the end of 2022, our patent portfolio com-
prised some 10,086 property rights in approximately 1,599 pat-
ent families, i.e. groups of patents linked to the same invention.
Our research and development work in fiscal year 2022 pro-
duced around 53 additional patent families. Our broad portfolio
of patents shall provide us with a wide range of treatment
options in this highly competitive field in the future.

At December 31, 2022, 1,235 employees (total headcount)
worked for Fresenius Medical Care in research and develop-
ment worldwide (December 31, 2021: 1,236). They come from
various backgrounds: Employees with medical, business and
technical qualifications work alongside software specialists in
interdisciplinary teams. More than 780 employees - the major-
ity of our research and development staff - are based in Europe.
Most research and development activities are carried out at
our facilities in Schweinfurt and Bad Homburg v.d.H6he
(Germany). Other development sites are in St. Wendel
(Germany), Bucharest (Romania), Palazzo Pignano (ltaly) and
Krems (Austria). In the U.S., the Company maintains centers of
excellence for the development of devices in Concord, Califor-
nia, and for dialyzers and other disposable products in Ogden,
Utah. Development activities in Shanghai and Changshu (China)
are focused on the growing demand for cost-effective dialysis
systems in Asia and emerging markets. The Global Research
and Development organization coordinates collaboration and
technology exchange among the various sites. Carrying out
research and development responsibly is an intrinsic element
of our innovative culture. More information is shown in
TABLE 2.12 ON PAGE 33.
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T212 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

2022 2021 2020
Research and development
expenditures in €M 229 221 194
Number of patents' 10,086 10,048 1,223
Employees™? 1,235 1,236 1,262

T As of December 31, for the respective period presented.
2 Total headcount.

EMPLOYEES

Fresenius Medical Care owes its business success to the commit-
ment of its employees. At a functional level, our human resources
management is organized globally to ensure a uniform strategic
approach in line with the overarching corporate objectives.

At December 31, 2022, Fresenius Medical Care employed a total
of 128,044 members of staff (total headcount) in 71 countries
worldwide. Our workforce therefore decreased by 2% year-
on-year, or by 2,207 employees in absolute terms. For further
information on the movement in employees see section
“Results of operations, financial position and net assets” in the
chapter “Economic Report”.

TABLE 2.13 shows the breakdown of employees by operating
segment as well as by products and services.

Staff costs at Fresenius Medical Care increased to €7,939 M in
2022 (2021: €6,962 M), corresponding to 41% (2021: 40%) of
revenue. Average staff costs per employee (annual average
based on total headcount) amounted to €61,194 (2021: €53,020).

More information about our employees can be found in the
Non-Financial Group Report. For more information on diversity,
see the chapter “Corporate Governance” in the Annual Report.

T213 EMPLOYEES BY OPERATING SEGMENT
TOTAL HEADCOUNT

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 Change Share in %
NORTH AMERICA SEGMENT 61973 62,536 (563) 48
Health care services 57,504 57,574
Health care products 4,469 4962
EMEA SEGMENT 21,537 22,222 (685) 17
Health care services 17,855 18,499
Health care products 3,682 3,723
ASIA-PACIFIC SEGMENT 14,043 13,850 193 1
Health care services 1,678 11,492
Health care products 2,365 2,358
LATIN AMERICA SEGMENT 10,951 12,210 (1,259) 9
Health care services 9,758 10,920
Health care products 1,193 1,290
Corporate’ 19,540 19,433 107 15
TOTAL COMPANY 128,044 130,251 (2,207) 100

" Including the divisions Global Manufacturing, Quality and Supply, Global Research and Development as well as Global Medical Office.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT

At Fresenius Medical Care, we have a clear focus: we want to
offer high-quality and reliable products and therapies to ensure
the best possible medical care for our patients and customers.
We operate production facilities worldwide to meet the demand
for our dialysis products and other health care products.

Quality management at our production sites

Over the last several years, Global Manufacturing, Quality and
Supply (GMQS) has introduced a stable infrastructure with effi-
cient processes and systems. All production sites follow the
Lean Manufacturing approach which, in our North America
Segment and nine of twelve plants in our EMEA Segment,
includes the ""Lean Six Sigma" management system. The focus
of Lean Manufacturing and Six Sigma is on the continuous
improvement of manufacturing processes to achieve a low
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defect rate resulting in improved product quality, while reduc-
ing manufacturing times. We have successfully harmonized all
local Quality Management Systems (QMS) in all manufacturing
and development sites of our EMEA Segment, Latin America
Segment and Asia-Pacific Segment under one Consolidated
QMS (CQMS). Every medical device plant within these seg-
ments has a local QMS directed by CQMS that is certified either
to ISO 13485:2016 and/or I1SO 9001:2015 under Medical Device
Single Audit Program (MDSAP). The QMS of each site is
reviewed through periodic corporate and local management
review and internal audits.

Quality management in our dialysis clinics

Our clinics work in conformance with the generally accepted
quality standards of the industry, particularly the U.S. Kidney
Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI) guidelines, the
European Renal Best Practice standard, and increasingly the
Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO), an indus-
try initiative for global clinical practice guidelines. Clinical data
management systems are used to routinely collect certain
medical parameters, which we evaluate in anonymized form in
compliance with these guidelines.

More information about our quality management including
our quality data can be found in the separate Non-Financial
Group Report.

Quality-based reimbursement systems

We participate in quality-based reimbursement models, which
we describe in the section “Macroeconomic and sector-specific
environment - Sector-specific environment - Health care and
reimbursement systems vary from country to country” in the
chapter “Economic Report”.
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SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

Operating on a global scale means having global responsibility.
Fresenius Medical Care is aware of this responsibility.

Over the past years, we have continuously stepped up our sus-
tainability activities. We have established a Global Sustainabil-
ity Program to further drive the integration of sustainability
into our business.

Acting in a responsible and sustainable manner is a fundamen-
tal component of our strategy; it is the basis for our future as a
globally operating company in the health care industry.

Further information can be found in the separate Non-Financial
Group Report starting on PAGE 82.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022
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ECONOMIC REPORT

The dialysis market is a sustainable growth market
with steadily rising demand for products and services
to treat patients with chronic kidney disease.

MACROECONOMIC AND
SECTOR-SPECIFIC ENVIRONMENT

Macroeconomic environment

Dependency on economic cycles
and other macroeconomic factors

Our business is exposed to economic cycles only to a relatively
small extent. This sets us apart from manufacturers of con-
sumer goods, for instance, whose products are subject to more
cyclical demand.

Our business is impacted more by government remuneration
systems and reimbursement rates. Dialysis is a vital medical
service, which is why it is usually paid for by the responsible
health care system.

Overall, the rapid global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic
resulted in a material deterioration of the conditions for the
global economy and greatly reduced economic growth. The
conditions also changed for our business in.

In addition, the war in Ukraine and the inflationary environ-
ment, among other factors, are leading to a currently highly
uncertain macroeconomic environment that is strongly impact-
ing our business development by driving wage and general cost
inflation in all reporting segments. Besides, we continue to face
an unprecedented labor market situation in the U.S., resulting
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in staff shortages, high turnover rates and meaningfully higher
costs. The impacts of our focused efforts to improve North
American Health Care Services operations are delayed against
the Company's previous assumptions. The challenging macro-
economic inflationary environment persists, resulting in higher
logistics costs as well as raw material and energy prices.

For further information see section “Overall business develop-
ment - Highlights" in this chapter.

Exchange rate developments

As Fresenius Medical Care has a worldwide presence, the
results of its operations are significantly impacted by exchange
rate developments. Movements in the U.S. dollar and the euro
are especially crucial as we generate a major part of our reve-
nues in the U.S.. The global exchange rate development in fiscal
year 2022 was characterized by a strong deterioration of the
euro against the U.S. dollar. On average over the course of the
year, the euro traded weaker against the U.S. dollar compared
to fiscal year 2021.

In addition, Fresenius Medical Care's operating results are influ-
enced by changes in the exchange rate between the euro and
other local currencies. This is partly due to intra-Group sales
from large production sites in the euro zone to Group compa-
nies with different functional currencies, but also because the
euro is the currency we use for financial reporting. Regarding
intra-Group sales, individual subsidiaries are exposed to fluctu-
ations in the exchange rate between the invoicing currencies
and the currencies in which they conduct their local operations.
Fresenius Medical Care reduces transaction risks, i.e. risks from
foreign currency exposures or exchange rate fluctuations,
through a global network of production facilities, which is
geared toward demand in the Company'’s dialysis product busi-
ness, as well as through foreign exchange derivatives. As the
production facilities are often based in the markets they serve,
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costs are incurred in the same currency in which revenue is
generated. The risk of exchange rate fluctuations is relatively
low for health care services because they are provided locally
and are therefore invoiced in the respective currency.

Sector-specific environment

Chronic kidney failure (end-stage kidney disease, ESKD) is a
global disease. The number of patients requiring renal replace-
ment therapy is increasing worldwide: At the end of 2022,
approximately 4.8 M patients (2021: 4.7 M) underwent dialysis
treatment or received a donor organ.

Further information can be found in TABLE 2.14 ON PAGE 36.

For many years now, the number of donated organs worldwide
has been significantly lower than the number of patients on
transplant waiting lists. Despite extensive efforts by regional
initiatives to increase awareness of kidney donation and the
willingness to donate, the share of patients worldwide receiving
kidney transplantation compared with other treatment meth-
ods has remained relatively unchanged over the past ten years.

The prevalence of chronic kidney failure varies between
regions. There are several reasons for this:

> The countries differ demographically, as age structures in
the population vary worldwide.

> The prevalence of risk factors for kidney disease, such as
diabetes and high blood pressure, varies widely.

> The genetic predisposition for kidney disease also differs
significantly around the world.

> Access to dialysis remains restricted in many countries,
meaning that many patients suffering from chronic kidney
failure are not treated and therefore do not appear in preva-
lence statistics.

» Cultural factors, such as nutrition, play a role.
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T 214 PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC KIDNEY FAILURE (ESKD)

2022 Share in % 2021 Share in %

Patients with chronic kidney failure 4,824,000 100 4,681,000 100
of which patients with transplants 922,000 19 908,000 19
Of which dialysis patients 3,902,000 81 3,773,000 81
In-center hemodialysis 3,437,000 71 3,320,000 71
Peritoneal dialysis 439,000 9 428,000 9
Home hemodialysis 26,000 1 25,000 1

Source: Company information and estimates.

c2.15 IN-CENTER VS. HOME DIALYSIS

12 %
(465,000)

3,902,000

DIALYSIS PATIENTS
WORLDWIDE

88 %
(3,437,000)

. IN-CENTER DIALYSIS
HOME DIALYSIS

The number of dialysis patients rose worldwide by around 3%
in 2022 (2021: 2%).

Comparison of dialysis treatment methods

In 2022, most dialysis patients were treated in one of more than
49,000 dialysis centers worldwide (2021: 48,000), with an aver-
age of approximately 80 patients per center (2021: 80). How-
ever, this figure varies considerably from country to country.

Hemodialysis is by far the most common form of therapy for
chronic kidney failure. A total of 88% of dialysis patients were
treated in this way at a dialysis center in 2022 (2021: 88%).
Home hemodialysis is an alternative to treatment at a dialysis
center. A total of 1% of all patients are currently treated in this
way (2021: 1%). In the year under review, 11% of all dialysis
patients were treated with peritoneal dialysis, usually at home
(2021: 11%). As a result, 12% of the dialysis patients were treated
with home dialysis (2021: 12%). In 2022, about 15% (2021: 15%) of
all dialysis patients in the U.S. were treated with home dialysis.

CHART 2.15 shows a comparison of in-center and home dialysis.
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For Acute Renal Failure (ARF), the predominant treatment
method is continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT). Over
50% or 1,000,000 acute patients were treated with this
method in 2022 (2021: 50% or 1,100,000). It is expected, that
by 2030 the number of patients requiring continuous renal
replacement therapy to treat acute renal failure will increase in
the next decade to more than 1,5 million per year. In this field,
Fresenius Medical Care is well positioned with a market share of
approximately 32% (2021: 32%).

Volume of the dialysis market

According to our estimates, the volume of the global dialysis
market decreased to around €82 BN in 2022 (2021: €81 BN). We
expect the following approximate breakdown for this market
volume: around €15 BN (2021: €15 BN) for dialysis products and
approximately €67 BN (2021: €66 BN) for dialysis services
(including dialysis drugs).

Other health care services

Chronic conditions such as diabetes and cardiovascular dis-
eases are becoming increasingly common and are responsible
for approximately two out of three deaths worldwide. In many
countries, a large proportion of health care spending goes
toward treating chronic diseases. To counteract the resultant
increase in cost pressure, more and more health care systems,
such as that in our largest market, the U.S., are starting to pro-
mote coordinated, holistic care rather than reimbursing indi-
vidual services.

Due to the large number of different services offered in the
area of Other Health Care Services, we cannot provide a mean-
ingful estimate of the market volume. We currently offer medi-
cal services in Other Health Care Services primarily in the
North America and Asia-Pacific Segments and have adapted
our services in this area to these markets. The extent to which
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we roll out our Other Health Care Services outside the U.S. may
vary in individual countries and regions depending on the
respective reimbursement system and market environment.

Our customers are mostly health insurers
and companies

Fresenius Medical Care's most important customers are state-
owned or public health insurers, private health insurers, and
companies.

Health care and reimbursement systems
vary from country to country

As renal replacement therapy is a life-saving medical service,
patients often do not have to pay for dialysis themselves.
Instead, the costs are borne by the responsible health care sys-
tem. The reimbursement systems for dialysis treatment - in
other words, the structures used by health care systems to reg-
ulate reimbursement for dialysis services - differ from country
to country and sometimes even within countries. The business
activities of dialysis service providers and the reimbursement
of dialysis therapy are affected by various factors including
regional conditions, the treatment method, regulatory issues,
and the type of provider (public or private).

We can only influence the reimbursement of our services to a
limited extent. The environment for reimbursement and the
conditions for prescribing ancillary services significantly influ-
ence our business.

The reimbursement system in the U.S.

Inthe U.S., our biggest market, many of our patients are insured
by the governmental health authority, the so-called Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid (CMS). CMS determines the reimburse-
ment rates for its beneficiaries (Medicare patients). In fiscal
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year 2022, around 26% (2021: 27%) of our total revenue was
attributable to reimbursements by CMS.

On October 31, 2022, CMS issued a final rule for the reimburse-
ment rate for chronic kidney failure treatments for calendar
year (CY) 2023. It sets this rate annually as part of its prospec-
tive payment system (PPS), known as the ESRD PPS rate. The
final base rate per treatment for CY 2023 is $265.57, up 3.0%
on the CY 2022 base rate of $257.90. This increase is based on
a market basket increase of 3.1%, partially offset by a multifac-
tor productivity adjustment of 0.1% that is mandated by the
Affordable Care Act (ACA). As of 2023, CMS is raising the wage
index floor from 0.5 to 0.6 as well as establishing a permanent
policy to apply a 5% cap on decreases in the ESRD PPS wage
indexing. CMS is also updating its calculation model to account
for historical trends in spending as well as to better reflect the
introduction of new and innovative products under the transi-
tional add-on payment adjustment for new and innovative
equipment and supplies (TPNIES) and ESRD PPS transitional
drug add-on payment adjustment (TDAPA) policies. CMS esti-
mates that, on average, large dialysis organizations will receive
a 3.0% increase in payments in CY 2023 compared to CY 2022
under this final rule. The Acute Kidney Injury payment rate for
CY 2023 is equal to the CY 2023 ESRD PPS base rate.

Any significant reduction in Medicare reimbursement rates
could have a material adverse effect on our health care ser-
vices business. As demand for dialysis products is affected by
Medicare reimbursement rates, this could have consequences
for the development of our product business. To the extent that
inflation, for example in the form of higher costs for personnel
and disposables, is not fully compensated by an increase in
reimbursement rates, our business and results of operations
may also be adversely affected.

In Marietta Memorial Hospital Employee Health Benefit Plan vs.
DaVita Inc., the Supreme Court ruled against DaVita, Inc. in
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favor of a self-funded employer-sponsored health plan that pro-
vided only out-of-network dialysis reimbursements to individu-
als with ESKD. While the Medicare Secondary Payer statute has
long been interpreted as requiring private plans to provide for a
30-month coordination period for individuals diagnosed with
ESKD (with Medicare serving as the secondary payer), the deci-
sion creates the potential that other plans may follow suit in
limiting the dialysis benefits offered. While we do not expect
this to significantly impact our business in 2023, but in the
absence of legislative action, the ruling could have implications
in 2024 and beyond. In July and August 2022, the Restore Pro-
tections for Dialysis Patients Act was introduced in both the
House and Senate. If passed, it would restore the Medicare Sec-
ondary Payer Act's original intent requiring the 30-month coor-
dination period be available to individuals diagnosed with ESKD.

More information can be found in the section “Results of oper-
ations, financial position and net assets” and in the chapter
“Report on risks and opportunities”.

In the U.S., reimbursement by private insurers and so-called
managed care organizations is higher than reimbursement by
government institutions. At the same time, payments from pri-
vate insurers constitute a substantial portion of our profits,
meaning our business is directly influenced by changes in the
share of reimbursements by private insurers in North America.
In fiscal year 2022, 43% of the Group's health care services
revenue was related to private insurers in the North America
Segment (2021: 40%).

Transitional add-on payments for new drugs and devices
in the U.S.

Under the ESRD PPS drug designation process, CMS provides
payment using a TDAPA for new renal dialysis drugs and bio-
logicals with the exception of drugs that are available only in
oral forms. For drug and biologicals that fit into an existing
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ESRD PPS functional category, CMS will pay for the drug using
the TDAPA for a transitional period of two years. At the end of
this time, CMS will not update the base rate to reflect the cost
and utilization of the new drug. For new drugs and biologicals
that do not fit into an existing functional category, CMS will pay
for the drug using the TDAPA for a period of at least two years
to allow for sufficient cost and utilization data to be gathered.
After this transitional period has expired, CMS will update the
base rate to reflect the inclusion of the new drug or biological.
In CY 2023, CMS will continue to provide a TDAPA for the drug
difelikefalin (trade name “Korsuva") at the rate of the average
sales price. CMS has indicated that Korsuva will fall into the
existing anti-pruritic functional category.

Quality-based reimbursement

The health care debate in some countries is currently focused
on establishing reimbursement structures based on treatment
quality (pay for performance). This transfers more responsibil-
ity to the medical service provider. The goal of reimbursement
models of this kind is to maintain a high quality of care com-
bined with lower overall costs for the health care system.

The reimbursement system in the U.S. is also an example of a
model based on qualitative criteria. For example, CMS defines
quality standards for dialysis centers as part of its quality
improvement program (QIP). Failure to reach these standards
can lead to a reduction in annual reimbursements of up to 2%.

In the CY 2023 final rule, CMS adopted a special scoring and
payment policy for performance year (PY) 2023 of the ESRD
QIP to address the issues in the scoring system caused by the
impact of the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency on QIP data,
including the use of pre-pandemic data from CY 2019 as the
baseline period for the PY 2023 ESRD QIP and for subsequent
years and confirmed a pause on certain measures for scoring
and payment adjustment purposes.
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Value-based care programs with private payors

We have entered into value and risk-based care programs with
private payors to provide care to commercial and Medicare
Advantage ESRD and CKD patients. Under these payment
arrangements, our financial performance is based on our abil-
ity to manage a defined scope of medical costs within certain
parameters for clinical outcomes.

New reimbursement models

In 2019, the then U.S. President signed an Executive Order (EO)
on advancing kidney health. Among other things, the EO directs
the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to develop
new Medicare reimbursement models that enable diagnosis and
treatment earlier in the course of kidney disease and support
the expansion of home dialysis as well as promoting kidney
transplants. One of these, the ESRD Treatment Choices (ETC)
model, is mandatory and creates financial incentives for home
dialysis treatments and kidney transplants. Running from Jan-
uary 2021 until June 2027, the ETC model consists of two partial
reimbursement programs: For a period of three years, home dial-
ysis treatment claims will receive an upward adjustment. CY
2023 marks the end of the adjustment period and home dialysis
claims will receive an additional 1% upward adjustment. In addi-
tion, the model includes a performance-based reimbursement
adjustment that is dependent on home dialysis and kidney trans-
plant waitlist rates for facilities included in the model. The per-
formance-based reimbursement adjustments could be negative
or positive and will increase over the course of the model. Reim-
bursement adjustments in the first payment year were between
-5% and +4% and will increase to between -10% and +8% in the
final year. Performance based payment adjustments started in
July 2022 and run for six and a half years. Participants in the
model are selected at random. At December 31, 2022, a total of
988 U.S. dialysis clinics were involved in the model, approxi-
mately 35% of these belong to Fresenius Medical Care.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

The Executive Order also announced voluntary Medicare reim-
bursement models aimed at providing financial incentives for
health care providers in the area of chronic kidney disease and
transplantation. Our applications for the voluntary Compre-
hensive Kidney Care Contracting (CKCC) model were accepted
in June 2020. This model allows health care providers to
assume various amounts of financial risk by forming so-called
Kidney Care Entities (KCE). Of the 29 accepted applications, 28
KCEs have elected to participate in the implementation period,
which started on October 15, 2020 on a no-risk basis. We began
participation in the first performance year of the CKCC model
on January 1, 2022, at which time each participating entity
starts to assume financial risk. Of the 28 KCEs participating in
the implementation period, we moved forward with 20 of the
KCEs during the first Performance Year. Once implemented, the
CKCC model is expected to run through 2026. We are presently
unable to predict the effects on our business of the ETC pay-
ment model and the voluntary payment models.

Changes related to the Affordable Care Act

The delivery of health care services and products is highly re-
gulated in most of the countries in which we operate. Proposals
for legislative reforms in these countries are often introduced
to improve access to care, address quality of care issues and
manage costs of the health care system.

In 2017, the then Trump administration discontinued making
cost-sharing reduction (CSR) reimbursements to insurers in the
U.S., arguing that the Congress had failed to appropriate fund-
ing for them. These subsidies reduce deductibles, coinsurance
and co-payments for individuals and families at or below 250%
of the federal poverty level. Under the law insurers are still
mandated to provide lower out-of-pocket costs for low-income
individuals; as a result, ending CSR payments has caused many
insurers to increase premiums in the individual insurance mar-
ket to offset the loss of the federal support.
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On January 28, 2021, President Biden issued an Executive
Order on Strengthening Medicaid and the Affordable Care Act,
which directs the Secretaries of the Departments of Health and
Human Services, Treasury and Labor to review and examine
policies or practices. Further efforts to repeal or revise the
Affordable Care Act may affect the project’'s future prospects
in ways which we currently cannot quantify or predict.

U.S. legislative action and ballot initiatives

Further U.S. legislation or requlations may be enacted in the
future through legislative and public referendum processes,
which could substantially modify the amounts paid for services
and products offered by us and our subsidiaries and mandate
new or alternative operating models and payment models. Bal-
lot initiatives that are successfully introduced at the state level
in the U.S. require the vote of state citizens to directly adopt or
reject proposed new legislation. These ballot initiatives require
a material expenditure of resources by us to participate in pub-
lic discourse regarding the proposed new legislation underlying
the initiatives, which if passed, could further regulate multiple
aspects of our operations including, for instance, clinic staffing
requirements, state inspection requirements and profit mar-
gins on commercial business. It is also possible that statutes
may be adopted, or regulations may be promulgated in the
future that impose additional eligibility requirements for par-
ticipation in the federal and state health care programs. Such
new legislation or regulations could have positive or adverse
effects, possibly material, on our businesses and results of
operations.

COVID-19 relief measures

In some countries, we have received COVID-19-related relief
measures, for instance in the U.S., the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) has been passed to
mitigate certain adverse financial impacts of the COVID-19
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pandemic, including in the health care sector. Additional fund-
ing under the CARES Act and other COVID-19 relief provides
some financial support to our business in the U.S. This includes
suspension of the 2% Medicare payment sequestration reduc-
tion from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022 (a 1% reduction
became effective from April 1to June 30, 2022 and the full 2%
sequester resumed on July 1, 2022), and also accelerated and
advance payments of Medicare reimbursement and grants to
cover expenses and mitigate the loss of revenues due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. In 2022, we received U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services funding (Provider Relief Fund
Phase 4) available for health care providers affected by the
COVID-19 pandemic. However, these measures may not fully
offset any lost revenues and increased costs we may incur. For
further information see the consolidated financials within
"Results of operations, financial position and net assets” and
NOTE 4 H of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Potential changes impacting our private payors in the U.S.

The operation of charitable assistance programs such as that
offered by the American Kidney Fund (AKF) is receiving
increased attention by CMS and state insurance regulators and
legislators. The result may be a regulatory framework that dif-
fers from the current framework or that varies from state to
state. Even in the absence of actions by CMS or state regulators
and legislatures to restrict the access that patients currently
have to premium assistance programs, insurers are likely to
continue efforts to thwart charitable premium assistance by
premium assistance programs to our patients. If successful in a
material area or scope of our U.S. operations, these efforts
would have a material adverse impact on our business and
operating results.
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OVERALL BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

Highlights
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in an increased mortality of
our patients in 2020, 2021 and 2022, but was in line with the
Company's expectations for the full year. Fresenius Medical
Care carefully observes and assesses the development of infec-
tion rates.

To be able to continue caring for our patients with chronic kid-
ney disease and maintain an adequate workforce, we imple-
mented a number of measures, both operational and financial,
to protect our employees and patients through expanded per-
sonal protective equipment protocols and expenses related to
surge capacity for patients suspected or confirmed to have
COVID-19.

Also in 2022, governments in various regions in which we oper-
ate have provided economic assistance programs to address
the consequences of the pandemic on companies and support
healthcare providers and patients.

We experienced a loss of revenue due to the pandemic in cer-
tain parts of our business. Overall, COVID-19 resulted in a nega-
tive impact to net income attributable to shareholders of FMC
AG & Co. KGaA in 2022, primarily driven by excess mortality
rates among our patients.

For more information see the consolidated financials within
“Results of operations, financial position and net assets” and
NOTE 4 H of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine

The Ukraine War is affecting Fresenius Medical Cares' dialysis
operations and patient care in the country itself, but also
caused higher bad debt expenses for Russia and Ukraine and
the impairment of a production plant as well as associated
machines recorded in the fourth quarter of 2022 resulting from
economic sanctions imposed on Russia. The direct adverse
effect of the Ukraine War resulted in a negative impact to net
income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in
the amount of €47 M in 2022 and is treated as a Special ltem.
We will continue to monitor closely the potential effects of the
war as well as inflation.

Hyperinflation in Turkiye

Starting April 1, 2022, we apply IAS 29, Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies, in our Turkish subsidiaries due to
inflation in this country. The Hyperinflation in Turkiye resulted
in a negative impact to net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in the amount of around €5 M in 2022
and is treated as a Special Item.

Staff shortages and high turnover
in dialysis clinics in the U.S.

We continue to face an unprecedented labor market situation
in the U.S., resulting in staff shortages, high turnover rates
and meaningfully higher costs. This has impacted growth in
U.S. Dialysis Services as well as in downstream assets and
consequently affected operational leverage in both. Earnings
effects were partially mitigated by income attributable to a
consent agreement on certain pharmaceuticals in the third
guarter of 2022.
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Inflation and higher energy prices as well as
logistic and raw material costs

The challenging macroeconomic inflationary environment
persists, resulting in higher logistics costs as well as raw mate-
rial costs and energy prices. Due to this situation not easing, it
is assumed to further significantly impact the earnings devel-
opment, in particular in Health Care Products, for 2023. For
further information see chapter “Outlook".

InterWell Health business combination

On August 24, 2022, we announced that we closed the Inter-
Well Health business combination. We created the premier
value-based kidney care provider in the U.S. by completing the
business combination including InterWell Health, Fresenius
Health Partners and Cricket Health. Hereby, we aim to signifi-
cantly improve the care of patients with chronic kidney dis-
ease and further expand our leading position in value-based
care. The Net Gain Related to InterWell Health resulted in a
positive impact to net income attributable to shareholders of
FMC AG & Co. KGaA in the amount of €37 M in 2022, and is

treated as a Special Item. For further information, SEE NOTE 3

of the notes to the consolidated financial statements and sec-
tion “Opportunities management” in the chapter “Risk and
opportunities report”.

FMEZ25 Program

Since January 1, 2023, the Company conducts its business in
two global operating segments, Care Enablement and Care
Delivery, and will begin reporting under the new model in the
first quarter of 2023. Prior to January 1, 2023, discrete finan-
cial information was not provided to the chief operating deci-
sion maker on the basis of the new structure and the necessary
system and reporting changes to effect the new structure were
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not in place. For further information SEE NOTE 27 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

Overall, the costs related to the FME25 Program resulted in a
negative impact to net income attributable to shareholders of
FMC AG & Co. KGaA in the amount of €149 M in 2022 and are
treated as Special Item.

We expect that every Euro invested in the FME25 Program will
sustainably reduce annual costs and improve the operating
result by the same amount by 2025. The Company is well on
track with its FME25 Program. We exceeded the program'’s 2022
target of savings to contribute €40 M to €70 M to operating
income with savings of €131 M. Fresenius Medical Care is also
working on measures that further support margin improvement.

Humacyte Investment Remeasurement

The Humacyte Investment Remeasurement resulted in a nega-
tive impact to net income attributable to shareholders of FMC
AG & Co. KGaA in the amount of €76 M in 2022 and is treated as
a Special Item.

Financing

On February 14, 2022, we issued €25 M and €200 M tranches of
Schuldschein loans with maturities of 5 and 7 years, respec-
tively, at variable interest rates. The proceeds were used for
general corporate purposes including refinancing of existing
liabilities.

On June 8, 2022, we amended the Syndicated Credit Facility to
extend the term by one year and replace LIBOR with the Term
Secured Overnight Financing Rate.
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On September 20, 2022, we issued bonds with an aggregate
principal amount of E750 M under the European Medium-Term
Notes Program with a maturity of 5 years and a coupon rate
of 3.875%. The proceeds have been used for general corpo-
rate purposes, including the refinancing of outstanding in-
debtedness.

Changes in Management Board

Helen Giza, so far member of the Management Board and
responsible for finance, was appointed Chief Executive Officer
of Fresenius Medical Care, effective December 6, 2022. She had
entered a new five-year contract and had assumed the position
of Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius Medical Care
before, in addition to her position as Chief Financial Officer.
Therefore, Helen Giza replaced Dr. Carla Kriwet, who previously
succeeded Rice Powell as chair of the Management Board,
effective October 1, 2022. Mr. Powell stepped down from his
position on September 30, 2022, after 10 years of heading the
Company, continued as a member of the Management Board
until December 31, 2022 and subsequently retired. Helen Giza is
also a member of the management board of Fresenius Manage-
ment SE. She will continue to serve as Chief Financial Officer
until a successor is appointed for this position.

Additionally, Michael Sen became the Chief Executive Officer of
Fresenius SE and chair of the supervisory board of the General
Partner as of October 1, 2022, succeeding Stephan Sturm in
both positions. Sara Hennicken became the Chief Financial
Officer of Fresenius SE and a member of the supervisory board
of the General Partner as of September 1, 2022, succeeding
Ms. Rachel Empey in both positions.
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Comparison of actual business results with the outlook

Our business environment in 2022 was impacted by a challenging
macroeconomic environment, staff shortages, inflationary cost
increases and supply chain constraints. Thus it has developed
partly different as expected. The COVID-19 pandemic continued
to impact our business development in 2022. The COVID-19-
related excess mortality was in line with our expectations.

The unprecedented U.S. labor market challenges materially wors-
ened in the second quarter of 2022. This resulted in meaningfully
higher than assumed wage inflation, surcharges, retention pay-
ments and additional costs for contract labor to contain the
increasing staff shortages. Despite these additional investments
in labor, including application of monies received from the U.S.
government's Provider Relief Fund, staff shortages and turnover
rates have continued to increase. Our growth was affected by the
number of clinics with constrained ability to accept new patients
for treatment. The already existing challenging macroeconomic
environment has further significantly deteriorated and non-wage
cost inflation accelerated. This has been exacerbated by the
ongoing war in Ukraine and its global economic impact, resulting
in higher logistics costs, raw material and energy prices as well as
further supply chain disruptions. As a conseqguence, we cut our
financial targets for the fiscal year in the second quarter of 2022.
In addition, we withdrawed the 2025 targets.

In the third quarter of 2022 the business development continued
to be strongly impacted by a highly uncertain inflationary macro-
economic environment, driving wage and general cost inflation
in all operating segments. The impacts of efforts to improve the
North American health care services operations were delayed
against our previous assumptions. As a matter of caution, we cut
further our earnings guidance in the third quarter of 2022.

Our outlook, as adjusted in the course of the fiscal year 2022,
was met.
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Our 2022 outlook was based on the outlined assumptions in
chapter “Outlook” in the interim management report of the
interim consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2022 and
September 30, 2022 as well as in the Group Management
Report of the Annual Report 2021 and excluded Special Items.
Special Items include further costs related to the FME25 Pro-
gram, the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, the Humacyte
Investment Remeasurement in the North America Segment,
the Hyperinflation in Turkiye and the Impacts Related to the
War in Ukraine and other effects that are unusual in nature and
have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact
at the time of giving guidance. We have adjusted the actual
results for 2022 accordingly to make them comparable with the
outlook. The Special Item FME25 Program mainly affects the
North America Segment, the EMEA Segment and Corporate.
The costs related to the FME25 Program mainly include sever-
ance payments and related personnel expense, the impairment
of fixed, intangible and right-of-use assets and consulting
expenses. The Net Gain Related to InterWell Health includes the
remeasurement gain of our investment, prior to the trans-
action, in InterWell Health LLC, the impairment of certain long-
lived assets belonging to Acumen Physician Solutions, LLC
which was transferred to InterWell Health as part of the trans-
action and certain transaction-related costs. The Impacts
Related to the War in Ukraine include bad debt expense in
Russia and Ukraine and the impairment of a production plant
and associated machines resulting from economic sanctions
imposed on Russia, which negatively impacted our supply chain
to the country.

The growth rates were based on the results in 2021 excluding
the costs related to the FME25 Program.

A reconciliation of the results for 2022 and 2021 to the respec-
tive results for 2022 and 2021 excluding Special Items can be
found at the end of this section. The outlook for fiscal year
2022 was based on Constant Currency.
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We expected revenue growth at a low-to-mid-single-digit per-
centage rate at Constant Currency at the beginning of the year.
In the second quarter of 2022 we have adjusted the growth
forecast for revenue at Constant Currency to the low end of the
previously gquided target range. We generated revenue of
€18.0 BN in 2022 at Constant Currency (2021: €17.6 BN), result-
ing in anincrease of 2%, which is within the range of our expec-
tations. We therefore met our revised outlook.

The Latin America Segment, the EMEA Segment and the
Asia-Pacific Segment in particular contributed to the expan-
sion of our business. Further details on the development of rev-
enue can be found in the section “Results of operation, finan-
cial position and net assets".

We expected operating income excluding Special Items to
increase at a low-to-mid-single-digit percentage rate at Con-
stant Currency for the fiscal year 2022. In the second quarter
of 2022 we have cut this forecast to a decline at around a mid-
teens percentage rate and in the third quarter of 2022 to a
decline at a mid-teens to high-teens percentage rate. Operating
income excluding Special Items in 2022 was €1.7 BN at Con-
stant Currency (2021: €19 BN), a decrease of 13%. This is
slightly better than our adjusted outlook.

At the beginning of the year, we set a target range for net
income growth excluding Special Items at a low-to-mid-single-
digit percentage rate at Constant Currency. We have cut this
target in the second quarter of 2022 to a decline at around a
high-teens percentage rate and in the third quarter of 2022 to
a decline at a high-teens to mid-twenties percentage rate. Net
income excluding Special Items for the fiscal year 2022
decreased to €0.8 BN at Constant Currency (2021: €1.0 BN).
This 17% decrease at Constant Currency is at the lower end of
the range of our adjusted expectations.
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ROIC excluding Special Items was at 3.9%. This was in line with
our expectation, which was lowered in the third quarter of 2022
to around 4.0%. The initially planned value of at least 5.0%
was lowered in the second quarter of 2022 to at least 4.0%.

TABLE 2.16 shows the actual results and our outlook for the
fiscal year 2022.

TABLE 2.17 ON PAGE 43 provides a reconciliation of the results
for 2022 and 2021 to the respective results for 2022 and 2021
excluding Special Items as well as a reconciliation of the
currency translation effects on the results for 2022 at Constant
Currency.
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In 2022, ROIC or ROIC excluding Special Items were 3.3% and
3.9%, respectively. In the calculation of adjusted ROIC, the
average invested capital was adjusted by €153 M and the NOPAT
by €207 M.

In 2021, ROIC was 4.9%, or ROIC excluding the costs related to
the FME25 Program was 5.1%, respectively. In the calculation of
adjusted ROIC, the average invested capital was adjusted by
€7 M and the NOPAT by €46 M. See the reconciliation to the
calculation of ROIC in the section “Performance management
system - Return on invested capital (Non-IFRS Measure)" in the
chapter “Overview of the Group".

T216 RESULTS AND OUTLOOK FOR 2022
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Results Results

2022 2022 Revised Outlook 2022 Outlook 2022 (as reported)

As reported Excl. Special Items (at Constant Currency, except for ROIC)"23
growth: low-single-digit growth: low-to-mid-single-digit
Revenue 19,398 17,985 percentage rate percentage rate
Revenue growth growth: low-single-digit growth: low-to-mid-single-digit
at Constant Currency in % 2 2 percentage rate percentage rate
decline: mid-teens to high-teens growth: low-to-mid-single-digit
Operating income 1,512 1,673 percentage rate percentage rate
decline: high-teens to mid-twenties growth: low-to-mid-single-digit
Net income* 673 842 percentage rate percentage rate
Net income growth decline: high-teens to mid-twenties growth: low-to-mid-single-digit
at Constant Currency in %4 (37) ar) percentage rate percentage rate
ROIC in % 3.3 3.9 around 4.0% 2 5.0%

The outlook for 2022 was adjusted in the second and third quarter of 2022 and therefore it was based on the outlined assumptions in chapter “Outlook” in the interim management report of the

interim consolidated financial statements at 30. June 2022 and September 30, 2022 as well as in the Group Management Report of the Annual Report 2021 and excluded Special Items. Special Items
include further costs related to the FME25 Program, the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Hyperinflation in Turkiye and the Impacts Related to
the War in Ukraine and other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of giving guidance. The growth rates were based on

the results in 2021 excluding the costs related to the FME25 Program.

2 The results for 2022 have been adjusted for Special Items in order to make business performance comparable with the outlook for 2022. A reconciliation of the results for 2022 and 2021 to the
results for 2022 and 2021 excluding Special Items as a basis for the 2022 targets can be found in the following table.
3 For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system".

“ Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.
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T 217 OPERATING PERFORMANCE EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS

INEM
Special Items

Results 2022

excl.

Net Gain Humacyte Results 2022 Currency Special Items at

Related to Investment Hyper-inflation excl. translation Constant

Results 2022 FME25 Program InterWell Health Remeasurement Ukraine War in Turkiye Special Items effects Currency

Revenue 19,398 = = = = = 19,398 (1,413) 17,985

Operating income 1,512 204 (56) 103 49 5 1,817 (144) 1,673

Net income' 673 149 @37) 76 47 5 913 (€4)) 842
Results 2021
Results 2021 FME25 Program excl. Special Items
Revenue 17,619 - 17,619
Operating income 1,852 63 1,915
Net income’ 969 49 1,018

" Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.

2 For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system".

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,
FINANCIAL POSITION AND
NET ASSETS

The following sections summarize our results of operations,
financial position and net assets as well as key performance
indicators by reporting segment, as well as Corporate, for the
periods indicated. We prepared the information consistent with
the manner in which management internally disaggregates
financial information to assist in making operating decisions
and evaluating management performance.

We have seen unprecedented challenges in the labor market, in
particular in the U.S., resulting in staff shortages, high turnover

rates and meaningfully higher costs, including higher costs due
to an increased reliance on contracted labor. These challenges
continue to impact our growth, specifically in U.S. health care
services where labor constraints have affected our ability to
increase treatment volumes. These impacts, combined with the
current uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment,
driving inflationary cost increases and supply chain constraints,
have had a materially adverse effect on our results of opera-
tions during 2022. The accumulation of excess mortality due to
COVID-19, macroeconomic inflationary pressure and labor
stabilization issues are expected to continue into 2023 and
their negative effects will be exacerbated by the cessation of
government funding related to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
labor market, in particular in the U.S., continues to present a
challenge to our operations, both in relation to the availability

and costs of personnel. We expect our products business to
continue to be impacted by the aforementioned supply chain
and increased material cost challenges in 2023. Opportunities
to include cost inflation in our pricing are currently limited in
the short-term due to a large share of our contracts containing
fixed prices. Additionally, we intend to accelerate and extend our
FME25 Program to further optimize processes along our new
operating segments, in place as of January 1, 2023. We have
increased the savings target for the FME25 Program from
€500 M to E650 M by 2025 and we now expect to invest up to
€650 M in the same period.
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T218 SEGMENT DATA (INCLUDING CORPORATE)

IN€M
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Revenue and operating income generated in countries outside
the eurozone are subject to currency fluctuations. The table
below summarizes the development of the euro against the
U.S. dollar, as well as the revenue and the operating income
generated in U.S. dollars, as a percentage of the consolidated

2022 2021
results for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
Total revenue
North America Segment 13,550 12088 1219 CURRENCY DEVELOPMENT AND PORTION
EMEA Segment 2851 2765 OF TOTAL REVENUE AND OPERATING INCOME
Asia-Pacific Segment 2,152 2,010
Latin America Segment 797 703 2022 2021
Corporate 48 53 Currency development positive negative
of euro against the U.S. dollar impact impact
TOTAL 19,398 17,619
Percentage of revenue generated
in U.S. dollars 70 69
Operating income
Percentage of operating income
North America Segment 1,476 1,644 generated in U.S. dollars 98 89
EMEA Segment 256 309
Asia-Pacific Segment 340 350
Latin America Segment 24 2. Consolidated financial statements
Corporate (584) (463)
TOTAL 1,512 1,852  Anoverview of the performance indicators for the consolidated
financial statements you will find in TABLE 2.20 ON PAGE 45.
Interest income 68 73
Interest expense (360) (353)  Health care services revenue increased by 11% as compared to
Income tax expense (325) 353)  the year ended December 31, 2021 (+ 2% at Constant Exchange
NET INCOME 895 1,219 Rates), driven by a positive impact from foreign currency trans-
lation (+9%), an increase in organic growth (+1%), despite
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE impacts from excess mortality rates among patients due to
TO NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS (222) (250)  COVID-19 in certain of our operating segments which are fur-
ther described in the discussions of our segments below, and
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE contributions from acquisitions (+1%). For additional informa-
TO SHAREHOLDERS . .
OF FMC AG & CO. KGAA 673 969 tion regarding COVID-19 Related Impacts, SEE NOTE 4 H of the

notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Dialysis treatments decreased by 1% as a result of negative
Same Market Treatment Growth (-1%) and the effect of closed

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

or sold clinics (-1%), partially offset by contributions from
acquisitions (+ 1%). Excess mortality rates among our patients
due to COVID-19 contributed significantly to the decreases in
treatments and Same Market Treatment Growth.

At December 31, 2022, we owned or operated 4,116 dialysis clin-
ics compared to 4,171 dialysis clinics at December 31, 2021.
During the year ended December 31, 2022, we acquired 11 dialy-
sis clinics, opened 41 dialysis clinics and combined or closed 107
clinics. The number of patients treated in dialysis clinics that
we own or operate decreased slightly to 344,687 as of Decem-
ber 31, 2022 (December 31, 2021: 345,425). Excess mortality
rates among patients due to COVID-19 also significantly
impacted the number of patients we treated.

Health care product revenue increased by 6% (+2% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), driven by a positive impact from foreign
currency translation as well as higher sales of in-center dispos-
ables and renal pharmaceuticals, partially offset by lower sales
of machines for chronic treatment (including the effect of a
temporary pause in shipping of new dialysis machines in the
U.S.) and acute cardiopulmonary products.

Gross profit increased by 5% (- 3% at Constant Exchange Rates),
primarily driven by a positive impact from foreign currency trans-
lation effects (North America Segment, Latin America Segment
and Asia-Pacific Segment), government relief funding available
for health care providers affected by the COVID-19 pandemic,
which offset certain eligible costs, (North America Segment),
higher average reimbursement rates (North America Segment,
EMEA Segment and Latin America Segment), increased treat-
ment volumes (including growth from acquisitions) as normal-
ized for COVID-19 (mainly in the North America Segment and the
Asia-Pacific Segment), a favorable impact from foreign currency
transaction effects (mainly in the Asia-Pacific Segment and the
EMEA Segment), net savings related to the FME25 Program
(North America Segment, Corporate and Asia-Pacific Segment)
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T2.20 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Change in %

Currency
2022 2021 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency’

Revenue in €M 19,398 17,619 10 8 2

Health care services 15,418 13,876 1 9 2

Health care products 3,980 3,743 6 4 2
Number of dialysis treatments 52,310,131 52,871,887 O]
Same Market Treatment Growth? 1.4) 1.9)
Gross profitin €M 5,310 5,077 5 8 3)
Gross profit as a % of revenue 274 28.8
Selling, general and administrative costs in € M 3,784 3,096 22 8 14
Selling, general and administrative costs as a % of revenue 19.5 17.6
Operating income in €M 1,512 1,852 (18) 7 (25)
Operating income margin 7.8 10.5
Net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in €M 673 969 (€))] 6 (37)
Basic earnings per share in € 2.30 3.31 3N 6 37)

' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system".
2 Same market treatment growth represents growth, in percent, in treatments, adjusted for certain reconciling items including (but not limited to) treatments from acquisitions, closed or sold clinics

and differences in dialysis days (Same Market Treatment Growth).

and a positive impact from a partial reversal of an accrual related
to a revenue recognition adjustment for accounts receivable in
legal dispute (North America Segment), partially offset by higher
personnel expense and inflationary and supply chain cost
increases across all regions as well as an unfavorable impact
from excess mortality rates among our patients due to COVID-19
(mainly in the North America Segment) and higher implicit price
concessions (North America Segment).

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense increased by
22% (+14% at Constant Exchange Rates), primarily driven by a
negative impact from foreign currency translation (North Amer-
ica Segment, Corporate and the Asia-Pacific Segment), costs

related to the InterWell Health business combination in the
North America Segment (InterWell Health Costs) (SEE NOTE 3 of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements), costs associ-
ated with the FME25 Program, net of savings, (mainly in Corpo-
rate, the EMEA Segment and the North America Segment), an
unfavorable impact from the remeasurement of investments
(primarily driven by the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement
in the North America Segment), higher expense related to legal
provisions (mainly in the North America Segment and Corpo-
rate), and inflationary and supply chain cost increases as well as
higher personnel expense across all regions, partially offset by
increased income attributable to a consent agreement on cer-
tain pharmaceuticals in the North America Segment.
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Research and development expenses increased by 4% to
€229 M from €221 M. The increase was largely driven by higher
amortization of capitalized development costs, research and
development activities at NxStage and a negative impact from
foreign currency translation, partially offset by lower costs for
in-center and critical care program development.

Income from equity method investees decreased by 28% to
€67 M from €92 M. The decrease was primarily driven by lower
earnings from Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.
(VFMCRP).

We recorded a remeasurement gain of our prior at-equity invest-
ment in InterWell Health LLC in the amount of €148 M (December
31, 2021: €0). For further information regarding the InterWell
Health business combination, see section “Overall business devel-
opment - Highlights" in this chapter and “Performance manage-
ment system - Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS Measure)” in the
chapter "Overview of the Group”, as well as NOTE 3 of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements included in this report.

Operating income decreased by 18% (-25% at Constant Exchange
Rates), largely driven by the combined effects of the items dis-
cussed within gross profit, SG&A expense and the InterWell Health
remeasurement gain as well as a positive impact from foreign cur-
rency translation. As noted above, we have seen unprecedented
challenges in the labor market, in particular in the U.S., which con-
tinue to impact growth and, when combined with the current
uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment, have had a mate-
rially adverse effect on our results of operations in 2022.

Net interest expense increased by 4% to €292 M from €280 M,
primarily due to a negative impact from foreign currency trans-
lation and unfavorable effects from foreign currency swaps,
partially offset by refinancing activities (including the issuance
of bonds in prior periods at lower interest rates and the repay-
ment of term loans).
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Income tax expense decreased by 8% to €325 M from €353 M.
The effective tax rate increased to 26.7% from 22.4% for the
same period of 2021 largely driven by an increase in the propor-
tionate share of non-deductible expenses as compared to
taxable income and higher tax provisions related to tax law
changes. Non-tax deductible expenses also increased due to
impairment loss (including Impacts Related to the War in
Ukraine) and the InterWell Health business combination.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased
by 12% to €222 M from €250 M due to lower earnings in enti-
ties in which we have less than 100% ownership, a favorable
prior year effect from amounts received in 2021 under the U.S.
HHS Provider Relief Fund Phase 4 relief funding and a negative
impact from foreign currency translation.

Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA
decreased by 31% (- 37% at Constant Exchange Rates) as a result
of the combined effects of the items discussed above, partially
offset by a positive impact from foreign currency translation.

Basic earnings per share decreased by 31% (-37% at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily due to the decrease in net income
attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA described
above. The average weighted number of shares outstanding for
the period increased to 293.2 M in 2022 (2021: 292.9 M) due to
the exercise of stock options.

We employed 128,044 people (total headcount) as of December
31, 2022 (December 31, 2021: 130,251). This 2% decrease was
largely due to a prior year increase in production staff due to
COVID-19, challenges faced in certain regional labor markets
and a reduction in clinical staff as a result of a decrease in
patients in certain regions.

The following discussions pertain to our operating and reportable
segments and the measures we use to manage these segments.
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North America Segment

An overview of the performance indicators for the North
America segment can be found in TABLE 2.21.

Revenue

Health care services revenue increased by 13% (remained rel-
atively stable at Constant Exchange Rates), driven by a posi-
tive impact from foreign currency translation (+13%) and con-
tributions from acquisitions (+1%), partially offset by a
decrease in organic growth (-1%) resulting from the effects of
excess mortality rates among patients due to COVID-19.

Dialysis treatments decreased by 2% largely due to negative
Same Market Treatment Growth (-2%). As of December 31, 2022,
208,310 patients, a slight decrease from the prior year (Decem-
ber 31, 2021: 209,291) were treated in the 2,683 dialysis clinics
(December 31, 2021: 2,695) that we own or operate in the North
America Segment. Excess mortality rates among patients due to
COVID-19 contributed significantly to the decreases in treat-
ments, Same Market Treatment Growth and patients we treated.
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Health care product revenue increased by 8% (-4% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), driven by a positive impact from for-
eign currency translation, partially offset by lower sales of
machines for chronic treatment (including the effect of a tem-
porary pause in shipping of new dialysis machines in the U.S.),
products for acute care treatments, in-center disposables and
peritoneal dialysis products.

Operating income

Operating income decreased by 10% (-20% at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily related to higher personnel expense,
inflationary and supply chain cost increases, and an unfavor-
able impact from excess mortality rates among our patients
due to COVID-19, partially offset by government relief funding
available for health care providers affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, which offset certain eligible costs, a positive impact
from foreign currency translation and the Net Gain Related to
InterWell Health. As noted above, we have seen unprecedented
challenges in the labor market, in particular in the U.S., which
continue to impact growth and, when combined with the cur-
rent uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment, have had
a materially adverse effect on our results of operations in 2022.

T2.21

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE NORTH AMERICA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2022 2021 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency’
Revenue in €M 13,550 12,088 12 12 0
Health care services 12,400 11,020 13 13 0
Health care products 1,150 1,068 8 12 (4)
Number of dialysis treatments 31,788,799 32,334,280 (2)
Same Market Treatment Growth (2.3) (2.5)
Operating income in €M 1,476 1,644 (10) 10 (20)
Operating income margin 10.9 13.6

' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system”.
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EMEA Segment

An overview of the performance indicators for the EMEA seg-
ment can be found in TABLE 2.22.

Revenue

Health care services revenue increased by 6% (+6% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), driven by an increase in organic growth,
including the effects of hyperinflation, (+6%) and contribu-
tions from acquisitions (+1%), partially offset by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (-1%).

Dialysis treatments increased by 1% mainly due to contribu-
tions from acquisitions in the region (+1%). As of December 31,
2022, 66,063 patients, an increase of 1% (December 31, 2021:
65,599), were treated at the 795 dialysis clinics (December 31,
2021: 821) that we own or operate in the EMEA Segment.

Health care product revenue increased by 1% (+3% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), primarily due to higher sales of in-cen-
ter disposables, renal pharmaceuticals and peritoneal dialysis
products (each of which includes the effects of hyperinflation),
partially offset by a negative impact from foreign currency
translation as well as lower sales of acute cardiopulmonary
products and machines for chronic treatment (including the
effects of hyperinflation).

Operating income

Operating income decreased by 17% (-16% at Constant
Exchange Rates), mainly due to inflationary cost increases
(including the effects of hyperinflation) which were mitigated
by reimbursement rate increases, and Impacts Related to the
War in Ukraine, partially offset by favorable foreign currency
transaction effects.
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Asia-Pacific Segment

An overview of the performance indicators for the Asia-Pacific
segment can be found in TABLE 2.23.

Revenue
Health care services revenue increased by 4% (+4% at Con-

stant Exchange Rates), driven by an increase in organic growth
(+3%) and contributions from acquisitions (+1%).

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Dialysis treatments increased by 2% mainly due to Same Mar-
ket Treatment Growth (+2%) and contributions from acqui-
sitions in the region (+1%), partially offset by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (-1%). As of December 31, 2022, 34,001
patients, an increase of 1% (December 31, 2021: 33,760) were
treated at the 395 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2021: 405)
that we own or operate in the Asia-Pacific Segment.

Health care product revenue increased by 10% (+4% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), mainly due to a positive impact from

T 2.22 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE EMEA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2022 2021 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency’
Revenue in €M 2,851 2,165 3 2) 5
Health care services 1,456 1,379 6 0 6
Health care products 1,395 1,386 1 2) 3
Number of dialysis treatments 9,941,735 9,885,319 1
Same Market Treatment Growth 0.2 3.2)
Operating income in €M 256 309 an) Q) (16)
Operating income margin 9.0 1.2

' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system”.

T 2.23 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE ASIA-PACIFIC SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2022 2021 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency'
Revenue in €M 2,152 2,010 7 3 4
Health care services 981 942 4 0 4
Health care products 1,171 1,068 10 6 4
Number of dialysis treatments 4,844,563 4,766,472 2
Same Market Treatment Growth 2.3 4.8
Operating income in €M 340 350 3) 0 3)
Operating income margin 15.8 17.4

' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system".
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foreign currency translation as well as higher sales of in-center
disposables, products for acute care treatments and acute
cardiopulmonary products.

Operating income

Operatingincome decreased by 3% (- 3% at Constant Exchange
Rates), primarily due to inflationary cost increases, costs
related to a legal dispute and higher bad debt expense, partially
offset by favorable foreign currency transaction effects and
business growth in certain business lines.

Latin America Segment

An overview of the performance indicators for the Latin
America segment can be found in TABLE 2.24.

Revenue

Health care services revenue increased by 11% (+31% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), driven by an increase in organic growth,
including hyperinflationary effects, (+32%), partially offset by
a negative impact from foreign currency translation (-20%)
and the effect of closed or sold clinics (-1%).

Dialysis treatments decreased by 3% mainly due to the effect
of closed or sold clinics (-2%) and negative Same Market Treat-
ment Growth (-1%). As of December 31, 2022, 36,313 patients,
a decrease of 1% (December 31, 2021: 36,775) were treated at
the 243 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2021: 250) that we own or
operate in the Latin America Segment.

Health care product revenue increased by 20% (+14% at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), primarily due to higher sales of machines
for chronic treatment (including the effects of hyperinflation), a
positive impact from foreign currency translation and higher sales
of in-center disposables (including the effects of hyperinflation).
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T 2.24 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE LATIN AMERICA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2022 2021 Asreported translation effects Constant Currency'
Revenue in €M 797 703 13 13) 26
Health care services 553 499 1 (20) 31
Health care products 244 204 20 6 14
Number of dialysis treatments 5,735,034 5,885,816 3)
Same Market Treatment Growth 1.4) Qa.n
Operating income in € M 24 12 99 48 51
Operating income margin 3.0 17

! For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system".

Operating income

Operating income increased by 99% (+51% at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily due to a positive impact from for-
eign currency translation, lower bad debt expense and reim-
bursement rate increases, which mitigated inflationary cost
increases in the region, partially offset by unfavorable foreign
currency transaction effects.

Financial position

Our investment and financing strategy did not change substan-
tially in the past fiscal year as our business model, which is based
on stable and high cash flows, allows for a reasonable proportion
of debt. We regard our refinancing options as being very stable
and flexible. During the past fiscal year, the focus of our invest-
ing activities was on our health care services business.

Financing strategy
Our financing strategy aims at ensuring financial flexibility,

managing financial risks and optimizing our financing cost. We
ensure our financial flexibility through maintaining sufficient

liquidity. Our refinancing risks are limited due to our balanced
maturity profile, which is characterized by a wide range of
maturities of up to 2031. Corporate bonds in euro and U.S. dol-
lar form the basis of our mid- and long-term financing instru-
ments. Corporate bonds in euro are issued under our €10 BN
debt issuance program. For short-term financing we use our
€1.5 BN commercial paper program, Accounts Receivable Facil-
ity in U.S. dollar and bilateral credit lines. The €2 BN Syndicated
Credit Facility, signed in July 2021, serves as a backup facility
and was undrawn at December 31, 2022.

CHART 2.25 ON PAGE 49 summarizes our main financing debt
mix as of December 31, 2022.

In our long-term capital management, we focus primarily on
the net leverage ratio, a non-IFRS measure (see section
“Performance management system” in the chapter “Overview
of the Group”). Our self-set target for the net leverage ratio is
3.0 - 3.5x, which management considers appropriate for the
Company. TABLE 2.26 ON PAGE 49 shows the reconciliation of
net debt and adjusted EBITDA and the calculation of the net
leverage ratio as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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c2.25 FINANCING MIX

INEM
0,
35% 2%
(4,679)

TOTAL DEBT AND LEASE
LIABILITIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2022:

13,213

56 %
(7.389)

3%
(331
%

(495) 1%

(94)

I SCHULDSCHEIN LOANS
Il conos

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE FACILITY
[ COMMERCIAL PAPER PROGRAMM
B otHeRr
I LEASE LIABILITIES'

! Includes lease liabilities with related and unrelated parties

T2.26 RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA AND NET
LEVERAGE RATIO TO THE MOST DIRECTLY COMPARABLE
IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURE
IN € M, EXCEPT FOR NET LEVERAGE RATIO

December 31, December 31,

2022 2021
Debt and lease liabilities’ 13,213 13,320
Minus: Cash and
cash equivalents (1,274) (1,482)
NET DEBT 11,939 11,838
Net income 895 1,219
Income tax expense 325 353
Interest income (68) (73)
Interest expense 360 353
Depreciation and
amortization 1,718 1,586
Adjustments? 320 125
ADJUSTED EBITDA 3,550 3,563
NET LEVERAGE RATIO 34 3.3

" Debt includes the following balance sheet line items: short-term debt, current portion of long-
term debt and long-term debt, less current portion.

2 Acquisitions and divestitures made for the last twelve months with a purchase price above a
€50 M threshold as defined in the Syndicated Credit Facility (2022: -€22 M; 2021: €13 M), non-
cash charges, primarily related to pension expense (2022: €54 M; 2021: €49 M), impairment
loss (2022: €120 M; 2021: €38 M) and special items, including costs related to the FME25 Pro-
gram (2022: €155 M; 2021: €25 M), Net Gain Related to InterWell Health (2022: -€114 M), Huma-
cyte Investment Remeasurement (2022: €103 M), Hyperinflation in Turkiye (2022: €5 M) and
the Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine (2022: €19 M).

The key financial risks we are exposed to include foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk. To manage these risks, we
enter into various hedging transactions that have been autho-
rized by the Management Board. Counterparty risks are man-
aged via internal credit limits, taking into account the external
credit ratings of the respective hedging counterparty. We do
not use financial instruments for trading or other speculative
purposes (for liquidity and financing risks, see the section
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“Other risks" in the chapter “Risks and opportunities report”
as well as NOTE 23 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements).

Fresenius SE, under a service agreement, conducts treasury
services for us under the control of a single centralized depart-
ment. We have established guidelines for risk management pro-
cedures and controls which govern the use of financial instru-
ments. These guidelines include a clear segregation of duties
with regards to execution on the one hand and administration,
accounting and controlling on the other.

We also utilize Fresenius SE's cash management system as well
as an unsecured loan agreement with Fresenius SE (SEE NOTE 13
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements).

For information on our credit ratings, SEE NOTE 18 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. A rating is not a rec-
ommendation to buy, sell or hold securities of the Company,
and may be subject to suspension, change or withdrawal at any
time by the assigning rating agency.

Effect of off-balance-sheet financing
instruments on our financial position,
assets and liabilities

We are not involved in off-balance-sheet transactions that have
or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cash
requirements or capital resources.

Sources of liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are typically cash provided by
operating activities, cash provided by short-term debt, pro-
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ceeds from the issuance of long-term debt and divestitures. We
require this capital primarily to finance working capital needs,
fund acquisitions, operate clinics, develop free-standing renal
dialysis clinics and other health care facilities, purchase equip-
ment for existing or new renal dialysis clinics and production
sites, repay debt and pay dividends (see “Net cash provided by
(used in) investing activities” and “Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities” below) and to satisfy put option obliga-
tions to holders of minority interests in our majority-owned
subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2022, our available borrowing capacity
under unutilized credit facilities amounted to approximately
€3.1 BN, including €2.0 BN under the Syndicated Credit Facility,
which we maintain as a backup for general corporate purposes.
On June 8, 2022, we amended and extended the Syndicated
Credit Facility to extend the term by one year and replace U.S.
dollar-LIBOR as the reference rate with the Term Secured Over-
night Financing Rate. Also in June 2022, we replaced our unse-
cured loan agreement with Fresenius SE with a new uncommit-
ted revolving facility with Fresenius SE under which we may
request and receive one or more short-term advances from
Fresenius SE as lender, up to an aggregate amount of E600,000.
The uncommitted revolving facility is unsecured, does not have
a termination date and is effective beginning August 1, 2022.

At December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of
€1,274 M (December 31, 2021: €1,482 M).

Free cash flow (Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi-
ties, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions and invest-
ments) is a Non-IFRS Measure and is reconciled to net cash pro-
vided by (used in) operating activities, the most directly
comparable IFRS measure (see the section “Performance
management system" in the chapter “Overview of the Group").
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TABLE 2.27 shows the cash flow performance indicators for
2022 and 2021 and reconciles free cash flow and free cash flow
in percent of revenue to Net cash provided by (used in) operat-
ing activities and Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities in percent of revenue, respectively:

T2.27 CASH FLOW MEASURES
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

2022 2021

Revenue 19,398 17,619
Net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities 2,167 2,489

Capital expenditures (724) (854)

Proceeds from sale of property,

plant and equipment 37 25
Capital expenditures, net (687) (829)
Free cash flow 1,480 1,660
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities
in % of revenue 1.2 14.1
Free cash flow in % of revenue 7.6 9.4

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

During 2022, net cash provided by operating activities was
€2,167 M (2021: €2,489 M). Net cash provided by operating
activities accounted for 11% of revenue in 2022 (2021:14%). Net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities is impacted by
the profitability of our business, the development of our work-
ing capital, principally inventories, receivables and cash out-
flows that occur due to a number of specific items as discussed
below. The decrease in net cash provided by operating activi-
ties in 2022 was mainly driven by a decrease in net income and
a reduction in cash flow due to an increase in certain working
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capital items, partially offset by impacts from COVID-19-related
government relief funding in the United States.

The profitability of our business depends significantly on reim-
bursement rates for our services. Approximately 79% of our
revenue is generated by providing health care services, a major
portion of which is reimbursed by either public health care
organizations or private insurers. In 2022, approximately 26%
of our consolidated revenue was attributable to reimburse-
ments from U.S. federal health care benefit programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid. Legislative changes could affect Medi-
care reimbursement rates for a significant portion of the ser-
vices we provide as well as the scope of Medicare coverage. A
decrease in reimbursement rates or the scope of coverage
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position and results of operations and thus on our capacity to
generate cash flow. See “Macroeconomic and sector-specific
environment,” above. During 2022, our profitability has also
been adversely affected by the global economic impact of the
ongoing Ukraine War and increased headwinds from labor mar-
ket, in particular in the U.S., and global inflation (SEE NOTE 1 of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements). We have
seen unprecedented challenges in the labor market, in particu-
lar in the U.S,, resulting in staff shortages, high turnover rates
and meaningfully higher costs, including higher costs due to an
increased reliance on contracted labor. These challenges con-
tinue to impact our growth, specifically in U.S. health care ser-
vices where labor constraints have affected our ability to
increase treatment volumes. These impacts, combined with the
current uncertainty in the macroeconomic environment, driv-
ing inflationary cost increases and supply chain constraints,
have had a materially adverse effect on our results of opera-
tions during 2022.

In recent years, the stability of reimbursement in the U.S. has
been affected by (i) the implementation of the ESRD PPS in
January 2011, (ii) across-the-board spending cuts in payments
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to Medicare providers by the U.S. federal government, com-
monly referred to as “U.S. Sequestration” (temporarily sus-
pended from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022 - a 1% reduc-
tion became effective from April 1to June 30, 2022 and the full
2% sequester resumed on July 1, 2022), and (iii) the phased
reduction to the ESRD PPS rate to account for the decline in
utilization of certain drugs and biologicals associated with dial-
ysis pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, as
subsequently modified under the Protecting Access to Medi-
care Act of 2014.

We intend to continue to address our current cash and financing
requirements using net cash provided by operating activities,
issuances under our commercial paper program (SEE NOTE 13 of
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less contract liabilities, converted to euro using the average
exchange rate for the period presented, less any sales or
value-added tax included in the receivables, by the average
daily sales for the last twelve months of that segment, con-
verted to euro using the average exchange rate for the period.
Receivables and revenues are adjusted for amounts related to
acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period
with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold, consistent with
the respective adjustments in the determination of adjusted
EBITDA (see section “Performance management system” in
the chapter “Overview of the Group").

The development of DSO by reporting segment is shown in
TABLE 2.28 ON PAGE 52.

the notes to the consolidated financial statements) as well as
from the use of our Accounts Receivable Facility, bilateral credit
lines and our uncommitted revolving credit facility with
Fresenius SE. The Syndicated Credit Facility is also available for
backup financing needs. In addition, to finance acquisitions or
meet other needs, we expect to utilize long-term financing
arrangements, such as the issuance of bonds (see “Net cash
provided by (used in) financing activities,” below).

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities depends on
the collection of accounts receivable. Commercial customers
and government institutions generally have different payment
cycles. Lengthening their payment cycles could have a material
adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. In addi-
tion, we could face difficulties enforcing and collecting accounts
receivable under the legal systems of and due to the economic
conditions in some countries. Accounts receivable balances,
net of expected credit losses, represented Days Sales Out-
standing (DSO) of 68 days at December 31,2022, an increase as
compared to 62 days at December 31, 2021.

DSO by segment is calculated by dividing the respective seg-
ment's accounts and other receivables from unrelated parties

Due to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is
provided by public health care organizations and private
insurers, we expect that most of our accounts receivable will
be collectible.

For information regarding litigation exposure as well as ongo-
ing and future tax audits, SEE NOTE 22 of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements.

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was €735 M for 2022 (2021:
€196 M). TABLE 2.29 ON PAGE 52 shows a breakdown of our
investing activities for 2022 and 2021.

The majority of our capital expenditures were used for main-
taining existing clinics and centers, equipping new clinics and
centers, capitalization of machines provided to our customers,
capitalization of certain development costs and IT implementa-
tion costs. Capital expenditures accounted for approximately
4% of total revenue in 2022 (2021: 5%).
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Investments in 2022 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities and equity investments. In 2022, we received
€118M from divestitures. These divestitures were mainly related
to the divestment of equity investments and debt securities.
Acquisitions in 2022 relate primarily to the purchase of dialysis
clinics and other health care facilities. Additionally, purchases
of intangible assets in 2022 related primarily to emission rights
certificates.

Investments in 2021 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities and equity investments. In 2021, we received
€197 M from divestitures. These divestitures were mainly
related to the divestment of debt securities. Acquisitions in
2021 relate primarily to the purchase of dialysis clinics.

In 2023, we anticipate capital expenditures around €0,9 BN and
expect to limit acquisition and investment spending, while
focusing on the organic growth of our business.

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was €1,617 M in 2022 (2021:
€1,024 M).

In 2022, cash was mainly used in the repayment of short-term
debt (including borrowings under our commercial paper pro-
gram and short-term debt from related parties), the repayment
of lease liabilities (including lease liabilities from related par-
ties), the repayment of long-term debt (including the repay-
ment at maturity of bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
$700 M (E533 M as of the date of issuance) on January 31,
2022), the payment of dividends and distributions to noncon-
trolling interests, partially offset by proceeds from long-term
debt (including proceeds from the issuance of bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of €750 M on September 20, 2022,
and the issuance of Schuldschein loans of €225 M in February
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T2.28 DEVELOPMENT OF DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING

IN DAYS
December 31, December 31,
2022 2021 Increase / decrease primarily driven by:
CMS's recoupment of advanced payments
received in 2020 under the Medicare Accelerated
North America Segment 56 44 and Advance Payment Program
Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine as well
EMEA Segment 86 88 as bad debt expense in certain other countries
Asia-Pacific Segment 102 103 Improvement of payment collections in the region
Latin America Segment 109 130 Improvement of payment collections in the region
FMC AG & CO. KGAA
AVERAGE DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING 68 62

T2.29 CASH FLOWS RELATING TO INVESTING ACTIVITIES

IN€M
Acquisitions, investments, pur-
Capital expenditures, net, including chases of intangible assets and Proceeds from divestitures and
capitalized development costs investments in debt securities’ the sale of debt securities
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
North America Segment 345 399 72 476 76 197
EMEA Segment 97 106 15 28 1 -
Asia-Pacific Segment 36 46 22 7 29 -
Latin America Segment 27 34 15 17 2 -
Corporate 182 244 4 35 10 -
TOTAL 687 829 165 563 18 197

T Acquisitions in the North America Segment are net of cash acquired in the InterWell Health business combination. SEE NOTE 3 included in this report.
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2022) and proceeds from short-term debt (including borrow-
ings under our commercial paper program and short-term debt
from related parties). SEE NOTE 14 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

In 2021, cash was mainly used in the repayment of short-term
debt from unrelated parties, repayment of long-term debt
(including the repayment at maturity of bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $650 M (€473 M as of the date of issuance)
and €300 M, as well as the early repayment of the U.S. dollar
term loan 2017/2022 in the amount of $1,050 M (E860 M as of
the date of repayment) and the euro term loan 2017/2022 in the
amount of €245 M, both under the Amended 2012 Credit Agree-
ment), the repayment of lease liabilities (including lease liabili-
ties from related parties), payment of dividends and distribu-
tions to noncontrolling interests, partially offset by proceeds
from short-term debt (including borrowings under our com-
mercial paper program) and proceeds from long-term debt
(including proceeds from the issuance of bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $1,500 M (€1,227 M)).

On May 17, 2022, we paid a dividend of €1.35 per share for 2021
(€1.34 per share for 2020 paid in 2021). The total dividend pay-
ment was €396 M in 2022 (2021: €392 M).
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c2.30 MATURITY STRUCTURE OF OUR SIGNIFICANT LONG-TERM FINANCING INSTRUMENTS

(BASED ON NOMINAL AMOUNTS OUTSTANDING)
IN€M

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031

2,000
1,500

1,000

500 1100
750
) 750
500
0 25 )

== Euro bonds U.S. dollar bonds == A/R Facility == Schuldschein loans

T 2.31 AVAILABLE SOURCES OF LIQUIDITY
IN€EM
Expiration per period of
Less than

Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5years Over 5 years
Accounts Receivable Facility' 738 - 738 - -
Syndicated Credit Facility 2,000 - - 2,000 -
Other unused lines of credit 1,107 1107 - - -
3,845 1,107 738 2,000 -

! Subject to availability of sufficient accounts receivable that meet funding criteria. At December 31, 2022, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $13 M (€12 M),
which reduces the availability under the Accounts Receivable Facility to the amount shown in this table.
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CHART 2.30 summarizes our significant long-term financing
instruments as well as their maturity structure at December 31,
2022.

For a description of our short-term debt, long-term sources of
liguidity and contractual cash flows (including interest) resulting
from recognized financial liabilities and derivative financial instru-
ments recorded in the consolidated balance sheets, SEE NOTES 13,
14 AND 23 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

TABLE 2.31 summarizes our available sources of liquidity at
December 31, 2022.

An additional source of liquidity is our commercial paper pro-
gram, under which up to €1,500 M of short-term notes can be
issued on a flexible and continuous basis. As of December 31,
2022, we utilized €497 M and as of December 31, 2021, we
utilized €715 M of the commercial paper program.

At December 31, 2022, we had short-term debt from unrelated
parties (excluding the current portion of long-term debt) and
short-term debt from related parties in the total amount of
€669 M.

For information regarding our Syndicated Credit Facility, bonds
and the Accounts Receivable Facility, SEE NOTE 14 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. For information
regarding other contractual commitments, SEE NOTE 21 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Although current and future economic conditions could
adversely affect our business and our profitability, we believe
that we are well positioned to continue to operate our business
while meeting our financial obligations as they come due, and
to resume growing our business as macroeconomic conditions
improve and headwinds subside. Because of the non-discre-
tionary nature of the health care services we provide, the need
for health care products utilized to provide such services and
the availability of government reimbursement for a substantial
portion of our health care services, our business is generally
not cyclical. A substantial portion of our accounts receivable is
generated by governmental payors. While payment and collec-
tion practices vary significantly between countries and even
between agencies within one country, government payors usu-
ally represent low to moderate credit risk. However, limited or
expensive access to capital could make it more difficult for our
customers to do business with us, or to do business generally,
which could adversely affect our business by causing our cus-
tomers to reduce or delay their purchases of our health care
products (see section “Results of operations” above). If the
conditions in the capital markets worsen, this could increase
our financing costs and limit our financial flexibility.

At our Annual General Meeting scheduled to be held on May 16,
2023, our General Partner and our Supervisory Board will pro-
pose to the shareholders a dividend of €112 per share for 2022,
payable in 2023 (for 2021 paid in 2022: €1.35). The total
expected dividend payment is approximately €329 M compared
to dividends of €396 M for 2021 paid in 2022.

Our principal financing needs in 2023 relate to the repayment
of bonds at maturity in November 2023. The dividend payment
in May 2023, anticipated capital expenditures and, to a lesser
extent, exercises of put options as well as further acquisition
payments are expected to be covered by our cash flow, includ-
ing the use of existing credit facilities and, if required, addi-
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tional debt financing. We have sufficient flexibility to meet our
financing needs in 2023.

Net assets

Our total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2022,
amounted to €35,754 M, an increase of €1,387 M (4%) over the
prior year. In addition to a 4% positive impact resulting from
foreign currency translation, total assets summing up to
€34,448 remained relatively stable (2021: €34,367 M).

Non-current assets increased by €1,151 M (4%) to €27,551 M and
represented 77% of total assets (2021: 77%). This increase
includes a positive effect from foreign currency translation of
4%. Increases in goodwill, primarily from the InterWell Health
business combination, were mostly offset by decreases in right-
of-use assets, mainly due to cancelled or not renewed con-
tracts, property, plant and equipment as well as investments in
non-consolidated affiliates, mainly due to the Humacyte Invest-
ment Remeasurement.

Current assets increased by 3% to €8,203 M, including a posi-
tive effect from foreign currency translation of 2%. The increase
in Inventories, particularly due to higher stock levels of pharma-
ceuticals used in our health care services business, and trade
accounts and other receivables from unrelated parties, mainly
due to revenue growth, slower payment collections and a shift
to reimbursement programs which have longer payment cycles,
were partially offset by a decrease in cash and cash equivalents
due to decreased securities and time deposits.

Total liabilities amounted to €20,305 M at December 31, 2022
and decreased slightly by €83 M from €20,388 M in 2021.
Including a positive effect from foreign currency translation of
4%, this decrease was primarily the result of lower short-term
debt, provisions and other current liabilities, lease liabilities
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from unrelated parties, (including the current portion) and pen-
sion liabilities. Other current liabilities decreased primarily due
to CMS's recoupment of advanced payments received in 2020
under the Medicare Accelerated and Advance Payment Pro-
gram, which are recorded as contract liabilities. The decrease in
lease liabilities from unrelated parties was mainly due to can-
celled or not renewed contracts and the decrease in pension
liabilities was mainly attributable to adjustments to the dis-
count rate. This was partially offset by increases in provisions
and other non-current liabilities, including an increase in put
option liabilities from the InterWell Health business combina-
tion, and long-term debt (including the current portion of long-
term debt).

Current liabilities accounted for €1,363 M of our debt (2021:
€1924 M), a decrease of €561 M (29%), including a positive
effect from foreign currency translation of 1%. The decrease
was due to repayment of bonds denominated in U.S. dollar and
short-term debt (including borrowings under our commercial
paper program). It was partially offset by the reclassification of
bonds denominated in euro to the current portion of long-term
debt, as these will mature in 2023.

Long-term debt increased to €7171M from €6,647 M in the
prior year, an increase of €524 M (8%, including a positive
effect from foreign currency translation of 3%. Furthermore,
the increase in long-term debt was mainly a result of the issu-
ance of bonds under our Debt Issuance Program in an aggre-
gate principal amount of €750 M and the issuance of Schuld-
schein loans of €225 M in total. It was partially offset by the
reclassification of bonds denominated in euro to the current
portion of long-term debt.

Shareholders’ equity increased by 1% to €15,449 M. The
increase was driven by a positive effect from foreign currency
translation of 5% and net income as well as an increase in addi-
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tional paid in capital, related to noncontrolling interests from
the InterWell Health business combination, an actuarial gain
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss), mainly
attributable to adjustments to the discount rate for pension lia-
bilities, and the net effect from noncontrolling interests due to
changes in the consolidation group. It was partially offset by
changes in fair value of put option liabilities recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) as well as dividend payments and
distributions to noncontrolling interests. The equity to assets
ratio increased to 43% at December 31, 2022 from 41% at
December 31, 2021, primarily driven by an increase in equity
and a decrease in short-term debt.

At Group level, ROIC decreased to 3.3% at December 31, 2022
from 4.9% at December 31, 2021, driven by lower operating
income and increased average invested capital. Goodwill,
included in the item “Invested capital”, has a significant impact
on the calculation of ROIC. The weighted average cost of capital
(WACC), including weighted risk premiums for country risks,
was 7.1%.

For supplementary information on capital management and
our capital structure, SEE NOTE 18 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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Management's general assessment

We continue to operate in a challenging and highly volatile
macroeconomic and operational environment. As expected,
inflationary developments persisted and weighed on our earn-
ings. Open positions in our dialysis clinics were reduced but
remained at an elevated level, impacting both costs and growth
in Health Care Services. We continue to face an unprecedented
labor market situation in the U.S., resulting in staff shortages,
high turnover rates and meaningfully higher costs. This has
impacted growth in U.S. Dialysis Services as well as in down-
stream assets and consequently affected operational leverage
in both.

On the upside, in 2022, we received U.S. Department of Health
and Human Services funding (Provider Relief Fund Phase 4)
available for health care providers affected by the COVID-19
pandemic. While the FME25 new operating model and savings
provide an important foundation, there is also a clear urgency
to turnaround our operational performance with bold interven-
tions. These measures will also include a culture of perfor-
mance and accountability.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to NOTE 27 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

OUTLOOK

The outlook describes how Fresenius Medical Care
expects to perform in fiscal year 2023. These
statements take into account all events known
at the time the financial statements were
prepared which could affect the development

of our business in 2023.

BUSINESS POLICY

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We aim to further expand this position in the years ahead. Our
products and health care services are at the core of our strat-
egy. During our transition year 2022 we have gradually started
to introduce the new operating model with two future global
segments, Care Enablement and Care Delivery. The new global
operating model went live on January 1, 2023. To take it to the
next level until 2025, we will concentrate on three key areas:
the renal care continuum, critical care solutions, and comple-
mentary assets. Aspects of the renal care continuum include
new renal care models, value-based care, chronic kidney dis-
ease and transplantation, and future innovations. Over the next
few years, we will use our competence in the critical care busi-
ness to address a variety of health challenges and continue to
leverage our core competencies through partnerships, invest-
ments, and acquisitions. This approach constitutes our commit-
ment to long-term sustainable development and growth.
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SECTOR-SPECIFIC ENVIRON-
MENT - DIALYSIS MARKET

The Company expects the number of dialysis patients world-
wide to grow by about 4% in 2023 depending on the further
development of the global COVID-19 pandemic. The accelerat-
ing effects of excess mortality due to the COVID-19 pandemic
are continuing into 2023. Fresenius Medical Care expects to
have a significant adverse annualization effect on treatment
volumes. Some significant regional differences are likely to
remain: The Company anticipates below average growth rates
inthe U.S., Japan and Western and Central Europe. The number
of patients with chronic kidney disease is already relatively
high in these countries and regions and patients generally have
reliable access to treatment, normally dialysis. In economically
weaker regions we expect the growth rates partly to be consid-
erably higher. We expect patient numbers to continue growing
in the coming years - see the following table:

T2.32 EXPECTED GROWTH IN PATIENT NUMBERS

Growth 2023

North America Segment ~1%
EMEA Segment ~3%
Asia-Pacific Segment ~6%
Latin America Segment ~3%
WORLDWIDE ~4%

Source: Internal estimates.

Our growth strategy is based on an in-depth analysis of the
major trends affecting Fresenius Medical Care:

> Demographic factors: Demographic factors are one of the
main reasons for the continued growth of dialysis markets.
As average life expectancy rises worldwide, the share of
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older people in the population is also growing. However, kid-
ney function deteriorates with age. Therefore, demographic
change is an important indicator for the future number of
dialysis patients, which is expected to increase from around
3.9 M worldwide in 2022 to over 5.7 M in 2030.
Increase in lifestyle diseases: Diseases such as high blood
pressure and diabetes are on the rise around the world. They
can cause damage to the entire organism and also often
impair kidney function in the long-term.
Improved access to medical care: Thanks to ongoing efforts
to establish and expand balanced and sustainable health
care systems in many countries around the globe, a grow-
ing number of patients are gaining access to suitable dialy-
sis treatments for the first time. We expect this trend to
continue and drive demand for high-quality products and
treatments.
> Changes in the health care industry: The health care indus-
try is constantly changing. We believe that demand for the
holistic care of chronic patients will continue to rise. In
future, the focus when treating kidney patients will no lon-
ger be simply on offering individual dialysis products or ser-
vices, but also on combining all fields of application related
to dialysis and coordinating them more effectively.

~

v

Hemodialysis will remain the treatment of choice, accounting
for 88% to 89% of all dialysis therapies. Peritoneal dialysis will
continue to be the preferred treatment for 1% to 12% of all
dialysis patients.

The volume of the worldwide dialysis market last year was
influenced by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and exchange
rate effects and amounted to about €82 BN according to pre-
liminary estimates. Going forward, we expect an increase of 1%
to 3% per year. This is based on the assumption that exchange
rates will remain stable in the forecasting period. The overall
volume of the dialysis market could thus reach around €83 BN
to €84 BN by 2023.
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In addition, the reimbursement and ancillary services utiliza-
tion environment significantly influences our business. In the
U.S., our biggest sales market, the reimbursements of govern-
mental institutions are lower than the reimbursements of pri-
vate insurers. Therefore, a change in the portion of reimburse-
ments by private insurers in the U.S. influences our business.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
DEVELOPMENT OF FRESENIUS
MEDICAL CARE IN 2023

Fresenius Medical Care's outlook for 2023 is at Constant
Exchange Rates and excludes Special Items. Special items
include further costs related to the FME25 Program and other
effects that are unusual in nature and have not been foreseeable
or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of giving guid-
ance. These targets are based on the following assumptions:

> Significant headwind from inflationary cost environment of
€200 M to €240 M.

> Labor cost headwind of €140 M to €180 M.

> No additional government support assumed.

» U.S. dialysis treatment growth of -1% to +1%.

» Sustainable FME25 savings of €250 M to €300 M.

> Remeasurement effects on the fair value of investments are
expected to be volatile but neutral on a full year basis.

The growth rates are based on the results in 2022 excluding
Special Items, such as the costs related to the FME25 Program,
the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, the Humacyte Invest-
ment Remeasurement, the Hyperinflation in Turkiye and the
Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine. In 2022, operating
income was supported by €277 M of Provider Relief Funding.
There is no additional governmental support assumed for
2023. To provide a comparable basis for the 2023 outlook, the
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prior year basis was adjusted accordingly for the Provider
Relief Funding. For a reconciliation of the results 2022 to the
adjusted results 2022 as a basis for the targets 2023, sEE
TABLE 2.34 at the end of this chapter.

Revenue and revenue growth

We expect revenue to increase at a low to mid-single digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2023.

Operating income

We expect operating income to remain flat or decline up to at a
high-single digit percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates
in 2023. The positive development of operating income in Care
Delivery is affected by a negative development in Care Enable-
ment. This development is based on operating income in 2022
excluding Special Items. Additionally, operating income was
adjusted for the Provider Relief Funding.

Dividend

Regarding our dividend policy, we will propose a dividend that
is aligned with our earnings development at Constant Exchange
Rates, while focusing on the continuity of historical payments.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

The expected developments might be influenced by develop-
ments described in the risks and opportunities report. 2023 is
expected to be a transition year towards earnings growth recov-
ery in 2024.

Our outlook for the financial year 2023 is summarized in
TABLE 2.33.

FME25: TRANSFORMING GLOBAL
OPERATING MODEL TO
STRENGTHEN PROFITABILITY

As part of the FME25 Program launched in 2021, we have
announced on November 2, 2021, a new operating model that
will be launched in 2023. The objective is to better capture
identified growth opportunities, thereby generating additional
value, enhance capital allocation, further exploit the advan-
tages of the Company'’s vertical integration, increase transpar-
ency both internally and externally, reduce the administrative
burden in terms of cost and speed, and promote a culture of
agility, innovation and accountability. Since January 1, 2023, we
conduct our business in two global segments - Care Delivery
and Care Enablement - along the relevant future value drivers
taking a more centralized approach.

T2.33 OUTLOOK PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2023

Results 2022

Outlook 2023 (at Constant Currency)

Revenue'

€19,398 M

low to mid-single digit percentage rate growth

Operating income!

€1,540 M

flat to high-single digit percentage rate decline

' Outlook 2023 is based on the assumptions outlined above and excludes Special Items. Special items include further costs related to the FME25 Program and other effects that are unusual in nature
and have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of giving guidance. The growth rates are based on the results in 2022 excluding the costs related to the FME25 Pro-
gram, the Net Gain Related to InterWell Health, the Humacyte Investment Remeasurement, the Hyperinflation in Turkiye and the Impacts Related to the War in Ukraine. Additionally, the results in
2022 were adjusted for the Provider Relief Funding. For a reconciliation of results 2022 to the adjusted results 2022 as a basis for targets 2023, see the following table. For further information on
Constant Currency, see section “Performance management system” in the chapter “Overview of the Group".
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T 2.34 RECONCILIATION OF RESULTS 2022 TO THE ADJUSTED RESULTS 2022 AS A BASIS FOR TARGETS 2023

IN€M
Special Items
Net Gain Related Humacyte Investment Hyper-inflation Provider
Results 2022 FME25 Program to InterWell Health Remeasurement Ukraine War in Turkiye Relief Funding Adjusted results 2022
Revenue 19,398 - - - - - - 19,398
Operating income 1,512 204 (56) 103 49 5 277) 1,540

We increased the savings target for our FME25 Program from
€500 M to €650 M by 2025 and now expect to invest up to
€650 M in the same period.

The Company is well on track with its FME25 Program. We
exceeded the program'’s target of savings to contribute €40 M
to €70 M to operating income for 2022 with savings of €131 M.
Fresenius Medical Care is also working on measures that
further support margin improvement.

By 2025 we target to achieve an improved operating income
margin excluding Special Items of 10% to 14%.

MANAGEMENT'S GENERAL
ASSESSMENT

Our clear focus in the coming years will be on improved opera-
tional performance and our transformation efforts. This will
involve even bolder steps to both further simplify and focus the
way we manage our business to drive sustainable profitable
growth recovery. This will be achieved through a simplified and
efficient governance structure, faster execution on operational
efficiencies within the two new global segments, and further
streamlining of our processes and portfolio. All of this supports
our mission to provide the best possible care for our patients
around the globe. 2022 has shown, that we operate in a very
challenging environment. While we expect more headwinds
than tailwinds, and no governmental support for 2023, our
transformation efforts and sharpened focus will enable us to
accelerate the execution of our strategic initiatives and to
return to earnings growth in 2024.
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RISKS AND
OPPORTUNITIES
REPORT

As a company with global operations, we are
naturally exposed to risks associated with our
business activities. Ultimately, we can leverage
opportunities for our business only if we are
willing to take certain risks. Based on our many
years of experience and our extensive knowledge
of the markets, we are able to identify and assess
risks and opportunities for our business.

RISK AND OPPORTUNITY
MANAGEMENT

We see risk management as the ongoing task of determining,
analyzing and evaluating the spectrum of actual and potential
risks arising from our business operations in our environment
and, where possible, taking pre-emptive and corrective mea-
sures. Our risk management system provides us with a basis for
these activities. It enables management to identify risks that
could jeopardize our growth or going concern and to take steps
to minimize any negative impact. Accordingly, it is an important
component of our management and governance.

In addition, we ensure our long-term success by actively man-
aging opportunities. The aim here is to identify and assess
opportunities as early as possible and initiate appropriate mea-
sures so that opportunities can be turned into business success
for Fresenius Medical Care. Long-term and mid-term opportuni-
ties are taken into account in our strategy and budget planning.
We exploit opportunities that can be implemented at short
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notice as part of ongoing business operations, provided this is
meaningful and in line with our business targets.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL SYSTEM

Risk management system

The main objective of the risk management system is to iden-
tify potential risks as early as possible to assess their impact on
business activities and enable us, where necessary, to take
appropriate countermeasures. Due to constantly changing
external as well as internal requirements and conditions, our
risk management system is continuously evolving. In the past
fiscal year, preparations were made to adjust our risk manage-
ment approach to the new global operating model. This adjust-
ment was complemented by the definition of a more robust
process to integrate risks that could cause adverse impacts on
ESG (Environmental, Social & Governance) aspects.

The organizational structure of our risk management as well as
the previously described processes are shown in CHART 2.35 ON
PAGE 60.

The structure of the internal risk management system is based
on the internationally recognized framework for company-wide
risk management, the “Enterprise Risk Management - Inte-
grated Framework” of the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Opportunities are
not covered by the implemented risk management system.

As part of the risk management system, regional risk coordina-
tors, utilizing risk management software, assume the task of
coordinating risk management activities within our operating
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segments, in particular for risk identification and assessment
with individual risk owners by means of, among other things,
workshops, interviews and queries. These activities relate to
existing and potential emerging short-term as well as mid-term
risks. Semi-annually, identified risk information is processed by
the risk coordinators, reviewed by the respective corporate
functions and discussed in regional/functional risk committees.
Subsequently, the central risk management function gathers
the risks and risk responses from regions and functions, analy-
ses and discusses them in the corporate risk committee and
communicates the compiled results to the Management Board.
The analysis of the risk environment also includes determining
the degree of a potential threat to the company’s going con-
cern by aggregating all risks with the aid of a software-
supported risk simulation.

The Management Board and central risk management are
promptly informed of new risks that are estimated to be high or
developinto high risks in order to ensure appropriate responses
(Information regarding the classification of risks as high,
medium and low can be derived from the risk matrix depicted
in the section “Risks" in this chapter). The effectiveness of the
risk management system is monitored by the Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board.

In addition to risk reporting, standard reporting to manage-
ment is an important tool for managing and controlling risks, as
well as for taking preventive measures in a timely manner.
Therefore, our Management Board is informed on a monthly
basis about the industry situation, our operating and non-oper-
ating business, and the outcome of analyses of our earnings
and financial position, as well as of the assets position on a
quarterly basis.

The Global Internal Audit department is regularly informed
about the results of the risk management system. This depart-
ment determines risk focus areas and audits a selected number
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of our departments, subsidiaries and information technology
(IT) applications worldwide each year. Determined risk focus
areas are audited across all business segments. The department
works according to the internationally accepted standards of the
Institute of Internal Auditors, which was confirmed by a quality
assessment in 2022. The next quality assessment is planned for
2027. The scope of internal auditing is widespread and involves,
among other activities, periodic assessment of the effectiveness
of controls (including legal compliance controls) over business
processes, IT security, the reliability of financial reporting and

compliance with accounting regulations and internal policies.
Since 2021, Global Internal Audit is also conducting third-party
audits of selected sales intermediaries in order to give assurance
that business transactions with Fresenius Medical Care products
are in accordance with applicable compliance standards. Our
locations and units to be audited are determined annually on the
basis of a selection model taking various risks into consider-
ation. This annual audit plan is reviewed and approved by the
Management Board and the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Supervisory Board. All audit reports with
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material observations are presented to the Management Board.
The Global Internal Audit department is also responsible for
monitoring the implementation of measures mitigating identi-
fied deficiencies. The Management Board is informed about the
mitigation status on a quarterly basis. The Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board is also
informed of the audit results. Due to COVID-19, the Global Inter-
nal Audit department suspended on-site audits from March
2020 onwards and conducted all audits remotely. In 2022, a total
of 26 audits and 24 sales intermediary audits were carried out.
Risk focus areas were compliance and cybersecurity.

Nevertheless, it is important to note that a functioning and
adequate risk management system cannot guarantee that all
risks are fully identified and controlled.

Internal control system'

Our internal control system aims on mitigating risks within var-
ious business processes by efficient and effective control
mechanisms to ensure that business processes are reliable and
that the related objectives are being met. The scope of our
internal control system is not only limited to financial reporting
processes to ensure that also compliance-related risks and
operational business risks are being addressed by appropriate
internal controls.

Our internal control system is oriented on the requirements of the
internationally recognized “Internal Control - Integrated Frame-
work (2013)" that has been published by COSO. The internal con-
trol system is divided into five components: control environment,
risk assessment, control activities, information and communica-
tion, as well as the monitoring of the internal control system. Each
of these components is regularly documented and assessed.

! The disclosures in this paragraph are so-called non-management report disclosures.
Therefore, these are unaudited.
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The ultimate responsibility for the implementation of an adequate
and effective internal control system lies with the Management
Board of Fresenius Medical Care. The Management Board has
instructed several functions within Fresenius Medical Care to take
care of the implementation of an internal control system within
their area of responsibility and to apply a global internal control
governance for the respective internal controls. Monitoring and
reporting mechanisms exist to provide updates regarding the sta-
tus of the internal control system towards the Management Board
as well as the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Supervisory Board. On top of that internal controls are also
subject to audit activities by the Global Internal Audit depart-
ment, which communicates audit results to the respective audit
subjects (for example country organizations, global functions)
and to the Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care.

Depending on the risks within the business processes and the
underlying process design, controls vary in terms of their
design and control requirements. Control issues identified via
control testing activities may also require adaptions of the
underlying controls. Controls within finance and finance related
processes look different from compliance controls or controls
within operational business processes. However, a sufficient
risk mitigation is always the primary focus for all our controls
that we have across our organization. Typical control types
(non exhaustive listing is provided here) that are in use within
Fresenius Medical Care are related to preventive approvals of
business transactions, detective management reviews, organi-
zational control measures (for example segregation of duties),
IT related control procedures (for example system back-ups or
user access review) or quality/safety checks within operational
business processes (for example within our production facilities
or our clinics). Besides the before mentioned control activities,
Fresenius Medical Care currently has internal controls in place
with respect to certain sustainability-related objectives, for
instance those for the measurement of the target achievement
of the Management Board members with respect to their short-
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term incentive compensation. In the reporting year these con-
trols referred to quality criteria defined in the methodology of
the Global Sustainability Program, including requirements for
data provider and data validator roles, final review and external
assessment.

Our internal control system is subject to constant change and
improvement to reflect changes within our organization, our busi-
ness processes and also the external environment that we are
operating in.

Similar to our risk management system there are inherent lim-
itations to our internal control system, meaning that there is no
absolute guarantee that all risks within the various business
processes are 100% effectively mitigated and that respective
objectives will be fully met.

Fresenius Medical Care has implemented several monitoring
and reporting mechanisms to update the Management Board
and the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Supervisory Board about the status of its risk management
system and internal control system. Based on this the Manage-
ment Board has no indication that the risk management system
and internal control system were not appropriate or not effec-
tive as of December 31, 2022.

Internal control system over financial reporting

Our internal control system over financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of the Company'’s finan-
cial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance
with IFRS as issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU Com-
mission. Our internal reporting process is designed for the reli-
able recording, processing and control of financial data and key
figures. Figures and data are compared and discussed reqgularly
on a monthly and quarterly basis with the previous year's val-
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ues, budget targets and the latest projections. In addition, the
Management Board and the departments responsible for pre-
paring the consolidated financial statements discuss all param-
eters, assumptions and estimates that substantially affect the
externally reported consolidated and segment results. The
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Super-
visory Board also reviews current quarterly results and com-
pares them with budgets and projections.

The internal control system contains guidelines and instruc-
tions designed for the appropriate and accurate recording and
presentation of Company transactions.

Further control mechanisms aimed at achieving reliable finan-
cial reporting and correct recording of transactions within the
accounting and the consolidation process include automated
and manual reconciliations, as well as the separation of certain
personnel functions to prevent potential conflicts of interest.
Furthermore, several preventive approval steps as well as
detective plausibility checks are in place in various core finance
and finance-related processes to ensure correct financial
reporting. All process owners identify and assess the risks of
their respective processes in terms of the implications for
accounting and financial reporting. These process owners also
determine that corresponding controls are in place to minimize
these risks. Changes to accounting standards are discussed on
an ongoing basis and considered in the preparation of the
financial statements. Employees responsible for financial
reporting are provided with regular training regarding changes
in accounting standards. The consolidation is performed by a
central department. The basis for the consolidation is derived
from reporting packages and sub-group consolidated financial
statements prepared and submitted by local group entities. The
preparation of reporting packages and sub-group consolidated
financial statements is performed according to central require-
ments and guidelines.
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As we are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange, it is
required to adhere to the requirements of the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (SOX). Section 404 of this federal law stipulates that
management of companies listed in the U.S. are responsible for
implementing and adhering to an effective internal control sys-
tem to produce reliable financial reporting. A yearly scoping
takes place to determine entities, processes and controls which
are subject to SOX requirements. The design and operating
effectiveness of the internal control system over financial
reporting are routinely tested and considered in regular internal
audits. Control testing results are being regularly discussed with
the respective stakeholders and remediation of control defi-
ciencies is monitored. These criteria are also included in the
annual audit by our independent registered public accounting
firm. A quarterly certification process has been implemented as
a formal accountability and responsibility mechanism for coun-
tries, regions, shared services centers as well as corporate enti-
ties which aims at the accuracy of financial reporting and the
associated disclosure controls and procedures.

Our review of the internal control system over financial report-
ing complies with a specific SEC guideline (Guidance Regarding
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting) and is conducted with software support. Initially,
regional internal control teams coordinate the assessment of
the controls in each region, after which the results are consoli-
dated for the whole Group. Based upon this assessment, man-
agement evaluates the effectiveness of the internal control
system for the current fiscal year. External advisers are con-
sulted as needed. A corporate steering committee meets sev-
eral times a year to review reqgulatory developments and
changes of relevant internal control requirements, to discuss
possible control deficiencies, and derive further measures. In
addition, in its meetings, the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Supervisory Board is informed regularly of
the results of management's assessment.
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As of December 31, 2022, management assessed our internal
control system over financial reporting and determined that
our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Internal control systems over financial reporting are subject to
inherent limitations, irrespective of how carefully these sys-
tems are designed. As a result, there is no absolute assurance
that financial reporting objectives can be met, nor that mis-
statements will always be prevented or detected.

Compliance Management System?

We have a global compliance program that consists of key pil-
lars of prevention, detection and correction to ensure we
operate our business in accordance with the law and internal
guidelines.

We prevent compliance violations through written policies and
procedures, engagement of compliance officers across our
organization and oversight committees, and ongoing compli-
ance trainings. We detect compliance issues through open lines
of communication, investigations, as well as ongoing monitor-
ing and reviews. We ensure appropriate corrective action, when
necessary, through disciplinary committees.

Compliance controls, such as third-party due diligence, vendor
and customer transaction monitoring as well as invoice reviews
are key to preventing and detecting compliance issues and are
embedded throughout our organization.

All employees follow a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
that covers key areas including patient care, product and ser-
vice quality, anti-corruption and anti-bribery, health and safety,
data privacy, supplier conduct, and human rights. Our compli-

2 The disclosures in this paragraph are so-called non-management report disclosures.
Therefore, these are unaudited.
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ance program has systems and processes in place to continu-
ally monitor and evaluate compliance risks, identify non-com-
pliance risks early, and mitigate and correct breaches. Each
business routinely conducts risks assessments to create trans-
parency and work plans to ensure continued compliance. The
results of the compliance risk assessments are also reflected in
our enterprise risk management system.

Oversight of our compliance program is monitored and key
findings are reviewed by our Management Board and the Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee of the Supervisory
Board. In addition, senior leaders participate in Global Compli-
ance Oversight Committee meetings, dedicated to reviewing
the effectiveness of the compliance program.

We are continuously adapting and aiming to improve our com-
pliance program and processes.

Risks

The following section describes significant risks which could
have an impact on our business operations. In the course of the
risk assessment an estimation of the risks takes place regard-
ing the likelihood of occurrence and the potential impact in the
respective assessment period, allowing a prioritization of the
risks into the classifications low, medium and high. Besides
quantitative factors, qualitative factors are also applied when
assessing the potential impact of a risk. For the identification of
strategic developments, besides the short-term consideration
(one year), risks can also be assessed in terms of a mid-term
effect within five years.

The scales for classification of potential impact and likelihood
as well as the localization of the risks within the risk matrix are
depicted in CHART 2.36 ON PAGE 63.
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c2.36 RISKS WITH POTENTIAL SHORT-TERM EFFECT (ONE YEAR) AND MID-TERM EFFECT (BETWEEN ONE AND FIVE YEARS)

-

12,13,19

"6?; % 17,18, 21, 22 4;;'0'21‘2'
RISK AREA
1 Regqulatory environment 13 Personnel
2 Quality 14 Corruption and Fraud
3 U.S. federal health care programs 15 Information systems and business processes
4 Composition of our customer base 16 Liquidity and financing
5 Reimbursement by private insurers 17 Currencies and interests
6 Health care reforms 18 Litigation and potential exposures
7 Growth 19 Taxes
8 Competitors 20 Global operations
9 Research and development 21 Unpredictable events
10 Intellectual Property 22 Global economic conditions and disruptions in financial markets
11 Referral practices 23 COVID-19
12 Procurement 24 ESG requirements

low risk . medium risk mmm high risk

' Likelihood: unlikely: O to 10 %, possible: > 10 to 50 %, likely: > 50 to 90 %, almost certain: > 90 to 100 %.
2 Potential impact: low: small negative impact, medium: moderate negative impact, major: significant negative impact,

severe: material negative impact.
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The adjacent depicted risk areas as well as mitigating measures
within these areas are described in the following section.

Sector-specific risks
Regulatory environment, product quality

Our operations in both health care services business and prod-
ucts business are subject to extensive governmental regulation
in virtually every country in which we operate. We are also sub-
ject to other laws of general applicability, including anti-trust
laws. The applicable regulations, which differ from country to
country, cover areas that include:

> the quality, safety and efficacy of medical and pharma-
ceutical products and supplies;

» regulatory approvals and oversight of clinical and certain
non-clinical research and development activities;

> product approvals and requlatory approvals for new prod-
ucts or product improvements;

> the operation and licensure of manufacturing facilities, labo-
ratories, dialysis clinics, ambulatory surgery centers and
other health care facilities;

» audits and reviews by enforcement authorities, including the
Food and Drug Administration (FDA), for compliance with
applicable drug regulations;

» product labeling, advertising and other promotion;

» accurate reporting and billing for government and third-
party reimbursement including accurate and complete med-
ical records to support such billing;

> the discounting of reimbursed drug and medical device
products and the reporting of drug prices to government
authorities;

> limits on our ability to make acquisitions or certain invest-
ments and the terms of those transactions;
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» the collection, dissemination, access, use, security and privacy
of protected health information and other protected data;

> compliance with due diligence, warranty obligations and
product liability rules; and

> compensation of medical directors and other financial
arrangements with physicians and other referral sources.

In addition to the risks from non-compliance with the regula-
tory environment, as a manufacturing company we face the
risk that products, as a result of unsuitable product designs or
issues in the production process, do not fulfill our standards of
quality and could lead to the possibility of not achieving
expected treatment results which may result in product recalls
that might lead to significant adverse financial results or repu-
tational damage.

If we fail to comply with one or more of these laws or regulations
or incur a quality incident, this may give rise to a number of
adverse legal and financial consequences. These include, in par-
ticular, loss or suspension of governmental certifications, loss or
suspension of licenses under the laws of governmental authority
from which we generate substantial revenues, monetary and
administrative penalties, recall actions and claims for damages,
statutory or requlatory shipping holds, increased costs for com-
pliance with government orders, complete or partial exclusion
from government reimbursement programs, refunds of pay-
ments received from government payors and government health
care program beneficiaries due to any failures to meet appli-
cable requirements or complete or partial curtailment of our
authority to conduct business. In the end, these types of risks
may no longer be insurable. Including the considerable costs of
legal defense, all the consequences mentioned above could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations
and financial condition.
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A number of the health care businesses in the U.S., that the
Company operates, is owned or managed by entities in which
one or more hospitals, physicians or physician practice groups
hold an interest. We also have arrangements with physician
practices to collaborate on our value and risk-based care pro-
grams with public and private payors. While the Company has
structured its arrangements with physicians to comply with
many of the criteria for safe harbor protection and waivers
under the federal and state Anti-Kickback Statutes as well as
other state fraud and abuse laws, its arrangements do not
always satisfy all elements of such safe harbor. If one or more
of our arrangements, including value and risk-based care pro-
grams, were found to be in violation of the Anti-Kickback
Statute, the Stark Law or analogous state laws, or other similar
laws worldwide, we could be required to restructure or termi-
nate them. We also could be required to repay to Medicare,
Medicaid as well as other federal health care program amounts
pursuant to any prohibited referrals, and we could be subject to
monetary penalties and exclusion from federal and state health
care programs. Imposition of any of these penalties could have
a material adverse impact on our business, results of opera-
tions and financial condition.

Compliance programs implemented in the regions reduce the risk
of legal violations by providing general and specific rules of con-
duct and procedures as well as regular training of the employees
according to the relevant specifications. To ensure that our prod-
ucts and services comply with the quality requirements, we imple-
mented quality management systems in the different regions.
The employees have access to procedures and work instructions
to ensure that the applicable quality requirements are met. In
addition, we conduct internal reviews of the production sites and
clinics to monitor compliance with quality standards of our prod-
ucts and services. Regulatory initiatives and changes are closely
monitored in order to quickly adapt to new regulations.
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U.S. federal health care programs

As stated in the report in section “Macroeconomic and sec-
tor-specific environment” in the chapter “Economic Report”,
our dialysis clinics in the US participate in the QIP within the
ESRD PPS. Payment reductions of up to 2% of Medicare reim-
bursements can be made if the quality standards of the QIP are
not met in the clinics. Should we fail to meet the QIP's minimum
requirements to a greater extent, this could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

Through our value and risk-based care programs, we assume the
risk of both medical and administrative costs for certain patients
in return for fixed periodic payments or potential reimburse-
ment based on our achievement against set benchmark targets
from governmental and commercial insurers. We currently par-
ticipate in the CKCC model as well as in remuneration agree-
ments with insurers. (Details and detailed descriptions of the
above mentioned and other programs in which we participate
can be found in the report in section “Macroeconomic and
sector-specific environment” in the chapter “Economic Report”).

The profitability in our value and risk-based care programs is
dependent in part upon our ability to negotiate favorable
financial terms, to manage a patient's care, to collaborate with
our payor partners, to coordinate with other health care pro-
viders, to accurately document patients’ health conditions for
risk adjustment, and to find cost efficient, medically appropri-
ate sites of service for our patients. Any failure to do so would
limit our ability to improve the quality of patient care and
health outcomes and to reduce medically unnecessary costs,
which could lead to poorer performance under value and risk-
based care programs.
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The reserves that we establish in connection with the operation
of our value and risk-based care programs as well as estima-
tions of the amount of revenues from health care services that
we recognize in a reporting period are based upon assumptions
and judgments concerning a number of factors which are sub-
ject to uncertainties. Those factors include trends in health
care costs, expenses, patient hospitalization rates, the compli-
cated billing and collection process, complex and changing laws
and reqgulations subject to interpretation, determination of pri-
mary and secondary insurance coverage and other factors.
Additionally, collections, refunds and payor retractions may
continue to occur for up to three years or longer after services
are provided. To the extent the actual claims experience is less
favorable than estimated based on our underlying assump-
tions, the timing and amount of our recognition of revenues as
well as future earnings could be adversely affected or incurred
losses could increase.

CMS relied on authority granted by the ACA to implement the
CKCC model and seeks to deliver better health outcomes for
ESRD patients while lowering CMS' costs. We applied, and were
accepted, for participation in CMS' CKCC model. The implemen-
tation period for the CKCC model began on October 15, 2020,
on a no-risk basis, and we began participation in the first per-
formance year of the CKCC model on January 1, 2022, at which
time each participating entity assumed financial risk. We do not
yet know whether we and our partners will be able to deliver
better health outcomes while lowering CMS' costs.

We cannot give any assurance that we will achieve the cost sav-
ings required or contemplated by these programs, which could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results. In addi-
tion, we may experience higher write-offs of Medicare deduct-
ibles and other cost-sharing amounts due to secondary unin-
sured and underinsured patients, resulting in an increase in
uncollectible accounts.
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We mitigated the impact of the ESRD PPS and the other legis-
lative initiatives referenced above with two broad measures.
First, we work with medical directors and treating physicians to
make clinical protocol changes used in treating patients con-
sistent with the QIP and good clinical practices, and we negoti-
ate pharmaceutical acquisition cost savings. In addition, we
achieved greater efficiencies and better patient outcomes by
introducing new initiatives to improve patient care upon initia-
tion of dialysis, increase the percentage of patients using home
therapies and achieve additional cost reductions in its clinics.

Moreover, constantly refined actuarial models are used to esti-
mate revenues and as a basis for a monitoring process that
evaluates actual experience and allows to develop interven-
tions for at risk patients to reduce hospitalizations and other
potentially avoidable medical expense, to improve quality out-
comes and to deliver reductions in total population cost of care.

Composition of our customer base

Our health care product business and our dialysis services busi-
ness differ across the regions in which we operate. In many cases,
our products and services are paid, either directly or indirectly, by
government institutions. We believe the risk of default from a
government payor is generally low to moderate worldwide. How-
ever, particularly in the event of a government shutdown signifi-
cant payment delays could result even if it does not create a
default. On a country level, the payor base is characterized by dis-
tinct customer or payor groups which can range in volume from a
few customers to a considerable amount of customer types which
have varying levels of risk associated with default or non-payment
of receivables as well as risks for dependencies based upon the
competition within low volume customer base environments. In
certain cases, a resulting dependency on the payment behavior
and decision-making of our business partners can affect the col-
lectability of accounts receivable and can adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Our measures aim to mitigate these risks by actively negotiating
long-term contracts with major customers, targeted marketing
activities, developing new product and pricing models as well as
improving the quality of our services and products. In addition,
outstanding receivables are closely monitored and followed up
as part of a comprehensive receivables management system.

Reimbursement by private insurers

In the U.S. a portion of the dialysis treatments is reimbursed by
private insurers and integrated care organizations; these reim-
bursements are in general higher than the reimbursements of the
public health care systems. As a result, the payments we receive
from private payors contribute a substantial portion of our profit.
In 2022, approximately 43% of our consolidated Health Care ser-
vices revenue were attributable to private payors in the North
America Segment. If these payors succeed in lowering reimburse-
ment rates in the USA, change the extent or conditions of their
networks or if the portion of reimbursements by private insurers
in general drops, this could result in a significant reduction in our
revenue and operating profit. A portion of our business that is
currently reimbursed by private insurers or hospitals may become
reimbursed by integrated care organizations, which may use pay-
ment methodologies that reduce reimbursement for our services.

Furthermore, the U.S. Supreme Court's recent ruling in Mari-
etta Memorial Hospital Employee Health Benefit Plan v. DaVita
Inc. will make it easier for health plans to design plan benefits
for Medicare eligible ESKD patients in a way that makes private
health insurance relatively less attractive to ESKD patients and
Medicare relatively more attractive. As a result, potential
efforts by employer group health plans and commercial insur-
ers to make dialysis reimbursement payments at a lower “out-
of-network” rate may reduce reimbursement for our services
or eliminate reimbursement for some of our services, particu-
larly if the U.S. Congress fails to enact proposed legislation that
would reverse the effects of that decision.
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In addition, as of January 1, 2021, for the first time, all ESRD
patients are eligible to enroll in Medicare Advantage plans. As a
result, some patients with commercial coverage, may elect to
move to Medicare Advantage plans which generally pay less
than other commercial plans.

A portion of our patients who are currently covered by private
insurers may be unable to continue to pay the premiums and
may become uninsured for dialysis services or elect to transi-
tion to government funded reimbursement programs that
reimburse us at lower rates for our services if legislative or reg-
ulatory efforts to restrict or eliminate the charitable funding of
patient insurance premiums are successful.

In addition, the health care insurance industry is experiencing
continuing consolidation among insurers and pharmacy benefit
managers, including increasing buyer power and impacts on
referral streams. This may have an adverse impact on our abil-
ity to negotiate favorable coverage terms and commercially
reasonable rates with such insurers.

We monitor the relationships with private health insurance
companies continuously and try to hedge the business through
long-term contracts to maintain profitability.

Health care reforms

A number of governments have been considering proposals to
modify their current health care systems to improve quality of
and access to health care and to control costs. Policymakers in
several countries are also considering reforms that could change
the methodology used to reimburse providers of health care
services. Furthermore, standards and requlations compulsory
for providing dialysis service can be subject to extensive changes.

In fiscal year 2022, we derived approximately 26% of our
worldwide revenue from Medicare and Medicaid reimburse-
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ments in the U.S. Consequently, changes in legislation, inter-
pretation of government regulations by the courts or reim-
bursement practices regarding for example the End-Stage
Renal Disease Prospective Payment System (ESRD PPS), the
Physician Fee Schedule, the Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule,
and the Ambulatory Surgical Center Payment System could
influence the volume of Medicare and Medicaid reimburse-
ments for services provided and the insurance coverage.
Spending cuts pursuant to U.S. sequestration have also
adversely affected our operating results in the past and, with
the suspension during the Covid-19 pandemic having been
lifted, will continue to do so. Additionally, the termination of the
public health emergency in the U.S. originally declared in Janu-
ary 2020 with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic or state termi-
nation of Medicaid coverage that was expanded during the pub-
lic health emergency, among other consequences, could reduce
Medicaid coverage for many Americans, resulting in anincrease
in the uninsured dialysis patient population.

A decrease in reimbursement rates, covered services or
changes to standards, regulations or state funding in countries
in which the Group operates, especially significant changes in
the U.S. Medicare and Medicaid programs could reduce our rev-
enue and profitability and have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In this context it might happen that the annually adjusted ESRD
PPS rates may not provide fully compensating reimbursement
for the services or products consumed during service. This
especially refers to the reimbursement of pharmaceuticals
depending on their status as outside of or as part of the bun-
dled rate. Pharmaceuticals included within the bundled rate
are subjected to increased reimbursement pressure. If we are
unable to secure appropriate reimbursement arrangements for
the pharmaceuticals we provide in our dialysis clinics, we could
experience a material adverse effect on our operating results.
Further, an increased utilization of bundled pharmaceuticals or
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decreases in reimbursement for pharmaceuticals outside the
bundled rate may result in a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.

In the U.S., the previous administration publicly announced its
intention to pursue significant changes to existing health care
insurance programs. That administration's efforts to repeal or
replace the ACA were unsuccessful and the current U.S. Admin-
istration has stated its intention to maintain and strengthen the
ACA. In addition, options to restructure the Medicare program
in the direction of a defined-contribution, premium support
model and to shift Medicaid funding to a block grant or per cap-
ita arrangement, with greater flexibility for the states, are also
being considered.

In October 2017, the U.S. administration discontinued making
cost-sharing reduction (CSR) reimbursements to insurers, argu-
ing that Congress had failed to appropriate funding for them. In
response, many state departments of insurance (DOIs) either
allowed or required insurers to mitigate their losses by increas-
ing the 2018 premiums on their ACA plans. Many insurers also
mitigated the impact to themselves by “silver loading”, a prac-
tice whereby the premiums for silver-level plans, which are the
most common health care plans under the ACA, were increased
to offset the loss of CSR payments. Silver loading may also have
mitigated the impact of premium increases to some low-income
consumers by increasing their premium tax credits. In 2019 and
2020, all states either permitted or required silver loading. In
2017, several insurers sued the U.S. federal government to rein-
state CSR payments. On June 21, 2021, the U.S. Supreme Court
denied requests from multiple insurers to review lower court
decisions that held they were not entitled to full unpaid CSR
payments. As a result, insurers are entitled to the unpaid CSRs,
but the total amount they are owed must be offset by any excess
premium tax credits received from premium increases for 2018
and beyond. The Biden Administration’s budget request to Con-
gress for FY 2023 included appropriations for CSR payments,
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although the Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2023, which
will fund the federal government during FY 2023, did not include
specific CSR appropriations and we cannot predict, the extent
to which silver loading will continue or how the ongoing litiga-
tion over the U.S. federal government's obligation to pay the
CSRs might be resolved. As a result, a reduction in the availabil-
ity of insurance through insurance exchanges established by
the ACA could reduce the number of our commercially insured
patients and shift such patients to Medicare and Medicaid.

Challenges of this nature could have significant effects on our
businesses, both positive and negative, but the outcomes are
impossible to predict.

We closely monitor legislative and regulatory developments
affecting the Company'’s businesses so that we are positioned
to act proactively as needed.

Risks relating to the Company'’s business
Growth

The health care industry experiences continuing consolidation
particularly among health care providers, as well as pressure on
reimbursement and increasing costs, which requires us to iden-
tify both growth opportunities and efficiencies in the way we
operate. Continuing consolidation in our industry could adversely
affect our ability to find suitable acquisition targets and to
increase future growth and product sales. We also compete with
other health care companies in seeking suitable acquisition tar-
gets and developing our core dialysis and non-core businesses.
Our ability to make future acquisitions as well as to develop our
core dialysis and non-core business depends, in part, on the
appropriate strategic target selection, the availability of finan-
cial resources and the current restrictions imposed by competi-
tion laws. The integration of acquired businesses may cause
problems, for example by assuming unknown liabilities, under-
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performance subsequent to integration, associated require-
ments from competition authorities or non-compliant business
practices not disclosed by the seller or not uncovered during due
diligence, any or all of which may result in incurring unantici-
pated costs. Travel restrictions and restrictions on in-person
meetings imposed as precautions to deal with the COVID-19 pan-
demic limit our ability to conduct onsite due diligence, which
could increase the risk that non-compliant business practices or
other problems at companies we acquire will not be detected.

In order to respond to rising costs, especially in the face of eco-
nomic downturns and rising inflation, and to improve growth,
we announced the next stage in the implementation of our
strategy in November 2021: the transformation of our operat-
ing model into a significantly simplified future structure of two
global operating segments embodying a more centralized
approach (FME25 Program). The new global operating model
will enable the further consolidation of general and administra-
tive functions in our Company.

Failure to realize the expected cost savings from the FME25
Program within our announced timeframe could adversely
impact the market for our securities and availability of financ-
ing, which, in addition, could limit our future growth, including
growth in either our revenues or earnings within our health
care services and products businesses. The various effects of
the COVID-19 pandemic as well as an unprecedented labor mar-
ket situation, in particular in the U.S., could increase the uncer-
tainty regarding these estimates and assumptions. Any or all of
these factors generally could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

For further information on the FME25 Program, see the section
“Business Model" in the chapter “Overview of the Group” and
the section “FME25" in the chapter “Outlook".
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Competitors

We face numerous competitors in both our health care services
business and dialysis products business, some of which may
possess substantial financial, marketing or research and devel-
opment resources. Competition from new and existing compet-
itors and especially new competitive developments and innova-
tions in technology, pharmaceuticals and care delivery models
could materially adversely affect the future pricing and sale of
our products and services.

In particular, technological innovation has historically been a
significant competitive factor in the dialysis products business.
The introduction of new products or services by competitors
could qualify them for certain additional payments for new and
innovative equipment or render one or more of our products or
services less competitive or even obsolete, which could also,
among other items, affect our sales and distribution of phar-
maceuticals for which, to some extent, we are obligated to
make certain minimum annual royalty payments.

To ensure our permanent competitiveness, we work closely
together with physicians and scientists. Important technologi-
cal and pharmaceutical innovations are intended to be quickly
identified and further developed, if necessary also by adapting
our business strategy. Moreover, we secure our competitive-
ness by ongoing analyzes of our market environment as well as
the reqgulatory framework. The market activity, especially our
competitors’ products and newly launched dialysis-related
products are thoroughly monitored. The cooperation between
the various technical, medical and academic institutions within
our company also ensures our competitiveness, which is finally
further enhanced by our consequent execution of programs
devoted to cost saving and efficiency increase.
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Research and development

The development of new products and therapies proposes a
risk that the desired development goal will not be achieved or
achieved significantly later than planned. Costly and extensive
preclinical and clinical examinations are necessary until admis-
sion. All products, packaging, applications and technologies are
constantly and systematically monitored, tested and improved.
We address potential risks in the area of research and develop-
ment (R&D) by continually analyzing, evaluating and assessing
whether the R&D projects fit into our overall strategy. As a ver-
tically integrated company, we also benefit from direct contact
with our patients and medical professionals. Due to this close
proximity to the market, we have the potential to gather import-
ant information to develop and offer products and therapies
that meet the needs of our customers.

Referral practices

In providing services within our health care business, we
depend upon patients choosing our health care facilities as the
location for their care. Patients may select a facility based, in
whole or in part, on the recommendation of their physician.
Physicians and other clinicians typically consider a number of
factors when recommending a particular dialysis facility, dialy-
sis home program, pharmacy, physician practice, vascular sur-
gery center or cardiac catheterization center to an ESRD
patient, including, the quality of care, the competency of staff,
convenient scheduling, location and physical condition. Physi-
cians may change their recommendations, which may result in
the movement of new or existing patients to competing facili-
ties, including facilities established by the physicians them-
selves. At most of our dialysis clinics and home programs, a rel-
atively small number of physicians often account for the
referral of all or a significant portion of the patient base. We
have no ability to control these recommendations and refer-
rals. If a significant number of physicians or other referral
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sources cease referring their patients to our facilities and home
programs or stop purchasing or prescribing our dialysis prod-
ucts, this would reduce our health care revenue and could
materially adversely affect our overall operations.

Intellectual property

One of the typical intellectual property risks faced by us is inad-
equate protection of sensitive knowledge in the form of patents
for technologies and products we developed. This means that
competitors could copy our products without incurring compa-
rable development costs. Moreover, a loss of sensitive knowl-
edge could occur due to industrial spying or insufficient
employee-non-compete restrictions. In addition, certain coun-
tries in which we market, manufacture or sell our products do
not have laws which protect our intellectual property to the
same degree as those in the U.S. or elsewhere and our compet-
itors may gain market position by designing products that
infringe upon our intellectual property rights. An inadequate
protection of our intellectual property could have an adverse
impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we could infringe the patent of a competitor and
thus be liable for damages; this could result in a ban on us fur-
ther selling the affected product.

We mitigate the risks of inadequate protection of sensitive
knowledge by, among other things, stipulating employee-
compete-restrictions, where necessary, and by reviewing and
controlling access to certain information and areas within the
company. To avoid infringing patents of competitors standard-
ized monitoring and assessment processes are in place.

Procurement

Our business is dependent on the reliable supply of several raw
materials and finished components for production and service
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purposes. If we are unable to obtain sufficient quantities of
these materials at times of limited availability of such materi-
als, this could result in delays in production or loss of sales and
hence have an adverse effect on our results of operations. The
Ukraine War has increased both the likelihood and potential
impact of these risks and exposures to varying degrees. In par-
ticular, the current, significant macroeconomic inflationary
environment, including materially increasing energy prices, has
resulted in and could continue to lead to, among other conse-
guences, material increases in costs for energy, supplies and
transportation. Our implemented countermeasures may not
offset a significant increase in prices which could result in an
adverse effect on our results of operations going forward. A
continued disruption or discontinuation of energy supplies, for
example from Russia, may increase these impacts and could
have additional material adverse effects on our business such
as a potential closure of certain of our production sites or sig-
nificantly increased costs incurred due to a switch to alterna-
tive energy sources. These disruptions in supply, coupled with
labor shortages, labor cost increases and heightened COVID-19-
related employee absenteeism and turnover, have resulted and
could continue to result in a negative impact on our business
which may also expose us to legal liability in the delivery of our
goods and services. Similarly, price increases by suppliers
(including inflation impacts) and the inability to access new
products or technology could also adversely affect our results
of operations. In certain necessary cases products are obtained
from a sole supplier. A failure of such a supplier could adversely
affect our ability to manufacture, distribute or sell our products
in a timely or cost-effective manner. Due to the stringent regu-
lations and requirements of requlatory agencies we may not be
able to quickly establish additional or replacement sources.

Our purchasing strategy is aimed at developing partnerships
with strategic suppliers through long-term contracts and at the
same time ensuring, where reasonably practicable, that we
have at least two sources for all supply and price-critical
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primary products (dual sourcing, multiple sourcing). To prevent
loss of suppliers, we monitor our supplier relationships on a
regular basis. Suppliers which are integral to our procurement
functions are also subject to performance and risk analyses as
well as continuous supply chain monitoring. Through our cost
monitoring and cost savings initiatives, including inventory
management, constant market analyses, a demands-based
design of supplier-relationships and -contracts, as well as the
use of financial instruments, we seek to mitigate disruptive
goods shortages and potential price increases and to provide
access to new product and technology developments.

Personnel

Our continued growth in the health care business will depend
upon the ability to attract and retain a skilled workforce, includ-
ing highly skilled nurses, technicians and other medical person-
nel. We have seen unprecedented challenges in the labor mar-
ket, in particular in the U.S., which continue to impact our
growth, specifically in U.S. health care services where labor con-
straints have affected our ability to increase treatment vol-
umes. Our health care products business depends on the devel-
opment of new products, technologies and treatment concepts
to be competitive, and for that we need to attract the best and
most talented people, especially in research and development.
Competition for those employees is intense and shortages for
these sought-after employees, such as nurses or skilled engi-
neers and research and development personnel as well as
increased reliance on contracted nurses and other personnel,
have increased our personnel and recruiting costs and may con-
tinue to do so and/or could impair our reputation for production
of technologically advanced products. Greater employee absen-
teeism, turnover and longer recruiting cycles as an effect from
the COVID-19 pandemic further contributed and may continue
to contribute to the experienced shortages in personnel as well
as the increased personnel costs. Additionally, evolving guide-
lines and requirements regarding vaccine mandates for our
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employees may have an impact on our ability to attract and
retain qualified clinical personnel. Moreover, we consider that
future success in the provider business depends on the ability to
attract and retain qualified physicians to serve as employees of
or consultants to our health care services businesses. In addi-
tion, effective execution of our strategy will depend upon our
ability to attract suitable candidates for leadership roles, includ-
ing open positions in our executive leadership team.

Additionally, in recruiting, employing and retaining personnel
we may be exposed to increasing risks relating to various labor
and staffing laws, legislative, union or other labor-related activ-
ities or changes. These factors could also impact the integra-
tion of acquired companies into our operations, which could
increase our costs, decrease our productivity and prevent us
from realizing synergies from acquisitions. If we are unable to
manage the risks mentioned, then our growth and results of
operations could be adversely impacted.

We address potential risks in the area of Personnel by further
developing our recruiting and retention strategies, by continu-
ing our training and development measures for employees and
by having an adequate succession planning in place.

Corruption and fraud

We operate many facilities and engage with other business
associates to help us carry out our health care activities. In
such widespread, global operations, it is difficult to maintain
the desired level of oversight and control over the thousands of
persons employed by many affiliated companies and its busi-
ness associates. Training, oversight and compliance programs
cannot ensure protection from deliberate, reckless or inadver-
tent acts of employees or third-party intermediaries that
violate our compliance policies or anti-corruption laws. Such
violations could disrupt our business and result in a material
adverse effect on results of operations or financial condition.
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Beginning in 2012, we received certain communications alleg-
ing conduct in countries outside the United States that might
violate the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) or other
anti-bribery laws. We conducted investigations with the assis-
tance of outside counsel and, in a continuing dialogue, advised
the SEC and the United States Department of Justice (DOJ)
about these investigations. The DOJ and the SEC also con-
ducted their own investigations, in which we cooperated.

In the course of this dialogue, we identified and reported to the
DOJ and the SEC, and took remedial actions with respect to,
conduct that resulted in the DOJ and the SEC seeking mone-
tary penalties including disgorgement of profits and other rem-
edies. This conduct revolved principally around the Company's
products business in countries outside the United States. On
March 29, 2019, we entered into a non-prosecution agreement
with the DOJ and a separate agreement with the SEC intended
to resolve fully and finally the U.S. government allegations
against us arising from the investigations. The Monitor certi-
fied to our implementation of an effective anti-corruption com-
pliance program on December 30, 2022, and submitted her
final certification report on January 31, 2023. Subject to a
review of that report, the DOJ and SEC will accept or reject the
Monitor's certification. Assuming certification is accepted, the
non-prosecution agreement and SEC Order are expected to ter-
minate on March 31, 2023.

In 2015, we self-reported to the German prosecutor conduct
with a potential nexus to Germany and continued to cooperate
with government authorities in Germany in their review of the
conduct that prompted our and the United States government
investigations.

Since 2012, we have made and continue to make further signif-
icant investments in our compliance and financial controls and
in our compliance, legal and financial organizations. Our reme-
dial actions included separation from those employees respon-
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sible for the above-mentioned conduct. We are dealing with
post-FCPA review matters on various levels. We continue to be
fully committed to compliance with the FCPA and other appli-
cable anti-bribery laws.

Further information on these investigations can be found in
NOTE 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Information systems and business processes

As we continue to grow and introduce more international oper-
ations, our processes are increasingly complex. Accordingly, we
are more and more dependent on information and communica-
tion technologies and -systems to structure our processes and
harmonize them between different regions. An insufficient
design of those systems and business processes as well as
insufficient resources could lead to non-availability of certain
information, causing inefficient workflows, deficient internal
and external communication and intransparencies regarding
operations. A breakdown of these systems could temporarily
lead to standstill of parts of our provider and product business
and consequently cause heavy damages.

Additionally, cyber-attacks or privacy and data breaches
regarding both our internal systems as well as systems of third-
party service providers could result in the misappropriation or
compromise of sensitive information. We and our third-party
service providers gather and handle sensitive personal infor-
mation of our patients as well as financial data in many regions
of the world and thus need to adhere to various data protection
and privacy regulations. Increased reliance on, and utilization
of, telemedicine for delivery of health care services could also
increase this risk. Furthermore, the intensified political con-
frontation with Russia as a result of the Russian invasion of
Ukraine has increased the risk of cyber-attacks against our sys-
tems and data. Any loss, impermissible use, access or disclo-
sure of this sensitive information or non-compliance with data
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protection and privacy related laws, requlations and standards
could threat our position in competition, our reputation as well
as our ability to continue normal operations.

Our IT systems have been attacked in the past, resulting, in one
case, in certain patient data being illegally published. When
appropriate, we have filed complaints against the unknown
attackers with the relevant authorities and we contacted the
patients who were affected by the illegal data publication as
well as other relevant regulatory agencies and stakeholders.
Furthermore, we intensified our efforts to implement response
measures, which include for example network monitoring for
suspicious activity, endpoint threat protection and improve-
ments in the back-up and data loss recovery plans. There was
no material impact to the financial condition and results of
operations as a result of these attacks.

Using our Information Security Management System (ISMS),
which is based on the internationally recognized security stan-
dard ISO 27002, our security guidelines and processes are
enhanced continuously. Business data is backed up regularly
and disaster recovery plans, which are regularly tested and
improved, are in place. We operate data centers at geographi-
cally separate locations to maximize the availability and data
security of IT systems. A mirrored infrastructure that creates a
copy of critical systems is in use. In general, we continue to
enhance our internal information and reporting systems to
ensure that their structure meets evolving needs. In addition, a
comprehensive IT and cybersecurity strategy has been estab-
lished with an implementation plan of initiatives to address
gaps and improve our overall cybersecurity risk posture.

Furthermore, among others, company guidelines relating to
data protection and privacy, which also regulate the assign-
ment of access rights and third-party collaboration, must be
considered, trainings for employees are conducted and gover-
nance structures are continuously adapted. Compliance is
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monitored with controls including those relating to Section
404 of SOX. Operational and security audits are carried out
every year both internally and by external auditors.

The existing IT security architecture with different layers of
security measures protects the systems in our data centers.
The access to sensitive or critical data from outside of the
secured data center networks is protected by the usage of
secure protocols and cryptographic measures. Besides that,
annual penetration tests for applications with critical data (for
example patient or personnel data) are conducted.

Other risks
Liquidity and financing

The liquidity risk is defined as the risk that a company is poten-
tially unable to meet its financial obligations or to fund other pur-
poses. Our Management Board manages the liquidity of the Group
by means of effective working capital and cash management as
well as an anticipatory evaluation of refinancing alternatives. Our
Management believes that existing credit facilities, cash flow from
operating activities and additional short-term borrowings are suf-
ficient to meet our foreseeable demand for liquidity.

Furthermore, inadequate indebtedness could jeopardize the
successful execution of our business strategy, increase our vul-
nerability to general adverse economic conditions as well as
limit our ability to maintain our Investment Grade rating and
obtain necessary financing. A deterioration of our current rat-
ing could lead to a reintroduction of financial covenants, could
limit our financial flexibility, increase our financing costs or
limit access to funding. Potential adverse effects described in
other risk areas could increase the possibility of a rating down-
grade. At December 31, 2022, respectively December 31, 2021,
the Group had financial debt and lease liabilities of €13.21 BN
respectively €13.32 BN.
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Our measures aim to mitigate these risks by executing a pru-
dent financial policy that includes the early refinancing of
upcoming maturities, the active and conservative management
of financial headroom and maintaining a balanced debt matu-
rity profile.

Currencies and interests

Geopolitical factors such as the Ukraine War as well as the
impact from hyperinflationary economies in Turkiye, Argentina
and Lebanon, could intensify fluctuations in exchange rates,
currency devaluations, and/or material increases in interest
rates, for example, as a reaction from central banks to high
inflation, any of which could adversely affect profitability.

We actively manage foreign currency and interest rate expo-
sures that are part of our normal business activities. Risk man-
agement procedures for foreign currencies and interest rate
exposures are based on strategies defined and, if necessary,
adapted in close cooperation with the Management Board,
including, for example, guidelines that cover all steps and levels
of the risk management process. They define responsibilities
for the determination of risks, the careful use of financial
instruments for hedging purposes and for accurate financial
reporting. The use of derivative instruments is restricted to
micro hedges which are used in order to hedge exposures that
arise in the ordinary course of business. We do not enter into
transactions for trading or other speculative purposes. We
enter into transactions with banks, which generally have rat-
ings in @ minimum required category or better. The effective-
ness of the hedging relationships of the hedging instruments
and the hedged items is tested on a quarterly basis.

We enter into derivatives, particularly interest rate swaps and
to a certain extent, interest rate options to protect against the
risk of rising interest rates. These interest rate derivatives are
designated as cash flow hedges and have been entered into in

71

order to effectively convert payments based on variable inter-
est rates into payments at a fixed interest rate. On December
31,2022, no interest rate swaps were in place.

Derivative foreign currency contracts are entered into for the
purpose of limiting the exchange rate exposure from sales and
purchases as well as lendings and borrowings between our sub-
sidiaries located in different countries and reporting in differ-
ent currencies. A large portion of the transaction exposures
arise from sales of products from our subsidiaries in the euro
region to other international business units. The aggregate
notional amount of foreign currency hedge contracts as of
December 31, 2022, was €1,613 M, primarily for hedging Euro
exposure to the U.S. dollar and various other currencies. Eco-
nomic hedges, which we use, are accounted for as recognized
hedges in the consolidated financial statements, when neces-
sary.

The estimation and quantification of transaction risks from for-
eign currencies is determined according to the statistical risk
measure Cash Flow at Risk (CFaR). CFaR indicates the maxi-
mum amount of a potential loss of the forecasted foreign
exchange cash flow of the next twelve months that occurs with
a probability of 95%. As of December 31, 2022, our CFaR
amounts to €37.0 M.

To mitigate our counterparty risks we are also monitoring the
probability of default of our counterparties and have constantly
reviewed bank deposit limits in place.

Further information on market, default and liquidity risks is
included in note 23 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Litigation and other exposures

Risks associated with investigations and litigations are contin-
uously identified, assessed and reported within the Company.
We are involved in various legal proceedings and investigations
resulting from our business operations. A negative outcome of
these legal proceedings or investigations leading to legal pro-
ceedings could have an adverse impact on our financial condi-
tion and results of operations.

External legal consulting support is always used to defend us
against risks associated with litigations. If necessary account-
ing measures like accruals are used.

For the matters in which we believe a loss is both reasonably
possible and assessable, an estimate of the loss or range of loss
exposure is provided in NOTE 22 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements. For other proceedings the Com-
pany believes that the loss probability is remote and/or the loss
or range of possible losses cannot be reasonably estimated at
this time.

For details on ongoing proceedings and further information on
material legal risks to which we are exposed, reference is made
to NOTE 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments.

Taxes

We are subject to ongoing tax audits in the U.S., Germany and
other jurisdictions. We could potentially receive notices of unfa-
vorable adjustments and disallowances in connection with cer-
tain of these audits. If we are unsuccessful in contesting unfa-
vorable determinations we could be required to make additional
tax payments, which could have a material adverse impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations in
the relevant reporting period.
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In general, tax-relevant issues are, as necessary, coordinated
with internal tax experts regarding compliance with applicable
tax laws. If necessary, statements and opinions by external con-
sultants are obtained to minimize tax risks. In addition, we
monitor our tax planning strategies to be in line with imple-
mented internal policies and external tax regulations.

Further information on current tax-relevant issues can be
found in NOTE 22 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Global operations

We operate dialysis clinics in around 50 countries and sell a
range of equipment, products and services to customers in
around 150 countries. Our global operations are subject to a
number of risks, including but not limited to the following:

> The economic and political situation in certain countries
could deteriorate, become unstable or lead to armed con-
flicts, as exemplified by the Ukraine War.

> We could face difficulties in enforcing and collecting
accounts receivable under some countries’ legal systems.

» Local requlations could restrict our ability to obtain a direct
ownership interest in dialysis clinics or other operations.

» Some countries or economic unions may impose charges or
restrictions, such as local content requirements, which
restrict the importation of our products; or give local manu-
facturers an advantage in tenders or provide large discounts
to providers for certain purchases of our products;

> Potential increases in tariffs and trade barriers could occur
upon any withdrawal by the United States or other countries
from unions, including the exit from major multilateral trade
agreements or the imposition of sanctions, retaliatory
tariffs and other countermeasures in the wake of trade dis-
putes, geopolitical conflicts and wars in certain regions (for
example the Ukraine War).
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> We could experience transport delays or interruptions.

> International growth and expansion into emerging markets
could cause us difficulty due to greater requlatory barriers
than in the United States or Western Europe, the necessity
of adapting to new regulatory systems, and problems related
to entering new markets with different economic, social,
legal and political systems and conditions.

> We may not prevail in competitive contract tenders.

We conduct humanitarian-related business and provide life-sus-
taining health care products and services directly or indirectly in
sanctioned countries. We believe our humanitarian-related busi-
ness is permitted by applicable sanctions regimes (or, in some
cases is excluded from such regimes), and in light of the human-
itarian nature of our products and services and the patient com-
munities that benefit from our products, we expect to continue
such activities, provided they continue to be permissible under
or excluded from applicable export control and economic sanc-
tions laws and reqgulations. However, violation of applicable eco-
nomic sanctions or export controls laws and regulations, could
subject us to enforcement actions, which vary between jurisdic-
tions and depend on the factual circumstances of the given
violation, but could include criminal penalties, imprisonment of
responsible individuals, administrative or civil penalties,
restricted access to certain markets and reputational harm,
among others.

Our internal control policies and procedures may not protect us
from deliberate, reckless or inadvertent acts of our employees
or agents that contravene our compliance policies or violate
applicable laws.

Any one or more of these or other factors relevant to global
operations could increase our costs, reduce revenues, or dis-
rupt operations, with possible material adverse effects on our
business and financial condition.
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Developments of this nature are continuously monitored and
analyzed and response measures like the extension of local
production capacities, the adaptation of product designs, orga-
nizational changes and various others are set in place based on
case-by-case decisions. Furthermore, a global trade gover-
nance compliance program is in place in order to ensure adher-
ence to trade-related regulations such as export controls, trade
sanctions and customs.

Unpredictable events

We operate dialysis facilities or manufacturing facilities in
many regions of the world, with diverse geographic, societal,
political and economic conditions. Events such as natural disas-
ters, terrorist attacks, political instability, epidemics or pan-
demics from, for example, virus infections as well as other
unforeseeable events, could affect our services and our ability
to deliver in a limited time and place.

Through forward-looking planning and prevention programs,
we are trying to limit possible effects of such events already in
advance. To maintain operations in the event of an onset and to
reduce potential impact on our patients and the organization,
we have spare capacity and safety stock of certain resources as
well as emergency and recovery plans in place. Residual risks
are eventually covered when possible and expedient by taking
out insurance.

Global economic conditions and disruptions
in financial markets

We are dependent on the conditions of the financial markets
and the global economy. In order to pursue our business, we
are reliant on capital, as are our renal product customers and
commercial health care insurers. Limited or more expensive
access to capital in the financial markets could adversely affect
our business and profitability. Inflationary cost increases have
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also had and may continue to have an unfavorable effect on our
business, especially if the prices and reimbursement rates for
our products and services remain unchanged or do not ade-
quately track against cost increases.

Among other things, the potential decline in federal and state
revenues may create additional pressures to contain or reduce
reimbursements for our services from public payors around the
world, including Medicare, Medicaid in the U.S. and other gov-
ernment sponsored programs in the U.S. and other countries
around the world.

Job losses or increases in unemployment rates may result in a
smaller percentage of our patients being covered by employer
group health plans and a larger percentage being covered by
lower paying government reimbursement programs. To the
extent that public and private payors are negatively impacted by
a decline in the economy, we may experience further pressure on
commercial rates, a further slowdown in collections and a reduc-
tion in the amounts we expect to collect. These developments as
well as devaluations of currencies, unfavorable interest rate
changes and worsening economic conditions, uncertainty arising
from the Ukraine War regarding a possible deterioration of the
global macroeconomic outlook, including inflationary cost
increases in various markets in connection with deteriorating
country credit ratings also increase the risk of a goodwill impair-
ment, which could lead to a partial or total goodwill write-off in
the affected cash generating units, or have a negative impact on
our investments and external partnerships. Furthermore, these
factors could also adversely affect the valuations of certain of our
investments as well as interest rate-sensitive assets or liabilities.

In addition, these developments may have adverse effects in
other risk areas like U.S. federal health care programs, health
care reforms, reimbursement by private insurers, liquidity and
financing, currencies and interest, personnel as well as pro-
curement and are reflected in the respective assessments.
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Furthermore, the global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic has
resulted in a material deterioration of the conditions for the
global economy and financial markets have been materially
and adversely affected. The extent to which the COVID-19 pan-
demic continues to impact our business, results of operations
and financial condition will depend on future developments,
which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.

Any or all of the above mentioned factors, or other conse-
guences of the continuation, or worsening, of domestic and
global economic conditions which cannot currently be pre-
dicted, could continue to have an adverse effect on our busi-
nesses and results of operations.

CoviD-19

Going forward, the prolonged effects attributable to the
COVID-19 pandemic may continue to have an adverse impact
on our operations and increase our expenses, including as a
result of impacts associated with preventive and precaution-
ary measures that we, our suppliers, customers and other
businesses or governments continue to implement or impose
on a local, regional, national or international level.

Given the already compromised health condition of typical dialy-
sis patients, our patients represent a heightened at-risk popula-
tion. Increased mortality rates in either the pre-ESRD patient
population or in our ESRD patient population compared to their
historical averages continued to materially and adversely affect
our operating results in 2022. Patients suffering from ESRD gen-
erally have co-morbidities which has resulted, and may continue
to result, in more of our dialysis patients requiring hospitalization.
One key driver of such continuing adverse effects is the emer-
gence of new variants. Also, it appears that COVID-19 has resulted
in an increase in persons experiencing temporary renal failure in
many areas in which we operate. We expect to continue to experi-
ence additional staffing shortages as well as incur additional
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staffing costs, required to meet the resulting increased demand
for dialysis treatment and/or to provide equipment and medical
staff needed for emergency treatments, for example in hospitals.
We experienced negative effects through 2022 and expect to
experience additional and unpredictable expenses and possible
lower patient growth in the immediately foreseeable future.

In addition, to the extent that the COVID-19 pandemic adversely
affects our business, net assets, financial condition and results
of operations, it could also have adverse effects in other risk
areas described in this report which is reflected in the respec-
tive assessments.

As one reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic, a crisis response
team has been established and protocol responses were imple-
mented to address the issues related to patient care and
employee safety. Furthermore, operational changes were made
to ensure continued supply of clinical materials and programs
were modified to assist direct patient care providers.

ESG requirements

Our companies’ ESG activities are facing increased scrutiny from
stakeholders such as institutional and other investors, reqgula-
tory bodies and non-governmental organizations (NGOs). Failure
to effectively identify, carry out and manage the necessary sus-
tainability activities as required or expected, as well as effectu-
ally manage the impact of factors beyond our control, could
cause us to incur additional costs or damage our brand. We
could also be subject to financial and other penalties imposed by
the respective authorities in the jurisdictions in which we do
business. In addition, a rise in prices for carbon emission rights
stemming from the requirements of the European Climate Law
could increase production costs. Cost increases could narrow
our profit margins and have a material impact on our operations
if we do not accurately plan for and efficiently implement the
necessary sustainable business practices.
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In addition to environmental risks, we also face several social
risks. Our continued growth in the health care business depends
on the ability to attract and retain a skilled workforce, including
highly skilled nurses and other medical personnel. Competition
for those employees is intense and shortages for these
sought-after employees could potentially lead to the closure of
some clinics and the inability to treat parts of our patients. For
further information on personnel risks, see the risk area
"Personnel” above.

Furthermore, companies are increasingly expecting their sup-
pliers to share their commitment to sustainability and demon-
strate sustainable business practices across their supply
chains, including the ability to identify and mitigate risks
related to human rights in their entire value chain. If we fail to
comply with our legal obligations related to supply chain due
diligence, we could face significant fines and be excluded from
public tenders and contracts. We could also suffer reputational
damage, especially given that our performance in this area is
closely monitored by NGOs, investors and others.

In light of these expectations, among other aspects, we have
incorporated sustainability as a performance target for the com-
pensation of our Management Board. Should management fail to
meet these outcomes, investors and/or debt providers may not
deem us the correct fit for their investment or financing pur-
poses, thereby negatively impacting our share price or our abil-
ity to source funding through debt financing. Our €2 BN syndi-
cated multicurrency sustainability-linked revolving credit facility
agreement, which serves as a backup facility, includes a sustain-
ability component, pursuant to which the credit facility's margin
will rise or fall depending on our sustainability performance.

A heightened focus on ESG topics may result in more extensive
regulatory requirements aimed at mitigating the effects of cli-
mate change and other current and future ESG concerns.
Should further regulation or stakeholder expectations be more
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stringent in the future, we may experience increased compli-
ance burdens and costs to meet regulatory obligations and we
cannot currently estimate what impact existing and future reg-
ulations will have on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We have set up a central department for sustainability, imple-
mented governance-concepts for material topics and com-
pleted our global sustainability program at the end of 2022 to
address the above-mentioned risks. For the upcoming years we
have defined new sustainability targets. In addition, cross-func-
tional working groups were established to work on the imple-
mentation of new regulations, such as the German supply chain
due diligence law.

Changes in the risk situation

We operate in a constantly changing environment. Accordingly,
the risk situation is also subject to constant change. Regarding
the classification of single risks in terms of probability and
potential impact, the following significant changes occurred
compared to the previous year:

One-year period:

The risk from Research and development (9) is now considered
a medium risk from a short-term perspective mainly due to an
increase in capitalized product development projects.

The risk from Unpredictable events (21) is now considered a
medium risk from a short-term perspective as an increased
instability in certain regions, for example resulting from the
Ukraine-War, elevates risks with respect to potential disrup-
tions of our production or our services, for example due to an
insufficient energy supply.
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The risk from Global economic conditions and disruptions in
financial markets (22) is now considered a medium risk from a
short-term perspective as the potential impact expanded
mainly due to inflationary tendencies and interest rate
increases.

Five-year period:

The risk from Global Operations (20) is now considered a
medium risk from a mid-term perspective mainly due to impli-
cations and potential adverse effects from the Ukraine-War
with respect to business continuity in individual countries as
well as restrictions imposed on trade regarding the involved
countries.



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

General information Outlook

Overview of the Group Risks and Opportunities Report

Economic Report Corporate Governance fundamentals

Subsequent events

OPPORTUNITIES MANAGEMENT
Opportunities Management System

As a vertically integrated dialysis company we are able to iden-
tify industry-specific trends and requirements along our value
drivers as well as the resultant opportunities at an early stage
and gear our actions to them. We also perform comprehensive
guantitative and qualitative analyses to enable us to capture
business opportunities. This involves systematically evaluating
relevant market data, closely examining research projects and
taking general social trends into consideration. Our analyses
focus on general economic, industry-specific, regional and local
developments as well as regulatory changes. In addition, our
strategy and planning departments and the managers of other
divisions cooperate closely to allow us to identify global oppor-
tunities as early as possible.

Opportunities

Fresenius Medical Care offers almost all of the products and
services that seriously and chronically ill patients require
across the renal care continuum. Our network of 4,116 dialysis
clinics in around 50 countries is the largest of its kind in the
world. As a result, we possess valuable dialysis expertise that
is unigue in the industry. Thanks to this wealth of experience,
we know that high quality is not only the key to a better quality
of life for patients, but can also make a significant contribution
to reducing the costs of health care. In this context, we see
vast opportunities in digitalization, which offers us new possi-
bilities in kidney therapy, especially in the field of telemedicine
and home dialysis. Digital enablement allows us to personalize
therapeutic options more quickly. By applying analytics, artifi-
cial intelligence (Al) and machine learning and predictive mod-
els, we can create actionable insights for better patient care
and thereby improve therapy outcomes and economics. In the
long-term regenerative medicine will open up major opportu-
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nities, especially in the area of cell therapies, tissue engineer-
ing and transplants.

Based on this understanding and our business model, major
opportunities arise that could have a positive impact on the
results of operations, financial position and net assets of
Fresenius Medical Care as things stand today. Unless otherwise
stated, the opportunities mentioned apply to all segments.

Industry-specific opportunities
Growth in patient numbers and demographic development
The increasing demand for dialysis products and services due

to the rise in dialysis patients is a substantial opportunity for
us. According to estimates, the number of people worldwide
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suffering from chronic kidney failure and requiring dialysis
treatment is rising at a rate of around 3% to 6% annually. It
is expected to reach around 4.0 M patients in 2023 and more
than 6.5 M by 2033 (SEE CHART 2.37). Social trends play a role
in this increase in patient numbers. In Europe and the U.S. in
particular, they include the aging population and the increas-
ing incidence of diabetes and hypertension, two illnesses that
frequently precede the onset of chronic kidney failure. In
developing and emerging countries, the growing population
and steadily improved access to dialysis as a result of increas-
ing wealth are key factors that further boost demand for dial-
ysis products and services. We want to continue to make a
significant contribution to meeting this demand in the future.

c 2.37 NUMBER OF DIALYSIS PATIENTS WORLDWIDE - FORECAST TO 2033

IN M

2033: over 6.5 M dialysis patients » |

Source: Internal estimates
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Changes in legal and political conditions

Whether private companies are allowed to offer dialysis treat-
ment and in what form depends on a country’s health care sys-
tem and its legal framework. For Fresenius Medical Care, oppor-
tunities arise to tap into new markets or to expand its market
share whenever a country opens up to private dialysis provid-
ers. This decision is also increasingly influenced by the follow-
ing factors:

> Health care systems are under pressure to deliver ever more
comprehensive medical care (longer life expectancy,
increase in concomitant diseases, health care provision still
being established).

» Dialysis is a complex, life-sustaining procedure, which places
high demands on health care systems in terms of expertise
and efficiency. Therefore, public health care providers are
increasingly collaborating with private providers to find
solutions.

Growing demand for holistic, value- and risk-based
health care

As a result of increasing cost pressure and the growing number
of patients, demand for holistic and value- and risk-based
health care concepts for patients with chronic kidney failure is
evolving worldwide. Value-oriented models are changing the
role of health care providers: In systems of this kind, we not
only offer dialysis but also take responsibility for the patient's
medical well-being beyond dialysis. We believe this is a substan-
tial opportunity beyond dialysis patient growth.

Value- and risk-based health care models help to deliver high-
er-quality treatment and better results at a lower cost. The aim
here is to establish sustainable partnerships with payors
around the world with the aim of driving forward the transition
from fee-for-service payment to pay-for-performance models.
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We have supported this development from the start, because
we know the needs of our dialysis patients best. We have com-
bined the coordination of all aspects of medical care in our
other health care services business. This encompasses all ser-
vices that help us to offer our dialysis patients treatment across
the renal care continuum.

In 2019, the U.S. President signed an Executive Order on
advancing kidney health. Among other things, it directs the
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to develop new
Medicare reimbursement models. One of these, the ESRD
Treatment Choices Model (ETC Model), is mandatory and cre-
ates financial as well as other incentives for home dialysis
treatments and kidney transplants. The model went into effect
January 1, 2021 and provides fundamental opportunities for
expanding home dialysis and kidney transplants, particularly
in the U.S.

Another value-based care model is the new Kidney Care
Choices model offered by the Center for Medicare and Medic-
aid Innovation (CMMI). This includes the CKCC option for Medi-
care beneficiaries with late-stage CKD and end-stage renal dis-
ease that came into effect as of January 1, 2022. It is designed
to reduce Medicare expenditures while preserving or enhanc-
ing the quality of care for patients with advanced renal dis-
ease. Participants deliver coordinated, cost-effective care and
receive payment based on the risk assumed. As we are dedi-
cated to being a leader in value-based care, we participate in
the CKCC model and we will help manage care by providing
specialized education and support services to slow the pro-
gression of kidney disease, increase preemptive transplants,
and increase the prevalence of a planned start to life-sustain-
ing treatment.

To further expand its leading position in value-based care,
Fresenius Medical Care created the premier value-based kidney
care provider in the U.S. by completing the business combina-
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tion including InterWell Health, Fresenius Health Partners and
Cricket Health. The new company, which operates under the
InterWell Health brand, was fully consolidated by Fresenius
Medical Care as majority owner and brings together Fresenius
Health Partners’ expertise in kidney care value-based contract-
ing and performance, InterWell Health's clinical care models
and strong network of 1,700 nephrologists and Cricket Health's
tech-enabled care model that utilizes its proprietary informat-
ics and patient engagement platforms to create an innovative,
stand-alone entity poised to transform kidney care.

Expansion of home dialysis

If patient numbers grow as strongly as anticipated, cost pres-
sure continues to rise and clinics reach full capacity, home ther-
apies are expected to take on a more important role in dialysis,
not only as a result of the ETC Model. This development could
be advantageous for Fresenius Medical Care, as it presents us
with growth opportunities. We offer a host of different products
and innovative solutions for home dialysis. With NxStage prod-
ucts and solutions for home dialysis, we offer a comprehensive
product portfolio for home dialysis. Digital solutions in the field
of telehealth and applications underpin our plans and are
essential to be able to offer this form of therapy to more peo-
ple. We focus firmly on the needs of our patients by presenting
them with the widest possible range of therapy options. This
gives them the freedom to choose what form of treatment is
currently best for them. Self-determination is a key pillar of our
vision to improve our patients’ quality of life. In the U.S. in par-
ticular, home dialysis is becoming increasingly important. In
2022, around 15% of all dialysis patients in the U.S. were
treated in a home setting. Based on its strategic business plan-
ning, Fresenius Medical Care holds on its aspirational target for
the further expansion of home dialysis: By 2025, the company
aims to perform 25% of all treatments in the U.S. at home.
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Opportunities related to
our business operations

New products and technologies

Developing innovative products and technologies that deliver
lasting added value for patients and remuneration systems
right up until they are market-ready is another crucial factor in
our long-term success. We advance dialysis-related innovations
through our in-house research and development activities. In
addition, we are able to enhance existing products ourselves
and adapt them to the markets in which we operate. We will
continue to add innovative products and technologies to our
range in the future to capture growth opportunities and meet
the demand for integrated care as effectively as possible.

New forms of kidney therapy through digitalization

We aim to develop new forms of kidney therapy with the help of
digital technologies such as artificial intelligence, the Internet
of Things and use of Big Data. In North America, for example, we
collect over one terabyte of patient data every day to calculate
risk models and forecast multiple treatment paths. This data
enables us to assess the health of each patient more effectively.
We can use the information not only to reduce negative out-
comes for patients, but also to make costs, clinical workflows,
production and development processes more efficient.

As part of its growth strateqgy, Fresenius Medical Care is using
digital technologies and the capability to analyze huge amounts
of data to develop new forms of renal therapy. The information
will be used to potentially make a diagnosis earlier, slow the
progressive course of chronic kidney disease and enable inter-
vention with new innovative therapies. Frenova's new genomic
registry will contain genetic sequencing data from chronic kid-
ney disease patients worldwide, which will be used by research-
ers to improve the understanding of kidney disease. Remnant
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samples of blood will be stored from samples already taken
monthly from end-stage kidney disease patients which will be
used for genomic analysis. As the program expands to include
individuals not on dialysis, samples of blood or saliva may be
used for the same information. By combining clinical and
genetic sequencing data from ethnically, demographically, geo-
graphically and pathologically diverse participants, this invalu-
able resource will help scientists better understand how genetic
variations in patients can lead to more precise diagnoses and
therapies that help improve outcomes by individualizing care,
known as Precision Medicine.

COVID-19 in particular, has prompted a significant acceleration
in the implementation of digital projects in telehealth and inte-
grated health care. They are key to our ability to increase the
share of home dialysis. We have already taken important steps
with Kinexus, a digital solution that comprehensively connects
our devices and our digital hubs for patients, providers and
care teams. In addition, we are digitalizing numerous business
processes to provide even better support for those working
from home. This offers us greater flexibility at a lower cost.

Disruptive treatment options
through regenerative medicine

We are investing in promising technologies and research
approaches in the field of regenerative medicine, which we
hope will present us with new, increasingly disruptive treat-
ment options in the long term. The focus here is on cell thera-
pies, tissue engineering and transplants. As a result of our
investment in Humacyte, we expect our patients to have fewer
complications, infections and surgical procedures. Humacyte
grows blood vessels from donated muscle cells in a bioreactor.
Depending on the results of research trials, these blood vessels
could provide safer and more stable vascular access and reduce
catheter contact time for hemodialysis patients in the future.
Beyond its use for dialysis access, the human acellular vessel
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(HAV) is also promising for treating peripheral arterial occlu-
sive disease (PAOD) and traumas.

Fresenius Medical Care holds further participations in the field
of regenerative medicine through Unicyte AG and Fresenius
Medical Care Ventures GmbH. These have enabled us to expand
our range of treatments in this area, particularly in the early
phases of chronic kidney disease. In addition, we have made
substantial progress in the field of transplants through
eGenesis, a company that has developed a multiplex platform
based on the CRISPR/Cas9 technology. We expect this approach
to enable safe and effective xenotransplantation, for example
from pigs to humans.

Thanks to our extensive commitment to regenerative medicine,
our aim is not only to provide state-of-the-art options for renal
replacement in the future but also to substitute the function of
other organs. We are confident that patients with diabetes or
cardiovascular diseases can also benefit from our innovative
and transformative therapies.

Long-term we see major growth opportunities in this field should
regenerative medicine therapies become widely available.

Growing demand for critical care solutions

The number of patients requiring continuous renal replace-
ment therapy to treat acute kidney failure is set to rise to 1.6 M
per year by 2033. Fresenius Medical Care will expand its acute
care portfolio to include other extracorporeal critical care ther-
apy areas, such as the treatment of acute heart, lung and
multi-organ failure. Hence in the medium term, we see major
growth opportunities in critical care solutions.
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Investments and complementary assets

We generate ideas for growth initiatives from market analyses
and assess them as part of our annual budget planning, or
more frequently if necessary. We manage the investments
required for implementing projects using a detailed coordina-
tion and evaluation process. The Management Board sets the
investment budget for the Group as well as the focus of invest-
ment. Before realizing investment projects, an internal commit-
tee examines the individual projects and measures, taking into
account their yield requirements and potential return on invest-
ment. Projects are undertaken only if they help to increase the
Company's value.

We will supplement and strengthen our existing network where
feasible through additional partnerships, investments and
acquisitions in the field of research and development. This will
help us to create added medical value while saving costs. The
close collaboration between our Strategy and Planning depart-
ments and the managers responsible for our acquisitions
means that we can identify suitable potential purchases world-
wide at an early stage. It will allow us to build an even stronger
and more resilient foundation for our future growth to 2025
and beyond.

Internal organization and procedures
Fresenius Medical Care's business model

Our business model itself also provides opportunities for
Fresenius Medical Care's future growth. As a vertically inte-
grated dialysis company, we not only offer almost all of the
products and services that a patient with chronic kidney failure
requires for treatment, but also use these on a daily basis in our
own clinics. As a result, we can incorporate the feedback from
our patients, physicians and nurses worldwide in developing
and manufacturing new products as well as in organizing our
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clinic management. This gives us a crucial competitive edge. As
part of our growth strategy, we developed the new operating
model as the continuation of the plan to globalize and simplify.
It is designed to further leverage the advantages of the Compa-
ny's vertical integration, to better capture identified growth
opportunities, leverage expertise to accelerate value creation,
enhance capital allocation, increase transparency both inter-
nally and externally, reduce administrative burden as it relates
to cost and speed, and to advance a culture of agility, innova-
tion and accountability.

Fresenius Medical Care benefits from a number of long-term
opportunities in the way it is organized and designs its business
operations. For example, all production sites follow the lean
manufacturing approach. In North America and at our Schwein-
furt plant, this includes the Lean Six Sigma management sys-
tem. The focus of lean manufacturing and Lean Six Sigma is on
continuously improving manufacturing processes to achieve a
low defect rate and, consequently, better product quality while
reducing manufacturing times. In addition, constantly improv-
ing business processes and rigorously optimizing cost struc-
tures will allow Fresenius Medical Care to become even more
profitable and competitive. Thanks to its global efficiency pro-
gram, the Company has brought about a continuous and sus-
tainable increase inefficiency.

Sustainability

To identify, assess and capture the opportunities associated
with sustainability, Fresenius Medical Care continuously ana-
lyzes key economic, social and environmental issues. In doing
so, we look at the entire value chain of our business activities
and also consider global trends. Developing an effective global
sustainability management system is key for us to embed sus-
tainability in our business activities systematically and struc-
turally. Our sustainability management system helps us to meet
increased demand for sustainability in our business operations
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from key stakeholders and to maintain our reputation and
acceptance in society. This results in further opportunities for
Fresenius Medical Care to position itself as a reliable, efficient
partner and an attractive employer. Opportunities can also
arise from the increasing number of political regulations aimed
at sustainability. For example, if we differentiate ourselves from
the competition through proven sustainability management
and qualify for new contracts, or if we leverage opportunities
from sustainable finance.

ASSESSMENT OF THE
OVERALL RISK POSITION
AND THE OPPORTUNITIES
BY THE MANAGEMENT

Our risk management system forms the basis for assessing
overall risk. The overall risk position of Fresenius Medical Care
is determined by the individual risks described above. Changes
in the Group's risk situation compared to the previous year
occurred as stated in the paragraph of the same name. Neither
one of the identified individual risks nor one of the risk areas
described above are threatening the Company's continued
existence and based on the comparison of the aggregated risk
position with the established risk-bearing capacity, there are, to
a reasonable degree of certainty, currently no indications that
the going concern of Fresenius Medical Care is at risk. In the
course of the Company-wide review as part of the integrated
management system, we also monitor the effectiveness of the
implemented risk management system and make improve-
ments where necessary. The Management Board will continue
to expand our risk management as well as the review of the
associated management system to be able to identify, examine
and evaluate potential risks even more quickly and initiate
appropriate countermeasures. We believe that we have taken
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all necessary organizational steps to recognize potential risks
early on and to respond to them appropriately.

We furthermore remain confident that our integrated global
business model and our earning power provide us with a
sound basis for our business development, allowing us to cap-
ture the opportunities arising for the Company. In view of our
leading positionin the dialysis market, our innovative strength,
our dedicated staff and our structured processes for identify-
ing risks early on and managing opportunities, we are con-
vinced that we can continue to make the most of any opportu-
nities that arise for our business in a responsible manner in
the future.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
FUNDAMENTALS

Fresenius Medical Care has the legal form of a
partnership limited by shares (KGaA). The
Company’s corporate structure is set out in the
appendix of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The Company’s management and
supervisory structure is set out in the “Corporate
Governance Declaration” in the chapter
“Corporate Governance” in the Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
DECLARATION

In fiscal year 2022, the Company made use of the option to
publish the Corporate Governance Declaration (Erkldrung zur
Unternehmensfiihrung) on the Company's website pursuant to
sec. 315d German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction with
sec. 289f para. 1HGB. The Corporate Governance Declaration is
available on the Company's website at https://www.fresenius-
medicalcare.com/en/investors/corporate-governance/declara-
tion-on-corporate-governance.

It is also set out in the chapter “Corporate Governance” in the
Annual Report.
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CHANGES IN MANAGEMENT
STRUCTURE

Helen Giza, so far member of the Management Board and respon-
sible for finance, was appointed Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius
Medical Care, effective December 6, 2022. She had entered a new
five-year contract and had assumed the position of Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of Fresenius Medical Care before, in addition to
her position as Chief Financial Officer. Therefore, Helen Giza
replaced Dr. Carla Kriwet, who previously succeeded Rice Powell as
chair of the Management Board, effective October 1, 2022. Mr.
Powell stepped down from his position on September 30, 2022,
after 10 years of heading the Company, continued as a member of
the Management Board until December 31, 2022 and subsequently
retired. Helen Giza is also a member of the management board of
Fresenius Management SE. She will continue to serve as Chief
Financial Officer until a successor is appointed for this position.

Additionally, as previously announced, Michael Sen became the
Chief Executive Officer of Fresenius SE and chair of the super-
visory board of the General Partner as of October 1, 2022, suc-
ceeding Stephan Sturm in both positions. Sara Hennicken
became the Chief Financial Officer of Fresenius SE and a mem-
ber of the supervisory board of the General Partner as of Sep-
tember 1, 2022, succeeding Ms. Rachel Empey in both positions.

We have extended the service agreement of Franklin W.
Maddux, MD, as Global Chief Medical Officer until December 31,
2027 (previously set to expire at the end of 2022). In connec-
tion with that extension, the supervisory board extended Mr.
Maddux's term limit as a Management Board member for the
same period. The latter extension required an exception to our
self-set age limit for Management Board members, which the
supervisory board granted in recognition of Mr. Maddux's
extensive knowledge and the importance of the Global Medical
Office in our new business model.
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COMPENSATION REPORT

The description of both the compensation system and individ-
ual amounts paid to the Management Board and the Super-
visory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and
the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA are included in
the Compensation Report according to § 162 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) which is part of the chapter
“Corporate Governance" in the Annual Report.

TAKEOVER-RELATED
DISCLOSURES

The share capital held by the Company's shareholders as of
December 31, 2022, totals approximately €293 M, divided into
293,413,449 non-par bearer shares, and a nominal value of €1
each. As of December 31, 2022, the Company does not hold any
treasury shares.

The rights of the shareholders are governed by the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and the Company's Articles of
Association. According to these, each share shall be entitled to
one vote at the Company’s general meeting.

The General Partner, Fresenius Medical Care Management AG,
in accordance with the Articles of Association is responsible for
managing and representing the Company. It does not partici-
pate in the profit or loss or the net assets of the Company. The
General Partner's management authority also encompasses
exceptional management measures which do not require the
approval of the shareholders. Vis-a-vis the General Partner, the
Company is represented by its Supervisory Board.

The General Partner will cease to be General Partner of the
Company if and when all shares in the General Partner entity
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are no longer held directly or indirectly by one party, which at
the same time must hold, directly or indirectly by means of con-
trolled company as defined in Section 17 (1) AktG, more than
25% of the Company’s share capital. This does not apply if all
the shares of the General Partner are held directly or indirectly
by the Company. Additionally, the General Partner will cease to
be the Company's General Partner if the shares in the General
Partner are acquired by another person:

> who does not at the same time acquire shares of the Com-
pany in the amount of more than 25% of the Company's
share capital, or

> who has not, within three months after the effectiveness of
such an acquisition, submitted a voluntary or mandatory
takeover offer to the Company’s shareholders according to
the rules of the German Securities Acquisition and Takeover
Act (WpUG); the fair consideration offered to the sharehold-
ers must also reflect the consideration which the purchaser
pays for the shares in the General Partner, if the amount for
such consideration exceeds the amount of its equity capital.

The grounds for withdrawal of the General Partner as provided
by the law remain unaffected.

As of December 31, 2022, Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, Bad
Homburg v. d. Hohe, Germany holds 94,380,382 shares of the
Company, which corresponds to a 32.17% holding and hence
exceeds 10% of the Company's total share capital.

The appointment and removal of members of the Management
Board of the General Partner by its Supervisory Board are
governed by Sections 84 and 85 AktG.

Amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company can
be made in accordance with Sections 278 (3), 119 (1) No. 6, 179
in conjunction with 133 AktG. The Articles of Association entitle
the Company's Supervisory Board to make amendments to the
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Articles of Association which concern only its wording without
resolution of the general meeting.

The General Partner is entitled, subject to approval by the
Supervisory Board, to increase the Company's share capital as
follows in accordance with the resolutions passed by the share-
holders at the general meeting:

> Authorization to increase on one or more occasions until
August 26, 2025 the Company's share capital by up to a total
of €35 M by issuing new bearer ordinary shares in return for
cash contributions (Authorized Capital 2020/1).

> Authorization to increase on one or more occasions until
August 26, 2025 the Company's share capital by up to a total
of €25 M by issuing new bearer ordinary shares in return for
cash contributions and/or contributions in kind (Authorized
Capital 2020/11).

In both cases, the General Partner is entitled, with the approval
of the Supervisory Board and in accordance with the resolu-
tions passed at the general meeting, to take a decision on the
exclusion of shareholders' pre-emption rights.

In addition, the share capital is subject to a conditional increase
of up to €8.957 M. This conditional capital increase will only be
carried out to the extent that options were issued in accor-
dance with the Stock Option Plan 2011 based on the sharehold-
ers' resolutions of May 12, 2011 and May 12, 2016, provided the
holders of such options exercises their rights and the Company
does not issue any of its own treasury shares to settle those
options. With regard to options issued to members of the Man-
agement Board of the General Partner, the Supervisory Board
of that entity shall be responsible. Options under the Stock
Option Plan 2011 could be issued for the last time in 2015 and
can be exercised until 2023 at the latest if the exercise condi-
tions are met.
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In accordance with the resolution taken at the general meet-
ing on May 20, 2021, the General Partner is authorized to
acquire treasury shares until May 19, 2026 and up to a maxi-
mum of 10% of the share capital in place on the date of the
resolution. At no time shall the acquired shares together with
the treasury shares held by the Company or attributable to it
pursuant to Sections 71a ff. AktG exceed 10% of the Compa-
ny's share capital. The acquisition can be made via the stock
exchange or by means of a public invitation to submit offers
for sale. The authorization may not be used for the purposes
of trading in its own shares. The General Partner is authorized
to use the shares of the Company acquired on the basis of this
or an earlier authorization for all legally admissible purposes,
in particular also (i) to redeem them without any requirement
for a further resolution to be taken at the general meeting, (ii)
to sell them to third parties in return for contributions in kind,
(iii) rather than using conditional capital, to award them to
employees of the Company and its affiliates (including to
members of the executive managements of affiliates) and to
use them to service rights or commitments to acquire shares
of the Company, and (iv) to service bonds with option or con-
versation rights issued by the Company or by affiliated com-
panies as defined by Section 17 AktG. No treasury shares were
acquired in 2022.
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Under certain circumstances, a change of control resulting
from a takeover offer could impact several of the Company's
long-term financing arrangements which include market stan-
dard change of control clauses. These clauses give creditors
the right to call for early repayment of outstanding amounts in
the event of a change of control. However, with regard to most
of these financing agreements - in particular in case of bonds
placed on the capital markets - this right to terminate only
exists if the change of control involves the Company's rating or
the corresponding financing instrument being downgraded.

Hof an der Saale, February 24, 2023
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
Represented by the General Partner

Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

Management Board
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About this report
Other key figures
Independent Practitioner’s

Environmental protection

SUSTAINABILITY
MANAGEMENT

We successfully completed our three-year Global
Sustainability Program, which led our efforts

to further embed sustainability in our operations.
We have developed new global targets to guide
our activities in the years to come.

Human rights

BUSINESS MODEL

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We provide dialysis and related services, as well as other health
care services. We also develop, manufacture, and distribute a
wide variety of health care products, which we sell to custom-
ers in around 150 countries in addition to using them in our own
health care service operations.

In our more than 4,000 proprietary dialysis clinics in around 50
countries worldwide, we provide care for over 344,000 dialysis
patients. We manage the world's largest network of dialysis
clinics in terms of the number of people treated to accommo-
date an ever-rising number of patients. In addition, we operate
42 production sites in around 20 countries (SEE CHART 3.1).

Further information on our business model is provided in the
“Business Model"” section of the Group Management Report
starting on PAGE 16.

Report

STRATEGY

At Fresenius Medical Care, we focus on serving patients. This
approach shapes how we manage sustainability: We place
emphasis on our contribution to global health care challenges
and on activities with the biggest impact for our company
vision. Our commitment to sustainability is also incorporated in
our company mission: We provide the best possible care.
Sustainably in diverse health care systems. For a growing num-
ber of patients around the world.

Managing sustainability successfully means creating lasting
economic, ecological, and social value. For us, it also means
driving the integration of sustainability into our business opera-
tions. Our three-year Global Sustainability Program, which was
successfully completed at the end of 2022, has supported our
efforts in this respect. The program’s overall objective was to
establish global standards, processes, and measures to help us
continually improve our performance. It also provided us with a
foundation for continued analysis of our global impact and
the capacity to leverage sustainability-related opportunities.
Throughout the duration of the Global Sustainability Program,
we developed 30 global standards. We also defined four global
governance structures for sustainability topics and disclosed
more than 300 data points in our sustainability reporting (SEE
CHART 3.2 ON PAGE 84).

We aim to continuously incorporate sustainability aspects in
relevant business processes. This includes our corporate strat-
eqgy, operations, corporate risk management, and finances, as
well as internal controls and our compensation system. For
example, in 2022, we mandated an independent external tax
auditor to review our Tax Compliance Management System
(Tax CMS) in Germany based on an auditing standard (IDW PS
980) and OECD standards. The audit report confirmed that we
appropriately mitigate tax-related risks.
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As part of efforts to embed sustainability in our internal con-
trols, we also put our non-financial reporting processes at the
center of one of our global internal audits. More than 60% of
internal audits in 2022 included an environmental, social, or
governance (ESG) aspect. As a focus activity for 2023, we are
planning to further integrate sustainability-related objectives
in our corporate planning processes. Moreover, we are planning
to further enhance our existing sustainability-related set of
internal controls (SEE CHART 3.3).

Our business activities touch upon various aspects of the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). In line with our corpo-
rate vision, we particularly support SDG 3, which deals with
good health and well-being. In addition, we seek to make fur-
ther meaningful contributions to SDG 4 (Quality Education),

Report
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SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT

Cc3.3

Governance

We reduced our total Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions by 10.5% compared with 2021.
Energy management systems were installed in more than 400 of our U.S. locations.

38% of the dialysis machines we sold belong to an eco-friendly machine generation.

We provided treatments to more than 344,000 patients and home therapy to around 58,000 patients.
78% of our patients would highly recommend our services.

69% of our employees feel a sense of belonging at work.

More than 60% of our internal audits included an environmental, social, or governance aspect.
We approved 10 new global sustainability policies and other standards.

Almost 95% of employees completed compliance training.

c3.2 GLOBAL SUSTAINABILITY PROGRAM

Achievements during three-year program

Global standards developed

4

Global governance structures
defined for sustainability topics

>300

Data points disclosed in
sustainability reporting

SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), and SDG 12
(Responsible Consumption and Production).

More information on our strategy can be found in the “Corpo-
rate strategy and objectives” section of the Group Manage-
ment Report starting on PAGE 21.

GLOBAL TARGETS

At the end of 2022, we successfully concluded our Global
Sustainability Program, having achieved all targets set out in
our implementation roadmap. The program was created as a
response to increasing requirements for sustainability manage-
ment, as well as our commitment to continuously improve our
sustainability performance. It defined global targets for eight
focus areas between 2020 and 2022: responsibility towards our
patients as well as our employees, anti-bribery and anti-corrup-

tion, data protection and privacy, human and labor rights, sus-
tainable supply, environment, and occupational health and
safety. We highlight key targets for our focus areas in this report.

The success of our global sustainability efforts depends on
cooperation between all regions and global functions and the
exchange of best practices. We strive to leverage our scale and
expertise and take regional needs into account in our activities.
In 2022, we established ten new global policies and other stan-
dards, for example in the areas of diversity, employee engage-
ment, and data protection. We also defined new global per-
formance indicators for various areas of the sustainability
program, including a quality index for patient treatments. The
success of our Global Sustainability Program was measured
using a control and calculation model that evaluates more than
50 aspects. Throughout the duration of the program, progress
was linked with Management Board compensation via a sus-
tainability target.
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c3.4 GLOBAL SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS
Read
Strategic focus areas Targets Progress in 2022 more
Enhance quality Patient experience Achieve a patient Net Promoter Score of at least 70 (annual target) Net Promoter Score of 71 P. 91
of care and access
to health care Product safety and quality Keep global key performance indicator for critical and major audit findings Audit score of 0.3 P.95
below 1.0 (annual target)
Access to treatments Perform 25% of dialysis treatments in the U.S. in a home setting by 2025 15% of treatments in the U.S. performed in a home setting P. 92
Build the best team Employee engagement Achieve an Employee Engagement Score of at least 63% by 2027 Employee Engagement Score of 55% P.97
to serve patients
Diversity, Achieve proportion of women in leadership positions by 2027: At the end of 2022: P. 98
eq;l?y, usi » 35% in the first level below the Management Board > 26% in the first level below the Management Board
and inclusion
> 45% in the second level below the Management Board » 31% in the second level below the Management Board
Increase the representation of ethnically diverse managers in the U.S. year At the end of 2022, 31% of U.S. managers were ethnically P. 98
over year by 2030 diverse
Integrity Train at least 90% of employees on our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Almost 95% of employees trained on our Code of Ethics P. 106
(annual target) and Business Conduct
Reduce our Emissions reduction Achieve climate Global project team set up to drive the implementation P.102
environmental By 2030, reduce our Scoge 1and neutrality for Scope 1 of our climate action roadmap
footprint Scope 2 emissions by 50% as and Scope 2 Scope 1and Scope 2 emissions footprint reduction
compared with 2020 emissions by 2040 of 10.5% compared with 2021
Resource efficiency Develop sustainable water plans for sites in extreme water stress areas Water stress scenario analysis continued to identify sites P. 104
by 2026 likely to be in areas of extreme water stress in the future
Sustainable portfolio Implement sustainability performance assessment of our relevant product Implementation plan developed for 2023 P. 86

and services portfolio by 2026
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Based on the results of the Global Sustainability Program, in
2022, we developed a new set of global targets for the coming
years (SEE CHART 3.4 ON PAGE 85). The Supervisory Board also
decided on new sustainability goals for Management Board
compensation in 2023. They are linked to progress of the Com-
pany's sustainability targets in the areas of patient satisfaction,
employee satisfaction, and sustainable products and services.

Achievement of the patient and employee targets shall be mea-
sured based on the quantitative metrics obtained from the
patient Net Promoter Score (NPS) and the Employee Engage-
ment Survey (Employee Engagement Index). To achieve the
target relating to sustainable products and services, specific
deliverables were established. These activities are intended to
set the groundwork necessary for us to perform a measurable
assessment of our portfolio against sustainability criteria in the
coming years.

More information on sustainability in the compensation system
can be found in the Compensation Report starting on PAGE 144.
For further information on sustainability-related policies and
commitments, please see our website at www.freseniusmedi-
calcare.com/en/about-us/policies-and-standards.

MATERIAL TOPICS

We aim to carry out a comprehensive materiality analysis at
least every five years. We have extended the analysis cycle due
to considerations such as the transformation of our global oper-
ating model and upcoming sustainability reporting regulations.
Our materiality analysis identifies and prioritizes the sustain-
ability topics that have the biggest impact on our business, and
those that are affected most by our business. In the years
in-between, we review and reevaluate the results of the previ-
ous analysis. In our most recent comprehensive materiality
analysis in 2019, we selected and grouped topics from a list of

more than 100. In building this list, we used various sources as
a guide. These included our enterprise risk management frame-
work, ESG ratings and rankings, and competitor benchmarks.
Further sources were international sustainability reporting
standards like those of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) and
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), as well
as the results of our trend and media analysis. To help us define

the materiality of the different topics and prioritize them,
we involved internal stakeholders from different regions and
functions and reviewed the outcomes with external experts.
Our latest review in 2022 confirmed that the topics identified in
our 2019 analysis are still the most relevant for our business.
We continuously monitor and evaluate upcoming topics and
areas of interest for our stakeholders (SEE CHART 3.5).

c3.5 MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

LIST OF MORE THAN 100 POTENTIALLY RELEVANT TOPICS

based on our enterprise risk management framework, ESG ratings and rankings, benchmarks,
international sustainability reporting standards, trend analysis, media analysis

o

IMPACT OF
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE

We use three criteria to determine
which sustainability topics are
impacted by our organization:
> Likelihood that we will have
a meaningful impact on the topic
> Our ability to influence how
we impact the topic
> The extent to which we impact
the topic

o

o

IMPACT ON
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE

o

RELEVANCE
FOR STAKEHOLDERS

We evaluate the extent to which
sustainability topics are relevant

to Fresenius Medical Care by looking
at their financial, strategic, reqgulatory,
and reputational impact.

We conduct interviews with external
experts to confirm that our materiality
assessment is complete and correct.

MATERIAL TOPICS
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The highest governing body for our sustainability activities is our
Sustainability Decision Board. Headed by the CEO, it is responsi-
ble for integrating sustainability into our strategy and business.
Together with the Sustainability Decision Board, the Manage-
ment Board decides on strategic initiatives (SEE CHART 3.6). In
2022, for example, the Sustainability Decision Board approved
several global policies and company positions that are relevant
for our sustainability performance. The Management Board and
the Supervisory Board review the progress of our sustainability
management, which is then published in the separate Non-
Financial Group Report.

Two further committees support our decision-making pro-
cesses for sustainability initiatives. The Corporate Sustainabil-
ity Committee is an advisory committee for global sustainabil-
ity activities. It comprises senior representatives nominated by
the Management Board to represent the interests of our busi-
ness and corporate functions. The Corporate Risk Committee
analyzes and discusses sustainability risks as part of our enter-
prise risk management. The results are compiled twice a year
and communicated to the Management Board.

The Global Sustainability department drives our strategic sus-
tainability activities. It also managed the Global Sustainability
Program in close cooperation with the relevant teams across
our regions and other functions. The Global Head of Sustainability
regularly informs the Management Board about sustainability
progress and the status of target achievement.

Our Lead Independent Director is a member of the Supervisory
Board. Her responsibilities include addressing matters relating
to ESG aspects of the Company.

More information on the Lead Independent Director can be
found in the “Lead Independent Director” section of the Corpo-
rate Governance Declaration starting on PAGE 131.

RISK MANAGEMENT

We monitor and assess sustainability risks as part of our enter-
prise risk management. Our assessment is based on a list of
potential non-financial risks, which is reviewed regularly. In
accordance with the German Commercial Code, we report on
known significant risks associated with our own operations,
business relationships, products, or services that are very likely
to occur and would have a severe negative impact on material
sustainability-related topics. We did not identify any material
non-financial risks of this kind in 2022.

One element of our sustainability risk management approach
involves assessing the impact of our business activities on
affected rightsholder groups, as well as on the environment. To
identify potential risks from this perspective, we performed
detailed human rights risk assessments in 2022 covering our

workforce, our patients, local communities surrounding our
business sites, and our supply chain. With the help of external
platforms and interviews with subject-matter experts, we
looked at country and industry-specific risks pertaining to the
rightsholder groups in question. We have also started to define
focus areas for risk prevention and mitigation activities.

We also assessed environmental risks from this angle. In 2022,
we developed a new methodology for this purpose. We used
external and internal data to evaluate our impact on climate
change, water stress, wastewater, and waste management.
The results of this assessment were aligned with environmen-
tal experts across the Company. We are continuously monitor-
ing and increasing the granularity of our risk assessment to
better understand how our business operations impact the
environment.

We additionally performed further assessments to determine
how environmental factors such as water stress, climate change
vulnerability, and waste management can represent risks to our
business. We updated our global environmental risk manage-
ment process and catalog based on the results of these assess-

c3.6 SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE
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ments to increase awareness but did not identify any signifi-
cant new risks. In 2022, we also continued to integrate the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Finan-
cial Disclosures (TCFD) into our enterprise risk management
approach. We review climate-related risks and opportunities on
a yearly basis.

More information on our enterprise risk management system
can be found in the “Risk management system" section of the
Group Management Report starting on PAGE 59. More informa-
tion on our risk assessment on human and labor rights can be
found in the “"Human rights" section starting on PAGE 110, and
the “Supplier management” section starting on PAGE 109.

STAKEHOLDER INCLUSION

As a company with global operations, our business activities
affect many stakeholder groups. These include our patients,
employees, shareholders, suppliers, and the communities in
which we work. Representatives from academia, politics, media,
and international organizations are also important interest
groups. Communicating with relevant stakeholders is essential
to understand their expectations of our company. It is also part
of building trust and reliable partnerships and helps us to share
knowledge and promote scientific progress.

In the reporting year, we continued to participate in several
expert groups such as the Kidney Care Partners and the Dialy-
sis Patient Citizens in the U.S. We also took part in technical
expert panels for the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Ser-
vices, the national federal public health care authority in the
U.S. In 2022, sustainability-related topics were again discussed
in investor meetings. Labor topics, including questions relating
to clinic staffing, employee retention, recruitment, and wages,
came up in around 780 conversations. More than 50 exchanges

Report

addressed topics such as climate impact, sustainability prog-
ress, and governance matters.

We are subject to a wide range of legislative and regulatory
processes that affect our business. Therefore, we periodically
engage in policy discussions and collaborate with third parties
as part of our lobbying efforts. Our principles in relation to
these activities are stated in our Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct. They provide the basis for our political dialogue in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. These princi-
ples also apply to our interactions with associations. We pub-
lished a position paper on political engagement and advocacy.
In the U.S. we have a Political Action Committee in place which
gives eligible U.S. employees the opportunity to participate vol-
untarily in public policy advocacy that impacts our business
and patients.

More information on our collaboration with research and inno-
vation partners can be found in the “Research and develop-
ment"” section of the Group Management Report starting on
PAGE 30. For information about our dialogue with employee
representatives, see the "Employees” section starting on
PAGE 96. For information on how we collaborate to improve
health care, see our "Patients” section starting on PAGE 90.

COVID-19

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have faced
extraordinary challenges. These have been exacerbated by
the facts that acute kidney injury is common in critically ill
COVID-19 patients, and that our patients have a high risk of
complications should they contract the virus. We continuously
monitor the COVID-19 situation and hold global meetings to
discuss developments on a bi-weekly basis.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

To help improve the level of protection for our patients and
staff, safety protocols were established in our dialysis clinics at
the start of the pandemic to maintain the provision of essential
treatments. We provided guidance on measures to mitigate the
spread of COVID-19 through interventions such as masks and
other personal protective equipment. Furthermore, we pro-
vided our patients and staff with information about the effects
of long COVID and how the vaccination can mitigate the risk of
severe illness. We have also encouraged our patients to get
vaccinated. Between 2020 and the end of 2022, we treated
close to 155,000 patients infected with COVID-19.

During the pandemic, we were able to continue producing and
delivering life-saving products, even when our operations and
supply chains were hampered by global restrictions. Through-
out the course of the pandemic, we have also continuously
looked at ways to improve our care. Our ongoing COVID-19
research focuses on vaccination and treatment effectiveness
and response.

Further information on the impact of COVID-19 on our company
can be found in the “Overall business development” section of
the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 39. For more
information on our ongoing research activities, please see the
“Advancing health care" section starting on PAGE 93.

EU TAXONOMY

We report on our economic activities in accordance with the
EU Taxonomy Regulation for sustainable activities (referred
to hereinafter as “"EU Taxonomy"). In our 2021 Non-Financial
Group Report, we reported on the Taxonomy-eligible shares of
economic activities that potentially make a substantial contri-
bution to at least one of two environmental objectives defined
in the regulation's Climate Delegated Act: “Climate change
mitigation” and “Climate change adaptation”.
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In 2022, in line with EU Taxonomy reporting requirements, we
broadened the scope of our reporting to additionally analyze
the Taxonomy-alignment of economic activities that make a
substantial contribution to the two environmental objectives
mentioned above.

Our core business activities are not covered by the EU Taxon-
omy in its current design. As a result, the revenues and operat-
ing expenses (Opex) associated with our products and services
are not considered Taxonomy-eligible. While some of our capi-
tal expenditures (Capex) related to construction and real estate
activities fit the requirements for Taxonomy eligibility, our anal-
ysis determined that they are not Taxonomy-aligned.

Methodology

To comply with EU Taxonomy reporting requirements, we set
up an interdisciplinary project team comprising sustainability,
accounting, and reporting experts. This team performed analy-
ses to determine whether our economic activities are Taxono-
my-eligible or Taxonomy-aligned.

Report

To ascertain whether our economic activities are Taxonomy-
eligible, we conducted an impact analysis of our operations. As
part of this analysis, we compared our business activities with
the EU Taxonomy's descriptions of economic activities that
potentially make a substantial contribution to the objectives
“Climate change mitigation” or “Climate change adaptation”.
We also conducted interviews with internal experts across our
regions and business areas to verify our conclusions. This anal-
ysis revealed that Capex related to our construction and real
estate activities can be classified as Taxonomy-eligible.

In 2022, we additionally assessed whether our Taxonomy-eligi-
ble activities are Taxonomy-aligned. To do this, we conducted
workshops with experts across our regions to assess whether
our activities meet the technical screening criteria for Taxonomy
alignment. Furthermore, in internal workshops, we analyzed
whether our building-related economic activities meet the EU
Taxonomy's minimum safeguard requirements. We determined
that our activities related to construction and real estate do not
fulfil technical screening criteria set out in the requlation. Our
economic activities are therefore not Taxonomy-aligned.

T73.7 CONTRIBUTION OF TAXONOMY ALIGNED, ELIGIBLE BUT NOT ALIGNED, AND NON-ELIGIBLE ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES

TO TOTAL REVENUE, CAPEX AND OPEX

IN %

Taxonomy-eligible

KPI Taxonomy-aligned but not aligned Taxonomy non-eligible
Revenue 0 0 100
Capex 0 46 54
Construction of new buildings 3
Renovation of existing buildings 7
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 36
Opex 0 0 100

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Key performance indicators

The EU Taxonomy defines three key performance indicators
(KPIs) that must be disclosed: revenue, Capex, and Opex. We
summarize key information pertaining to each KPI below. For
the full tables, SEE PAGE 113 of the Non-Financial Group Report.
We calculated the EU Taxonomy's three KPIs based on the
figures in our financial reporting system, which ensures recon-
ciliation with the corresponding items in the consolidated
financial statements (SEe TABLE 3.7). With respect to the eligi-
bility share of Capex, we identified all relevant expenditures
and allocated them to their respective economic activities. This
way, we ensure that no Capex is considered more than once.

Revenue

Our product and service revenues are not covered within the
regulatory scope of the EU Taxonomy in its current design.
Total revenue includes all product and service revenues. Please
refer to the consolidated statements of income under
"Revenue" in TABLE 5.1 ON PAGE 183,

Capex

The EU Taxonomy differentiates between different forms of
Capex. Our Taxonomy-eligible Capex relates to investments in
acquisition and ownership of buildings (7.7), construction of
new buildings (7.1), and renovation of existing buildings (7.2),
such as clinics or production facilities (Climate Delegated Act,
Annex |, economic activities listed within sector 7). The eligible
amounts in activities 7.1 and 7.2 consist of additions to buildings
and their improvements as well as buildings that are consid-
ered construction in progress. The eligible shares of activity
7.7 consist of additions to buildings and right-of-use assets
for buildings and fixtures. 0.3% thereof result from business
combinations.
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The Capex KPI is defined as Taxonomy-eligible and Taxono-
my-aligned Capex divided by total Capex for the reporting year.
Total Capex covers additions to tangible (IAS 16) and intangible
assets (IAS 38) as well as right-of-use assets (IFRS 16) during
the fiscal year before depreciation, amortization, and any
re-measurements. This includes those additions resulting from
revaluations and impairments, for the relevant fiscal year and
excluding fair value changes. It also encompasses additions
resulting from business combinations. It does not include good-
will. For total Capex please refer to the sections "Property,
plant and equipment” on PAGE 225, “Intangible assets and
goodwill" on PAGE 228 and “Leases” on PAGE 255 in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements, under the columns
“Additions" and “Changes in consolidation group". Please note
that the column “Changes in consolidation group” also includes
disposals of business in the amount of €41.6 M.

Opex

Our operating expenditures in connection with buildings repre-
sent less than one percent of total Opex, as all material build-
ing-related measures are capitalized and thus part of our
Capex. Opex linked to our products and services is, like the
products and services themselves, not covered within the
regulatory scope of the EU Taxonomy in its current design.

The Opex KPI is defined as Taxonomy-eligible and Taxono-
my-aligned Opex divided by total Opex for the reporting year.
Total Opex consists of direct non-capitalized costs that relate to
research and development, building renovation measures,
short-term leases, as well as maintenance and repair.

Report

For more information regarding research and development
expenses, please refer to the section “Notes to the consoli-
dated statements of income" in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements on PAGE 213. Short-term leases were
determined in accordance with IFRS 16 (see “Leases” in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements on PAGE 255).
Maintenance and repair expenses include staff costs, costs for
services, and material costs for daily servicing, as well as for
regular and unplanned maintenance and repairs that can be
found in the following areas of the income statement: costs of
revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses as well as
research and development expenses.

Outlook

Moving forward, reporting requirements are expected to be
extended to economic activities that potentially make a sub-
stantial contribution to one of four further environmental
objectives defined in the EU Taxonomy Regulation. These
objectives are: “Sustainable use and protection of water and
marine resources”, “Transition to a circular economy”,
“Pollution prevention and control” and “Protection and
restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems”. Our core activities
may be covered in future delegated acts.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

PATIENTS

We defined a new global quality index to track

and improve quality of care. Our new global Health
Equity Position Statement reflects our ongoing
commitment to advancing equity in health care.

Our patients' well-being is our top priority. As part of our com-
mitment to delivering safe, high-quality care to patients with
chronic kidney disease, we continually monitor the performance
of our products and services. In doing so, we focus on quality,
safety, accessibility, and patient experience. We strive to make
improvements wherever necessary, keeping in mind our goal to
expand access to high-quality health care. To this end, we invest
in innovations and new technologies, and leverage insights from
scientific research and collaboration with partners.

The Global Medical Office drives our medical strategy and
coordinates activities that contribute to the advancement of
medical science and patient care. The Global Medical Office is
led by our Global Chief Medical Officer, who is a member of the
Management Board. Key findings produced by the Global
Medical Office are reviewed by multiple stakeholders across
the Company. These findings are published on a reqgular basis
and shared with the medical community.

QUALITY OF CARE

Our commitment to continuously improve the quality of our care
is included in our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. Addition-
ally, our Global Patient Care Policy outlines the principles, respon-
sibilities, and processes in connection with our medical strategy
and quality management, patient experience surveys, and patient
grievance mechanisms. Responsibility for integrating the policy
into our business operations lies with our senior medical leader-
ship and interdisciplinary patient care teams across the globe.
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We continually measure and assess the quality of the care we
provide in our dialysis clinics based on internationally recog-
nized quality standards. These include those of the global non-
profit Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) ini-
tiative, the U.S. National Kidney Foundation's Disease Outcomes
Quality Initiative (KDOQI), and the European Renal Best Prac-
tice guidelines. We also consider industry-specific clinical
benchmarks and our own quality targets.

Additionally, we evaluate medical indicators on an ongoing basis
to measure the quality of care provided in our dialysis clinics. For
example, the global hospitalization rate measures the length of
time a patient spends in hospital. This is an important indicator,
given that hospitalization has a significant impact on a patient's
clinical outcomes and quality of life. In 2022, the global hospital-
ization rate was 10.6 days per patient, compared to 10.7 in 2021.

c3.8 GLOBAL INDICATORS - QUALITY OF CARE

Hospitalization
Rate

Days spent in hospital
per patient per year

Dialysis effectiveness:
Measures how well the body
is cleaned of waste substances

Vascular access:

Measures the share of patients
who do not receive dialysis via
a dialysis catheter

Anemia management: Measures
hemoglobin levels and specific
medications given during dialysis

In the reporting year, we implemented a new global measure-
ment to track quality of care: the quality index (SEE CHART 3.8).
This index reflects the combined results of three equally
weighted quality indicators:

> Dialysis effectiveness, which measures how sufficiently the
body is cleansed of waste substances,

» vascular access, which measures the share of patients who
do not receive dialysis via a dialysis catheter but rather via
safer vascular access alternatives that reduce risk of infec-
tion and improve outcomes,

> anemia management, which measures hemoglobin levels
and specific medications given during dialysis to achieve
optimum clinical outcomes, such as overall health and
well-being.

In 2022, our quality index score was 81%. The index provides a
harmonized global overview of different key quality indicators
that we have reported on individually in past years. We plan to
use the indicator to continuously measure and improve our
guality of care on a global level. By the end of 2024, we aim to
develop and pilot a new global training program to further edu-
cate our medical community on quality improvement.

It is important to us that our patients feel comfortable and are
satisfied with the care they receive. As part of our global
patient experience program, we aim to conduct patient experi-
ence surveys at least every two years. We use the information
collected to evaluate the services provided by our dialysis clin-
ics and implement global improvement plans. Over time, we
have strengthened our efforts to improve patient education,
individualized patient care, and service excellence. For exam-
ple, we have used feedback from the surveys to develop educa-
tional materials that help clinic staff inform their patients more
comprehensively about health-related topics.

We measure patient experience in our dialysis clinics using the
Net Promoter Score (NPS). The NPS reflects patients’ overall
satisfaction with our services and to what extent they feel well
cared for and supported. We have set the global target of
achieving an NPS score of at least 70 each year. In 2022, we
attained an NPS score of 71, the same value as in 2021. Our NPS
threshold target of at least 70 reflects our aim to continuously
obtain excellent scores and improve patient experience despite
challenges such as staffing shortages and the ongoing impacts
of the COVID-19 pandemic. As part of our NPS calculations, we
measure the share of patients that would recommend Fresenius
Medical Care. In the reporting year, 78% of our patients
answered in our survey that they would highly recommend our
services. In addition to the NPS, we also track survey coverage
and response rates. In 2022, we achieved a global coverage
rate of 92% in line with our target of 75% or above. We also
attained a response rate of 69%.

In addition to experience surveys, we provide patients and their
representatives with other feedback channels. Patients can
report grievances, make suggestions, or raise concerns anony-
mously if they wish. Our feedback channels include dedicated
hotlines and email addresses, complaint and suggestion boxes,
and a feedback form on our website. In 2022, we received 23,011
reports (2021: 24,449). We are committed to resolving issues in

Annual Target

Achieve a Net Promoter Score of at least 70

2021

2022

Annual
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a timely manner. Our policies allow patients to file reports without
fear of reprisal. We also provide training at the local level to
support staff in following patient grievance guidelines.

ACCESS TO HEALTH CARE

As an international health care company, we recognize the
importance of improving access to health care and are working
to provide affordable treatment to a growing number of
patients worldwide. We focus on improving both access to care
and level-of-care outcomes. For example, we consider barriers
to access such as cost and ease of travel to our dialysis clinics
and a lack of education on kidney disease and treatment
options. We aim to increase the number of patients who receive
home dialysis as well as those who receive kidney transplants.
Additionally, we have improved our digital offering to make it
easier for patients to access their clinical information and our
services. We also have crisis preparedness processes in place
so that patients have continued access to treatment during
disaster and emergency situations.

Health equity

We prioritize health equity in our efforts to increase access to
care worldwide and to support the development of sustainable
health care systems. We believe that every patient, regardless
of their ethnic origin or race, nationality, age, ability, gender
identity, sexual orientation, religion, or socioeconomic status,
should be given equal opportunities and support to maintain
and improve their health. This also means striving to make
treatment and kidney health education available to those in
need. As part of our efforts to promote health equity, we are
currently analyzing care opportunities and health outcomes in
the countries in which we operate. For instance, in the U.S. we
have developed digital dashboards to identify inequities that
arise in the home dialysis and kidney transplant settings. These
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include, for example, inequities relating to age, race, language,
and gender. In 2023, we intend to set health equity targets and
track their progress.

In 2022, we developed a Global Health Equity Statement that
outlines our commitment to expand our knowledge and ser-
vices in ways that advance equity in care. We have also created
a Health Equity Committee in the U.S. This committee is dedi-
cated to sharing best practices and accelerating our progress in
addressing health care inequities. We plan to start expanding
these activities outside of the U.S. in 2023 as we develop our
global health equity roadmap.

Supporting patients in underserved
communities

Demand for affordable health care products and services is
increasing in emerging markets. To facilitate access to dialysis
treatment, we developed the 4008A dialysis machine series.
These machines meet high therapy standards while reducing
costs for health care systems. They are designed to be easy to
handle and combine high-quality hemodialysis treatment with
proven reliability and operational efficiency. Since 2019, the
4008A series has been successfully launched in nine emerging
markets in Asia.

Treatment options

We treat patients across the full spectrum of chronic kidney
disease. Our aim is to empower them to make informed deci-
sions about the treatment options that best fit their unique cir-
cumstances. Home dialysis can provide patients with the oppor-
tunity for greater independence and control over their time
and health outcomes. It also allows us to expand our health
care capacity, increasing the number of patients that can
receive dialysis treatment. In addition, by facilitating access to
treatment for patients living in more remote regions, we aim to

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

widen our geographical reach and reduce patient travel. In
2022, we provided home therapy to around 58,000 peritoneal
and hemodialysis patients worldwide, or 14% of our total
patient base. Globally, the number of our home dialysis patients
increased by 7.5% in 2022 compared with 2021. In the reporting
year, 15% of treatments in the U.S. were performed in a home
setting. We have set ourselves the aspirational target of
increasing this value to 25% by 2025.

In the U.S. alone, we informed about 57,000 people living with
chronic kidney disease or end-stage kidney disease about home
dialysis options in 2022. We
did this with the support of
more than 190 internal kidney
care experts.

2025 Target

Perform

25%

of dialysis treatments
in the U.S. in a home
setting

More information about home
dialysis can be found in the
"Research and development”
section of the Group Manage-
ment Report starting on
PAGE 30.

Crisis and emergency response

We consider it our responsibility to provide access to health
care even under difficult circumstances, for example in the
case of a health crisis or natural disaster. We have dialysis clin-
ics in many regions of the world with diverse geographic, social,
and economic conditions. These clinics serve a vulnerable pop-
ulation of patients who need dialysis treatment multiple times
a week. To allow us to continue treating our patients in extreme
conditions, we have developed an emergency response system
comprising disaster response teams at the local level.

Before the onset of Hurricane lan in fall 2022, local disaster
response team members from facilities in Florida were dis-



NON-FINANCIAL GROUP REPORT

Sustainability management Compliance

Patients Protecting data

Employees Supplier management

93

About this report
Other key figures
Independent Practitioner’s

Environmental protection Human rights

patched to provide patients with emergency kits and instruc-
tions on how to touch base with their care teams. Of the roughly
100 facilities that were closed on the day before the storm hit,
all but one were fully operational within three days and all
affected patients were accounted for.

In 2022, crisis response measures were also activated as a
reaction to the war in the Ukraine. For example, when it became
impossible for our patients to safely travel to our dialysis clinic
in Chernihiv, patients and their family members were invited to
move into the clinic. During this period, clinic staff provided
patients with food and medicine. We regularly test our emer-
gency response procedures to assess service safety. Further-
more, we continue to donate dialysis machines and medical
supplies to organizations that require support.

ADVANCING HEALTH CARE

We strive to continuously improve the care that we provide to
patients. This includes facilitating clinical trials, which are a
crucial step in developing new treatments. We are also further
exploring data-based methods that allow us to advance care
by means of mathematic modelling and virtual clinical trial
simulations. Our research and development activities follow
regulatory guidance for clinical research practices. They are
conducted in compliance with ethical standards. In a global
company position paper made available on our website in
2022, we outlined our bioethics principles. These include our
commitment to upholding ethical standards while advancing
health care and managing related risk, as well as advocating
patient rights and animal welfare. It is important to us that our
research partners follow guidelines that are similar to our own.

Report

Scientific research

We strive to make the results of our research activities avail-
able to the broader public. In 2022, we published 169 scientific
documents worldwide. These publications covered topics such
as eco-friendly dialysis equipment, health literacy, and the pro-
vision of lifesaving care for patients with kidney failure during
the war in Ukraine. In the reporting year, we also completed
four clinical trials.

Our Frenova Renal Research division provides research ser-
vices to third parties. Currently, we are working on a project
aimed at developing the largest renal-focused genomic registry
in the world. The goal is to enroll over 100,000 patients by
2025. This new registry will contain genetic data from chronic
kidney disease patients worldwide, which will help researchers
improve their understanding of kidney disease and treatments.

More information about the Frenova Renal Research division
can be found in the “Opportunities management” section of
the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 75.

Innovation and digitalization

Innovation and digitalization are important strategic elements
that contribute to our success. We aim to develop innovative,
safe, and user-friendly digital products and systems that meet
high quality standards. Our goal is to further improve the qual-
ity and efficiency of treatments. To this end, we are continu-
ously developing digital products and services designed to
improve access to and advance health care. This has become
more critical during the COVID-19 pandemic.

We have defined our commitment to continuous innovation in
our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct. Our Care Enablement
segment, which was officially implemented on January 1, 2023,
oversees the development of our products. The Global Medical
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Office is responsible for our clinical digitalization strategies and
the use of digital clinical data for research and operations.

To access the latest innovative technologies, we invest in
research and development and collaborate with external part-
ners, including academic institutions. We also invest in startups
that develop products, technologies, and therapies in the
health care sector. In 2021, we initiated a process to further
integrate specific environmental criteria in our research and
development activities. In 2022, we launched a global event
aimed at fostering innovation in our product business. As part
of this activity, employees were encouraged to develop new
ideas that focused on the topics of sustainability and efficiency.

In 2022, we continued to develop digital options with the aim of
improving access to information for the patients under our
care. Our digital platforms enable virtual contact, which helped
to reduce the risk of infection for patients and staff during the
pandemic, for example. Keeping patients and care teams con-
nected and giving them access to recent treatment data is vital
for us to be able to continuously monitor and improve medical
outcomes, user experience, and the effectiveness of care. Cur-
rently, we provide two patient engagement platforms that are
accessible via digital apps. Our PatientHub app is used predom-
inantly in the U.S. and our MyCompanion app is available in 23
countries in Europe, Africa, Asia-Pacific, and Latin America.
Combined, these apps had more than 25,000 active users in
December 2022. In the U.S. alone, we recorded almost 250,000
remote telehealth visits between patients, care teams, and phy-
sicians by the end of 2022 via the PatientHub app. The app also
enables home dialysis patients to communicate any concerns
to their clinicians and care teams in between scheduled visits.
As a result of these interactions, they can resolve treatment
issues earlier and prevent hospitalizations.

We also use virtual reality (VR) and gamification technologies
to support health care professionals in training their patients in
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home dialysis procedures. In 2022, we rolled out our new VR
training tool in France and the Netherlands. The tool, which is
also available in Germany, is expected to be rolled out to
further countries globally in 2023.

For more information about research and development, please
see the "Research and development” section of the Group
Management Report starting on PAGE 30.

Collaborating to improve health care

We also work with external organizations to facilitate scientific
progress and explore new ways of improving quality of care. In
2022, we were involved in 67 key partnerships with academia,
research institutes, and peers. Our focus areas included car-
dio-protection, personalized and precise medicine, public health,
and the impact of COVID-19 on vulnerable patient populations.

In the reporting year, we continued in our efforts to share best
practices relating to dialysis treatment. Worldwide, more than
3,000 people attended external workshops that we hosted on
topics such as in-center therapies, home dialysis, and critical
care. We also organized webinars on various dialysis product-
and care-related topics and developed an openly accessible
global e-learning course on best practices in dialysis care. The
webinars were viewed by more than 20,000 attendees in 2022,
and the e-learning course was attended by close to 75,000
participants.

We also strive to increase access to health care with our part-
nerships. For example, we invest in the biotechnology company
Humacyte, which is working on a project to develop bioengi-
neered blood vessels for vascular repair and replacement.
Humacyte has provided these blood vessels to surgeons across
the Ukraine, who use them to repair traumatic blood vessel

injuries suffered during the war.
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A further focus area is expanding access to and improving
transplant medicine processes. Our Head of Transplant Medi-
cine leads our worldwide efforts to achieve these goals. The
Fresenius Medical Care Foundation collaborates with several
leading organizations to raise awareness and provide support
to people living with kidney disease.

More information on our collaboration with research and innova-
tion partners can be found in the “Research and development”
section of the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 30.

PRODUCT STEWARDSHIP

We aim to develop safe, high-quality products that meet the
needs of patients and their caregivers. Thanks to our global
network of production sites, we control the procurement, pro-
duction, distribution, and supply of renal and multi-organ ther-
apy products. We manage quality and safety in our product
business over the entire product life cycle, from design and
development to operation and application.

We are subject to governmental regulation in nearly every
country in which we operate. This includes, for example, EU
legislation on the Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and
Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) and the Restriction of
Hazardous Substances (RoHS). Further relevant regulations
are the Medical Device Directive (MDD) as well as the Medical
Device Reqgulation (MDR). In addition, we comply with the Code
of Federal Regulations (CFR) of the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA).

Product safety and quality
When it comes to the safety and quality of our products and

services, we are guided by our Global Quality Policy. This policy
also covers our obligation to comply with relevant regulations
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and maintain environmentally sound and efficient operations.
It is the basis for regional quality manuals and further policies
covering responsibilities, training, risk assessments, and audits.
Product safety and quality are overseen by our newly estab-
lished Care Enablement segment, which was implemented on
January 1, 2023. The Management Board is regularly informed
about our global quality and safety performance.

Products must comply with safety and quality standards con-
cerning product development, manufacturing, their use in clin-
ics, customer training, and complaint handling. Our safety and
quality processes are embedded in quality management sys-
tems, in line with legal and regulatory requirements. Over the
past few years, we have merged our quality management sys-
tems in Europe, Middle East, and Africa, as well as in Latin
America and Asia-Pacific. We aim to implement a global quality
management system by 2024. We also plan to introduce a
global electronic training system by 2024.

Certification and audits

We reqularly carry out internal audits following a risk-based
approach. We assess our quality management systems against
internal and regulatory standards. Internal quality audits at our
local sites help us determine the effectiveness of these systems.

739 CERTIFICATION OF OUR PRODUCTION SITES
IN %

Production sites certified'

Certification 2022 2021
ISO 9001/13485 7 74
GMP/cGMP 46 49
MDSAP 29 29

' Production sites managed by the Manufacturing and Supply Chain division.
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Our consolidated quality management systemis certified accord-
ing to ISO 9001 and ISO 13485 (SEE TABLE 3.9 ON PAGE 94). In
addition, we completed the Medical Device Single Audit Program
(MDSAP) for this system. Our production sites are also subject to
reqgular external quality audits and reviews in accordance with
local requirements. Audits are carried out according to local reg-
ulations, the Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP), the current
Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP), ISO 9001, ISO 13485,
or MDSAP.

T3.10 AUDIT SCORE

Year 2022 2021

Audit score' 0.3 0.1

" Production sites managed by the Manufacturing and Supply Chain division.

We have defined KPIs to monitor our quality objectives and
prevent adverse events. In 2022, more than 50 certification
audits were performed at our production sites. We achieved an
audit score of 0.3 (SEE TABLE 3.10). This score indicates the
ratio of major and critical findings to the number of external
audits. We have set the target of an average global audit score
not exceeding 1.0 to maintain
the effectiveness of our qual-
ity management systems and
certifications. All audit find-
ings are documented and
escalated depending on their
criticality, and used to deter-
mine and implement appro-
priate corrective and preven-
tive measures.

Annual Target

Keep global key
performance indicator
for critical and major
audit findings below

10
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Post-market surveillance

Post-market surveillance, or the act of monitoring the products
that have been released to the market, is an integral part of our
quality management. It is essential that our products and ser-
vices are effective and reliable, and that they pose as little risk
as possible to patients. Our standards for planning, conducting,
and monitoring clinical studies help us enhance the quality and
safety of our products. Should any issue arise concerning the
safety of our products, we take corrective action. This could
include publishing further information and data on the product
after market introduction or recalling the product. We strive to
comply with legal and regulatory requirements in monitoring
the adverse effects of drugs - also called pharmacovigilance -
and medical devices. In this context, we collect and review
information relating to adverse events and product complaints.
The topic of transparently reporting adverse events and prod-
uct complaints is incorporated in our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct.

Product improvements

We continuously strive to enhance the quality and safety of our
products. The number of product improvements is an indicator
of our performance. Improvements are defined as changes that
focus on at least one of the following aspects: patient safety
and quality, product performance and delivery capability, envi-
ronmental performance, or customer service. This could involve
process improvements in production, for example, as well as
improvements already made by our suppliers to the items we
purchase from them. In 2022, we implemented more than
2,400 improvements to our dialysis machines, dialyzers, filters,
and solution products.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

More information on quality management at our production
sites can be found in the “Quality management at our produc-
tion sites” section of the Group Management Report starting
on PAGE 33. For more information about the regulatory envi-
ronment in which we operate for our product business, please
see the “Regulatory environment, product quality” section of
the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 63.

Progress

M Global quality index developed with 3 KPIs
W 78% of our patients would highly recommend our services

M 169 scientific documents published as part of our research
activities
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EMPLOYEES

We continued in our efforts to foster an inclusive
and welcoming environment for our employees.
Our activities included updating our global diver-
sity targets and implementing new global policies
and standards on topics such as engagement,
talent review, and fair pay.

Human rights

Our people have always been key to our success. It is important
that we continue to hire and retain the best people for the job,
inspire them to stay with us long term, and support their devel-
opment. We aim to cultivate a workplace where every employee
feels valued and part of a winning team.

Our Global Human Resources (HR) function, which reports to
the CEO, is responsible for coordinating our employment-
related processes worldwide. We continually develop and
improve the HR standards that govern our global activities. In
2022, we updated or newly developed a total of ten global
employee policies on relevant topics such as talent manage-
ment practices and diversity, equity, and inclusion. For example,
we implemented a policy stipulating that we support the
creation of global Employee Resource Groups (ERGs) to foster
inclusion in the workplace. We also developed new global
targets to drive improvement in strategic focus areas, such as
employee engagement and diversity.

In 2022, one of our employee-related priorities was to success-
fully transform our global operating model through the Com-
pany's FME25 Program. This included, for example, identifying
leaders to fill top positions in the new organizational structure
and managing workforce migration processes.
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EMPLOYEES WORLDWIDE

At the end of 2022, the number of employees at Fresenius
Medical Care worldwide had decreased to 128,044 from 130,251
in 2021 (SEE CHART 3.11). Most of our employees work in produc-
tion and services (86%), followed by administrative functions
(9%). The region with the largest number of employees is
North America (48%), followed by Europe, the Middle East, and
Africa (17%). In the year under review, we hired more than
33,000 new employees. The average tenure of our employees

increased from 7.6 years in 2021to 7.9 years in 2022. TABLE 3.12

ON PAGE 99 provides an overview of key employee figures.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Our voluntary turnover rate was 19.9% in 2022. This reflects a
highly competitive labor market, especially in the clinic and
manufacturing sectors. It also reflects a shortage of health
care workers and the challenging environment created by the
COVID-19 pandemic. To address this, we implemented various
measures to help managers improve employee retention. In the
U.S., we started a retention project targeting more than 500
dialysis clinics with above-average attrition rates in 2022. This
project involved conducting interviews with employees and
supporting clinic managers with action planning.

c3.11 EMPLOYEES ACROSS REGIONS
NORTH
AMERICA
(0]
-0 & 48%

73%

34%
66%

128,044

EMPLOYEES

Il Men [ Women

EUROPE,
MIDDLE EAST
AND AFRICA

17%

27%

ASIA-
PACIFIC

66%

11%

CORPORATE
43%

15%

57%
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To gain an even better overview of our workforce and to sup-
port the development of future performance indicators, we are
implementing a global HR digital information system. This
system is already in place in Asia-Pacific, Latin America, and
North America and covers roughly 70% of our total workforce.
We expect to complete the global rollout of the system with the
Europe, Middle East, and Africa region in 2023.

ATTRACTING AND
DEVELOPING TALENT

We aim to remain an attractive employer and continue to
recruit, engage, and retain excellent employees. To strengthen
our competitive position, we have various targets, such as
reducing our voluntary turnover rate in the coming years. In
2022, we issued a global Employee Value Proposition Policy
outlining the core benefits that we want to offer our employees
as well as underlying processes, roles, and responsibilities.

We are committed to providing all employees with learning and
development opportunities. In doing so, we want to enable
them to build capabilities that allow us to respond effectively to
ongoing changes in our business environment. As a company
operating in a reqgulated environment, it is also critical that we
continuously build on our employees' skills and knowledge to
maintain operational and regulatory compliance.

We have introduced online learning platforms that allow
employees to pursue their career goals and interests in a
self-directed manner. For example, our Advanced Renal
Education Program provides employees with access to courses
on topics such as chronic kidney disease and home dialysis.
We aim to continuously increase participation in our digital
learning schemes. In this context, we have developed a global
learning measurement strategy that aims to improve learner

Report

experience and drive employee engagement. In 2022, more
than 16,000 employees participated in self-directed courses
on our digital platforms. Furthermore, through our learning
management system, some 156,000 users worldwide partici-
pated in training courses on topics such as compliance, lead-
ership, and health and safety. In addition, we provided certain
employee groups with specific training. In the U.S. alone,
9,500 leaders have completed our regional leadership devel-
opment program since 2014.

We identify individual learning needs through development and
career conversations. In 2023, we intend to roll out a globally
harmonized performance management process to over 50% of
our employees via our global performance and development
platform. We plan to offer access to this process to the remain-
der of employees in early 2024.

In 2022, we were named one of Newsweek's Most Loved Work-
places in the U.S. for the second year in a row, putting us among
the top-100 companies recognized for employee happiness and
satisfaction at work.

2027 Target

Achieve an Employee Engagement Score of at least 63%

2022

s D, =

55%
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EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

We strive to give every employee the opportunity to provide
feedback and engage openly and directly with the Company. In
2022, we developed a global policy that lays out our approach
for regularly conducting engagement surveys and responding
to the results. We also set a global target of achieving an
employee engagement score that is in line with the health care
industry benchmark of 63% by 2027. In the reporting year, we
conducted our third global engagement survey. We use these
surveys to identify strengths, as well as opportunities to
improve our working environment. Our employee engagement
score is based on three aspects: how many employees would
speak positively about Fresenius Medical Care, how many
intend to stay with Fresenius Medical Care, and how many feel
motivated to perform at Fresenius Medical Care.

Almost 82,000 employees worldwide responded to our
employee engagement survey in 2022, reflecting a participa-
tion rate of 71% — down slightly from 74% in the last full survey
from 2021. The survey revealed that 55% of employees who
participated are actively engaged - a decrease of one percent-
age point compared to the previous year. We achieved this
result despite the challenging environment created by the
COVID-19 pandemic and our ongoing organizational transfor-
mation. Furthermore, in 2022 69% of our employees felt a
sense of belonging at work (2021: 71%). In addition to the
employee engagement score, we reflect the results of our
engagement survey with a global employee engagement index.
This index rates the same three questions that make up our
engagement score on a scale that ranges from 1 (I fully dis-
agree) to 6 (I fully agree). In 2022, our employee engagement
index was 4.4 (2021: 4.5).
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COMPENSATION AND BENEFITS

Human rights

We are committed to providing fair compensation and benefits
to our employees. We strive to develop compensation and ben-
efit packages that attract and retain motivated staff. We offer
employees total rewards packages that are designed to reflect
the relative value of each job and support career progression
in line with market trends and local requirements. In 2022, we
started a review of our global rewards strategy, including our
existing approaches and ongoing activities. From 2023, we aim
to further define these activities, harmonize programs and
processes, and set global standards on topics such as salary
structures. The development of a global job architecture will
increase the transparency and comparability of positions. It
will also serve as a basis for making decisions on career devel-
opment, compensation and benefits offers, and strategic work-
force planning.

In 2022, we developed a Fair Pay Statement. This global position
statement outlines our commitment to applying fair pay and
compensation principles to employees. We focus on developing
pay structures that are market competitive and internally
equitable. Our pay structures are also designed to support career
progression and reward and incentivize measurable perfor-
mance.

Our long-term incentive plan (LTIP) aims to help enable lead-
ers and key talents to participate in our company's long-term
value creation. More than 1,200 employees participated in the
LTIP in 2022.

Information on personnel expenses can be found in the
"“Employees” section of the Group Management Report start-
ing on PAGE 33.
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DIVERSITY, EQUITY,
AND INCLUSION

We believe that promoting diversity, equity, and inclusion bene-
fits all employees. It is our ambition to make everyone in the
Company feel safe, welcome, and appreciated, and to cultivate
a sense of belonging. This commitment is also incorporated in
our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.

In 2022, we issued three global policies aimed at advancing
these areas: the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Policy, the
Employee Resource Group Policy, and the Diverse Candidate
Slate Policy. We also educated our leaders on how to model
inclusive behaviors. In the U.S. alone, we conducted ten training
sessions with more than 2,500 leaders and employees to foster
understanding about the value of inclusion in the workplace.

Gender diversity in our main governance bodies and at man-
agement level increased in the reporting year. As of Decem-
ber 31,2022, women accounted for 69% of our total workforce.

2027 Target

Percentage of women in leadership positions:

in the first level
below the Management Board

Y

in the second level
below the Management Board

s D
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The proportion of women in
the first two levels below the
Management Board was 30%.

2030 Targets

Increase the
representation of
women in management
positions to reflect the
percentage of women
in the global employee
population

In 2020, we defined gender
diversity targets to be achieved
in 2025. We reached these tar-
gets in 2022 in the context of
our organizational transforma-
tion. As a result, the Manage-
ment Board has set new diver-
sity goals. By the end of 2027,
we aim to increase the share of
women in the first level below
the Management Board to 35%, and the share of women in the
second level to 45%. The first management level below the
Management Board includes all managers worldwide who
directly report to a member of the Management Board and
participate in the LTIP. The second management level includes all
managers worldwide who directly report to a manager of the
first management level and participate in the LTIP.

Increase the
representation of
ethnically diverse
managers in the U.S.
year over year

We also set ourselves the goal of increasing the representation
of women in management positions to reflect the percentage
of women in the global employee population by 2030. Annual
reporting on our progress towards this target, which we intend
to disclose as of 2023, will be based on the Company's updated
global operating model. Furthermore, we aim to grow the num-
ber of ethnically diverse managers in the U.S. year over year by
2030. At the end of 2022, 31% of managers in the U.S. were
ethnically diverse.

We have additionally developed objectives for specific focus
areas. For example, we aim to increase the global number of
ERGs at our company. These groups refer to employees who
build a network based on shared common interests. They are
designed to increase participating employees’ sense of inclusion
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and belonging in the workplace. ERGs also provide a platform
for employees to engage with various elements of the Compa-
ny's mission, values, business objectives, and sustainability
efforts. By end-2022, we had 16 ERGs. Going forward, we expect
this number as well as the number of employees engaged in
such groups to grow.

More information on gender diversity in the Management
Board, the Supervisory Board, and at the two levels below the
Management Board can be found in the “Diversity concept and
targets” section of the Corporate Governance Declaration
starting on PAGE 136.

DIALOGUE WITH EMPLOYEES
AND THEIR REPRESENTATIVES

We believe the best way to interact with our employees is
through open and direct communication. We are committed to
responding promptly and fairly to questions, concerns, or
issues, and we encourage all employees to speak directly with
their supervisors, managers, or the HR department regarding
concerns. They can also use any other available channels, such
as our Compliance Action Line, to raise issues.

We are committed to sharing information and consulting with
elected or established collective bodies that represent our
workforce. These include our works councils, recognized
unions, or other established employee representatives. In cases
where our employees choose to be represented by one of these
organizations, we cooperate in good faith and in accordance
with applicable laws and practices. Collective bargaining agree-
ments apply to different groups of employees within Fresenius
Medical Care, depending on local laws and practices. In Europe,
these apply to 56% of our employees, and worldwide to 23%.

Report

T3.12 EMPLOYEE OVERVIEW AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

Employment overview 2022 2021 Employee retention 2022 2021
Employees' 128,044 130,251 Voluntary turnover rate (%)3 19.9 16.5
Employees (FTE) 120,216 122,909 External hire rate (%)* 26.0 23.7
Staff costs in €M 7939 6,962 Average service length in years 79 7.6

Average staff costs per employee (E/FTE) 64,975 56,262
Demographic 2022 2021
Employees per region (%) 2022 2021 Average age in years 44 42
EMEA (incl. Germany) 17 17 Share of employees under 30 (%) 15 16
Germany 6 6 Share of employees between 30 and 50 (%) 55} 58
North America 48 48 Share of employees 50+ (%) 30 26

Asia-Pacific n 1

. . Women overall and at different leadership
Latin America ° % levels (%) 2022 2021
2

Corporate (i 5 Company overall 69 69
. Supervisory Board 33 33

Employees per functional area (%) 2022 2021
K K Management Board 40 25

Production and services 86 85
. - First management level® 26 27

Administration © 10
A Second management level® 31 31

Sales and marketing 4 4
Research and development ! ! Employee engagement (%) 2022 2021
Engagement score’ 55 56
Participation rate 7 74

' Calculation based on headcount if not otherwise stated. 2021 figures have been adjusted from full-time equivalents to total headcount to conform with the current year's presentation. We believe this
information provides a more accurate assessment of the number of our employees and provides additional insight regarding the composition of our personnel expenses incurred for the years presented.

2 Including the Global Manufacturing, Quality, and Supply and Global Research and Development divisions, and the Global Medical Office.

3 Calculated as the number of employees who left the organization voluntarily in relation to the number of employees at the end of the year.

4 Calculated as the number of employees who joined the organization in relation to the number of employees at the end of the year.

5 Updated definition: Includes all managers worldwide who directly report to a member of the Management Board and participate in the Long Term Incentive Plan. Figures for 2021 have been
calculated based on this updated definition.

¢ Updated definition: Includes all managers worldwide who directly report to a manager in the first level below the Management Board and participate in the Long Term Incentive Plan. Figures for
2021 have been calculated based on this updated definition.

7 Calculated based on the percentage of affirmative responses to three questions in the engagement survey (see above) in 2022.

In Germany, throughout 2022, management was in regular
exchange with the works council and its committees on various
workplace-related topics. For example, discussions were held

about a program on flexible working conditions at the Compa-
ny's head office in Bad Homburg, Germany. Other key focus
points in information exchanges included the implementation
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of our new global operating model, and aspects pertaining to
our FME25 Program.

Fresenius Medical Care employees in Europe are also repre-
sented by the Fresenius SE European Works Council. This Coun-
cil and its operating committee convened several times in 2022.
Our management representatives also attended the annual
meeting with representatives of three global unions. Our busi-
ness units and entities at country or site level are responsible
for working with local workplace representative bodies and
trade unions. Discussions with these representatives focus on
local matters and initiatives.

More information on employee grievance mechanisms can be
found in the “Compliance"” section starting on PAGE 105. For
more information on our labor standards and human rights
principles, see the “Human rights" section starting on PAGE 110.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
AND SAFETY

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work environ-
ment for our employees and contractors. In 2022, we rolled out
our Global Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Policy. This pol-
icy outlines our key principles in this area. In the reporting year,
we also established an Occupational Health and Safety function
within the Global Legal department. This function drives the Com-
pany's global OHS strategy and manages related activities includ-
ing setting and monitoring global goals, targets, and KPIs. In the
reporting year, we agreed on several short-, mid- and long-term
OHS targets that will form the basis of our global OHS strategy.

We strive to prevent work-related accidents and hazards to pro-
tect our employees and contractors. We track and analyze acci-
dents at local and regional levels, identify their root causes, and

Report

take corrective action. In 2021, we began collecting and report-
ing on work-related fatalities on a global level. No work-related
fatalities were recorded between 2020 and 2022. In the year
under review, we also began reporting on a new global indi-
cator: the Total Recordable Injury Frequency Rate (TRIFR). This
indicator is defined as the total number of recordable work-
related injuries per 200,000 hours worked. In 2022, our TRIFR
was equal to 2.55. Beginning in 2023, we plan to include a
further global indicator, the Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
(LTIFR) in our reporting.

To help us track and monitor accidents more efficiently, we
started to develop a global OHS IT management tool in 2022.
The tool will initially be rolled out to our locations in North
America and Latin America as well as all global production
sites. We have set ourselves the target of using this tool for
reporting in 80% of those locations by the end of 2023.

In 2022, we continued with our global OHS risk assessment. A pre-
liminary analysis identified injuries from needlesticks, slips, trips,
and falls as the biggest risks for our operations. Based on these
findings, we performed a global analysis on the risks derived from:

> Insufficient safety standards in the provision and mainte-
nance of the workplace, workstation, and work equipment,

> the absence of appropriate protective measures to avoid
exposure to chemical, physical, or biological substances,

» the lack of training and instruction for employees.

As agreed in our project roadmap, we intend to further identify
and prioritize high-risk areas and to develop specific risk miti-
gation measures. For example, in the Asia-Pacific region, we
have designed training courses to educate front-line clinicians
on how to manage and de-escalate volatile situations in clinics.

Some of our production sites and dialysis clinics are certified
according to international health and safety standards. These

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

include ISO 45001 in Europe, Middle East and Africa, as well as
Latin America, and the Australian Council of Health Care Stan-
dards (ACHS) in Asia-Pacific. In addition to external audits by
relevant authorities, we conduct internal reviews and audits to
monitor our compliance with corresponding regulations, poli-
cies, and procedures. In recognition of the success of our safety
programs and initiatives, we were presented with the national
CNA Safety in Excellence Award in North America for the 21st
time. In the reporting year, we were also named as one of the
100 healthiest workplaces in America by the awards program
Healthiest Employers in the U.S.

To prevent incidents and increase awareness, we provide health
and safety training to all employees. Employee training courses
in our dialysis clinics cover, for example, the safe use of sharps
and disposables, hand hygiene, infection prevention, and emer-
gency management. Training at our production sites focuses
on the safe handling of work equipment and chemicals, and
emergency prevention and response, among other topics. In
the U.S. alone, more than 48,000 employees completed health
and safety training in 2022.

B Women in leadership positions increased to 26%
at the first level below the Management Board and 31%
at the second level below the Management Board

B New global targets set for employee engagement and
diversity

M 16 Employee Resource Groups established by end-2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION

We continued with our efforts to reduce the impact
of our business activities on the environment.
Furthermore, we set up a project team to work on
our climate target implementation roadmap

and developed new processes for managing waste
and wastewater.

We strive to continually improve our environmental perfor-
mance and are dedicated to developing, producing, and provid-
ing our products and services in an environmentally sustain-
able way. In our business practices, we are committed to
reducing our environmental impact.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

In 2022, we set up a governance function responsible for global
environmental management in the Global Sustainability depart-
ment. Responsibility for environmental management in our
dialysis clinics lies with the respective management in our
global Care Delivery segment, which was implemented on
January 1, 2023 as part of our new operating model. Our global
Care Enablement segment, which also came into effect in 2023,
is accountable for environmentally sustainable manufacturing,
product development, supply chain, and sales operations for
our product business. Updates on our environmental protec-
tion activities are provided to top management as needed.

In the reporting year, our global network of environmental
experts continued to exchange reqgularly on best practices
related to topics such as energy and waste management, decar-
bonization, and water. These experts, which include representa-
tives from the Company's new global structures, provide input

on the implementation of our global environmental manage-
ment strategy and goals.

Our Global Environmental Policy provides a framework for
environmental management. It addresses how we manage and
monitor our environmental impact and forms the basis of other
policies and manuals. In 2022, we stepped up our communica-
tion activities in connection with this policy. This included inter-
nal articles, emails, presentations, and Q&A sessions, targeting
all levels of the organization.

We also have various guidelines that help us manage global
data and correctly report on environmental indicators relating
to energy, greenhouse gas emissions, and water. In 2023, we
plan to extend these guidelines to other indicators such as
waste and wastewater in line with internal and external report-
ing requirements. In preparation for this step, in 2022 we began
setting up new global management procedures for waste and
wastewater. We also trained employees involved in the respec-
tive reporting processes.

Part of our environmental management involves monitoring
national and international regulations concerning the environ-
ment so that our internal policies and manuals are up to date.
We have established internal environmental standards, which
we complement with external certifications where it adds
value. Our production sites, distribution centers, laboratories,
and dialysis clinics are subject to internal and external audits
(SEE TABLE 3.13). This involves checking their compliance with
environmental laws and requlations, certification require-
ments, and internal guidelines. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic,
some audits in 2022 took place virtually.

7313 COVERAGE OF CERTIFIED PRODUCTION SITES
IN %

Certification 2022 2021
I1SO 14001 25 25
ISO 50001 5 5

We track and analyze data on the environmental impact of our
dialysis clinics and production sites worldwide and work to
continuously improve data availability and quality. This also
helps us manage resources more effectively. We use digital
tools to support environmental reporting across our regions
and functions.

c 314 GREEN & LEAN INITIATIVE

winae 2110

environmental projects, we expect to:

3

h

»18,000  >88,000

Save energy Save water
t CO.e tons
=4,400 >270
Recycle or

Prevent emissions reuse waste
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At our production sites, we are involved in local environmental
projects that we report on as part of our global Green & Lean ini-
tiative (SEE CHART 3.14 ON PAGE 101). Each production site is respon-
sible for defining, planning, and implementing these projects. The
Green & Lean initiative enables best practices to be shared across
the organization. Its objective is to reduce emissions, promote the
efficient use of natural resources, and increase recycling rates. By
the end of 2022, more than 110 projects were reported as part of
the initiative. They were aimed at, for example, using efficient
equipment to reduce energy consumption and improving pro-
cesses to save water. As a result of these projects, per year we
expect to save more than 18,000 MWh of energy (0.7% of our total
energy consumption), prevent 4,400 tons of CO, equivalent emis-
sions (0.6% of our total Scope 1and 2 emissions), save more than
88,000 m? of water (0.2% of our total water consumption), and
recycle or reuse more than 270 tons of waste.

We also include environmental considerations in our scientific
activities. For example, in 2022, we collaborated with other
institutions to research the impact of climate change on dialy-
sis patients.

c 315 CLIMATE TARGETS

-50% CO-e Climate neutral
emissions by 2030 by 2040

We commit to become
climate neutral for both
Scope 1 and Scope 2
emissions by 2040

By 2030 we aim to halve Scope
1and Scope 2 emissions
compared with reported
emission levels in 2020

Report

Information on our risk management, including environ-
ment-related risks, can be found in the “Risk management”
section starting on PAGE 87 and the "ESG requirements” section
of the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 73.

ENERGY AND
CLIMATE PROTECTION

Energy efficiency and climate protection are integral aspects of
our global environmental strategy. We are committed to devel-
oping measures to reduce our energy consumption and green-
house gas (GHG) emissions across our business. At the same
time, we continue to give top priority to the safety and quality
of our products and services.

Reducing our footprint

In 2022, we defined global climate targets. We plan to be
climate neutral in our operations by 2040. By 2030, we aim to
reduce Scope 1 (direct) and Scope 2 (indirect) emissions by
50% compared with those reported in the base year 2020 (SEE
CHART 3.15). Our GHG emissions are calculated based on energy
data reported by our production sites and electricity data
reported by our dialysis clinics.

In the reporting year, we set up a project team to drive the
implementation of our climate roadmap. To achieve our tar-
gets, we currently focus on renewable energy sourcing, which
includes the purchase of renewable energy certificates, and
energy efficiency measures. Moving forward, we also intend to
evaluate other measures for reducing our emissions such as
process optimization, renewable energy generation, and tech-
nology assessments.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

2030 and 2040 Targets

Reduce total Scope 1and Scope 2 Emissions'
(THOUS t CO,e)

2020 781.9

2021 737.0

2022

Targetzxé)e;(; %//////% Target: 50% of 2020 emissions

Target year
2040

659.5

‘ CLIMATE NEUTRAL

Includes Scope 1and Scope 2 market-based emissions at our production sites and Scope 2
market-based emissions from electricity consumption resulting from treatments at our
dialysis clinics.

One of the primary activities we engage in to decrease our
overall emissions footprint is the procurement of renewable
electricity. In 2022, we purchased 250,000 MWh of renewable
emission free electricity via Green-e certified Renewable
Energy Certificates (RECs). The purchased renewable electric-
ity accounts for 19% of our total electricity consumption. This
represents 21% of our global Scope 2 market-based emissions
(SEE TABLE 3.16 ON PAGE 103).

We are also currently assessing Scope 3 emissions that arise
from activities or assets that we do not own or control along
our value chain. With this information, we intend to evaluate
the possible inclusion of Scope 3 emissions in our climate tar-
get roadmap. In our Scope 3 assessment, we place particular
focus on five categories that we consider especially relevant to
our business: purchased goods and services, upstream trans-
portation and distribution, waste generated in operations, use
of sold products, and end-of-life treatment of sold products.
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7316 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
THOUS TONS

2022

2021

2020 (Target baseline year)

Location-based

Market-based

Location-based

Market-based

Location-based

Market-based

Total Scope 1+ 2 CO, equivalents" 23 731.3 659.5 765.5 737.0 769.5 7819
Scope 1 CO, equivalents 258.4 258.4 262.6 262.6 242.2 242.2
Natural gas 244.3 244.3 2481 248.1 228.0 228.0
Liquid gas 13.4 13.4 13.6 13.6 13.6 13.6
Fuel oil 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3
Diesel* 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.3 0.3
Scope 2 CO, equivalents 472.9 4011 502.9 474.4 527.2 539.6
Electricity 472.4 400.6 502.4 473.8 526.8 539.3
District heating 05 0.3 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4

" Including the Scope 1and 2 emissions of our production sites and Scope 2 emissions from electricity consumption resulting from in-center treatments at our dialysis clinics.

2 Subject in part to extrapolations.

3 We use both location-based and market-based methods based on the residual mix that quantify emissions based on emission factors per country. We calculate our Scope 1and Scope 2 emissions following the methodology of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol. For the calculation of Scope 1 emissions, we
use the UK Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs’ (DEFRA's) latest version of this guidance. We use International Energy Agency (IEA) emission factors, Reliable disclosure systems for Europe (RE-DISS) Residual European Mix as well as US Residual Mix (Green-e Energy Emissions Rates)

for electricity consumption to calculate indirect emissions from electricity.
4 Excluding mobile assets.

We aim to disclose information on our Scope 3 emissions in our
reporting for the financial year 2024 at the latest.

Tracking our progress

Compared with 2021, our Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions
decreased by a total of 10.5% in 2022. A large part of this
decrease can be accounted for by our purchase of RECs. Our
reported Scope 1 emissions decreased by 1.6%. This decrease
can be explained by an overall reduction in energy usage result-
ing from reduced production activities, the shutdown of a pro-
duction line in the U.S., and a maintenance project that required
gas turbines to be temporarily shut off at our St. Wendel produc-

tion site. Our reported Scope 2 emissions decreased by around
15%, primarily due to the REC procurement mentioned above.

In 2022, we enhanced our reporting processes for indirect
greenhouse gas emissions to additionally include market-based
emissions, which are calculated using residual mix factors. The
location-based emissions that we disclosed in past reporting
take into account the average emission factors for the electri-
cal grids that power our operations. The market-based
approach reflects energy generated as part of contractual
arrangements such as the purchase of renewable energy. Add-
ing market-based emissions to our reporting will enable us to
demonstrate our emission reduction activities more transpar-
ently going forward.

We continuously monitor the energy consumption at our pro-
duction sites, as well as electricity usage in our dialysis clinics
(SEE TABLE 3.17 ON PAGE 104). At our plant in St. Wendel (Ger-
many), one of our biggest production sites, we operate our own
gas power plant with heat recovery steam generators. This
allows us to generate close to 100% of the electricity used at
this site. For this reason, in 2022, we were able to avoid approx-
imately 11,000 tons of CO, equivalents compared with buying
the average German electricity mix from the grid. As a result,
we prevented CO, emissions corresponding to 1.5% of our total
global location-based emissions. By the end of 2022, we had
installed energy management systems in more than 400 U.S.
locations.
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Additionally, in 2022, we installed LED fixtures in more than 30
dialysis clinics and one production site.

7317 ENERGY CONSUMPTION
M MWH
2022 2021
Energy' 2 2.6 2.6
Electricity 1.3 1.3
Natural gas 1.2 1.2
Others3 <0.1 <0.1

! Including the energy consumption of our production sites and the electricity consumption
of in-center treatments in our dialysis clinics.

2 Subject in part to extrapolations.

3 Including fuel oil, diesel, liquid gas, and district heating. Excluding mobile assets.

WATER

Large volumes of water are required in both our production
sites and in our dialysis clinics, as the dialysis process requires
asignificant quantity to provide life-sustaining care for patients.
It is critical that the water we use for dialysis is of high quality,
which is why we generally use municipal water that is treated
further in our dialysis clinics.

In 2022, we continued to build on the water stress-related
assessments that we have been performing since 2020 with the
support of the World Resource Institute's Aqueduct tool. Our
most recent water stress analysis in 2021 confirmed that 12% of
our dialysis clinics and 7% of our production sites are situated in
locations identified by the tool as having an extremely high risk
of water stress. The assessment covered 77% of our dialysis clin-
ics and all our production sites. By 2023, we aim to expand the
coverage of this analysis to include additional dialysis clinics.

Report

We also focused on further developing our water stress sce-
nario analysis, which we initiated in 2021. The aim of this analy-
sis is to identify areas around the world where water stress lev-
els will increase most by 2030 and 2040. We determined that a
considerable number of our existing sites are in locations that
are expected to have high or extreme water stress levels by
these dates. Most of them are situated in North America, which
accounts for the largest share of our business. Sites in Europe,
Middle East and Africa, Latin

America, and Asia-Pacific are
also likely to be affected by .

. . Develop sustainable
increasing water stress. We water plan

are incorporating insights for sites in extreme

from this analysis into our  water stress areas
Group-wide risk management

systems to identify, monitor,

and mitigate possible risks as

early as possible.

In 2022, we also defined a global water-related target to sup-
plement those we already have at a regional level. We aim to
develop sustainable water plans for production sites and dialy-
sis clinics in extremely high water stress areas by 2026. These
plans are intended to lay out optimization and improvement
measures for the sites in question.

In the year under review, our reported water withdrawal
decreased by 2% compared with 2021 (SEE TABLE 3.18). This
was mainly due to a decrease in the number of treatments we
provided. At our production sites, we generate water savings
thanks to efficiency initiatives focused on preserving resources,
including water. For example, we are working on projects that
aim to reuse water in our production activities. Furthermore,
we are re-evaluating existing procedures so as to consume less
resources in water-intensive processes such as cleaning cycles.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

7318 WATER WITHDRAWAL

M M2
2022 2021
Water! 40.5 41.4
Municipal water? 401 4.0
Ground water 0.4 0.5

! Including the water consumption of our production sites and in-center treatments at our
dialysis clinics.
2 Subject in part to extrapolations.

WASTE

We are committed to reducing waste and aim to continually
improve waste management. We strive to manage and dispose of
waste in a safe manner that does not pose a danger to patients,
employees, neighboring communities, or the environment.

In 2022, we continued to analyze the waste streams of our pro-
duction sites and dialysis clinics in all regions. As part of this
process, we implemented waste reporting processes at our pro-
duction sites. Furthermore, we are working to consolidate the
data on waste generation gathered in our dialysis clinics by
identifying data sources and improving reporting methodolo-
gies. We plan to disclose waste data in our non-financial report-
ing for 2023.

We have ongoing initiatives to help us reduce the waste pro-
duced by our business operations. For example, in the U.S. we
diverted roughly 90 net tons of plastics and metals from land-
fills by reusing or recycling parts from more than 1,000
machines in 2022. We also strive to reduce the waste associ-
ated with product packaging. Our U.S. business has replaced
the containers that were previously used to transport Mircera,
an agent used in the dialysis process. New packaging for this
product consists of reusable containers that can be emptied,
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returned, cleaned, and put back into circulation. In 2022, almost
25,000 containers were reused in this way.

ECO-PERFORMANCE OF
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Our efforts to continually improve our environmental perfor-
mance include performing lifecycle assessments to develop
and manufacture our products and services in an environmen-
tally sustainable way.

For example, our latest dialysis machine generations, the 5008
and 6008 series, both take environmental considerations into
account. These machines automatically adjust the dialysate
flow to the patient's blood flow, which allows us to save signifi-
cant amounts of dialysate, water, and energy while maintaining
a consistently high dialysis quality. The 2008T BlueStar soft-
ware is another example of our ongoing efforts to limit the
environmental footprint of dialysis. This software, unlike that in
similar devices, enables the dialysis machine to switch to idle
mode. Using idle mode reduces dialysate and water flow rates
by up to two thirds, saving additional costs. It also enables low
power mode, which only directs power to the machine's elec-
tronics when dialysis is not taking place. Pumps, valves, and
modules are then turned off. In 2022, 38% of our total hemo-
dialysis machines sold belonged to these resource-friendly
machine generations.

Report

To help us understand the environmental impact of our prod-
ucts, we conduct simplified product life-cycle assessments
(screening-LCAs) for selected products. These assessments
identify the life-cycle phase with the highest impact and the
processes and materials we need to focus on to improve the
eco-performance of our products and services. We use screen-
ing-LCAs to assess most of our active medical device product
lines and are gradually extending them to disposables. In addi-
tion, we have conducted detailed comparative product life-
cycle assessments for important disposables.

Progress

I Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions footprint reduced by 10.5%
as part of our climate action roadmap

M More than 110 environmental projects reported
as part of our Green & Lean initiative

M 38% of hemodialysis machines sold
belong to an eco-friendly machine generation

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

COMPLIANCE

We updated our global reporting channels and
processes to increase transparency and make
it easier for individuals to report their concerns.

Our global compliance program helps us operate our business
in accordance with the law and our employees adhere to inter-
nal guidelines. The program is based on our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct, which is a binding framework that governs
how our employees interact with patients, colleagues, business
partners, officials, and other stakeholders. The Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct covers topics that are relevant for our
business. These include, for example, patient care, product and
service quality, anti-corruption and anti-bribery, health and
safety, data privacy, supplier selection, and human rights. All
employees must follow the guidelines set out in this Code. Addi-
tionally, these guidelines apply to the operations of all sub-
sidiaries that are majority-owned or otherwise controlled by us.

Our Chief Compliance Officer (CCO) is responsible for managing
and enhancing our compliance processes. The CCO reports to the
CEO and is supported by a global network of approximately 200
compliance professionals. These professionals work together
with our business units to provide advice and support in all
regions. Additionally, we have established a Global Compliance
Oversight Committee, to which the CEO belongs. The committee
meets reqularly to discuss all relevant compliance matters.
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PREVENT, DETECT, AND
RESPOND TO MISCONDUCT

Human rights

The goal of our compliance program is to prevent, detect, and
respond to potential misconduct and violations (SEE CHART 3.22
ON PAGE 107). We want to foster a corporate culture in which
compliance is recognized as everyone's responsibility.

Annual Target

Train at least

90

of employees on our
Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct

A key element in preventing
violations is our mandatory
training program. Globally,
almost 95% of employees,
including part-time staff, com-
pleted compliance training in
2022, compared with our
annual target of over 90%.
This training covers topics
such as corruption risks, con-
flicts of interest, tax compliance, non-retaliation, and speaking
up to raise concerns. We also offered training courses for spe-
cific target groups and provided our joint venture business
partners with training on anti-corruption matters and our Code
of Ethics and Business Conduct (SEE TABLE 3.19).

T3.19 NUMBER OF PARTICIPANTS IN COMPLIANCE TRAINING

2022 2021
Employees 118,723 100,099
Management Board 5 8
Supervisory Board 6 N/AT

" Due to a bi-annual cycle, no Supervisory Board training took place in 2021.

Report

COMPLIANCE CULTURE

In order to promote a culture of ethical business conduct world-
wide, we have developed consistent compliance messaging that
we distribute globally. In 2022, we launched four global cam-
paigns to raise awareness about key compliance topics. We also
published other content such as videos and articles focused on
ethical leadership and ethics and integrity in decision-making.

MONITORING ADHERENCE
TO STANDARDS

Our compliance program also defines ethical standards, includ-
ing those that determine how we respond to misconduct. We
evaluate the likelihood of compliance violations as part of our
risk management program. Risks can also be detected during
our periodic internal audits, as well as when employees or third
parties raise concerns.

Employees are encouraged to report potential cases of non-
compliance and perceived or actual misconduct that violate
laws, our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, or other com-
pany guidelines. We have an anti-retaliation policy in place to
protect employees against any reprisal. There are several ways
in which reports can be made: employees can reach out to their
managers and Compliance, Legal, or HR functions. In addition,
we have an external reporting hotline (Compliance Action Line)
operated by an independent and certified third-party vendor.
Our employees and related third parties can use this hotline to
report potential violations of laws or company guidelines. Where
legally permitted, reports can also be made anonymously. The
hotline is available 24 hours a day and reports can be made in
several languages. While our hotline is set up to report compli-
ance concerns, we also receive non-compliance-related calls on
patient care, information security reports, and human resources.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

These calls are forwarded to the appropriate departments (SEE
TABLE 3.21). In 2022, we received 3,399 reports via our reporting
channels. Each report is reviewed based on more than 30 alle-
gation categories. The reports covered topics such as anti-cor-
ruption (1.7%), data protection (20.9%), and human
resources /workplace (32.2%) (SEE TABLE 3.20).

T3.20 SUBJECT OF REPORTS RECEIVED

Topics' 2022 2021
Business integrity including anti-corruption 57 52
Data protection n 633
Human resources /workplace including human
and labor rights 1,093 954
Other 31 244
' Does not include reports concerning patient care or products.
T3.21 NUMBER OF REPORTS PROCESSED BY DIFFERENT
DEPARTMENTS
Department 2022 2021
Compliance 130 127
Legal 16 20
Patient care' 1160 963
Human resources 1,074 942
Other 1,019 802

! Refers to reports concerning patient care and products distributed to various departments
across the organization.

We investigate all cases of potential misconduct, take correc-
tive measures on a case-by-case basis, and track their imple-
mentation. Of 135 compliance investigations closed in 2022,
approximately 50% were found to be actionable. Actionable
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c3.22 COMPLIANCE CULTURE SUPPORTED BY OUR COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

COMPLIANCE CULTURE
Tone at the top

> Code of Ethics and

Business Conduct
SCOPE DEFINITION > Compliance policies

& RISK MANAGEMENT > Compliance training
» Compliance controls

> M&A compliance

> Compliance Action Line
> Third-party management
»> Compliance monitoring

> Audits

> Investigations

> Continuous improvement
of compliance program

» Disciplinary action

> Follow-up remediation
measures

Compliance reporting

Compliance communication & advice

Compliance organization

means that the investigations resulted in findings that
prompted us to improve processes, adjust policies or internal
controls, or take disciplinary action. Of 141 disciplinary matters
that occurred outside of the U.S.in 2022, 36% led to termina-
tion of the employment relationship. Our global disciplinary
action guideline outlines our worldwide standards and our pro-
cedures for responding to misconduct. Misconduct can refer to,
for example, violation of laws and policies and workplace mis-
behavior. We have established Disciplinary Action Committees
across our regions that assess disciplinary cases and deter-
mine the appropriate response. The Global Disciplinary Action
Committee oversees the process to maintain its consistency.

In 2022, we developed new informational materials for our
employees on the Compliance Action Line. We also enhanced
our processes to make it easier for individuals to report viola-
tions. For example, we developed a system that allows potential
violations or concerns to be reported via mobile with a QR-Code.
Furthermore, we updated related processes such as our
follow-up and investigation procedures. We also provided
insights on the benefits of reporting misconduct, and the kinds
of risks this helps to mitigate.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

In the reporting year, we also amended our complaint proce-
dures so that they adhere to the requirements set out in the
German Supply Chain Due Diligence Law. Furthermore, we
developed publicly available rules of procedure that govern
complaint processes. Our Global Investigations department is
authorized to act impartially and independently when following
up on reports. Employees who receive reports are not bound by
instructions when taking follow-up actions.

In August 2019, Fresenius Medical Care commenced an inde-
pendent monitorship as part of a resolution with the U.S.
Department of Justice and Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion. Since the start of the monitorship, we have assessed
almost 150,000 third parties for compliance risks and imple-
mented more than 130 recommendations across our different
business functions. Furthermore, we updated more than 40
policies and procedures and implemented or adapted more
than 2,000 internal controls at the local level to address poten-
tial corruption risks.

Prior to entering new business relationships, and as part of our
continuous monitoring of existing business relationships, we
assess third parties for compliance risks. In the reporting year,
we assessed and approved around 21,000 third parties. In addi-
tion, we continued to implement our third-party training
approach at a global level. Target groups include sales part-
ners, such as distributors, re-sellers, wholesalers, commercial
or sales agents, and any other third parties involved in the
sales of our products that potentially interact with government
officials or health care professionals. We also conducted 15
anti-corruption-related audits of third-party business partners.
In 2022, 80% of internal audits included a compliance focus.
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More information on compliance matters can be found in the
“Compliance Management System" section of the Group Man-
agement Report starting on PAGE 62.

Progress

B Almost 95% of employees completed compliance training
M Around 21,000 third parties assessed for compliance risks

M More than 40 compliance-related policies and procedures
updated since 2019

Report

PROTECTING DATA

We rolled out a Global Privacy Policy and set up
a new Global Information Security Program Office.

Our patients, employees, customers, business partners, and
other stakeholders entrust us with their personal data. We are
committed to respecting their privacy and protecting their
information. We recognize the importance of guarding our data
and technologies against cyberattacks, which could pose a risk
to our business and reputation.

DATA PROTECTION AND
DATA PRIVACY

Our data privacy program is designed to protect the rights of
all those whose data we hold. Our Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct defines privacy standards and outlines how our
employees should proceed when dealing with personal infor-
mation. In 2022, we rolled out a new Global Privacy Policy. We
aim to communicate the principles set out in this policy to
affiliates in the majority of countries where we do business by
the end of 2023.

Our Global Data Privacy team, which is part of the Global Legal
function, is responsible for our privacy policy. The team is sup-
ported by a company-wide network of more than 50 privacy
liaisons. In addition, we have Data Protection Officers in juris-
dictions where legally required, such as in Germany. Through-
out 2022, privacy updates were included in regular legal
updates provided by the Global General Counsel to the Manage-
ment and Supervisory Boards.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

As a company with international operations, we are subject to
different national and international data protection laws and
regulations. Our local and regional policies for data protection
and the handling of personal data are complemented by fur-
ther guidelines, standards, and standard operating procedures.
We assess the privacy requirements of all our programs and
projects, and incorporate them in the relevant processes and
systems as early as possible. We strive to continuously enhance
our data protection management systems to adapt to new
requirements or technologies. Furthermore, we are committed
to increasing transparency in our data processing activities and
to respecting the legal rights of individuals with regard to their
personal data. This includes the rights of access, correction,
and portability in accordance with local laws and practices.

We have included privacy awareness and data protection in our
mandatory Code of Ethics and Business Conduct training. We
additionally offer a range of e-learning opportunities and class-
room training courses and combine general training with tar-
geted measures for specific employee groups. In 2022, we
offered more than 50 training classes on data privacy to our
employees and contractors around the world. More than
93,000 employees participated in training on data privacy and
security globally (SEE TABLE 3.23 ON PAGE 109). Training in
North America is in line with HIPAA (Health Insurance Portabil-
ity and Accountability Act of 1996) requirements. In the Euro-
pean Union, it meets the provisions of the EU General Data Pro-
tection Regulation (GDPR).

In 2022, we hosted an interactive live event for employees
worldwide as part of our International Privacy Day celebra-
tions. During this event, we raised awareness on basic privacy
concepts. For example, we informed participants about topics
such as how to identify personal data, what to do when pro-
cessing personal data, and the importance of reporting inci-
dents involving personal data.
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T 3.23 DATA PRIVACY TRAINING PARTICIPANTS

2022 2021

Participants 93,475 93,082

More information on our risk management can be found in the
“Risk and opportunity management” section of the Group Man-
agement Report starting on PAGE 59.

CYBERSECURITY

In 2022, we stepped up our efforts to reduce cybersecurity risk.
We aim to continuously improve our global cybersecurity capa-
bilities in order to secure sensitive information and support
strategic initiatives. Our new Global Information Security Pro-
gram Office oversees topics such as information security, pri-
vacy assurance, and records management. The Management
and Supervisory Boards are provided with regular updates on
our cybersecurity program.

Managing and measuring performance is an integral part of our
global cybersecurity program oversight. We have adopted the
standards set out in the globally recognized U.S. National Insti-
tute of Standards and Technology Cyber Security Framework.
These standards guide our activities in identifying, protecting,
detecting, responding to, and recovering from cybersecurity
incidents.

In the reporting year, we hired external cybersecurity experts
to measure the effectiveness of our cybersecurity program at a
global level. Based on the results of this analysis, we developed
a multi-year security roadmap until 2024 that prioritizes our
program goals and investments by risk. As part of this road-
map, we intend to set annual targets and track metrics to
enhance our risk management and improve global processes.

Report

In 2023, we plan to continue working towards enhancing the
effectiveness of our cybersecurity program, with focus on
areas such as cybersecurity governance, cyber operations, and
data classification.

We continuously strive to protect our organization from cyber-
attacks. Our cyber operations functions leverage automation
to improve the detection, response, and prevention of attacks.
Our Computer Emergency Response Team drives operational
effectiveness with response scenarios and testing that involve
cross-functional engagement.

Employee awareness and training are essential to our ability as
a company to thwart cyber-attacks. Therefore, we continuously
provide our employees with mandatory cybersecurity training.
In 2022, in addition to providing employees with our annual
security awareness training, we launched a month-long global
campaign to promote cybersecurity skills that employees can
incorporate into their daily routines.

In the reporting year, we also increased efforts to strengthen
our corporate oversight through policy. For example, we revised
our incident response plan and published new global policies
on information security and data classification.

Further details on our information security management can
be found in the “Information systems and business processes"
section of the Group Management Report starting on PAGE 70.

Progress

M More than 93,000 employees participated in training classes
on data privacy and security

M Global Information Security Program Office set up

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

SUPPLIER
MANAGEMENT

We defined human rights and environmental
criteria for selecting new suppliers. We also rolled
out training on sustainable supplier management
to Procurement staff worldwide.

As a global health care company with more than 70,000 suppli-
ers worldwide, we understand the responsibilities that come
with managing a complex international supply chain. We have
established policies and procedures that comply with applica-
ble laws and with our own standards in each of the countries in
which we do business. Our responsible procurement principles
reflect our commitment to promoting sustainable business
practices in our daily operations. We expect our suppliers to
share our commitment to sustainability and demonstrate sus-
tainable business practices across their supply chains.

Our Global Supplier Code of Conduct covers topics such as integ-
rity and ethics, human rights and labor conditions, quality, occu-
pational health and safety, and environmental protection. It also
forms the basis of our contractual relationships with suppliers.
In 2022, we defined a set of human rights and environmental cri-
teria for selecting new suppliers that are aligned with the guid-
ance set out in the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Law. We
intend to begin implementing these criteria by the end of 2023.

In the reporting year, we set up a Global Procurement function,
which was implemented on January 1, 2023. We also defined a
global governance structure that oversees our activities related
to sustainable supplier management. Under this structure,
responsibility for sustainability-related aspects of supplier
management is shared between the Global Procurement and
Global Sustainability functions, with senior management in
Procurement receiving regular updates on activities.
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OUR EXPECTATIONS
OF SUPPLIERS

Human rights

We are working with suppliers to increase transparency on the
environmental and social impact associated with our supply
chain. We continue to incorporate the requirements of our
Global Supplier Code of Conduct in supplier contracts. Further-
more, we have an onboarding process in place for suppliers to
inform them of our sustainability requirements. This includes
procedures to manage situations where suppliers do not wish
to or are unable to adhere to these requirements. In 2022, an
internal process was developed to formalize these procedures.

We recognize the importance of inclusive and diverse sourcing.
In the U.S., we have established a supplier diversity program.
Diverse suppliers include, for example, businesses owned by
minorities, or veterans. Within our supplier base in the U.S., we
work with more than 8,000 diverse suppliers with an annual
spend of over 1.7 billion dollars.

RAISING AWARENESS

In the reporting year, we continued in our efforts to train pro-
curement staff on sustainability topics. After educating more
than 230 employees working in Procurement, Legal, Finance,
and Compliance on our Global Supplier Code of Conduct in
2021, in 2022, we rolled out a global e-learning course on sus-
tainable supplier management. We enrolled 99% of our global
Procurement staff by the end of 2022. Should employees or
suppliers have any questions or concerns regarding the Global
Supplier Code of Conduct, they can contact us via our publicly
available email address.

Report

IDENTIFYING RISKS

In 2022, we further developed our procedures for evaluating
suppliers based on sustainability risks. Our risk assessment
approach, which is aligned with the requirements set out in the
German Supply Chain Due Diligence Law, involves assessing
the sustainability risk of suppliers based on country- and indus-
try-level factors. Special focus is placed on suppliers that are
critical to our business. Furthermore, we gather information
about the specific sustainability performance of selected sup-
pliers via self-assessment forms. We aim to use this information
to identify suppliers that do not yet fully comply with our sus-
tainability standards and initiate appropriate follow-up action.

Progress

M Global e-learning course on sustainable supplier management
rolled out to 99% of procurement staff

M Worked with more than 8,000 diverse suppliers as part
of our supplier diversity program in the U.S.

B Human rights and environmental criteria defined
for selecting new suppliers

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

HUMAN RIGHTS

We rolled out our Global Social and Labor Standards
Policy, defined global human rights focus areas,
and continued with our human rights risk assess-
ment. We also provided training to leaders and
employees in global functions.

Respecting human rights and upholding labor and employment
standards are part of our corporate responsibility. We are com-
mitted to integrating awareness of and respect for human
rights in our day-to-day work, and to continuous improvement
for our human rights due diligence processes (SEE CHART 3.24
ON PAGE 111).

Our activities are guided by the principles specified in the UN
Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the International
Labour Organization's Declaration on Fundamental Principles
and Rights at Work. We are also guided by the UN Guiding Prin-
ciples for Business and Human Rights. Our human rights com-
mitments are embedded in our Code of Ethics and Business
Conduct and are further specified in our global Human Rights,
Workplace Rights and Labor and Employment Principles.

Our Global Social and Labor Standards Policy outlines our posi-
tion on working conditions for employees. It includes our global
commitments to offer fair and transparent working conditions,
to maintain a discrimination and harassment-free workplace, to
respect freedom of association and the right to collective
bargaining, and the prohibition of retaliation. It also covers the
prohibition of child labor and modern slavery. The policy was
rolled out globally in 2022.
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c3.24 HUMAN RIGHTS FOCUS ACTIVITIES

Continuous improvement for our human rights

due diligence processes

Policy
Commitment

Risk and impact
analysis

Tracking and
monitoring of
progress

Preventive, mitigation,
and remedy measures

Grievance
mechanisms

Awareness campaigns,
reporting, and
disclosures

HUMAN RIGHTS ACTIVITIES

The Global Human Rights Office, which oversees our human rights
activities, is part of the Global Legal Function. The Office reports
reqularly to the Management Board and supports different func-
tions in implementing relevant human rights policies, procedures,
and activities. Representatives from relevant business segments
and functions define human rights risk management approaches
for their respective areas and oversee the implementation of risk
management measures. A cross-functional steering committee
guides further development of our Human Rights Program.

In 2022, we developed a strategic framework including global
focus areas for our human rights activities. Our approach to
Human Rights Due Diligence rests on three pillars:

> ldentify risks,
» raise awareness of human rights issues within relevant func-
tions and in business relationships,

> improve practices that incorporate human rights consider-
ations in our business processes.

To further enhance our understanding of potential risks, in 2022,
we performed a global human rights risk analysis covering our
workforce, our patients, our direct suppliers, and the communi-
ties around our production sites. Based on these assessments,
we defined focus areas to guide our activities moving forward.
These include the topics of availability of health care, working
conditions in the supply chain as well as our own operations,
patient and product safety, and health hazards in disposal. We
will monitor these areas and follow up with specific actions.

In 2021, we set ourselves the target of training all relevant man-
agers and functional experts on our responsibilities related to
human rights. At the beginning of 2022, we narrowed the scope
of this target to focus on the leadership teams of our key busi-
ness functions. Throughout the course of the year, we provided
all leadership teams in scope with educational materials on
human rights topics. We also conducted human rights aware-
ness-raising sessions, which were attended by around 80% of
relevant leaders. In 2023, we intend to continue raising aware-
ness about our human rights-related responsibilities by reach-
ing out to further target groups.

To verify the implementation status of our human rights pro-
gram, we integrate human rights-related aspects in the scope
of our regular internal audits. In 2022, 30% of internal audits
included topics related to human rights.

MANAGING COMPLAINTS

Various channels are available to employees, patients, and
other stakeholders to report potential violations on topics such
as human or workplace rights, environmental concerns, laws,
or company policies. In 2022, we performed a review of our

existing complaint mechanisms to comply with the German
Supply Chain Due Diligence Law. A cross-functional working
group was set up to review existing processes for receiving and
handling complaints. As a result of the analysis, we updated our
processes to increase transparency and effectiveness. For
example, we established a simplified matrix for categorizing
and handling human rights complaints across the Company.

STAKEHOLDER DIALOGUE

We engage with sector-specific associations and peer group
networks to share experiences and practices regarding human
rights. For example, in 2022, we participated in the Human
Rights Working Group of Business for Social Responsibility
(BSR). We were also involved with the Global Industrial Rela-
tions Network (GIRN), a global network of corporate human
rights specialists organized by the International Organisation
of Employers (I0E).

Further information on our risk management can be found in
the "Risk management” section starting on PAGE 87. For
further information on our grievance channels, please see the
“Compliance” section starting on PAGE 105. More details on
our dialogue with stakeholders can be found in the “Patients”
section starting on PAGE 90 and the “Employees” section
starting on PAGE 96.

M Around 80% of relevant leaders participated in training
sessions on human rights topics

M 30% of internal audits included topics related
to human rights
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report documents the sustainability performance of
Fresenius Medical Care in 2022. It contains relevant informa-
tion relating to social, employee, and environmental matters,
combatting bribery and corruption, and respect for human
rights. We demonstrate how we integrate sustainability in our
business, and how our activities contribute to our success and
create value for our stakeholders. Our reporting is guided by
the material sustainability topics that either have the biggest
impact on our business or are affected most by our business.

The report fulfills the requirements of Section 315c in conjunc-
tion with Sections 289c to 289e of the German Commercial
Code. It also fulfills the requirements of Article 8 of the “Requ-
lation (EU) 2020/852 of the European Parliament and of the
Council of 18 June 2020 on the establishment of a framework
to facilitate sustainable investment” (EU Taxonomy). It covers
the reporting period from January 1 to December 31, 2022.
Unless stated otherwise, the information provided refers to
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and fully consolidated
subsidiaries.

Our reporting approach for the material topics is based on indi-
vidual requirements of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).
The GRI Standard 3-3 (Management of Material Topics) serves
as a basis for describing our concepts in terms of the require-
ments of the German Commercial Code. We also consider the
ten principles of the UN Global Compact in our reporting.

References other than those to the Group Management Report
and Fresenius Medical Care's consolidated financial statements
are for information only. They are not part of the Non-Financial
Group Report and are therefore not subject to the assurance
engagement.

We disclose further sustainability information that we structure
based on the GRI standards, the disclosure recommendations
of the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB), and
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)
standards. These disclosures are part of our commitment to
provide transparent and relevant information on our economic,
environmental, and social performance to our stakeholders.

Due to rounding, individual numbers and percentages presented
in this report may not precisely reflect the absolute figures.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

This Non-Financial Group Report is audited by the third party
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesell-
schaft (PwC), which has assessed the report against the rele-
vant legal requirements of the German Commercial Code and
the EU Taxonomy Regulation. PwC has performed a limited
assurance engagement according to ISAE 3000 (Revised), an
international assurance standard broadly used for assurance of
sustainability reporting. For the Independent Practitioner’s
Report, please SEE PAGE 116.
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FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

T3.25 PROPORTION OF TURNOVER FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES - DISCLOSURE COVERING 2022

Substantial contribution criteria

DNSH criteria (“‘Does not significantly harm")
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.l. Environmentally sustainable activities

(Taxonomy aligned)
Turnover of environmentally sustainable
activities (Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1.) 0.0 0.0 0.0
A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environ-

mentally sustainable activities

(not Taxonomy-aligned activities)
Turnover of Taxonomy-eligible but not
environmentally sustainable activities
(not Taxonomy-aligned activities) (A.2.) 0.0 0.0
TOTAL (A1, + A.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Turnover of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 19,398.0 100.0
TOTAL (A+B) 19,398.0 100.0
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T3.26 PROPORTION OF CAPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES - DISCLOSURE COVERING 2022

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“‘Does not significantly harm')
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.l. Environmentally sustainable activities

(Taxonomy aligned)
Capex of environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1.) 0.0 0.0 0.0
A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environmen-

tally sustainable activities (not Taxono-

my-aligned activities)
Construction of new buildings 71 42.4 31
Renovation of existing buildings 7.2 95.7 6.9
Acquisition and ownership of buildings 77  500.6 36.1
Capex of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmen-
tally sustainable activities (not Taxono-
my-aligned activities) (A.2.) 638.7 461
TOTAL (A.l. + A.2) 638.7 46.1 0.0
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Capex of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 746.6 539

TOTAL (A+B) 1,385.3 100.0




NON-FINANCIAL GROUP REPORT 115 FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Sustainability management Compliance About this report o e e @ °
Patients Protecting data Other key figures

Employees Supplier management Independent Practitioner’s

Environmental protection Human rights Report

T 3.27 PROPORTION OF OPEX FROM PRODUCTS OR SERVICES ASSOCIATED WITH TAXONOMY-ALIGNED ECONOMIC ACTIVITIES - DISCLOSURE COVERING 2022

Substantial contribution criteria DNSH criteria (“Does not significantly harm')
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A. TAXONOMY-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
A.l. Environmentally sustainable activities

(Taxonomy aligned)
Opex of environmentally sustainable activities
(Taxonomy-aligned) (A.1.) 0.0 0.0 0.0
A.2. Taxonomy-eligible but not environmen-

tally sustainable activities (not Taxono-

my-aligned activities)
Opex of Taxonomy-eligible but not environmen-
tally sustainable activities (not Taxono-
my-aligned activities) (A.2.) 0.0 0.0
TOTAL (A1, + A.2) 0.0 0.0 0.0
B. TAXONOMY-NON-ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES
Opex of Taxonomy-non-eligible activities (B) 586.0 100.0

TOTAL (A+B) 586.0 100.0
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INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S REPORT
ON A LIMITED ASSURANCE ENGAGEMENT
ON NON-FINANCIAL REPORTING

To Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, Hof an der Saale

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on the
separate non-financial group report of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA, Hof an der Saale, (hereinafter the “Company")
for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022 (hereinafter
the “Separate Non-financial Group Report").

Not subject to our assurance engagement are the external
sources of documentation or expert opinions mentioned in the
Separate Non-financial Group Report.

RESPONSIBILITY OF
THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The executive directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the Separate Non-financial Group Report in accor-
dance with §§(Articles) 315c¢ in conjunction with 289c to 289e
HGB (“Handelsgesetzbuch”: “German Commercial Code") and
Article 8 of REGULATION (EU) 2020/852 OF THE EUROPEAN
PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 18 June 2020 on estab-

lishing a framework to facilitate sustainable investment and
amending Requlation (EU) 2019/2088 (hereinafter the “"EU Tax-
onomy Regulation”) and the Delegated Acts adopted thereun-
der, as well as for making their own interpretation of the wording
and terms contained in the EU Taxonomy Regulation and the
Delegated Acts adopted thereunder, as set out in the section
"EU Taxonomy" of the Separate Non-financial Group Report.

This responsibility includes the selection and application of
appropriate non-financial reporting methods and making
assumptions and estimates about individual non-financial dis-
closures of the Company that are reasonable in the circum-
stances. Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible
for such internal controls as the executive directors consider
necessary to enable the preparation of a Separate Non-
financial Group Report that is free from material misstatement
whether due to fraud or error.

The EU Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts issued
thereunder contain wording and terms that are still subject to
considerable interpretation uncertainties and for which clarifica-
tions have not yet been published in every case. Therefore, the
executive directors have disclosed their interpretation of the EU

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts adopted thereun-
der in the section “EU Taxonomy" of the Separate Non-financial
Group Report. They are responsible for the defensibility of this
interpretation. Due to the immanent risk that indeterminate
legal terms may be interpreted differently, the legal conformity
of the interpretation is subject to uncertainties.

INDEPENDENCE AND QUALITY
CONTROL OF THE AUDIT FIRM

We have complied with the German professional provisions
regarding independence as well as other ethical requirements.

Our audit firm applies the national legal requirements and pro-
fessional standards - in particular the Professional Code for
German Public Auditors and German Chartered Auditors
(“Berufssatzung flr Wirtschaftsprifer und vereidigte Buch-
prifer”: “BS WP/vBP") as well as the Standard on Quality Con-
trol 1 published by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (Institute
of Public Auditors in Germany; IDW): Requirements to quality
control for audit firms (IDW Qualitatssicherungsstandard 1:

" PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH has performed a limited assurance engagement on the German version of the separate non-financial group report and issued an independent practitioner’s report in German language, which is authoritative.

The following text is a translation of the independent practitioner's report.
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Anforderungen an die Qualitatssicherung in der Wirtschafts-
priferpraxis - IDW QS 1) - and accordingly maintains a compre-
hensive system of quality control including documented
policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical
requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and
reqgulatory requirements.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE
ASSURANCE PRACTITIONER

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion with limited
assurance on the Separate Non-financial Group Report based
on our assurance engagement.

We conducted our assurance engagement in accordance with
International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000
(Revised): Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information, issued by the IAASB. This
Standard requires that we plan and perform the assurance
engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether any
matters have come to our attention that cause us to believe that
the company's Separate Non-financial Group Report, other than
the external sources of documentation or expert opinions men-
tioned in the Separate Non-financial Group Report, is not pre-
pared, in all material respects, in accordance with §§315c in con-
junction with 289c to 289e HGB and the EU Taxonomy Regulation
and the Delegated Acts issued thereunder as well as the inter-
pretation by the executive directors disclosed in the section
"EU Taxonomy" of the Separate Non-financial Group Report.

In a limited assurance engagement, the procedures performed
are less extensive than in a reasonable assurance engagement,
and accordingly a substantially lower level of assurance is
obtained. The selection of the assurance procedures is subject
to the professional judgement of the assurance practitioner.
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About this report
Other key figures
Independent Practitioner’'s

Report

In the course of our assurance engagement, we have, amongst
other things, performed the following assurance procedures
and other activities:

» Gain an understanding of the structure of the company's
sustainability organisation and stakeholder engagement

> Inquiries of the executive directors and relevant employees
involved in the preparation of the Separate Non-financial
Group Report about the preparation process, about the
internal control system relating to this process and about
disclosures in the Separate Non-financial Group Report

> Identification of likely risks of (if any) material misstatement
in the Separate Non-financial Group Report

> Evaluation of the implementation of central management
requirements, processes, and specifications regarding data
collection through targeted sample testing at selected sites

> Analytical procedures on selected disclosures in the Sepa-
rate Non-financial Group Report

> Reconciliation of selected disclosures with the correspond-
ing data in the consolidated financial statements and group
management report

» Evaluation of the presentation of the Separate Non-financial
Group Report

» Evaluation of the process to identify taxonomy-eligible and
taxonomy-aligned economic activities and the correspond-
ing disclosures in the Separate Non-financial Group Report

> Inquiries on the relevance of climate-risks

In determining the disclosures in accordance with Article 8 of
the EU Taxonomy Regulation, the executive directors are
required to interpret undefined legal terms. Due to the imma-
nent risk that undefined legal terms may be interpreted differ-
ently, the legal conformity of their interpretation and, accord-
ingly, our assurance engagement thereon are subject to
uncertainties.
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ASSURANCE OPINION

Based on the assurance procedures performed and evidence
obtained, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that the Separate Non-financial Group Report of the
Company for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022 is
not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with
§§315c in conjunction with 289c to 289e HGB and the EU
Taxonomy Regulation and the Delegated Acts issued thereun-
der as well as the interpretation by the executive directors
disclosed in the section “EU Taxonomy" of the Separate Non-
financial Group Report. We do not express an assurance opin-
ion on the external sources of documentation or expert opin-
ions mentioned in the Separate Non-financial Group Report.

RESTRICTION OF USE

We draw attention to the fact that the assurance engagement
was conducted for the Company's purposes and that the report
is intended solely to inform the Company about the result of
the assurance engagement. Consequently, it may not be suit-
able for any other purpose than the aforementioned. Accord-
ingly, the report is not intended to be used by third parties for
making (financial) decisions based on it. Our responsibility is to
the Company. We do not accept any responsibility to third
parties. Our assurance opinion is not modified in this respect.

Frankfurt am Main, 21 February 2023

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS GMBH
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

NICOLETTE BEHNCKE
[German public auditor]

PPA. NICO IRRGANG
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REPORT BY THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD

In the past fiscal year, Fresenius Medical Care operated in a
challenging macroeconomic environment characterized by
wage and general cost inflation, which affected all business
segments of the company. In the U.S., Fresenius Medical Care
faced a labor market situation that is unprecedented for the
company, resulting in staff shortages, high employee turnover
rates at dialysis centers and significantly higher costs. Staff
shortages also impacted growth in the U.S. dialysis services
business as well as in complementary business areas and con-
sequently affected, in addition to ongoing patient excess mor-
tality due to COVID-19, the operating leverage in these areas.

Fresenius Medical Care continued to provide medical care to its
patients with its products and services in high quality in the
past fiscal year despite the ongoing challenges and maintained
without significant disruptions. COVID-19 infection rates
remained at a high level and resulted in continued demand and
costs for isolation wards and additional shifts for staff as well
as for personal protective equipment.

The negative impact on earnings was only partially offset by
financial support in the fiscal year from the U.S. government to
compensate costs related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Fresenius Medical Care has driven forward its transformation
program FME25 and the related implementation of its new
operating model. Since January 2023, the Company operates
in two global segments only: Care Delivery (Health Care Ser-
vices) and Care Enablement (Health Care Products). With the
savings achieved by end of 2022 under FME25, Fresenius
Medical Care has exceeded its original target for the year under
review. The company will accelerate and expand the transfor-
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mation program to further optimize its processes along the
new operating model.

Fresenius Medical Care will expand and accelerate its transfor-
mation also beyond FMEZ25. By clearly focusing on strengthen-
ing its core business and on further operational and structural
efficiency improvements, the company aims to return to a sus-
tainable profitable growth path and support the creation of
value for its shareholders. Fresenius Medical Care's efforts will
focus on the core areas of structure, capital allocation, opera-
tional efficiency and portfolio optimization.

Significant events concerning the organization and composi-
tion of the management board of the General Partner, Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG, (Management Board) or the
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA
(Company) were:

» Change of the Chair of the Management Board

Ms. Helen Giza was appointed Chair of the Management Board
effective December 6, 2022. She had previously been
appointed Deputy Chair of the Management Board with effect
from May 16, 2022. Ms. Giza will also remain Chief Financial
Officer until her successor for this position is appointed. In
her position as Chair of the Management Board, she suc-
ceeded Dr. Carla Kriwet, who had taken over from Mr. Rice
Powell as Chair of the Management Board on October 1, 2022.
Dr. Kriwet left the Management Board by mutual agreement
at the end of December 5, 2022. In view of the age limit set by
the Supervisory Board of the general partner, Mr. Powell
retired from the Management Board upon regular termina-
tion of his appointment at the end of the fiscal year.

v

Change in the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Supervisory Board

Effective January 1, 2023, Ms. Pascale Witz, previously Vice
Chair of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of

Dr. Dieter Schenk

Chairman
of the Supervisory Board

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022
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the Supervisory Board, has taken over the chairmanship of
this committee from Mr. Rolf A. Classon, who will no longer
meet the necessary criteria for the chairmanship of the com-
mittee in the course of 2023 due to his then twelve-year mem-
bership with the Supervisory Board. Mr. Classon remains an
ordinary member of the committee. Dr. Dorothea Wenzel has
been Vice Chair of the committee since January 1, 2023, and
continues to perform the function of Lead Independent Direc-
tor of the Supervisory Board introduced in 2021.

The Supervisory Board also in the past fiscal year observed all
duties imposed on it by law, the Articles of Association and the
rules of procedure. In this context it also took into account the
recommendations and suggestions of the German Corporate
Governance Code. The Supervisory Board supervised the Gen-
eral Partner within its responsibility, reqularly advised the Man-
agement Board and was involved in decisions of fundamental
importance to the Company. Supervision and advice also
included sustainability issues.

All relevant questions of the business policy, the company's
planning and the strategy were subject to the deliberations of
the Supervisory Board. Reports of the Management Board on
the progress of the business, the profitability and liquidity as
well as on the situation and perspectives of the Company and
the group formed the basis for the work of the Supervisory
Board. Further topics were the risk situation and risk manage-
ment. Additional items on the agenda were discussions on
acquisition and investment projects. The Supervisory Board
and its competent committees comprehensively discussed
these as well as also all further significant business events. Fur-
thermore, the Supervisory Board also in the past year reviewed
the development of the acquisitions of the previous years. The
Supervisory Board passed resolutions within its competencies
according to law and the Articles of Association.
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MEETINGS

In the past fiscal year, twelve meetings of the Supervisory
Board, some of which lasted several days, were held. Of these
meetings, four meetings were held in person and eight meet-
ings were held as video conferences. The Supervisory Board
also met reqularly without the Management Board. To the
extent that the auditor was called upon as an expert at meet-
ings of the Supervisory Board or its committees, members of
the Management Board, in accordance with the applicable rules
under the German Act on Strengthening Financial Market Integ-
rity (Gesetz zur Starkung der Finanzmarktintegritat - FISG),
attended the meetings only to the extent deemed necessary by
the Supervisory Board or the committee, respectively.

The participation rate of the members at the meetings of the
Supervisory Board and its committees in total was 98.1%.
TABLE 4.1 ON PAGE 121 shows the participation of the individual
members in the past fiscal year.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board cooperate
on a trust basis to the benefit of the Company. The Supervisory
Board was in reqular contact with the Management Board and
was always promptly and comprehensively informed by it.
Between meetings, the Management Board reported to the
Supervisory Board in writing. During the meetings, the Man-
agement Board also informed the Supervisory Board verbally.
In addition, the Supervisory Board also last year was in contact
with members of the senior management level. The members
of the Management Board were further available to the Super-
visory Board for follow-up queries. The Chair of the Supervi-
sory Board maintained continuous contact with the Manage-
ment Board outside the meetings, in particular with the Chair
of the Management Board, on questions regarding strategy,
business development, the risk situation, risk management and
compliance of the Company. In case of important occasions or
events, the Chair of the Management Board promptly informed
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the Chair of the Supervisory Board. In such cases, the Chair of
the Supervisory Board subsequently informed the other mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board in the next meeting at the latest.
During the entire fiscal year, the Chair of the Supervisory Board
also was in close contact with the other members of the Super-
visory Board.

In accordance with the German Act on Strengthening Financial
Market Integrity (FISG), the members of the Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee are entitled to obtain information
from the heads of certain central departments of the Company.
As in previous years, it was once again standard practice for
the heads of central departments to report directly to the
Supervisory Board and to be available for questions and for dis-
cussion.

FOCUS OF THE DISCUSSIONS
IN THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

One of the main focus areas of the Supervisory Board's discus-
sions in the past year was supporting the Management Board in
dealing with the challenges for Fresenius Medical Care from the
impacts of the macroeconomic environment.

In addition, the Supervisory Board focused on the further
design of the FME25 program by the Management Board in sev-
eral meetings and was comprehensively involved in its imple-
mentation by the Management Board to the extent it took place
in the year under review.

In the year under review, the Supervisory Board also dealt with
investments, the business strategy as well as environmental,
social and governance (ESG) aspects.
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T41 PARTICIPATION OF THE MEMBERS IN THE MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND THE COMMITTEES

IN THE PAST FISCAL YEAR

Audit and
Supervisory Corporate Gover- Nomination
Board nance Committee Committee Joint Committee
Dr. Dieter Schenk (Chairman) 12/12 - 0/0 -
Rolf A. Classon (Vice Chairman) 1/12 1/12 0/0 0/0
Gregory Sorensen, MD 12/12 - - 0/0
Dr. Dorothea Wenzel 12/12 12/12 0/0 -
Pascale Witz 12/12 12/12 - -
Prof. Dr. Gregor Ziind 12/12 - - -

For example, the merger of Fresenius Health Partners, the for-
mer value-based services business of Fresenius Medical Care
North America, with InterWell Health and Cricket Health to a
premier value-based kidney care provider in the U.S. was closed
in the course of the strategic expansion along the value-based
care. The new company under the brand InterWell Health will
be fully consolidated by Fresenius Medical Care as the majority
owner and is expected to provide care to more than 270,000
people in the U.S. with kidney disease at a cost of more than
USS 11 billion by 2025.

In the year under review, Fresenius Medical Care has commit-
ted to become climate neutral by 2040. This applies both to
direct and indirect CO, emissions (Scope 1and 2). To reduce its
impact on the climate, the company has established a plan for
the years ahead: By 2030, Fresenius Medical Care aims to
reduce its direct and indirect CO, emissions (Scope 1 and 2) by
half as compared to reported emission levels in 2020. The cur-
rent focus is on the use of renewable energies. In going toward
climate neutrality, Fresenius Medical Care plans to continually
examine possibilities for investing in energy efficiency, the
self-generation of electricity and the adaption of new techno-

logies while also taking into account the entire life cycle of pro-
ducts. The Company is also assessing its emissions across the
entire value chain (Scope 3) to identify further possible targets
for reducing emissions.

The business development, the competitive situation and the
Management Board's planning for the individual functions and
regions respectively business segments were also focal points
of the Supervisory Board's discussions. In joint consultations
with the Management Board, the development of the produc-
tion quantities and their expansion were also discussed.

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board again discussed
the development of cost reimbursement in the various health
care systems, in particular in the U.S. With a view to the conti-
nued aim of increasing efficiency, the Supervisory Board fur-
ther informed itself also in the past year about the success of
the measures taken by the management already in previous
years to improve the cost situation.

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board also dealt with the
further development of the profile of skills and expertise for its
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composition and supplemented it with regard to expertise on
sustainability issues relevant to the company and a regular
maximum tenure for the Supervisory Board. According to this,
the Supervisory Board in its entirety shall be familiar with the
relevant matters in the area of sustainability, particularly with
regard to environmental, social and governance (ESG) aspects.
Furthermore, as a rule, the Supervisory Board shall not include
more than two persons who have been members of the Super-
visory Board for more than twelve years at the time of their
election or appointment. The Supervisory Board also resolved
to renew the target for the proportion of female Supervisory
Board members with regard to its own composition and set an
implementation period ending on May 9, 2027. According to the
new target, at least 30% and in any case not less than two
members of the Supervisory Board shall be female.

In September 2022, Fresenius Medical Care placed senior notes
with a total volume of €750 million. The proceeds will be used
for general corporate purposes, including the refinancing of
existing financial liabilities.

The Supervisory Board was also in the year under review reqgu-
larly informed about the Company’s compliance. Findings of the
internal audit department were also taken into account. In par-
ticular, the Supervisory Board has also informed itself inten-
sively and on an ongoing basis about the findings, assessments
and recommendations of the independent expert (Monitor)
engaged by the Company in fulfillment of its obligations under
the agreements it entered into in March 2019 with the U.S.
Department of Justice (DoJ) and the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) with a view to provisions of the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA). The Monitor certified
to the Company's implementation of an effective anti-corrup-
tion compliance program on December 30, 2022, and has sub-
mitted her final certification report on January 31, 2023. Both
the DoJ and SEC have confirmed that they accept the Monitor's
certification and have no objections or additional conditions.
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The Non-Prosecution Agreement expired on March 2, 2023, and
the SEC order will expire on March 29, 2023.

The Supervisory Board also received detailed reports on the IT
security systems and measures implemented at Fresenius
Medical Care.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Annual General Meeting of
the Company in the year under review was held as a virtual
general meeting without the physical presence of shareholders
or their proxies. Further details can be found in the Declaration
on Corporate Governance starting on PAGE 126 of the Annual
Report (Geschaftsbericht).

COMMITTEES OF
THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board has formed professionally qualified
committees from among its members that support the Super-
visory Board as a whole in its supervisory and advisory func-
tions. The respective Chairs have regularly reported to the
Supervisory Board on the work of the committees. Details of
the composition of the Supervisory Board's committees can be
found in the Declaration on Corporate Governance which can
be found starting on PAGE 126 of the Annual Report.

Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee convened
twelve times in the past fiscal year. Of these meetings, four
meetings were conducted in presence, two meetings were con-
ducted as hybrid meetings, i.e., in presence with the possibility
of virtual connection, and six meetings were conducted as
video conferences.
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All members of this committee - Mr. Rolf A. Classon (Chair until
December 31, 2022, since then ordinary member), Ms. Pascale
Witz (Vice Chair until December 31, 2022, since then Chair) and
Dr. Dorothea Wenzel (Vice Chair since January 1, 2023) - are
financial experts according to section 100 paragraph 5 of the
German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Based on their many
years of experience, they each have expertise in both accoun-
ting and auditing and are each independent within the meaning
of the applicable provisions. Further details on the qualifica-
tions and independence of the members of the Audit and Cor-
porate Governance Committee can be found in the Declaration
on Corporate Governance starting on PAGE 126 of the Annual
Report.

In the past year, the committee dealt with the annual and con-
solidated financial statements, the proposal for the allocation
of profit and the report according to Form 20-F for the SEC. It
also discussed the quarterly reports with the Management
Board. Also, the engagement pertaining to the audit of the con-
solidated financial statements according to the International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the internal controls
concerning the financial reporting, which are part of the report
according to Form 20-F, was issued by the committee. The com-
mittee further negotiated the fee agreement with the auditor.
Audit focal points and further key audit matters of the past fis-
cal year were the assessment of the recoverability of goodwill,
in particular for the group of cash-generating units of the
regions North America and EMEA, the accounting effects of the
business combination of InterWell Health, the valuation of
receivables from dialysis treatmentsin the U.S., possible effects
of the future change in segment reporting on the current fiscal
year, the valuation of uncertain tax positions, the accounting
treatment of significant litigations, the impact of cyber risks
and the FME25 program on financial reporting and the impact
of macroeconomic and geopolitical developments on the
Fresenius Medical Care group as well as on the Company's
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financial statements, the valuation of investments in affiliated
companies and the recognition of income from investments.

Representatives of the auditor participated in nearly all meet-
ings of the committee and informed the members of the com-
mittee of their auditing activities. In addition, they provided
information on any significant results of their audit and were
available for additional information. In the absence of the mem-
bers of the Management Board, they reported on the coopera-
tion with them and shared their observations with the commit-
tee. The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee also
consulted with the external auditors on a regular basis without
the Management Board. The Chair of the Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee also had reqular exchanges with repre-
sentatives of the auditor outside the meetings of the commit-
tee, in particular on the progress of the audit, and subsequently
reported thereon to the Audit and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee.

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee dealt on se-
veral occasions with the monitoring of the accounting process,
the effectiveness of the internal control system, the risk man-
agement system and the internal audit system as well as with
the audit of the financial statements - in particular the selec-
tion and independence of the auditor, the quality of the audit
and the additional services provided by the auditor - as well as
with the compliance management system. Further, the Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee discussed with the audi-
tor the audit risk assessment, the audit strategy and audit plan-
ning, and the audit results.

In the course of its audit, the auditor audited the internal con-
trol system in relation to the accounting process, the elec-
tronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report pursuant to section 328
paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) (so-called
ESEF documents) as well as the early risk recognition system.
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The audit showed that the General Partner has appropriately
implemented the measures required under section 91 para-
graph 2 AktG, in particular regarding the establishment of a
monitoring system, and that the monitoring system is suitable
for the early identification of developments that may endan-
ger the continued existence of the Company. The Management
Board periodically reported to the committee on major indivi-
dual risks. It also regularly informed the committee on the
compliance situation as well as on the audit plans and results
of the internal audit.

The committee again reviewed the business relations of the
Fresenius Medical Care group companies to Fresenius SE & Co.
KGaA and the latter's affiliated companies. It was confirmed in
each case that these relationships corresponded to those
between unrelated third parties.

Certain transactions of the Company with related parties may
be subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board pursuant
to section 111b paragraph 1 AktG. The Supervisory Board has
made use of the option to delegate the responsibility for the
approval resolution to the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee. In the year under review, there were no transac-
tions requiring such approval. In accordance with section 111a
paragraph 2 sentence 2 AktG, the Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee reviewed whether transactions between the
Company and related parties were conducted in the ordinary
course of business and at arm's length. No objections were
raised in this respect.

The Chair of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee
regularly reported to the Supervisory Board on the results of
the discussions and resolutions in the committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee prepares candidate proposals and
proposes to the Supervisory Board of the Company suitable
candidates for its election proposals to the General Meeting. In
the past fiscal year, the Nomination Committee did not convene
since no meeting was required. The next reqular elections of
members to the Supervisory Board of the Company are sche-
duled for the 2025 Annual General Meeting of the Company.

JOINT COMMITTEE

The Company has a Joint Committee which is composed of two
members of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner as
well as two members of the Supervisory Board of the Company.
For certain matters, the Management Board requires the
approval of the Joint Committee. In the past fiscal year, the
Joint Committee did not convene since no meeting was required.

DIALOG WITH INVESTORS

The Chair of the Supervisory Board and the Lead Independent
Director were also available for discussions with investors in the
year under review to the extent permitted by law and in close
consultation with the Management Board. In these discussions,
investors were given the opportunity to exchange views with the
Chair of the Supervisory Board and the Lead Independent Direc-
tor on corporate governance issues falling within the remit of
the Supervisory Board. Key topics in the year under review were
the macroeconomic environment, the FME25 program, the new
operating model (Care Delivery, Care Enablement), the composi-
tion of the Management Board, the preparation of the new com-
pensation system for the Management Board to be introduced in
2024 and the consideration of environmental, social and gover-
nance (ESG) aspects also in the Supervisory Board.
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The members of the Supervisory Board in principle self-respon-
sibly undertake educational and training measures required for
their tasks, such as on changes in the legal framework and on
new, future-oriented developments technologies, and are ade-
quately supported in this respect by the Company.

In addition to the information provided to them by various
external experts, also experts of the company’s departments
regularly report on relevant developments, such as - for exam-
ple - relevant new developments in the revision of legal rules or
in jurisprudence and also about recent developments in regula-
tions on accounting and audit. In this way, the Supervisory
Board, with the company’'s adequate assistance, ensures an
ongoing qualification of its members and also a further deve-
lopment and updating of their expertise, power of judgment
and experience which is required for the Supervisory Board
including its committees to duly perform their tasks.

New members of the Supervisory Board can meet the members
of the Management Board and specialist managers for a discus-
sion of fundamental and current topics and thereby gain an
overview of the relevant topics of the Company (Onboarding).
For targeted further training, internal information events are
offered as required. In the year under review, further training
was provided for the members of the Supervisory Board on
current developments in corporate governance and upcoming
relevant legal regulations. These included the new version of
the German Corporate Governance Code, the new legal provi-
sions introduced by the Act on the Introduction of Virtual Ge-
neral Meetings of Stock Corporations, regulatory develop-
ments in the area of environment, social and governance (ESG),
and new regulations of the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
and the SEC associated with the listing of the Company as a
foreign private issuer.
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The Supervisory Board reports to the General Meeting on
possible conflicts of interests of its members and on the treat-
ment of such conflicts. In the year under review, there were
no conflicts of interest of board members that would have
been required to be disclosed to the Chair of the Supervisory
Board and of which the Supervisory Board would inform the
General Meeting.

The Supervisory Board again carried out a self-assessment of
its work under the direction of the Lead Independent Director
and, to this purpose, in the year under review also sought the
support of an external service provider specializing in self-as-
sessments by supervisory boards of listed companies.

Further details on corporate governance, in particular on the
independence of the Supervisory Board members, on the mem-
bership in the Supervisory Boards of the General Partner or
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA or the latter's general partner, the
qualification matrix for the implementation status of the profile
of skills and expertise for the Supervisory Board, the age limit
and the regular maximum tenure for membership in the Com-
pany's Supervisory Board, as well as the self-assessment of the
activities of the Supervisory Board and its committees, can be
found in the Declaration on Corporate Governance starting on
PAGE 126 of the Annual Report. The Declaration on Corporate
Governance was discussed by the Supervisory Board and
approved in its meeting of March 14, 2023.

The Declaration on Corporate Governance also includes the
Declaration of Compliance in relation to the German Corporate
Governance Code according to section 161 AktG as resolved by
the Management Board and Supervisory Board and published
in December 2022. The Declaration of Compliance is perma-
nently available to the public on the Company's website at
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the section “Investors” and
there in the sub-section “Corporate Governance".
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COMPENSATION REPORT

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board prepared a
compensation report in accordance with section 162 AktG for
the year under review. In accordance with section 162 para-
graph 3 AktG, the compensation report was reviewed by the
auditor to determine whether the legally required disclosures
pursuant to section 162 paragraphs 1and 2 AktG were made. In
addition to the statutory requirements, the content of the
report was also again reviewed by the auditor. The auditor con-
firmed that the compensation report, in all material respects,
complies with the accounting provisions of section 162 AktG. In
accordance with section 120 paragraph 4 AktG, the compensa-
tion report will be submitted to the General Meeting of the
Company for approval.

ANNUAL AND CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The annual financial statements and the management report of
the Company were prepared in accordance with the regulations
of the German Commercial Code (HGB). The consolidated finan-
cial statements and group management report follow section
315e of the German Commercial Code (HGB) in accordance with
IFRS as applicable in the European Union. Accountancy, the
annual financial statements, the management report as well as
the consolidated financial statements and the group manage-
ment report for fiscal year 2022 were audited by Pricewater-
houseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Frank-
furt am Main (PwC). PwC is the auditor of the Company since
fiscal year 2020 and was elected as auditor by resolution of the
Annual General Meeting of May 12, 2022, for the year under
review and mandated by the Supervisory Board. The auditor pro-
vided each of the aforementioned documents with an unquali-
fied certificate. Mr. Peter Kartscher and Mr. Holger Lutz signed
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the respective audit certificate as the responsible auditors, as
already in the two previous years. The audit reports of the audi-
tor were made available to the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee and the Supervisory Board. The Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee reviewed the annual and consolidated
financial statements as well as the management reports and
included the audit reports of, and the discussions with, the audi-
torinits discussions. The Audit and Corporate Governance Com-
mittee reported to the Supervisory Board on this.

The Supervisory Board also reviewed the annual financial
statements, the management report, the consolidated financial
statements and the group management report, in each case for
the past fiscal year. The documents were provided to it in good
time. The Supervisory Board declared its agreement with the
result of the audit of the annual financial statements and the
consolidated financial statements by the auditor. The represen-
tatives of the auditor who signed the audit reports participated
in the discussions of the Supervisory Board of the annual and
consolidated financial statements. They reported to the Super-
visory Board on the significant findings of their audit and were
available for additional information. Also according to the final
results of its own review, no objections are to be raised by the
Supervisory Board as regards the annual financial statements,
the management report, the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report.

In its meeting on February 21, 2023, the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed the draft of the report according to Form 20-F. The
report according to Form 20-F was filed with the SEC on Febru-
ary 22, 2023.

The annual financial statements and management report of
the Company as well as the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report for the past fiscal year, as
presented by the General Partner, were approved by the Super-
visory Board at its meeting on March 14, 2023.


http://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report by the Supervisory Board

Declaration on Corporate Governance

Compensation Report

The Supervisory Board also approved the General Partner's
proposal for the application of profit which provides for a divi-
dend of € 1.12 for each share.

SEPARATE NON-FINANCIAL
GROUP REPORT

The separate Non-Financial Group Report of the Company was
prepared in accordance with the regulations of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) and the EU Taxonomy Regulation
(Regulation (EU) 2020/852) and will be published separately
from the group management report. This report documents
the sustainability performance of Fresenius Medical Care in
2022. The reporting by Fresenius Medical Care is based on the
international sustainability standards of the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI).

The Supervisory Board made use of the option to have the sepa-
rate Non-Financial Group Report verified by an external auditor.
The separate Non-Financial Group Report was subjected to a limi-
ted assurance engagement review by PwC in accordance with the
international standard on assurance engagements ISAE 3000
(Revised). PwC issued a corresponding assurance statement.

The Supervisory Board, too, reviewed the separate Non-Finan-
cial Group Report. The documents were provided to it in good
time. The Supervisory Board declared its agreement with the
result of the limited assurance engagement by the auditor. The
representatives of the auditor who signed the note on the limi-
ted assurance engagement participated in the discussions of
the Supervisory Board of the separate Non-Financial Group
Report. They reported to the Supervisory Board on the signifi-
cant findings of their limited assurance engagement and were
available for additional information. Also according to the final
results of its own review, no objections are to be raised by the
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Supervisory Board as regards the separate Non-Financial
Group Report.

DEPENDENCY REPORT

The General Partner prepared a report on the Company'’s rela-
tionships to Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA and the latter’s affiliates
in accordance with section 312 AktG for the past fiscal year. The
report contains the following concluding statement:

"With regard to the legal transactions and measures listed in
this report on the relationships to affiliated companies, FMC-AG
& Co. KGaA received appropriate compensation for each legal
transaction in accordance with the circumstances of which we
were aware at the time that the legal transactions were con-
ducted. No reportable measures were taken or omitted in the
reporting year.”

Both the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee and the
Supervisory Board received the dependency report in good time
and reviewed it. The auditor participated in the relevant meet-
ing. It reported on the main results of its audit and was available
for additional information. On February 24, 2023, the auditor
added the following certificate to the dependency report:

"On the basis of our proper audit and judgment we confirm that
1. the factual disclosures provided in the report are correct,
2. the consideration paid by the Company for the legal transac-
tions stated in the report was not inappropriately high.”

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee and the
Supervisory Board concur with the assessment of the auditor.
Following the final results of its own review, the Supervisory
Board does not raise any objections against the declaration of
the General Partner at the bottom of the report on the relation-
ships to affiliates.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mr. Rice Powell retired from the Management Board on
December 31, 2022, after more than twenty-five years of ser-
vice to Fresenius Medical Care, including ten years as Chair of
the Management Board. Mr. Powell has uniquely shaped
Fresenius Medical Care with his dedication, commitment and
expertise and has made an extraordinary contribution to the
success of Fresenius Medical Care in many ways in his daily
work. The Supervisory Board thanks Mr. Powell for his many
years of work and his active and valuable commitment to
Fresenius Medical Care.

Dr. Carla Kriwet, who had been appointed as a member and the
Chair of the Management Board with effect from October 1,
2022, resigned from these positions by mutual agreement as of
the end of December 5, 2022. The Supervisory Board thanks
Dr. Kriwet for her work.

Finally, the Supervisory Board thanks the members of the
Management Board as well as all employees of the group for
their outstanding and tireless efforts in a remaining extremely
challenging environment. Their work performed under difficult
conditions in the past fiscal year is highly appreciated!

Bad Homburg v.d. H6he, March 14, 2023
On behalf of the Supervisory Board

DR. DIETER SCHENK
Chair
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DECLARATION
ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board
of Fresenius Medical Care are committed to respon-
sible management that is focused on achieving a
sustainable increase in the value of the Company.
The implementation of long-term strategies, solid
financial management, strict adherence to legal and
ethical business standards, successful sustainability
management to create lasting economic, ecological
and social value, and a transparent communication
of the Company are its key elements.

The Management Board of the General Partner, Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG (hereinafter: the Management
Board), and the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care
AG & Co. KGaA (hereinafter: FMC AG & Co. KGaA or the Com-
pany) hereunder report on the fiscal year 2022 as the year
under review (hereinafter: the year under review) pursuant to
sections 289f, 315d of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch - HGB) and in accordance with principle 23 of the
German Corporate Governance Code in the version dated April
28, 2022 (hereinafter also: the Code), as published in the Ger-
man Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger) on June 27, 2022, on
the Company's corporate governance (Unternehmensfiihrung)
and thereby also comment on recommendations and sugges-
tions of the Code.

The Declaration on Corporate Governance is publicly available
on the Company's website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in
the “Investors” section.
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GROUP MANAGEMENT AND
SUPERVISION STRUCTURE

The Company is a partnership limited by shares (Kommanditge-
sellschaft auf Aktien - KGaA). Its corporate bodies provided for
by law are the General Meeting, the Supervisory Board and the
General Partner, which is Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG. In the year under review, there were no significant changes
to the group’'s management structure or its supervision struc-
ture. The group’s management and supervision structure are
shown in CHART 4.2,

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

For stock corporations (Aktiengesellschaft) as well as for part-
nerships limited by shares (Kommanditgesellschaft auf Aktien)
the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz - AktG) pre-
scribes a dual management system (so-called two-tier manage-
ment system) consisting of a management body and a supervi-
sory board. The business activities of a partnership limited by
shares are conducted by one or several personally liable part-
ners (General Partner). In the case of FMC AG & Co. KGaA, this
is Fresenius Medical Care Management AG. The General Part-
ner's Management Board as its management body is also
responsible for conducting the business activities of the KGaA.
Within the scope of statutory allocation of competences, the
Supervisory Board is responsible for supervising and advising

c 4.2
BASED ON DATA AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2022

Limited
voting rights’

FRESENIUS SE & CO. KGAA

\ 100% ~32%

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
MANAGEMENT AG

\ elects

SUPERVISORY BOARD
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
MANAGEMENT AG

supervises/appoints
Management Board

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
MANAGEMENT AG

manages

-

(General Partner)

STRUCTURE OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE AG & CO. KGAA

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE

FREE FLOAT

~68%

AG & CO. KGAA

\ elects

SUPERVISORY BOARD
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE

AG & CO. KGAA

supervises
management

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE

AG & CO. KGAA

' For certain items, Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA has no voting rights, e.g., for the election of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, for the formal approval of the actions of the
General Partner and the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA as well as for the election of the auditor of the annual financial statements.
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the Management Board and is involved in making decisions
that are fundamental to the Company. The duties and responsi-
bilities of both bodies are in each case statutorily defined and
are strictly separated from one another. Each of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA and Fresenius Medical Care Management AG has its own
Supervisory Board.

The Articles of Association of FMC AG & Co. KGaA, which also
specify the responsibilities of the bodies of the Company in
more detail, are available on the Company's website at
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the “Investors” section.

THE GENERAL PARTNER
AND ITS BODIES

The Management Board of Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG

The General Partner - Fresenius Medical Care Management AG -
represented by its Management Board, which acts on its own
responsibility, manages the Company and conducts the Compa-
ny's business. Its actions and decisions are directed towards
the interests of the Company.

Composition

As part of the realignment of the operating model under the
FME25 program and the focus on two global business seg-
ments - Care Delivery and Care Enablement - the Supervisory
Board of the General Partner resolved changes in the composi-
tion and allocation of responsibilities of the Management
Board, which have been implemented effective January 1,
2022. In Care Enablement, Fresenius Medical Care is consoli-
dating its previously decentralized health care products busi-
ness including research and development, manufacturing, sup-

127

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

T43 COMPOSITION AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Management Board member Responsibilities

Chair of the Management Board (since December 6, 2022, until then since May 16, 2022,

Helen Giza

Deputy Chair of the Management Board) and Chief Financial Officer

Dr. Carla Kriwet!

Chair of the Management Board (from October 1, 2022, to December 5, 2022)

Franklin W. Maddux, MD Global Chief Medical Officer

Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsap Care Enablement

Rice Powell?

Chair of the Management Board (until September 30, 2022)

William Valle Care Delivery

! Dr. Carla Kriwet departed from the Management Board effective at the end of December 5, 2022.
2 Mr. Rice Powell retired from the Management Board effective at the end of the year under review.

ply chain and commercial operations as well as supporting
functions, such as regulatory and quality management under a
global MedTech umbrella. Fresenius Medical Care's global
health care services business is being combined in the Care
Delivery segment.

Mr. William Valle (previously responsible for North America) is
now responsible for the business segment Care Delivery.
Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsap (previously responsible for Europe,
Middle East and Africa) is now responsible for the business seg-
ment Care Enablement. Mr. Franklin W. Maddux, MD, continues
to be the Management Board member responsible for the
Global Medical Office.

In view of the age limit set by the Supervisory Board of the Gen-
eral Partner, Mr. Rice Powell retired from the Management Board
upon reqular termination of his appointment at the end of the
year under review. He had previously resigned as Chair of the
Management Board effective at the end of September 30, 2022.

Dr. Carla Kriwet was appointed member and Chair of the Man-
agement Board effective October 1, 2022 and resigned from

these positions at her own request and by mutual agreement
effective at the end of December 5, 2022.

Ms. Helen Giza has been Chair of the Management Board since
December 6, 2022, and will continue to serve as acting Chief
Financial Officer until a successor is appointed to this position.
She had previously been appointed Deputy Chair of the Ma-
nagement Board with effect from May 16, 2022, and served as
Chief Transformation Officer during the year under review,
responsible for the implementation of the FME25 program.

The composition of the Management Board and the depart-
mental responsibilities for the year under review are shown in
TABLE 4.3.

Curricula vitae and duration of appointment

The members of the Management Board and their areas of
responsibility are introduced on the Company's website at
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the “About us" section. The
curricula vitae made available there also contain information
on the duration of appointment as members of the Manage-
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ment Board and on positions held at group-internal and
group-external listed and non-listed companies.

Initial appointments of Management Board members are made
for a maximum of three years in accordance with recommenda-
tion B.3 of the Code. Information on the diversity of the Ma-
nagement Board can be found in the section “Diversity concept
and targets".

Rules of Procedure

The Management Board of the General Partner manages the
Company's business in accordance with the applicable laws and
the Articles of Association as well as the rules of procedure
within the meaning of section 77 paragraph 2 German Stock
Corporation Act. The rules of procedure stipulate the principles
of the cooperation. They also provide for the schedule of
responsibilities which determines the departmental responsi-
bilities of the individual Management Board members. The
rules of procedure determine that meetings of the Manage-
ment Board are held as the circumstances require, but at least
twelve times a year. The meetings and the adoption of resolu-
tions by the Management Board are chaired by the Chair of the
Management Board. If the Chair is unavailable, this task resides
with the Management Board member named by the Chair, or, if
no member has been named, with the participating Manage-
ment Board member most senior in office. The Chair of the
meeting determines the order of the agenda items and the vo-
ting procedure. As a rule, the Management Board adopts reso-
lutions at meetings by simple majority of votes cast, and out-
side the meetings by simple majority of its members. In case of
a tie, the Chair of the Management Board has the casting vote.

Without prejudice to the overall responsibility of the entire Ma-
nagement Board, each Management Board member is responsi-
ble for his or her own area of departmental responsibility. Based
on the rules of procedure, the Management Board members are
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required to keep each other informed on an ongoing basis about
all relevant business occurrences in their areas of departmental
responsibility. In the case of interdepartmental matters, the
Management Board members concerned are requested to coor-
dinate with each other. The Chair of the Management Board
coordinates the affairs of the individual departments.

Matters of outstanding importance and significance are
resolved on by the entire Management Board pursuant to the
rules of procedure. In order to increase the efficiency of the
Management Board's work, the Supervisory Board of the Ge-
neral Partner established a Management Board Committee for
certain cross departmental matters. If necessary, such Manage-
ment Board Committee essentially deals with corporate mat-
ters of subsidiaries of FMC AG & Co. KGaA or with acquisitions
that do not reach the minimum relevance and importance level
required for being referred to the entire Management Board.
The Management Board Committee must be composed of at
least three members, among them the Chair of the Manage-
ment Board and the Chief Financial Officer as well as the Ma-
nagement Board member responsible for the respective matter
or another Management Board member appointed by the Chair
at his or her reasonable discretion exercised in the individual
case. In its meetings the Management Board Committee
decides with a simple majority of the votes cast; outside of
meetings the Management Board Committee decides with a
simple majority of its members.

In various relevant cases, the rules of procedure require the
Management Board to obtain the prior approval of the Supervi-
sory Board or the competent committee of the Supervisory
Board of the General Partner and also regulate the Management
Board's information duties vis-a-vis the Supervisory Board.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Age limit

The Supervisory Board of the General Partner resolved an age
limit for the Management Board members in accordance with re-
commendation B.5 of the Code. Management Board members of
the General Partner who have reached the age of 65 years shall,
as a rule, retire from the Management Board at the end of such
calendar year. The Supervisory Board of the General Partner will
take this age limit into account for each appointment of Manage-
ment Board members. The age limit for the Management Board
members of the General Partner did not apply to the term of
office of Mr. Rice Powell, which had already started before the age
limit was introduced and which ended with the year under review.

The Management Board member serving as the Global Chief
Medical Officer, Mr. Franklin W. Maddux, MD, who was originally
appointed for the period until the end of the year under review,
reached the aforementioned standard age limit. In view of Mr.
Maddux's extensive knowledge and the importance of the Global
Medical Office in the company’s operating model, the Supervi-
sory Board of the General Partner resolved to appoint Mr.
Maddux as a member of the Management Board for an addi-
tional five years, making an exception to the standard age limit.
The exemption from the standard age limit is intended to ensure
continuity of management in an area that is essential to the suc-
cess of the company during the current transformation phase.

The Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

As a stock corporation, Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG has its own Supervisory Board, which according to its Arti-
cles of Association consists of six members. The Supervisory
Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG appoints the
members of the Management Board, determines their compen-
sation and monitors and advises the Management Board in its
management duties. It has adopted rules of procedure.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Report by the Supervisory Board

Declaration on Corporate Governance

Compensation Report

129

T4.4

MANDATES EXERCISED BY MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE MANAGEMENT AG

WHO ARE RESP. WERE NOT MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE AG & CO. KGAA

Member

Membership in supervisory boards

Membership in comparable foreign

controlling bodies

Michael Sen

(since October 1, 2022)

Chair of the Management Board
of Fresenius Management SE
(since October 1, 2022)

Sara Hennicken

(since September 1, 2022)

Member of the Management Board of Fresenius
Management SE (Chief Financial Officer)

(since September 1, 2022)

Fresenius Kabi AG
(since September 1, 2022,

VAMED AG, Austria
(since December 14, 2022)

since October 5, 2022 also Chair)

Stephan Sturm

(until September 30, 2022)
Chair of the Management Board
of Fresenius Management SE
(until September 30, 2022)

Fresenius Kabi AG (Chair)
(until September 30, 2022)

VAMED AG, Austria (Chair)
(until October 6, 2022)

Rachel Empey
(until August 31,2022)
Member of the Management Board of

Fresenius Kabi AG (Vice Chair)
(until August 31, 2022)

Fresenius Management SE (Chief Financial Officer) Bayerische Motoren Werke AG

(until August 31, 2022)

T4.5

Supervisory Board committee

COMMITTEES OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE MANAGEMENT AG

Responsibility

Number of meetings

Human Resources Committee

Chair:

Mr. Michael Sen (since October 1, 2022)

Mr. Stephan Sturm (until September 30, 2022)
Vice Chair:

Dr. Dieter Schenk

Other member:

Mr. Rolf A. Classon

Advice on complex special matters
such as the appointment of Management Board
members and their compensation

As required

Nomination Committee

Chair:

Mr. Michael Sen (since October 1, 2022)

Mr. Stephan Sturm (until September 30, 2022)
Vice Chair:

Dr. Dieter Schenk

Preparing recommendations to be presented
to the Supervisory Board for the purpose of
its proposal to the General Meeting on suitable
candidates for an election to the Supervisory
Board

As required

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Composition

Mr. Michael Sen has been Chair of the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG since October 1, 2022.
Mr. Stephan Sturm, the previous Chair of the Supervisory
Board, stepped down from the Supervisory Board effective at
the end of September 30, 2022.

Other members of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG in the year under review were Dr. Dieter
Schenk (Vice Chair), Mr. Rolf A. Classon, Ms. Rachel Empey
(until August 31, 2022), Ms. Sara Hennicken (since September 1,
2022), Mr. Gregory Sorensen, MD, and Ms. Pascale Witz.

Dr. Dieter Schenk, Mr. Rolf A. Classon, Mr. Gregory Sorensen,
MD, and Ms. Pascale Witz are at the same time members of the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA. Further information
on these and on the other members of the Supervisory Board
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA are available in the section “Supervisory
Board of the Company” and on the Company's website at
www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the “About us” section.

In addition, the information in TABLE 4.4 is provided for the
year under review with regard to the mandates exercised by
the members of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG in office in the year under review, who
are, or respectively were, not at the same time members of the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.

Fresenius Management SE is the general partner of Fresenius
SE & Co. KGaA, which holds approximately 32% of the shares in
FMC AG & Co. KGaA.

Dr. Ben Lipps stepped down as honorary chair of the Supervi-
sory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG in May
2022.
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Independent members within the meaning
of the Pooling Agreement

Irrespective of the independence requirements according to
statutory rules and of the recommendations of the German Cor-
porate Governance Code in its respectively applicable form, the
so-called Pooling Agreement entered into, among others,
between Fresenius Medical Care Management AG and Fresenius
SE & Co. KGaA provides that at least one third (and at least two)
of the members of the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care Management AG must be independent. Pursuant to the
Pooling Agreement, an “independent member” is a member of
the Supervisory Board with no substantial business or profes-
sional relationship with FMC AG & Co. KGaA, with its General
Partner (Fresenius Medical Care Management AG), with
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, or with its general partner (Fresenius
Management SE), or with any affiliate of these companies. The
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG
has appointed Mr. Rolf A. Classon and Mr. Gregory Sorensen,
MD, as independent members within the meaning of the Pooling
Agreement. Independent within the meaning of this definition
further are the Supervisory Board member Ms. Pascale Witz as
well as also the members of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG &
Co. KGaA Dr. Dorothea Wenzel and Prof. Dr. Gregor Ziind, who
both, however, are not at the same time members of the Super-
visory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG.

Committees of the Supervisory Board
of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG

For the efficient exercise of its responsibilities, the Supervisory
Board of the General Partner has formed qualified committees
from the midst of its members, which prepare the matters for
deliberation and resolutions of the Supervisory Board. The
Supervisory Board regularly and timely receives briefings on
the committees’ work.
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The composition and responsibilities of the committees of the
Supervisory Board of the General Partner are shown in
TABLE 4.5 ON PAGE 129.

SUPERVISORY BOARD OF
THE COMPANY

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA supervises and
advises the management of the Company by the General Partner
and performs the other duties assigned to it by law and the Arti-
cles of Association. In accordance with principle 6 of the Code,
supervision and advice include sustainability matters. The Super-
visory Board is further involved in strategy and planning as well
as all matters of fundamental importance for the company.

Simultaneous membership in both the Supervisory Board and
the Management Board is in principle not permissible. The
members of the Company's Supervisory Board are indepen-
dent in their decisions and are not bound by requirements or
instructions of third parties.

Composition

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in the year under
review consisted of the following members: Dr. Dieter Schenk
(Chair), Mr. Rolf A. Classon (Vice Chair), Mr. Gregory Sorensen,
MD, Dr. Dorothea Wenzel, Ms. Pascale Witz and Prof. Dr. Gregor
Zind. The members of the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA are introduced on the Company's website at www.frese-
niusmedicalcare.com in the “About us" section. The curricula
vitae made available there in accordance with recommendation
C.3 of the Code also include information on their term of office
on the Company's Supervisory Board and information on posi-
tions held at group-internal and group-external listed and non-
listed companies.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Dr. Ben Lipps also stepped down as honorary chair of the
Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in May 2022.

The Supervisory Board of the Company is composed exclu-
sively of shareholder representatives. It does not include any
members who were previously members of the Management
Board.

The members of the Company's Supervisory Board are elected
by the General Meeting of FMC AG & Co. KGaA as the compe-
tent election body according to the provisions of the German
Stock Corporation Act by a simple majority of the votes cast.
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA is excluded from voting on this item;
further explanations on this can be found in the section “Gen-
eral Meeting”. The elections are conducted in accordance with
recommendation C.15 of the Code as individual elections. In
case of election proposals, a curriculum vitae is provided for
each candidate in accordance with recommendation C.14 of the
Code, and any personal or business relationship of a candidate
with the enterprise, the corporate bodies of the Company or a
significant shareholder of the Company are disclosed in accor-
dance with recommendation C.13 of the Code.

The term of office of the members of the Supervisory Board is
five years unless the General Meeting resolves a shorter term
of office. The incumbent members of the Supervisory Board
were elected by the 2021 Annual General Meeting of the Com-
pany for four years until the end of the Annual General Meeting
which resolves on the discharge for the financial year 2024, i.e.,
until the end of the 2025 Annual General Meeting.

Rules of Procedure

Details on the election, constitution and term of office of the
Supervisory Board, its meetings and the adoption of resolu-
tions, as well as its rights and obligations, are set out in the
Company's Articles of Association available on the Company'’s
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website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the “Investors”
section. In accordance with recommendation D.1 of the Code,
the Supervisory Board has furthermore adopted rules of proce-
dure which set out, among other things, the modalities for con-
vening meetings and the manner in which resolutions are
adopted. In accordance with these, the Supervisory Board
meets reqularly at least twice per calendar half year. The convo-
cation period for meetings of the Supervisory Board is generally
two weeks. The deliberations of the Supervisory Board are
chaired by the Chair or, if the Chair is unavailable, by the Vice
Chair. The Chair of the meeting also determines the order of the
agenda items and the voting procedure. As a rule, the Supervi-
sory Board decides, if decisions are taken in physical meetings,
by simple majority of votes cast, and otherwise with a simple
majority of its members unless other majorities are prescribed
by a mandatory provision of law in the individual case. The pro-
visions of the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board of
the Company also apply to its committees, unless their rules of
procedure contain deviating provisions. The Chair of the Super-
visory Board coordinates the work and direction of the Supervi-
sory Board and in principle also represents the Supervisory
Board vis-a-vis third parties. The rules of procedure of the
Supervisory Board of the Company are publicly available on the
Company's website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the
“About us"” section in the sub-section “Supervisory Board".

Age limit

The Supervisory Board has further resolved an age limit for the
Supervisory Board members in accordance with recommenda-
tion C.2 of the Code. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board shall,
as arule, only include persons who have not reached the age of
75 years at the time of their election or appointment. The
Supervisory Board will observe this standard age limit in its
election proposals for membership in the Supervisory Board.
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As part of its election proposal to the 2021 Annual General
Meeting of the Company, the Supervisory Board of the Com-
pany resolved to propose Mr. Classon, who had already reached
the aforementioned standard age limit, for re-election to the
Supervisory Board on account of his extensive experience and
special qualifications, making an exception to the standard age
limit for the Supervisory Board. This was also disclosed in the
invitation to the Annual General Meeting. Mr. Classon's current
term of office remains unaffected by the standard age limit.

Independence

According to recommendation C.7 of the Code, more than half
of the members of the Supervisory Board shall be independent
from the Company and the Management Board. Members of
the Supervisory Board are to be considered independent from
the Company and its Management Board if they have no per-
sonal or business relationship with the Company or its Manage-
ment Board that may cause a substantial - and not merely tem-
porary - conflict of interest. When assessing the independence
of members of the Supervisory Board from the Company and
its Management Board, the Supervisory Board shall particu-
larly take into consideration whether the respective Supervi-
sory Board member or a close family member (a) was a mem-
ber of the Company's Management Board in the two years prior
to appointment, (b) is currently maintaining or has maintained
a material business relationship with the Company or one of
the entities dependent upon the company in the year up to his
or her appointment, directly or as a shareholder, or in a leading
position of a non-group entity, or (c) is a close family member
of a Management Board member, or (d) has been a member of
the Supervisory Board for more than twelve years.

The Supervisory Board resolved that at least four of its mem-
bers shall be independent within the meaning of the Code.
Independent within the meaning of recommendation C.7 of the
Code are, in the view of the Supervisory Board, in any case

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2022

Mr. Rolf A. Classon, Mr. Gregory Sorensen, MD, Dr. Dorothea
Wenzel, Ms. Pascale Witz and Prof. Dr. Gregor Ziind. The Super-
visory Board did not need to consider whether Dr. Dieter Schenk
is to be regarded as independent within the meaning of recom-
mendation C.7 of the Code in view of his term of office on the
Supervisory Board of the Company of more than twelve years,
because the number of those Supervisory Board members who
have been members of the Supervisory Board for no more than
twelve years and are otherwise to be qualified as independent
already complies with recommendation C.7 of the Code.

Recommendation C.9 of the Code, according to which, in the
event that the Company has a controlling shareholder within
the meaning of the Code, in the case of a Supervisory Board
with six or fewer members at least one shareholder representa-
tive shall be independent of the controlling shareholder, does
not apply to the Company, because Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA is
no controlling shareholder in this meaning given the lack of a
sustainable majority at the Annual General Meeting. However,
assuming the applicability of this recommendation, Mr. Classon,
Mr. Sorensen, Dr. Wenzel, Ms. Witz and Prof. Dr. Ziind would be
considered independent in this meaning.

Lead Independent Director

The Supervisory Board has introduced the function of a Lead
Independent Director. The Lead Independent Director is to
ensure that the interests of all shareholders are adequately
taken into account in the actions, negotiations, discussions and
decisions of the Supervisory Board. The tasks of the Lead Inde-
pendent Director therefore include developing and maintaining
a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of the
shareholders and other stakeholders. In addition to the willing-
ness of the Chair of the Supervisory Board to discuss with
investors topics specific to the Supervisory Board in accor-
dance with suggestion A.6 of the Code, the Lead Independent
Director within the framework of the statutory provisions, too,
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is available for discussions with shareholders and other stake-
holders. The Lead Independent Director is further responsible
for dealing with affairs related to environmental, social and
governance (ESG) aspects of the company and is entitled to
develop and propose corresponding measures. This also
ensures that the General Partner is supervised and advised by
the Supervisory Board on sustainability issues in accordance
with principle 6 of the Code.

The requirements for the person of the Lead Independent
Director as well as the rights and duties associated with this
function are governed by Article 11 of the rules of procedure of
the Supervisory Board of the Company, which are publicly
available on the Company's website at www.freseniusmedical-
care.com in the “About us" section in the sub-section “Supervi-
sory Board". The function of the Lead Independent Director is
exercised by Dr. Dorothea Wenzel.

Self-assessments

In accordance with recommendation D.12 of the Code, the mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board regularly carry out self-assess-
ments with regard to their work. These take place in the form of
open discussions in plenary meetings and on the basis of a cor-
responding questionnaire. On these annual occasions, also the
complexity and the design of the presentations as well as the
procedure and structuring of the meetings of the Supervisory
Board and its committees are discussed, such as their number
and frequency. The quality and appropriateness of the informa-
tion provided to the Supervisory Board and its committees, as
well as the professional composition of the Supervisory Board
and its committees, are also assessed. In the year under review,
the Supervisory Board also sought the support of an external
service provider specializing in self-assessments by supervi-
sory boards of listed companies. The results of the self-assess-
ment carried out in the year under review under the direction
of the Lead Independent Director have shown that each of the
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Supervisory Board and its committees are efficiently organized
and that the cooperation of the Supervisory Board and the
Management Board works very well.

Professional competence

All members of the Supervisory Board have the capabilities as
well as the knowledge required for the proper exercise of their
duties. The Supervisory Board members are in their entirety
familiar with the sector FMC AG & Co. KGaA operates in. The
members of the Supervisory Board regularly update themselves
via in-house sources and via external sources about the current
status of supervisory requirements. Details of the support pro-
vided by the Company to the members of the Supervisory Board
for their induction into office and for their training and develop-
ment measures can be found in the Report by the Supervisory
Board of the Company starting on PAGE 119 of the Annual Report.

Profile of skills and expertise as well as
gualification matrix

The Supervisory Board in accordance with principle 11 of the
Code in its own initiative pays attention to have in its entirety
the knowledge, capabilities and professional expertise required
for the due observation of the duties of the Supervisory Board
of a listed company operating internationally in the dialysis
business. Against this background and in accordance with the
recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code,
the Supervisory Board has resolved specific objectives regar-
ding its composition and a profile of skills and expertise for the
entire Supervisory Board for the first time in 2018.

The Supervisory Board most recently updated the profile of
skills and expertise in March 2022. In accordance with recom-
mendation C.1 of the Code, the profile of skills and expertise
also comprises expertise regarding sustainability matters rele-
vant to the enterprise. The Supervisory Board further intro-
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duced a regular maximum tenure for serving on the Supervi-
sory Board. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board shall, as a rule,
not include more than two persons who at the time of their
election or appointment have been members of the Supervi-
sory Board for more than twelve years.

The profile of skills and expertise contains requirements for the
individual Supervisory Board members as well as requirements
for the entire Supervisory Board and is available on the Compa-
ny's website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com in the “About
us" section.

When discussing its recommendations for the election of mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board to the General Meeting, the
Supervisory Board considers, in accordance with recommenda-
tion C.1 of the Code and within the framework of the profile of
skills and expertise as determined by it, in particular the inter-
national activities of the company, what it considers to be an
adequate number of independent Supervisory Board members,
and diversity criteria. Pursuant to the profile of skills and exper-
tise, the Supervisory Board is in accordance with section 1M1
paragraph 5 German Stock Corporation Act to be composed of
at least 30% women and of at least 30% men. Comprising four
male and two female of in total six Supervisory Board mem-
bers, the proportion of male and female Supervisory Board
members exceeds the Supervisory Board's respective self-de-
fined target of 30% at the end of the year under review (see
also the section “Gender diversity and targets”).

The current composition of the Supervisory Board is in line with
the profile of skills and expertise for the Supervisory Board and
fulfills the objectives for the composition of the board designated
therein. In accordance with recommendation C.1 of the Code, the
implementation status of the profile of skills and expertise is dis-
closed in the form of the qualification matrix (SEE TABLE 4.7 ON
PAGE 134). The assessment in the qualification matrix is based on
a self-assessment by the individual Supervisory Board members,
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taking into account the requirements set out in the profile of
skills and expertise for knowledge, capabilities and professional
experience. The qualification matrix on PAGE 134 also displays the
diversity level of the Supervisory Board at the end of the year
under review across selected aspects.

Committees of the Supervisory Board
of the Company

For the efficient exercise of its responsibilities, the Supervisory
Board of the Company has formed qualified committees from
the midst of its members in accordance with principle 14 and
recommendations D.2 through D.4 of the Code, which prepare
the matters for deliberation and resolutions of the Supervisory
Board. The Supervisory Board regularly and timely receives
briefings on the committees' work. Details of the committees’
activities can be found in the Report by the Supervisory Board
of the Company starting on PAGE 119 of the Annual Report.

The composition and responsibilities of the committees of the
Supervisory Board of the Company are shown in TABLE 4.6.

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

The Supervisory Board of the Company has formed an audit com-
mittee, the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee (herein-
after: the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee). The
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee with the consent of
the Supervisory Board adopted rules of procedure which requ-
late the composition as well as the work and tasks of the Audit
and Corporate Governance Committee on the basis of section 12
paragraph 2 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

Tasks

The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee shall in par-
ticular perform all the duties incumbent upon an audit commit-
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tee pursuant to section 107 paragraph 3 sentence 2 German
Stock Corporation Act and the applicable rules of the U.S. Secu-
rities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the New York Stock
Exchange. In addition to other tasks, the Supervisory Board of
the Company has delegated to the Audit and Corporate Gover-
nance Committee the responsibility for adopting resolutions on
the approval of transactions with related parties in accordance
with sections 111a et seqq. of the German Stock Corporation
Act. The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee also reg-
ularly assesses the quality of the audit of the financial state-
ments and in accordance with recommendation D.10 of the
Code discusses with the auditor the audit risk assessment, the
audit strategy and audit planning, and the audit results.
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Independence and financial expertise

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee shall consist of at
least three and not more than five exclusively independent
members who, in particular, are to meet the independence cri-
teria pursuant to section 12 paragraph 2 sentence 3 of the Arti-
cles of Association as well as pursuant to the applicable rules of
the New York Stock Exchange. In addition, pursuant to section
107 paragraph 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act in con-
nection with section 100 paragraph 5 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act, at least one member must have expertise in the
field of accounting and at least one other member expertise in
the field of auditing. In accordance with recommendation D.3 of

T 4.6

Supervisory Board committee Responsibility

COMMITTEES OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF FMC AG & CO. KGAA

Number of meetings

Audit and Corporate
Governance Committee

Chair:

Ms. Pascale Witz

(since January 1, 2023, until then Vice Chair)
Vice Chair:

Dr. Dorothea Wenzel

(since January 1, 2023, until then other member)
Other member:

Rolf A. Classon

(until December 31, 2022, Chair)

> Supervision of the accounting, the accounting process, the effectiveness of
the internal control system, of the risk management system, of the internal
audit system, the annual auditing and of compliance

Supervision of the annual auditing, in particular with regard to the indepen-
dence of the auditor and the additional services provided by it, issuing the
auditing mandate, determining the focus areas of the auditing and the fee
agreement

Addressing the report pursuant to Form 20-F, which contains, inter alia,

the consolidated group financial statements and the consolidated group
financial report

~

~

~

of the sustainability reporting

v o

Review and, if required, approval of transactions of the Company with
related parties

Supervision of sustainability related objectives and the auditing or assurance

Assessment of the General Partner's report on relations to affiliated companies

At least four times per
year and additionally as
required

Nomination Committee

Chair:

Dr. Dieter Schenk
Vice Chair:

Mr. Rolf A. Classon
Other member:

Dr. Dorothea Wenzel

~

Preparing recommendations to be presented to the Supervisory Board for
the purpose of its proposal to the General Meeting on suitable candidates
for an election to the Supervisory Board

As required
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T47 QUALIFICATION MATRIX FOR THE MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF THE COMPANY

Dr. Schenk Classon Sorensen Dr. Wenzel Witz Prof. Dr. Ziind
Member since: 1996 201m 2021 2019 2016 2018
Elected until: 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025 2025
Independence! [ J [ J [ ] { ] { ]
e ety s Iaton o o ° o : o
Diversity
Gender M M M F F M
Year of birth
(Standard age limit: 75 years) 1952 1945 1962 1969 1967 1959
Nationality German U.S.-American and Swedish U.S.-American German French Swiss
Political Sciences and Business and Business Biochemistry and
Educational Background Law Chemical Engineering Medicine Informatics Business Administration Medicine
Individual knowledge / experience
Corporate management ([ J [ J [ J [ J { ] { ]
ife;tlggglngg:sﬁ?eesand understanding ° °® PY °® ° °
Command of the English language ([ J [ J [ J [ ] { ] (]
Requirements for the entire Supervisory Board
Sector experience ([} [ J [ J [ ] { ] { ]
Financial knowledge: Accounting ([} [ J [ J [ ] { ]
Financial knowledge: Auditing ([} [ J [ J [ ] ]
Legal, Regulatory, Compliance ([ J [ J [ J [ J (] (]
Sustainability ] o o [ J { ] (]
Digitalization [ J [ J ( J ([ J
Internationality ([ J [ J [ J [ J ([ J [ J
Management experience ([ ] ([ [ [ (] [ J

" According to the German Corporate Governance Code in the version of April 28, 2022.
2 According to the German Stock Corporation Act and the German Corporate Governance Code in the version of April 28, 2022.
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the Code, detailed information on the expertise of the mem-
bers of the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee in the
aforementioned areas is provided in TABLE 4.7 ON PAGE 134.

Ms. Pascale Witz worked for more than 20 years in leadership
roles at Sanofi and GE Healthcare, where she held financial
controls responsibility in several of these roles. In particular, as
Executive Vice President for the Diabetes & Cardiovascular
Division of Sanofi, and as President & CEO of GE Healthcare
Pharmaceutical Diagnostics, Ms. Witz functions included
reviews and discussions with the auditors, supervising the CFO
for this corporate division, and multiple accounting and finan-
cial reviews for reporting, auditing, risk management or mer-
gers & acquisitions as well as divestments & joint ventures. In
addition, she has been a member of audit committees of listed
companies since 2017. She was a member of the audit commit-
tee for Regulus Therapeutics, Inc., USA from 2017 until 2019,
and since 2018 serves on the audit committee of Horizon
Therapeutics plc., Ireland, and of PerkinElmer, Inc., USA. As
such, Ms. Witz has been reviewing and approving transactions
and financing operations and has been actively reviewing inter-
nal controls and risk management systems, as well as the appli-
cation of accounting systems.

Dr. Dorothea Wenzel has a total of approximately twelve years
of experience in management positions directly related to the
fields of accounting and auditing, most of which she served as
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of the MerckSerono and Health-
care divisions of Merck KGaA, some of which as CFO of the
Performance Materials division and some as Head of the
Surface Solutions business unit. The activities of Dr. Wenzel in
these functions included various aspects of accounting as well
as corresponding reviews and discussions with the auditors.
She is also chair of the audit committee of the Board of Direc-
tors of H. Lundbeck A/S, Denmark, as well as member of the
Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors of
DENTSPLY SIRONA Inc., USA.
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Mr. Rolf A. Classon has been in a responsible position for audi-
ting financial statements for more than 25 years and has,
among other things, more than 15 years of experience as a
member and chair of audit committees of listed companies in
the U.S. and Europe.

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the composition of the
Audit and Corporate Governance Committee meets all afore-
mentioned requirements as to the independence and financial
expertise of its members. Ms. Pascale Witz, Dr. Dorothea Wenzel
and Mr. Rolf A. Classon each are financial experts in the mean-
ing of section 100 paragraph 5 German Stock Corporation Act
as well as "audit committee financial experts” in the meaning of
the applicable rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Com-
mission (SEC). Due to their many years of experience, they each
have expertise in both the accounting and auditing fields. That
the members of the Audit and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee Ms. Witz and Mr. Classon are also members of the Supervi-
sory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG, which is
an affiliate of the Company, does not preclude their indepen-
dence under the applicable SEC audit committee rule, which
permits such dual board membership by audit committee mem-
bers, provided that they meet all other applicable requirements.

In particular due to their respective many years of activity as a
member of audit committees, Ms. Pascale Witz (since January
1, 2023, Chair of the Audit and Corporate Governance Commit-
tee) and Mr. Rolf A. Classon (until December 31, 2022, Chair of
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee) each also
have special knowledge and experience both in the application
of accounting principles and internal control and risk manage-
ment systems as well as in the auditing of financial statements.
In accordance with recommendations D.3 and C.7 of the Code,
each of Ms. Witz and Mr. Classon is in particular neither the
Chair of the Supervisory Board of the Company nor a former
member of the Management Board whose appointment has
ended less than two years ago. All members of the Audit and
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Corporate Governance Committee are independent within the
meaning of recommendation C.10 of the Code.

JOINT COMMITTEE

FMC AG & Co. KGaA has established a Joint Committee whose
composition and activity are provided for in sections 13a et
seqq. of the Articles of Association of the Company. The Joint
Committee is convened only as required, namely for certain
legal transactions defined in the Articles of Association to be
gualified as substantial transactions and for which the General
Partner requires the consent of the Joint Committee.

The composition and responsibilities of the Joint Committee
are shown in TABLE 4.8 ON PAGE 136.

DIVERSITY CONCEPT
AND TARGETS

Diversity concept for governance bodies

Fresenius Medical Care considers diversity, equity and inclusion
a strength of the company. A high degree of diversity in the
composition of the Management Board and Supervisory Board
and the workforce is an important objective of Fresenius
Medical Care and is in the interest of the Company because this
creates an integrative working environment and lays the foun-
dation for personal and corporate success. Diversity at
Fresenius Medical Care is defined in a broad way, including - but
not limited to - age, gender, nationality, cultural and ethnical
origin, sexual orientation, disability, educational background,
and work experience. The goal is the integration of differing
perspectives and various aspects in the cooperation and deci-
sion-making in order to increase the understanding for the
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T48 JOINT COMMITTEE

Joint Committee

Responsibility Number of meetings

Members from the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management AG Approval of certain legal transactions as As required

Mr. Michael Sen (Chair) (since October 1, 2022) defined in the Articles of Association, such

Mr. Stephan Sturm (Chair) (until September 30, 2022) as material acquisitions or divestments

Ms. Sara Hennicken (since September 1, 2022)

Ms. Rachel Empey (until August 31, 2022)

Members from the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA

Mr. Rolf A. Classon

Dr. Dorothea Wenzel (Vice Chair)

T4.9 DIVERSITY LEVEL OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD OF THE GENERAL PARTNER

Management Board member Gender Nationality Education Age
Helen Giza Female British and U.S.-American Business 54
Franklin W. Maddux, MD Male U.S.-American Medicine and Mathematics 65
Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsap Female Polish and German Medicine 59
Rice Powell' Male U.S.-American Biology 67
William Valle Male U.S.-American Business 62

T Mr. Rice Powell retired from the Management Board at the end of the year under review.

manifold requirements on a globally active company with het-
erogeneous groups of customers. Diversity, equity and inclu-
sion are an integral part of the sustainability program of
Fresenius Medical Care.

The existing diversity concept for the composition of the Man-
agement Board of the General Partner and the Supervisory
Board of the Company reflects this understanding and is part of
the staffing processes. The individual qualification- this
includes expertise as well as skills and experience - continues
to be the core selection criterion for the proposals to the Gen-
eral Meeting for the election of new members to the Supervi-
sory Board; diversity aspects are considered to ensure a com-

prehensive and balanced decision process. For preparation of
any nomination proposal, the respective competent gover-
nance body or the competent committee, as the case may be,
thoroughly evaluates the current composition of the body to be
filled and carefully analyzes each potential candidate's profile
with regard to the diversity criteria. Thereby, the above-men-
tioned standard age limits for the Management Board of the
General Partner and for the Supervisory Board of the Company
and the profile of skills and expertise for the Supervisory Board
are taken into account.

Diversity is further actively managed in senior management
levels below the Management Board in accordance with recom-
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mendation A.2 of the Code. To this end, diversity aspects such
as gender are particularly considered in the evaluation of the
“talent pipelines”. Additional reports, for example on the num-
ber and share of female junior talents in talent evaluation and
the succession planning process, support the focus on diversity
in development planning and the preparation for filling vacan-
cies. This serves to strengthen the pursued diversity concept
and to identify suitable talents at an early stage.

The diversity level of the Management Board of the General
Partner across selected aspects at the end of the year under
review is displayed in TABLE 4.9. Corresponding information on
the diversity level of the Supervisory Board of the Company
can be found in the section “Profile of skills and expertise and
qualification matrix".

Gender diversity and targets

The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA is statutorily
obliged to define targets for the representation of female mem-
bers in the Supervisory Board as well as an implementation
period and to report on the defined targets and their achieve-
ment during the relevant reference period, or in the event of a
failure to meet these targets, on the reasons for this, as part of
the Declaration on Corporate Governance. The definition of tar-
gets for the composition of the Management Board for compa-
nies which, like Fresenius Medical Care, are organized in the
legal form of a partnership limited by shares, is by contrast
expressly not required. Likewise, also the Supervisory Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG is not required to
define targets for the Management Board, because Fresenius
Medical Care Management AG is not in the scope of the rele-
vant legal provisions. At the end of the year under review, two
out of five members of the Management Board were female.
With the departure of Mr. Rice Powell from the Management
Board at the end of the year under review, two out of four, i.e.
50%, of the members of the Management Board are female.
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The Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA had resolved in
2017 to set the target for the representation of female Supervi-
sory Board members at 30% and had set an implementation
period ending on May 9, 2022. In the reporting year, the Super-
visory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA resolved to renew the
aforementioned target for the representation of female Super-
visory Board members and set an implementation period end-
ing on May 9, 2027. According to the new target, at least 30%
and in any case not less than two members of the Supervisory
Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA shall be female. With two female
members out of a total of six (33%), the composition of the
Supervisory Board in the year under review was in line with
both the target figure applicable until May 9, 2022, and the new
target figure.

The Management Board is statutorily obliged to determine tar-
gets for female representation in the two top management lev-
els below the Management Board and a respective implementa-
tion period. The Management Board in November 2020 had
determined targets for female representation in the two top
management levels below the Management Board and corre-
sponding new implementation periods. The positions of the
first and second management levels were determined on the
basis of a global job evaluation system considering impact and
contribution of the position, the required skills relating to com-
munication and innovation as well as general knowledge and
expertise. The target figure for the first management level to
be achieved by the end of the implementation period on Decem-
ber 31, 2025, was 22%. At the end of the year under review,
20.3% (2021:17.5%) of managers in this first management level
were female. The target figure for the second management
level to be achieved by the end of the implementation period on
December 31, 2025, was 32%. At the end of the year under
review, 34.7% (2021: 27.9%) of managers in this second man-
agement level were female.
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The respective share of women at the end of the respective
year is shown in TABLE 4.10.

Since the aforementioned target figures for the share of
women in the first two management levels below the Manage-
ment Board set in 2020 were partially already overachieved in
2022 in the context of the organizational transformation under
the FME25 program, the Management Board has set new target
figures as well as implementation periods and revised the defi-
nition of the first and second management levels as follows:

The first management level now includes all managers world-
wide who directly report to a member of the Management
Board and participate in the group-wide long-term incentive
program. The target figure for female representation is 35%.
The implementation period ends on December 31, 2027. At the
end of the year under review, 25.6% of managers in this first
management level were female.

The second management level now includes all managers
worldwide who directly report to a management executive of
the first management level and participate in the group-wide
long-term incentive program. The target figure for female rep-
resentation is 45%. The implementation period ends on Decem-
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ber 31, 2027. At the end of the year under review, 31% of man-
agers in this second management level were female.

Overall, the recruiting and staffing practice of Fresenius Medical
Care as well as the selection decisions regarding the hiring and
promotion to top management levels will also in the future be
taken with a focus on the specific qualifications of the individ-
ual. For this reason, the Management Board will select candi-
dates for the top management of Fresenius Medical Care
according to the candidate’s excellence and suitability for the
specific role and function in such management positions,
regardless of their race, gender, or other non-performance
related attributes. The number and proportion of female Super-
visory Board members and Management Board members, the
continuous achievement and increase of our diversity targets
as well as the anchoring within the company's sustainability
program demonstrate the considerable importance of diversity
for Fresenius Medical Care.

T410 GENDER DIVERSITY AND TARGETS
IN %

Target figure

Status 2021 Status 2022

Supervisory Board of the Company 30! 33.3 33.3
Management Board -2 25 403
First Management Level 224 17.5 20.3
Second Management Level 324 279 347

' Implementation period until May 9, 2027.

2 The definition of targets for the Management Board is not required.

3 Since January 1, 2023, the share of women in the Management Board amounts to 50%.
4 Original implementation period until December 31, 2025.
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LONG-TERM SUCCESSION
PLANNING

Together with the Management Board, the Supervisory Board
of the General Partner takes care for the long-term succession
planning in accordance with recommendation B.2 of the Code.
For this purpose, the Chair of the Supervisory Board of the
General Partner liaises with the respective members of the
Management Board sufficiently in advance and, as a rule, not
later than one year before the end of the respective term of
office about their willingness to continue their respective man-
date. In addition, the Supervisory Board of the General Partner
continuously reviews whether the Management Board conti-
nues to be composed in the best possible way. To this end, the
Chair of the Supervisory Board of the General Partner dis-
cusses with the Chair of the Management Board, in particular,
what knowledge, experience and professional as well as per-
sonal competencies in the Management Board should be repre-
sented also with regard to the strategic development of the
Company and a possible changing regulatory environment and
to what extent the Management Board is already staffed in
accordance with these requirements.

If there is need for action regarding the composition of the
Management Board, potential internal or external candidates
for the corresponding addition to the Management Board are
identified. For the identification of suitable external candidates,
the Supervisory Board of the General Partner obtains the sup-
port of external consultants, where necessary. When evaluating
suitable candidates, not only their individual knowledge and
experience, but also their personality and its added value to the
best possible composition of the Management Board is taken
into account. With the composition of the Management Board,
a cooperative working environment across all departments
shall be created in the interest of the entire company that not
only allows but rather also promotes constructive criticism.
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The Chair of the Management Board is closely involved in the
entire selection process.

The Supervisory Board of the General Partner pays attention to
diversity in the composition of the Management Board in accor-
dance with recommendation B.1 of the Code.

COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
DISCLOSURES ON CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Global business activities mean having global responsibility.
As the global market leader in providing dialysis services and
products, Fresenius Medical Care is aware of its responsibil-
ity. Every day, Fresenius Medical Care strives to improve the
lives of its patients world-wide with high-quality products and
services.

Highest medical standards form Fresenius Medical Care's
benchmark for quality. The Company is committed to conduct-
ing its business activities in compliance with all relevant legal
standards as well as internal and external provisions and
requirements. The patients, customers, payors, investors and
regulators of Fresenius Medical Care as well as all other stake-
holders rightly expect Fresenius Medical Care's business to be
conducted based on responsible management, as well as integ-
rity, sound corporate governance and adherence to compliance
principles to be the basis of entrepreneurial activities.

Fresenius Medical Care's Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct

Fresenius Medical Care's Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
is the basis for everything Fresenius Medical Care and its
employees do, whether in their dealings with patients, col-
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leagues and suppliers or with a view to communities in general.
The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct defines corporate
governance practices beyond the legal requirements. It covers
non-financial topics material to Fresenius Medical Care such as
patient care, quality and innovation, anti-corruption, worker
protection, environment, health and safety, as well as non-dis-
crimination. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct together
with the underlying global values also includes Fresenius
Medical Care's commitment to respecting human rights. The
Code of Ethics and Business Conduct applies to every function
and division worldwide, to every employee of Fresenius Medical
Care, and to the Company's direct and indirect majority-owned
or controlled affiliates anywhere in the world. Employees must
adhere to the principles in the Code of Ethics and Business Con-
duct. The Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is publicly avail-
able on the Company’s website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.
com in the “About us” section in the sub-section “Compliance".

Ensuring compliance

Compliance with rules is essential for the long-term success of
Fresenius Medical Care, determines the corporate culture and
is an integral part of day-to-day work. Specialized functions at
a global, regional and local level have the responsibility to
implement and communicate these principles and global values
within the organization. Code of Ethics and Business Conduct
training programs increase awareness and an understanding of
the applicable rules and help employees comply with these
rules. These trainings are held reqularly and are mandatory for
all relevant employees. There are processes in place to enable
employees to take part in the courses.

Fresenius Medical Care fosters an open working atmosphere
and encourages its employees to question what does not seem
to comply with the rules and to report any indications of possi-
ble violations to their superiors or the Compliance, Legal or
Human Resources departments. In addition, both Fresenius
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Medical Care employees and - in accordance with the corre-
sponding suggestion in A.4 of the Code - external parties can
anonymously (to the extent permitted by law) report suspected
unethical or inappropriate business practices of employees via
a hotline - the Compliance Action Line - and via appropriate
e-mail addresses. In accordance with Fresenius Medical Care's
policy, there must be no negative consequences for whis-
tleblowers if they have made such report in good faith.

The company has made and continues to make further signifi-
cant investments in its compliance and financial controls and in
its compliance, legal and financial organizations. Fresenius
Medical Care is fully committed to compliance with applicable
anti-bribery laws. Further information regarding the investiga-
tions in connection with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(FCPA) and regarding the settlements reached with the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the
U.S. Department of Justice (DoJ) in 2019 can be found on
PAGE 69 of the Annual Report.

Further information on the compliance management system
can be found in the “Compliance” section of the Non-Financial
Group Report starting on PAGE 105 of the Annual Report.
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RISK AND OPPORTUNITY
MANAGEMENT

At Fresenius Medical Care, an integrated management system
is in place to ensure that risks and opportunities are already
identified at an early stage, optimizing the risk profile and min-
imizing the costs potentially related to the occurrence of risks
through timely intervention. Fresenius Medical Care's risk man-
agement is therefore an important component of the corporate
management of Fresenius Medical Care. The adequateness and
effectiveness of the internal control systems of Fresenius
Medical Care for the financial reporting are reviewed on a reg-
ular basis by the Management Board and the auditor.

Further information about the risk and opportunity manage-
ment system can be found in the "“Risks and opportunities
report” section of the Management Report starting on PAGE 59
of the Annual Report.

GERMAN CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE AND
DECLARATION OF COMPLIANCE

The objective of the German Corporate Governance Code is to
make the dual German corporate governance system transpar-
ent and understandable. The Code includes principles, recom-
mendations and suggestions governing the management and
monitoring of German listed companies that are accepted
nationally and internationally as standards of good and respon-
sible governance. It aims to promote confidence in the manage-
ment and supervision of German listed companies by investors,
customers, employees and the general public.
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The Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care Manage-
ment AG and the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co. KGaA as
well as the Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical Care Man-
agement AG endorse the standards set forth in the German
Corporate Governance Code. The vast majority of the recom-
mendations and suggestions in the Code have been an integral
and active part of Fresenius Medical Care's day-to-day opera-
tions since the founding of the company.

The current, annually to be issued Declaration of Compliance
according to section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act
issued by the Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care
Management AG and the Supervisory Board of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA as of December 2022 is reported hereinafter. They and
previous Declarations of Compliance and other extensive infor-
mation on corporate governance are permanently made pub-
licly available on the Company's website at www.freseniusmed-
icalcare.com in the “Investors" section.

The Supervisory Board in accordance with recommendation
D.9 of the Code arrange for the external auditors to inform it
and note in the audit report if, during the performance of the
audit, the external auditors identify any facts that indicate an
inaccuracy in the Declaration of Compliance regarding the
recommendations of the Code issued by the Management
Board of the General Partner and by the Supervisory Board.
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Declaration by the Management Board of
Fresenius Medical Care Management AG
as the general partner of Fresenius
Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and by the
Supervisory Board of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA on the German
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to
Section 161 German Stock Corporation
Act (Aktiengesetz)

The Management Board of Fresenius Medical Care Management
AG (hereafter: the Management Board), as the general partner
of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA, and the Supervisory
Board of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA declare that
since issuance of the declaration of compliance in December
2021 and, respectively, the update of the declaration of compli-
ance in January 2022 the recommendations of the "German
Corporate Governance Code Government Commission” pub-
lished in the official section of the Federal Gazette (hereafter:
the Code) by the Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Pro-
tection in the version of December 16, 2019 have been complied
with and by the Federal Ministry of Justice in the version of
April 28, 2022 will be complied with in the future. Only the fol-
lowing recommendations of the Code in the version of Decem-
ber 16, 2019, and in the version of April 28, 2022, respectively,
have not been complied with or will not be complied with to the
extent described below:

Code recommendation C.10:
Pursuant to the Code recommendation C.10, the Chair of the

Supervisory Board shall be independent of the Company and
the Management Board.
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As a precautionary measure, a deviation from this recommen-
dation was and is declared with regard to the term of office of
the Chair of the Supervisory Board, Dr. Dieter Schenk, on the
Supervisory Board of the Company. Whether Dr. Schenk in view
of his term of office on the Supervisory Board of the Company
of more than 12 years is to be regarded as independent of the
Company and the Management Board within the meaning of
the Code does not need to be considered, because the number
of those Supervisory Board members who have been members
of the Supervisory Board for no more than 12 years and are
otherwise to be qualified as independent already complies with
the Code recommendation C.7, pursuant to which more than
half of the shareholder representatives shall be independent of
the Company and the Management Board.

In all other respects, the Code recommendation C.10 has been and
will be complied with. The Chair of the Audit Committee has been
and is independent within the meaning of this recommendation.

Code recommendation G.12:

Pursuant to the Code recommendation G.12, if a Management
Board member's service agreement is terminated, the dis-
bursement of any remaining variable remuneration compo-
nents attributable to the period up until termination of the ser-
vice agreement shall be based on the originally agreed targets
and comparison parameters, and on the due dates or holding
periods stipulated in the service agreement. A deviation from
this recommendation was declared in January 2022, updating
the declaration of compliance of December 2021.

As disclosed in January 2022 under update of the declaration
of compliance of December 2021, the Supervisory Board of the
general partner has agreed with Mr. Harry de Wit, who has
resigned from the Management Board in the course of the
implementation of the FME25 transformation program, that in
deviation of the applicable plan terms the performance shares
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awarded to him under the long-term variable compensation in
fiscal year 2021 will vest if any service relationship between
Mr. de Wit and Fresenius Medical Care has defi